
 
 
 
 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE  
 

COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CONSTITUTION 



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Part 1 

Summary and Explanation 
 
 

  December 2021 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
and 

Explanation 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

3



 

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation 
 

County Council’s Constitution 

 
1. This Constitution was formally adopted by the County Council on 11 April 

2001.  It sets out how the County Council operates, how decisions are made 
and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people.  Some of these processes are 

required by the law, while others are a matter for the County Council to 
choose.  The Constitution is divided into 16 Articles which set out the basic 

rules governing the County Council’s business.  The Articles refer to more 
detailed procedures and Codes of Practice which are provided in separate 
Rules and Protocols in the later parts of the document.  The Notes in italics do 

not form part of the Constitution. 

What the Constitution covers 

 
2. Article 1 of the Constitution commits the County Council to provide clear 

leadership to the community in partnership with citizens, businesses and other 

organisations, to take decisions efficiently and effectively, to hold decision-
makers to public account, and to improve the delivery of services to the 

community.  Articles 2 to 16 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts 
of the County Council operate.  These are: 

 

• Members of the County Council (Article 2). 

• Citizens and the County Council (Article 3). 

• The full County Council (Article 4). 

• Chairing the County Council (Article 5). 

• Overview and scrutiny committees (Article 6). 

• The Executive (Article 7). 

• The Health and Wellbeing Board (Article 7A). 

• Regulatory boards and other committees (Article 8). 

• The Corporate Governance Committee (Article 9). 

• Area committees and forums (Article 10). 

• Joint arrangements (Article 11). 

• Officers (Article 12). 

• Decision making (Article 13). 

• Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14). 

• Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 15). 

• Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 16). 

4



Part 1 
Summary and Explanation 

Page 2 
 

Page 2/7 
 

The County Council 

 

3. The County Council is composed of 55 county councillors elected every four 
years.  County councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their 
electoral division.  The overriding duty of county councillors in their 

representational role is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to 
their constituents, including those who did not vote for them.  The County 

Council has adopted a Code of Conduct dealing with the conduct that is 
expected of members when acting in that capacity. 

 

4. All county councillors meet together as the full County Council.  Meetings of 
the full County Council are normally open to the public.  Here county 

councillors decide the County Council’s overall policies and set the Budget 
(which includes the annual revenue budget and capital programme) each year.  
The full County Council also approves the Policy Framework which comprises 

a series of major Plans.  The Executive has to work within the Budget and 
Policy Framework approved by the County Council.  The County Council can 
approve (or reject) any proposals from the Executive for action which is outside 

the Budget or Policy Framework.   

The Leader, Cabinet and Executive 

 
5. The County Council appoints the Leader who in turn appoints the Cabinet.  

Cabinet members are designated Lead Members with responsibility for 

particular activities of the Council.  The Council holds these members to 
account through Question Time and debating periodic Position Statements 

made by the Leader and other members of the Cabinet.  The Leader will 
usually be the leader of the largest political group on the County Council.  The 
Leader and the other members of the Cabinet together constitute the 

“Executive”, which is the term used in the remainder of this Constitution.  In the 
Articles and Rules which follow, the word “Executive” can be taken, in practice, 

to mean the Cabinet, whenever a meeting is involved.  
  
6. Because the Leader is appointed by the full County Council, he or she is first 

and foremost the “Leader of the Council” - that is, having the political support of 
a majority of the County Council and, as such, leading the County Council 

forward and performing an important role in the County Council’s external 
relations with other local authorities and local, regional and national 
organisations.  

 
7. The Leader also has another, more internal, role as “Leader of the Executive” - 

that is, carrying the responsibilities and powers given to him or her by the Local 
Government Act 2000 and leading the work of the Executive. 

5



Part 1 
Summary and Explanation 

Page 3 
 

Page 3/7 
 

 
 

8. The Leader will appoint one of the other members of the Cabinet as a Deputy 
Leader who will act in the Leader’s place and preside at meetings of the 
Cabinet where the Leader is absent, in accordance with the law and the 

meeting procedure rules.  
 

Non-executive members 
 
9. Those county councillors who are not members of the Executive make a 

contribution to the operation of the County Council through membership of the 
County Council’s committees (some of which are called “boards”) - in the 

“Regulatory” and “Overview and Scrutiny” areas.  The boards and committees 
in the Regulatory area will take decisions on “non-executive” functions (such as 
licensing, planning, elections and members’ code of conduct and allowances) 

which are outside the scope of the Executive.  Many of the day-to-day 
decisions within the Regulatory area will, in practice, be taken by professional 
officers acting in accordance with published schemes of delegation but 

ultimately still accountable to the relevant board or committee or the full County 
Council, depending on the decision involved. 

 
10. In addition to approving the Policy Framework and Budget at the full County 

Council, county councillors may also contribute to policy formulation and 

review through membership of panels as mentioned in the Overview and 
Scrutiny section below. 

How executive decisions are made 

 
11. The Executive is the part of the County Council which is responsible for the 

more important executive decisions needed to implement the Policy 
Framework and Budget approved by the County Council.  The Executive must 

consist of not fewer than three and not more than ten members – the Leader, 
Deputy Leader (if one is appointed) and the Cabinet.  The Council may decide 
to appoint members to provide support and assistance to particular Cabinet 

Members.  These are known as Cabinet Support Members and are not 
themselves members of the Executive. 

 
12. The County Council has established a Health and Wellbeing Board as a 

Subcommittee of the Executive.  It is responsible for producing the Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and can 
also carry out such other functions as the Executive may permit. 

 
13. Many day-to-day decisions are, in fact, taken by professional officers acting in 

accordance with published schemes of delegation but ultimately still 

accountable either to the Executive or the full County Council, depending upon 
the type of decision involved. 

 
14. The Executive has to make decisions which are in line with the County 

Council’s overall policies and budget.  If it wishes to make a decision which is 

6



Part 1 
Summary and Explanation 

Page 4 
 

Page 4/7 
 

outside the Budget or Policy Framework, this must be referred to the County 
Council as a whole to decide. 

 
15. When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the 

Executive’s Forward Plan in so far as they can be anticipated.  If these major 

decisions are to be made at a meeting of the Executive, with professional 
officers present, this will generally be open for the public to attend, except 

where personal or confidential matters are being discussed.  In the case of all 
personal or confidential matters to be discussed, these will be included in the 
Forward Plan as far as can be anticipated. 

 
[Note: In adopting this Constitution the County Council went further than this: it 

decided, with the concurrence of the then Executive, that meetings of the 
Executive where any executive decisions (whether or not they are major) are to 
be taken, will generally be open to the public to attend, except where personal 

or confidential matters are being discussed.  This is reflected in Article 7.06(a) 
in Part 2. 

 

 In addition, the County Council also decided, with the concurrence of the 
Executive, that no individual member of the Executive will be authorised to take 

an executive decision; such decisions will be taken either by the Executive 
collectively at a properly convened meeting of the Cabinet or by professional 
officers under the published schemes of delegation.  This is reflected in Article 

7.08 in Part 2]  

Overview and Scrutiny 

 
16. A number of Overview and Scrutiny bodies have been established in relation to 

the activities of the County Council, in accordance with the provisions of the 

Local Government Act 2000.  Some bodies also exercise functions in relation 
to the National Health Service in the County under the Health and Social Care 

Act 2001.  The operation of these bodies is described in paragraphs 17 to 22 
below. 

 

17. Social Services authorities such as the County Council are required to 
establish arrangements to review and scrutinise matters relating to the Health 

Services in the Authority’s area and to make reports and recommendations. 
 
18. There are a number of standing (i.e. permanent) overview and scrutiny 

committees including the Scrutiny Commission.  These overview and scrutiny 
committees support the Executive and the County Council as a whole.  The 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the task of scrutinising health 
bodies in the County. 

 

 
 

 
 
19. The County Council will establish a joint committee with other Social Services 

Authorities to scrutinise any health issue or consultation which has an impact on 

7



Part 1 
Summary and Explanation 

Page 5 
 

Page 5/7 
 

an administrative area larger than the County Council where it considers it 
necessary or it is required to do so. 

 
20. Scrutiny Committees allow citizens to have a greater say in County Council 

matters and things which the County Council is able to influence because at their 

meetings citizens may ask questions and present petitions provided that they 
have followed the correct procedures.  The Committees produce reports which 

advise the Executive and the County Council as a whole on its policies, budget 
and service delivery.  Overview and scrutiny committees also monitor the 
decisions of the Executive.  The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 

able to make recommendations on a health service matter to the County Council 
who in turn may refer the matter to the Secretary of State. 

 
21. In the case of County Council activities, members of the Scrutiny Commission 

can “call in” a decision which has been made by the Executive but not yet 

implemented.  This enables them to consider whether the decision is 
appropriate.  They may recommend that the Executive reconsiders the decision, 
although the final decision will still remain with the Executive.  They may also be 

consulted by the Executive or the County Council on forthcoming decisions and 
the development of policy. 

 
22. At any one time, there are a number of ad hoc (i.e. temporary) review panels 

which carry out specifically targeted reviews on issues identified as requiring 

special attention.  These review panels are wound up once they have completed 
their work; other new review panels, with new remits, take their place.  The 

purpose of these panels is not to exercise any formal powers associated with 
overview and scrutiny (which are the preserve of the overview and scrutiny 
committees) but to contribute to and inform the overview and scrutiny process.  

The panels, therefore, do not constitute formal committees; however, their final 
reports are submitted to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee for 

approval prior to their submission to the executive and/or relevant partnership 
body. 

 

The County Council’s Staff 

 

23. The County Council has people working for it (called ‘officers’) to give advice, 
implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some 
professional officers have a specific duty to ensure that the County Council acts 

within the law and uses its resources wisely.  The Codes in Part 5 of this 
Constitution govern the relationships between officers and members of the 

County Council. 

8



Part 1 
Summary and Explanation 

Page 6 
 

Page 6/7 
 

 
24. Officers may be authorised, either by the County Council, the Executive or a 

board/committee in the Regulatory area, to take decisions.  The scope of these 
delegated powers is defined in the general scheme of delegation approved by 
the County Council and in the record of specific delegations made in further 

decisions of the County Council, the Executive and the boards and committees 
in the Regulatory area.  All of these are published and appear in Part 9 of this 

Constitution. 

Citizens’ Rights 

 

25. Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the County Council.  
These are set out in more detail in Article 3.  Some of these are legal rights, 

whilst others depend on the County Council’s own processes.  The local 
Citizens’ Advice Bureau can advise on individuals’ legal rights. 

 

26. Where members of the public use specific County Council services, for 
example as a parent of a school pupil, they may have additional rights.  These 
are not covered in this Constitution. 

 
27. Citizens have the right to: 

 

• vote at local elections if they are registered; 

• contact their local county councillor about any matters of concern to 
them; 

• obtain a copy of the Constitution; 

• attend meetings of the County Council and its committees except 
where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being 

discussed; 

• petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of Executive; 

• participate in question time at meetings of the standing overview and 
scrutiny committees and the boards and committees in the Regulatory 

area; 

• submit petitions to standing overview and scrutiny committees, the 
boards and committees in the Regulatory area, and, where fixed 

signatory thresholds are achieved, require senior officers to give 
evidence at a standing overview and scrutiny committee or prompt a 

debate at a meeting of the full County Council; 

• find out, from the Forward Plan, what major decisions are to be 
discussed  by the Executive or decided by the Executive or officers, and 

when (Rule 14 in Part 4B); 

• attend meetings of the Executive where Key Decisions are being 

discussed or decided (Rule 12 in Part 4B); 

• see agendas, reports and background papers, and any record of 

decisions made by the County Council and Executive (Rules 5 to 8 in 
Part 4B); 

• find out, from the Forward Plan, what confidential or private matters are 

to be discussed or decided by the Executive; 

9



Part 1 
Summary and Explanation 

Page 7 
 

Page 7/7 
 

• make representations to the County Council on why an exempt matter 
to be considered by the Cabinet should be considered in public, rather 

than in private. 

• complain to the County Council about the services which it provides, in 
accordance with its Corporate Complaints Procedure; 

• complain to the Ombudsman if they think the County Council has not 
followed its procedures properly.  However, they should only do this 

after using the County Council’s own Complaints Procedure; 

• complain to the Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which they think 

shows that a county councillor has not followed the County Council’s 
Code of Conduct; and 

• inspect the County Council’s accounts and make their views known to 

the external auditor. 
 

28. The County Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work.  Further 
information on a citizen’s rights in relation to the County Council can be 
obtained from the Chief Executive’s Department at County Hall, Glenfield, 

Leicester, LE3 8RA. Telephone 0116 305 2583. Email - 
Democracy@leics.gov.uk 

 
 

[end of Part 1]  

 

10



  Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

 
 

  December 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Part 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Articles 
of the 

Constitution 
 
 

11



  Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

 
 

  December 2022 

Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution 
 
 

Contents 

 
 

1 The Constitution 
2 Members of the County Council 
3 Citizens and the County Council 

4 The full County Council 
5 Chairing the County Council 

6 Overview and scrutiny committees 
7 The Executive 

7A The Health and Wellbeing Board 

8 Regulatory boards and other committees 
9 The Corporate Governance Committee 

10 Area committees and forums 
11 Joint arrangements 
12 Officers 

13 Decision making 
14 Finance, contracts and legal matters 

15 Review and revision of the Constitution 
16 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution 

  

Schedule 1 Description of Executive Arrangements 
 

Schedule 2 Plans and Strategies forming the Policy Framework 
  

Schedule 3 Tables 

A Overview and scrutiny committees 
B Area committees and forums 

C Chief officers 
D Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance 

Officer and Designated Scrutiny Officer 

12



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 1 
 

Page 1/35 

 

Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution 
 

 
ARTICLE 1 

The Constitution 

1.01 Powers of the County Council 

The County Council, as a corporate body, will exercise all its powers and duties 

in accordance with the law and this Constitution. 

1.02 The Constitution 

This Constitution, and its various Parts, (but excluding any explanatory Notes 
which appear in italics) is the Constitution of Leicestershire County Council. 

1.03 Purpose of the Constitution 

The purpose of the Constitution is to: 
 

(a) enable the County Council to provide clear leadership to the community in 

partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 
(b) support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority 

decision-making; 
(c) help county councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 
(d) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

(e) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to 
public account; 

(f) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were 
directly involved; 

(g) ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly identifiable 

to local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and 
(h) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 

1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 

Where the Constitution permits the County Council to choose between different 
courses of action, the County Council will always choose that option which it 

thinks is closest to the purposes stated above.  The County Council will monitor 
and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 15. 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

   

13



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 2 
 

Page 2/35 

 

 
ARTICLE 2 

Members of the County Council 

2.01 Composition and eligibility 

(a) Composition.  The County Council will comprise 55 members, otherwise 

called County Councillors.  County Councillors will be elected by the 
voters of each electoral division in accordance with a scheme drawn up 

by the Electoral Commission.   
  
(b) Eligibility.  Only registered voters of the County area or those living or 

working there will be eligible to hold the office of county councillor. 

2.02 Election and terms of county councillors 

The regular election of county councillors will normally be held on the first 
Thursday in May every four years beginning in 2001.  The terms of office of 
county councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected and will finish 

on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election. 

2.03 Roles and functions of all county councillors 

(a) The overriding duty of county councillors in their representational role is to 

the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, 
including those who did not vote for them. 

 
(b)  Key roles.  All county councillors will: 

 

1. act in the capacity to which they were elected to the County Council 
and not speak on behalf of any other local authority whilst acting as 

a County Councillor; 
2. collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of 

strategic and corporate management functions; 

3. contribute to the good governance of the County and actively 
encourage community participation and citizen involvement in 

decision-making; 
4. represent their communities and bring the views of those 

communities into the County Council’s decision-making process, i.e. 

become the advocate of and for their communities; 
5. deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for 

constituents in resolving particular concerns or grievances; 
6. balance different interests identified within the electoral division and 

represent the electoral division as a whole; 

7. respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and 
impartially; 

8. be available to represent the County Council on other bodies; and 
9. maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics; 
10. fulfil their responsibilities as a corporate parent for children and 

young people in the care of the local authority. 
 

 
 

14



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 3 
 

Page 3/35 

 

(c)  Rights and duties: 
 

1. County councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, 
information, land and buildings of the County Council as are necessary for 
the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance with the law. 

2. County councillors will not make public information which is confidential or 
exempt without the consent of the County Council or divulge information 

given in confidence to anyone other than a county councillor or officer 
entitled to know it. 

3. For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information are defined in 

the Access to Information Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 

2.04 Conduct 

County councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and 
the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

2.05 Allowances 

County councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

 

 
ARTICLE 3 

Citizens and the County Council 

3.01 Citizens’ rights 

Citizens have the following rights.  Their rights to information and to participate 

are explained in more detail in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4B of 
this Constitution: 

 
(a) Voting and referendum petitions.  Citizens on the electoral roll for the 

County have the right to vote and sign a petition to request a referendum 

for an elected mayor form of Constitution. 
 

(b) Information.  Citizens have the right to: 
 

1. attend meetings of the County Council and its committees except 

where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed and a 
decision is made that in the public interest the matter is to be dealt 

with in private; 
2. attend meetings of the Cabinet except where confidential or exempt 

information is likely to be disclosed and a decision is made that in the 

public interest the matter is to be dealt with in private; 
3. challenge the decision for the Executive to consider a matter in private 

where this has been listed on the Forward Plan. 
 
 

 
 

 

15



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 4 
 

Page 4/35 

 

(c) Participation.  Providing that they follow the correct procedure, citizens 
have the right to:- 

 
1. participate in question time at meetings of the standing overview and 

scrutiny committees and the boards and committees in the Regulatory 

area; 
2. submit petitions to standing overview and scrutiny committees, the 

boards and committees in the Regulatory area, and, where fixed 
signatory thresholds are achieved, require senior officers to give 
evidence at a standing overview and scrutiny committee or prompt a 

debate at a meeting of the full County Council. 
 

(d) Complaints.  Citizens have the right to complain to: 
 

1. the County Council itself under its Corporate Complaints Procedure; 

2. the Ombudsman after using the County Council’s own complaints 
scheme; 

3. the Council's Monitoring Officer about a breach of the County 

Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct. 

3.02 Citizens’ responsibilities 

Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to county councillors or 
officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the County Council, county 
councillors or officers. 

 
 

ARTICLE 4 
The full County Council 

4.01 Meanings 

(a) Policy Framework.  The Policy Framework means the Plans and 
Strategies listed in Schedule 2 to these Articles.  [Note: the Plans listed in 

the note following Schedule 2 will not require the approval of the full 
County Council and will not, therefore, form part of the Policy Framework]. 

 

(b) Budget.  The Budget includes the allocation of financial resources to 
different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the County 

Council tax base, setting the County Council tax and decisions relating to 
the control of the County Council’s borrowing requirement, the control of 
its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits. 

4.02 Functions of the full County Council 

Only the full County Council will exercise the following functions: 

 
(a) adopting and changing the Constitution except in respect of changes 

made by the Chief Executive in accordance with Article 15; 

(b) approving or adopting the Policy Framework and the Budget; 
 

 

16



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 5 
 

Page 5/35 

 

(c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution, making decisions about 

any matter discharging an Executive function which is covered by the 
Policy Framework or the Budget where the decision-maker is minded to 
make it in a manner which would be contrary to the Policy Framework or 

contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the Budget; 
(d) appointing the Leader and Cabinet Support Members; 

(e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees, 
deciding on their composition and making appointments to them; 

(f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an 

Executive function or has been delegated by the County Council; 
(g) adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05; 

(h) changing the name of the area; 
(i) confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; 
(j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and 

promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 
(k) all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the 

County Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the 

Executive; 
(l) consider possible referrals to the Secretary of State in relation to Health 

Service issues; and 
(m) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to County Council. 

4.03 County Council meetings 

There are three types of County Council meeting: 
 

(a) the Annual Meeting; 
(b) ordinary meetings (including the Budget Meeting); and 
(c) extraordinary meetings, 

 
and they will be conducted in accordance with the Meeting Procedure Rules 

(Standing Orders) in Part 4A of this Constitution. 

4.04 Responsibility for functions  

The County Council will maintain the information in Part 3 of this Constitution 

setting out the responsibilities for the County Council’s functions which are not 
the responsibility of the Executive.  Part 9 of this Constitution sets out the 

responsibilities for such functions delegated to officers either under the general 
scheme of delegation to officers or as the result of specific decisions. 

 

 
 

 
 

17



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 6 
 

Page 6/35 

 

ARTICLE 5 
Chairing the County Council 

5.01 Role and function of the Chairman 

The Chairman and Vice-chairman will be elected by the County Council 
annually.  The Chairman and, in his or her absence, the Vice-chairman, will 

have the following responsibilities: 
 

(a) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 
Constitution when necessary; 

(b) to preside over meetings of the County Council so that its business can be 

carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of county councillors and 
the interests of the community; 

(c) to ensure that the County Council meeting is a forum for the debate of 
matters of concern to the local community and the place at which members 
who are not on the Executive are able to hold the Executive to account; 

(d) to promote public involvement in the County Council’s activities; 
(e) to be the conscience of the County Council; 
(f) to undertake such civic and ceremonial functions as he or she determines 

appropriate, subject to any decisions and directions determined by the 
County Council;  

(g) to give consent to an urgent decision of the Executive outside the Budget 
and Policy Framework under Rule 6 of the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules in Part 4C of this Constitution; and 

(h) to give consent to an urgent decision otherwise subject to call-in under Rule 
15 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4E of this 

Constitution. 
 

ARTICLE 6 

Overview and scrutiny committees 
 

6.01 Terms of Reference 
 
 The County Council will appoint the overview and scrutiny committees and 

subcommittees set out in Table A in Schedule 3 to discharge the functions 
conferred on the County Council in accordance with the legislation in force for 

the time being. 
 
6.02 Proceedings of overview and scrutiny committees 

 
 Overview and scrutiny committees will conduct their proceedings in 

accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4E 
of this Constitution. 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

18



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 7 
 

Page 7/35 

 

6.03 General role 
 

Within their terms of reference, overview and scrutiny committees will: 
 

(a) review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection 

with the discharge of any of the County Council’s functions or relating to 
the health service in the County, as appropriate; 

 
(b) make reports and/or recommendations to the full County Council and/or 

the Executive and/or any joint or area committee in connection with the 

discharge of any County Council functions; 
 

(c) in the case of scrutiny committee(s) with the function of scrutinising the 
health service, such committee(s) may make reports and 
recommendations to relevant NHS bodies and relevant health service 

providers, the County Council, Rutland Council, District Councils and in 
appropriate circumstances, refer matters to the County Council who in 
turn may make referrals to the Secretary of State; 

 
(d) consider any matter affecting the County or its inhabitants; and 

 
(e) exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, key decisions made but 

not yet implemented by the Executive and/or any policy or area 

committees. 
 

6.04 Specific functions 
 

(a)  Policy development and review.  Overview and scrutiny committees 

may: 
 

1. assist the County Council and the Executive in the development of 
its Budget and Policy Framework by in-depth analysis of policy 
issues; 

2. conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis 
of policy issues and possible options; 

3. consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance 
community participation in the development of policy options; 

4. question members of the Executive and/or boards, committees and 

chief officers about their views on issues and proposals affecting the 
County; and 

5. liaise with other external organisations operating in the County, 
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of 
local people are enhanced by collaborative working. 

 
(b)  Scrutiny.  Overview and scrutiny committees may: 

 
1. review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of the 

Executive and/or boards, committees and chief officers both in 

relation to individual decisions and over time;  

19



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 8 
 

Page 8/35 

 

2. review and scrutinise the performance of the County Council in 
relation to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular 

service areas; 
3. question members of the Executive and/or boards, committees and 

senior officers about their decisions and performance, whether 

generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a period 
of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 

4. make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate 
committee and/or County Council arising from the outcome of the 
scrutiny process; 

5. review and scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of health services in the area of the County, as set out in 

Article 6.08 below; 
6.  review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the 

area and invite reports from them by requesting them to address the 

overview and scrutiny committee and local people about their 
activities and performance; and 

7. question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 

 
(c) Finance.  Overview and scrutiny committees may exercise overall 

responsibility for the finances made available to them. 
 

(d) Annual report.  Overview and scrutiny committees (or the Scrutiny 

Commission in a single report on their behalf) will report annually to full 
County Council on their workings and make recommendations for future 

work programmes and amended working methods if appropriate. 
 
(e) Officers.  Overview and scrutiny committees may exercise overall 

responsibility for the work programme of the officers employed to support 
their work. 

 
6.05 Chairman of Scrutiny Commission 
 

 The Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission will be the Leader of the largest 
opposition group.  Where there are two opposition groups with an equal 

number of seats, chairmanship of the Scrutiny Commission shall rotate 
between those groups on an annual basis, normally effective from the annual 
meeting of the Council.  Unless agreement is reached otherwise, the order in 

which the Chairmanship is allocated between the opposition groups will be 
determined by the toss of a coin. 

 
6.06 Membership of the Scrutiny Commission 
 

 The membership of the Scrutiny Commission, which will reflect the political 
balance of the Council, will include the following positions:- 

 
 Four Commissioners, one of whom will be the Chairman determined in 

accordance with paragraph 6.05 above. 

 
 The Chairman of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

20



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 9 
 

Page 9/35 

 

 
 The Chairman of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 
 
 The Chairman of the Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

The Chairman of the Environment and Climate Change Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 

 The Chairman of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Such other members as may be necessary to achieve political balance. 
 
6.07 Call-in Procedure 

 
 The Call-in procedure described in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

in Part 4E of the Constitution requires that at least two people who are 

members of the Scrutiny Commission should concur with it being invoked. 
 

6.08 Health Service functions 
 

(a)  General Role 

 
Health overview and scrutiny committees will act as a lever to improve the 

health of local people, ensuring that the needs of local people are 
considered as an integral part of the delivery and development of health 
services.  A committee may review and scrutinise any matter relating to 

the planning, provision and operation of health services in the area of the 
County Council, including:- 

 
(i) arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies or relevant health 

service providers to secure hospital and community health services 

for the inhabitants of the area and the services that are provided; 
 

(ii) arrangements made for public health, health promotion and health 
improvement (including addressing health inequalities) in the area; 

 

(iii) the planning of health services by relevant NHS bodies or relevant 
health service providers including plans made in co-operation with 

local authorities setting out a strategy for improving both the health 
of the local population and the provision of health care to that 
population; 

 
(iv) arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies or relevant health 

service providers for consulting and involving patients and the public 
under the duties placed upon them; 

 

(v) any matter referred to the committee by the local Healthwatch; 
 

21



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 10 
 

Page 10/35 

 

(vi) responding to consultation from a relevant NHS body or relevant 
health service provider on a particular issue including proposals for 

a substantial development of the health service or a substantial 
variation in the provision of such service (in the latter circumstance it 
may be necessary for the response to be made through a joint 

overview and scrutiny committee).  
 

 (b) Process 
 

In carrying out the review and scrutiny of a particular matter, a health 

overview and scrutiny committee:- 
 

(i) shall have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
with regard to these functions; 

 

(ii) shall invite interested parties to comment on the matter; 
 
(iii) shall take account of relevant information available to it and in 

particular relevant information provided by any interested parties 
and the local Healthwatch organisation; 

 
(iv) may seek further information from a local NHS body; 
 

(v) may require the attendance of a member or officer of a relevant 
NHS body or relevant health service provider to answer such 

questions as appear to the committee to be necessary for 
discharging its functions, subject to providing reasonable notice to 
that person; 

 
(vi) may require the attendance of an executive member or officer of the 

County Council; 
 
(vii) may question and gather evidence from any other person with their 

consent; 
 

(viii) may conduct research and undertake its own consultations; 
 
(ix) would normally be expected to produce an annual overview and 

scrutiny plan; 
 

(x) may make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies 
and relevant health service providers, the County Council, Rutland 
Council, District Councils and in appropriate circumstances to the 

County Council who may in turn refer the matter to the Secretary of 
State. 

 
6.09 Joint Committee 
 

(a) The County Council will establish a joint committee with other Social 
Services Authorities to scrutinise any health issue or consultation which 

has an impact on an administrative area larger than the County Council 

22



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 11 
 

Page 11/35 

 

where it considers it necessary or it is required to do so.  Where it is not 
considered appropriate or possible to establish a joint committee the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee responsible for the scrutiny of health 
services in the area of the County will carry out this role. 

 

(b) The Joint Committee shall not have the power to refer any matters to the 
Secretary of State.  Where the Joint Committee considers a matter should 

be referred, it must make a report and recommendation to that effect to 
the appointing authorities for action as they consider appropriate. 

 

 
ARTICLE 7 

The Executive 

7.01 Role 

The Executive will carry out all of the County Council’s functions which are not 

the responsibility of any other part of the County Council, whether by law or 
under this Constitution. 

7.02 Form and composition 

The Executive will consist of the Leader together with at least two, but not more 
than nine, county councillors appointed to the Executive by the Leader of the 

County Council.  When the Executive meets formally it will be referred to as the 
Cabinet. 
 

The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Council cannot be appointed to the 
Cabinet or as Cabinet Support Members. 

7.03 Leader 

The Leader will be a county councillor appointed to the position of Leader by 
the County Council.  In addition to his or her significant role as Leader of the 

Council, the Leader will also act as Chairman of the Executive.  The Leader will 
hold office until: 

 
(a) he or she resigns from the office; or 
(b) he or she is no longer a county councillor; or 

(c) he or she is removed from office by resolution of the County Council; or 
(d) the Annual Meeting of the County Council next following his or her 

appointment. 

7.04 Designation of Deputy Leader and Lead Members 
 

The Leader of the Council will appoint one of the Executive Members to the 
position of Deputy Leader, who, in addition to their role as Deputy Leader will 
also act as Vice Chairman of the Cabinet. 

 
The Leader will also designate two members of the Executive respectively to 

act as Lead Member for Children and Family Services and Lead Member for 
Adult Social Care. 
 

23



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 12 
 

Page 12/35 

 

The designation of members of the Executive to act as Lead Members for other 
purposes will be at the Leader's discretion. 

 

7.05 Executive members 

Executive members shall hold office until: 

 
(a) they resign from office; or 

(b) they are no longer county councillors; or 
(c) they are removed from office, either individually or collectively, by the 

Leader of the County Council. 

7.06 Proceedings of the Executive 

(a) Decision making meetings.  Any meeting of the Executive at which an 

executive decision is to be made, irrespective of whether or not that 
executive decision is a Key Decision, shall be held in public; provided that 
the Executive shall exclude the media and public if confidential information 

is likely to be disclosed or may exclude the media and public if exempt 
information is likely to be disclosed. 

 

(b) Meetings generally.  Subject to paragraph (a), proceedings of the 
Executive shall take place in accordance with the Executive Procedure 

Rules set out in Part 4D of this Constitution. 

7.07  Responsibility for functions 

The Leader will maintain a list in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out which 

individual members of the Executive, committees of the Executive, officers or 
joint arrangements are responsible for the exercise of particular Executive 

functions. 

7.08 No delegation to individual members of the Executive 

Individual members of the Executive (including the Leader and Deputy Leader) 

shall not be responsible for the exercise of any Executive functions.  Executive 
functions may be exercised only by the Executive or by a committee of the 

Executive or by officers or by any area committee or under joint arrangements. 
 

[Note: In adopting this Constitution, the County Council decided, with the 

concurrence of the then Executive, that no individual member of the Executive 
will be authorised to take an executive decision;  such decisions will be taken 

either by the Executive collectively at a properly convened meeting of the 
Cabinet or by professional officers under the published schemes of delegation.  
Articles 7.06(a) and 7.08 reflect these decisions]  

 
7.09 Cabinet Support Members 

 
(a) The County Council may, if it considers it appropriate to do so, appoint such 

elected members as it considers appropriate to provide support and 

assistance to particular Cabinet Members.  These members will be known 
as “Cabinet Support Members”.  Persons occupying such positions will not 

themselves be members of the Executive; neither will they be entitled to act 

24



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 13 
 

Page 13/35 

 

as a member of any Overview and Scrutiny Committee dealing with County 
Council functions. 

 
(b) Cabinet Support Members shall hold office until  
 

(a) they resign from office; or 
 

(b) they are no longer County Councillors; or 
 
(c) they are removed from office, either individually or collectively, by 

resolution of the County Council; or 
 

(d) the Annual Meeting of the County Council next following their 
appointment. 

 

 
ARTICLE 7A 

The Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
7A.01 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
The County Council will appoint a Health and Wellbeing Board as a 
Subcommittee of the Executive to:- 

 
(a) Discharge directly the functions conferred on the County Council by 

Section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 or such other 
legislation as may be in force for the time being; 

 

(b) Carry out such other functions as the Executive may permit 
 

[Note: The County Council’s executive function of approving the Better Care 
Fund and Plans arising from its use has been delegated to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.] 

 
7A.02 Composition 

 
(a) The Health and Wellbeing Board shall have the following statutory 

members:- 

(i) At least one County Councillor; 
(ii) The Director of Adults and Communities;  

(iii) The Director of Children and Family Services; 
(iv) The Director of Public Health; 
(v) A representative of the Local Healthwatch organisation;  

(vi) A representative of the Integrated Care System. 
 

(b) The Health and Wellbeing Board shall appoint such additional persons to 
be members of the Board as it thinks appropriate. 

 

 
 

 

25



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 14 
 

Page 14/35 

 

7A.03 Role and Function 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board shall have the following general role and 
function:- 
 

To lead and direct work to improve the health and wellbeing of the population 
of Leicestershire through the development of improved and integrated health 

and social care services. The Board is responsible for:- 
 

• Preparing and publishing the Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA) in order to identify the needs and priorities across 
Leicestershire so that future commissioning/policy decisions are based on 

evidence. 
 

• Preparing and publishing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 

associated Plan on behalf of the County Council and its partners. 
 

• Approving the Better Care Fund Plan. 
 

• Publishing and refreshing the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment to 
assess the need for pharmaceutical services across Leicestershire and 
providing an evidence base for future policy and commissioning decisions. 

 

• In conjunction with all partners, communicating and engaging with local 

people on how they can achieve the best possible quality of life and be 
supported to exercise choice and control over their personal health and 
wellbeing. 

 

• Having oversight of the use of relevant public sector resources to identify 

opportunities for the further integration of health and social care services. 
 

[Note: More details relating to the operation of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
are set out on the Board’s full Terms of Reference which are published on the 
County Council website at 

https://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-wellbeing-board/] 
 

 
ARTICLE 8 

Regulatory boards and other committees 

8.01 Regulatory boards and other committees 

The full County Council will appoint the committees set out in Part 3 of this 

Constitution, to discharge the functions described in that Part. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

26



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 15 
 

Page 15/35 

 

ARTICLE 9 
The Corporate Governance Committee 

 
9.01. Corporate Governance Committee 
 

The full County Council will establish a Corporate Governance Committee. 
 

9.02. Composition 
 
(a) The Corporate Governance Committee will reflect the political balance on the 

Council as a whole and may not include a member of the Executive or a Cabinet 
Support Member.  

 
(b) Up to two members of the Corporate Governance Committee will be non-voting 

independent members, appointed in accordance with the functions of the 

Constitution Committee as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution, subject to the 
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee also forming part of the 
appointment process.  

 
(c) The Lead Member of the Executive responsible for resources, performance 

management and risk management will be entitled to attend meetings in an 
observer/advisory capacity. 

 

9.03  Role and Function 
 

The Corporate Governance Committee shall have the following general role 
and functions: 

 

Corporate Governance Matters 
 

(a) The promotion and maintenance within the Authority of high standards in 
relation to the operation of the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance with a 
particular emphasis on ensuring: 

 
(i) that an adequate risk management framework and associated control 

environment is in place; 
(ii) that the Authority’s financial and non financial performance is properly 

monitored; 

(iii) proper oversight of the financial reporting processes. 
 

(b) To ensure that the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance is reviewed and 
amended by the County Council as necessary to ensure that it remains relevant 
to the Council’s work and practices. 

 
(c) To satisfy themselves that the County Council’s Statement of Accounts and 

those relating to the Leicestershire Pension Fund have been prepared in 
accordance with best practice. 

 

Standards of Conduct Matters 
 

27



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 16 
 

Page 16/35 

 

(d) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by members and co-
opted members; assisting such members to observe the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 
 
(e) Advising the County Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code 

of Conduct; 
 

(f) Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
(g) Advising, training or arranging to train county councillors, co-opted members 

and church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 

 
(h) Granting dispensations to county councillors and co-opted members and 

church and parent governor representatives from requirements relating to 

interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
(i) Making payments or providing other benefits in cases of maladministration 

under section 92 of the Local Government Act 2000; 
 

(j) Exempting members from vacation of office by failure to attend meetings; 
 
(k) Considering and determining representations seeking the removal of any LEA 

appointed school governor; and 
 

(l) Advising as necessary on the establishment of a local code of conduct for 
employees and procedures relating to the handling of complaints, including 
“whistleblowing”. 

 
9.04  Terms of Reference 

 
The detailed terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee can 
be found in the Section on Responsibility for Functions contained in Part 3 of 

this Constitution. 
 

 
ARTICLE 10 

Area committees and forums 

 
 [Note: the County Council has yet to decide to appoint any area committees.  

The provisions in this Article will only have practical effect if and when area 
committees are appointed] 

10.01 Area committees 

(a) The County Council may appoint area committees as it sees fit, if it is 
satisfied that to do so will ensure improved service delivery in the context of 

Best Value and more efficient, transparent and accountable decision-
making. 

 

28



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 17 
 

Page 17/35 

 

(b) The County Council will consult with relevant borough, district, parish and 
town councils and the chairmen of relevant parish meetings when 

considering whether and how to establish area committees. 

10.02 Form, composition and function 

(a) Table of area committees.  The County Council will appoint the area 

committees as set out in the first column of Table B in Schedule 3, 
composed as set out in the second column of that Table and with the terms 

of reference set out in the third column. 
 
(b) Delegations.  The County Council and the Executive will include details of 

any delegations to area committees in Part 3 of this Constitution, including 
the functions delegated showing which are the responsibility of the 

Executive and which are not, the composition and membership of the 
committees, budgets and any limitations on delegation. 

10.03 Conflicts of interest – membership of area committees and overview and 

scrutiny committees 

(a) Conflict of interest.  If an overview and scrutiny committee is scrutinising 
specific decisions or proposals in relation to the business of the area 

committee of which the county councillor concerned is a member, then the 
county councillor may not speak or vote at the overview and scrutiny 

committee meeting unless a dispensation to do so is given by the 
Corporate Governance Committee. 

 

(b) General policy reviews.  Where the overview and scrutiny committee is 
reviewing policy generally the member must declare his or her interest 

before the relevant agenda item is reached, but need not withdraw. 

10.04 Area committees – access to information 

(a) Area committees will comply with the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 
 

(b) Agendas and notices for area committee meetings which deal with both 
functions of the Executive and functions which are not the responsibility of 
the Executive will state clearly which items are which. 

10.05 Executive members on area committees 

A member of the Executive may serve on an area committee if otherwise 

eligible to do so as a county councillor. 
 
 

ARTICLE 11 
Joint arrangements 

11.01 Arrangements to promote well being 

The County Council or the Executive in order to promote the economic, social 
or environmental well-being of its area may: 

 
(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

29



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 18 
 

Page 18/35 

 

(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or 
body; and 

(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or 
body. 

 

11.02 Joint Arrangements 

(a) The County Council may establish Joint Arrangements with one or more 

local authorities and/or their Executives to exercise functions which are 
not Executive functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise 
the County Council.  Such Arrangements may involve the appointment of 

a joint committee with these other local authorities 
 

(b) The Executive may establish Joint Arrangements with one or more local 
authorities to exercise functions which are Executive functions.  Such 
Arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these 

other local authorities. 
 

(c) Except as set out below, the Executive may only appoint Executive 

members to a joint committee and those members need not reflect the 
political composition of the County Council as a whole. 

 
(d) The Executive may appoint members to a joint committee from outside 

the Executive and, where it does so; the circumstances will be specified in 

Part 3 of this Constitution in respect of that joint committee. 
 

(e) Details of any Joint Arrangements including any delegations to joint 
committees are described in the County Council’s Scheme of Delegations 
in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11.03 Access to information 

(a) The Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution 

apply. 
 
(b) If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Executive in 

each of the participating authorities then its access to information regime 
is the same as that applied to any Executive. 

 
(c) If the joint committee contains members who are not on the Executive of 

any participating authority then the access to information rules in Part VA 

of the Local Government Act 1972 will apply. 

11.04 Delegation to and from other local authorities 

(a) The full County Council may delegate non-Executive functions to another 
local authority or, in certain circumstances, the Executive of another local 
authority. 

 
(b) The Executive may delegate Executive functions to another local authority 

or the Executive of another local authority in certain circumstances. 
 

30



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 19 
 

Page 19/35 

 

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another 
local authority shall be reserved to the full County Council. 

 
(d) Details of any delegations from another authority are described in the 

County Council’s Scheme of Delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11.05 Contracting out 

The Executive may contract out to another body or organisation functions 

which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order under 
section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under 
contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the County Council’s 

agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no delegation of the 
County Council’s discretionary decision-making. 

 
 

ARTICLE 12 

Officers 

12.01 Management structure 

(a) General.  The County Council may engage such staff (referred to as 

officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its functions. 
 

(b) Chief Officers.  The County Council will appoint persons for the posts set 
out in Table C of Schedule 3, who will be designated chief officers.  

 

(c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and 
designated Scrutiny Officer.  The County Council will designate the 

posts shown in Table D of Schedule 3 as the Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and designated Scrutiny Officer 
respectively.  Such posts will have the functions described in Article 

12.02–12.04A below. 
 

(d) Structure.  The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a 
description of the overall departmental structure of the County Council 
showing the management structure and deployment of officers.  This is 

set out at Part 7 of this Constitution. 

12.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 

(a) Discharge of functions by the County Council.  The Head of Paid 
Service will determine and report as necessary to full County Council on 
the manner in which the discharge of the County Council’s functions is co-

ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of 
functions and the organisation of officers and will ensure that an annual 

pay policy statement is approved by the full County Council. 
 
(b) Grant and supervision of exemptions from political restrictions.  The 

Head of Paid Service will carry out the duties relating to the granting and 
supervision of exemptions from political restrictions in respect of posts 

within the authority in accordance with the legislation in force for the time 
being. 

31



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 20 
 

Page 20/35 

 

 
(c) Restrictions on functions.  The Head of Paid Service may not be the 

Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a 
qualified accountant. 

 

[Note:  In accordance with Section D, Part 3 of this Constitution, the Head of 
Paid Service in his or her capacity as the Chief Executive will –  

 
(a) Make consequential amendments to the specific delegations to chief 

officers as are contained in Part 9 of this Constitution to reflect changes in 

legislation and ensure that the delegation remains fit for purpose; 
 

[Note – Article 15.02 authorises the Chief Executive to update this part of 
the Constitution without the need to refer such matters to full Council for 
approval.] 

 
(b) Take action between meetings on matters which he or she considers is 

urgent.] 

12.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

(a) Maintaining the Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer will maintain an 

up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely 
available for consultation by members, staff and the public. 

 

(b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making.  After 
consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the 

Monitoring Officer will report to the full County Council or to the Executive 
in relation to an Executive function if he or she considers that any 
proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any 

decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such a report 
will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being 

implemented until the report has been considered. 
 

(c) Supporting the Corporate Governance Committee.  The Monitoring 

Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards 
of conduct through provision of support to the Corporate Governance 

Committee. 
 

(d) Local Assessment of Complaints.  The Monitoring Officer will support 

the Member Conduct Panel in operating a locally based system for the 
assessment, referral, investigation and hearing and resolution of 

complaints of member misconduct. 
 

(e) Proper Officer for access to information.  The Monitoring Officer may 

require the Proper Officer (for this purpose the Chief Executive) to satisfy 
him or her that effective arrangements are in place to ensure that 

Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and 
relevant officer reports and background papers are made publicly 
available as soon as possible. 

 

32



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 21 
 

Page 21/35 

 

(f) Advising whether Executive decisions are within the Budget and 
Policy Framework.  The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions 

of the Executive are in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

 

(g) Politically restricted posts.  The Monitoring Officer will take any 
necessary action required of the County Council in connection with the 

designation of posts within the County Council as politically sensitive in 
accordance with the legislation in force for the time being.  (The granting 
of exemptions is a matter for the Head of Paid Service – see Article 12.02 

(b) above.) 
 

(h) Providing advice.  The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy Framework issues to 

all county councillors. 
 
(i) Restrictions on posts.  The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief 

Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

(j) Coronial appointments.  The Monitoring Officer will confirm coronial 
appointments as required in accordance with legislation in force for the 
time being.  

12.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making.  

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, 
the Chief Finance Officer will report to the full County Council or to the 
Executive in relation to an Executive function and the County Council’s 

external auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or 
course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful  

and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the County Council is about 
to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 

(b) Administration of financial affairs.  The Chief Finance Officer will have 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the County 

Council. 
 
(c) Contributing to corporate management.  The Chief Finance Officer will 

contribute to the corporate management of the County Council, in 
particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 

 
(d) Providing advice.  The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the 

scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 

financial impropriety, probity and budget and Policy Framework issues to 
all county councillors and will support and advise county councillors and 

officers in their respective roles. 
 

(e) Giving financial information.  The Chief Finance Officer will provide 

financial information to the media, members of the public and the 

33



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 22 
 

Page 22/35 

 

community. 
 

(f) Acceptance of Grant Conditions.  The Chief Finance Officer pursuant 
to Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, will have the power to 
enter into binding financial agreements including, but not limited to, 

applying for grants or making grant claims and accepting conditional or 
non-conditional grants. 

 
 
12.04A    Functions of the designated Scrutiny Officer.  

 
The designated Scrutiny Officer will undertake the functions laid down in 

Section 21ZA of the Local Government Act 2000 as follows:- 
 
  (a) to promote the role of the Authority's overview and scrutiny committee  

   or committees; 
 

(b) to provide support to the Authority's overview and scrutiny committee or 

committees and members of that committee or those committees; 
 

 (c) to provide support and guidance to:- 

  (i) members of the Authority 
  (ii) members of the executive of the Authority, and  

  (iii) officers of the Authority; 
 

 in relation to the functions of the Authority's overview and scrutiny committee 
or committees. 

12.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief 

Finance Officer 

The County Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their 
opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

12.06 Conduct 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 
Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

12.07 Employment 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4H of this Constitution. 

 
 

ARTICLE 13 
Decision-making 

13.01 Responsibility for decision-making 

The County Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the 
County Council or individual has responsibilities for particular types of decisions 

34



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 23 
 

Page 23/35 

 

or decisions relating to particular areas or functions.  This record is set out in 
Parts 3 and 9 of this Constitution. 

13.02 Principles of decision-making 

All decisions of the County Council will be made in accordance with the 
following principles: 

 
(a) proportionality (i.e. the action should be proportionate to the desired 

outcome); 
(b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 
(c) respect for human rights; 

(d) a presumption in favour of openness; 
(e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes; and 

(f) an explanation of the options considered and the reasons for decisions. 

13.03 Types of decision 

(a) Decisions reserved to full County Council.  Decisions relating to the 

functions listed in Article 4.02 will be made by the full County Council and 
not delegated. 

 

(b) Key Decisions.  A Key Decision is an executive decision which is likely: 
 

1. to result in the County Council incurring expenditure which is, or the 
making of savings which are, significant having regard to the County 
Council’s Budget for the service or function to which the decision 

relates; or 
2. to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working 

in an area comprising two or more electoral divisions in the County. 
 

A decision maker may only make a Key Decision in accordance with the 

requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4D of this 
Constitution. 

 
[Note: Key Decisions should normally feature in the Forward Plan which is 
described in Rule 14 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B.  

The current local working definition of a Key Decision adopted by the County 
Council is described in Rule 8 of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 

4D of this Constitution] 

13.04 Decision-making by the full County Council 

Subject to Article 13.08, the County Council meeting will follow the Meeting 

Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) set out in Part 4A of this Constitution when 
considering any matter. 

13.05 Decision-making by the Executive  

Subject to Articles 7.08 and 13.08, the Executive will follow the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4D of this Constitution when considering any 

matter. 

35



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 24 
 

Page 24/35 

 

13.06 Decision-making by overview and scrutiny committees 

Overview and scrutiny committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules set out in Part 4E of this Constitution when considering any 
matter. 

13.07 Decision-making by boards and other committees and sub-committees 

established by the County Council 

Subject to Article 13.08, other County Council boards, committees and sub-

committees will follow those parts of the Meeting Procedure Rules (Standing 
Orders) set out in Part 4A of this Constitution as apply to them. 

13.08 Decision-making by County Council bodies acting as tribunals 

The County Council, a county councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a 
quasi-judicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes 

of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of 
any person will follow a proper procedure which accords with the requirements 
of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 of the 

European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

13.09 Decision-making between meetings 

The Chief Executive will take action between meetings which he or she 
considers is urgent in accordance with the provisions set out in Section D, Part 

3 of this Constitution. 
 
 

ARTICLE 14 
Finance, contracts and legal matters 

14.01 Financial management 

The management of the County Council’s financial affairs wi ll be conducted in 
accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4F of this 

Constitution. 

14.02 Contracts 

Every contract made by the County Council will comply with the Contract 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4G of this Constitution. 

14.03 Legal proceedings 

 The Director of Law and Governance is authorised:  
 

(a) To institute, participate in, defend, settle, compromise, withdraw or 
discontinue any proceedings on behalf of the Council;  
 

(b) To advance, defend, compromise, abandon or otherwise dispose of claims 
(for monies or other remedies) in connection with any pending or actual 

legal proceedings in any cases where such action is necessary to give 
effect to decisions of any part of the council or in any cases where the 
Director of Law and Governance considers that such action is necessary to 

protect the Council’s interest.  
 

36



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 25 
 

Page 25/35 

 

(c) To act as ‘litigation friend’ in connection with any legal proceedings brought 
by persons to who the Council owes a legal duty of care (e.g. children in 

care); 
 
(d) To instruct counsel, solicitors and other experts in relation to legal 

proceedings, public enquiries, and other matters involving the Council.  
 

With regard to the settlement of any legal proceedings where the settlement 
terms include the payment of a ‘special severance payment’, such payment 
shall be approved as follows:  

 
(i) The full Council must approve any special severance payments of 

£100,000 and above;  
(ii) The approval of the Head of Paid Service and the Leader of the Council 

must be obtained and recorded for any payments above £20,000 but 

below £100,000. 
(iii) The approval of the Director of Law and Governance in consultation with 

the Director of Corporate Resources must be obtained for any payments 

below £20,000. 
 

[Note: The expression “proceedings” shall include, without limitation, criminal 
proceedings, civil claims, court cases, tribunals, enquiries, arbitrations and other 
alternative dispute resolution processes.] 

 

14.04 Authentication of documents 

(a) The Director of Law and Governance and such officers as are authorised 
by him/her, are authorised generally to seal, sign, authenticate, attest and 
issue any notice, order or other document (including documents required 

for legal proceedings) on the Council’s behalf including by electronic 
means, unless an Act of Parliament requires some other person to do so, 

or the Council gives authority to some other person. 
 
(b) Any contract with a value exceeding the limit provided for in Part 4G of 

this Constitution (the Contract Procedure Rules) entered into on behalf of 
the County Council shall be made in writing.  Such contracts must either 

be signed (by electronic means or otherwise) or, in cases determined by 
the Director of Law and Governance or where it is otherwise required in 
law, made under the Common Seal of the County Council in a form to be 

determined or approved by him/her. 

14.05 Common Seal of the County Council 

 The Common Seal of the County Council will be kept in a safe place in the 
custody of the Chief Executive.  A decision of the County Council, or of any 
part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give 

effect to the decision.  The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents 
which in the opinion of the Chief Executive should be sealed.  The affixing of 

the Common Seal will be attested by the Chief Executive or some other person 
authorised by him or her. 

 

 

37



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 26 
 

Page 26/35 

 

ARTICLE 15 
Review and revision of the Constitution 

15.01 Duty to monitor and review the Constitution 

 The Chief Executive will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to 
ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.  In 

undertaking this task the Chief Executive may: 
 

(a) observe meetings of different parts of the member and officer structure; 
(b) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
(c) record and analyse issues raised with him or her by members, officers, 

the public and other relevant stakeholders; and 
(d) compare practices in the County Council with those in other comparable 

authorities, or national examples of best practice. 

15.02 Changes to the Constitution 

 Approval.  Changes to the Constitution will only be approved by the full 

County Council after consideration of the proposal by the Chief Executive and 
the Constitution Committee and/or Corporate Governance Committee and/or 
Employment Committee as appropriate; provided that the Chief Executive is 

authorised to update any part of this Constitution in respect of changes in the 
Management Structure and Part 9 of this Constitution for the purpose of 

formally recording any changes in, or additions to, the specific delegations to 
officers made by the County Council, the Executive or a Regulatory Board or 
Committee.  Proposals for changes to the Meeting Procedure Rules in Part 

4(A) of this Constitution must comply with the process prescribed in those 
Rules. 

 
 

ARTICLE 16 

Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution 

16.01 Suspension of the Constitution 

(a) No suspension of Articles. The Articles of this Constitution may not be 
suspended.  

 

(b) Suspension of Rules.  The Rules specified in paragraph (d) below may be 
suspended either to the extent permitted within them or by the full County 

Council.  Any suspension shall be within the law.  The extent and duration 
of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking 
account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1.   

 
(c) Procedure to suspend.  A suspension permitted within the Rules 

themselves shall follow any procedure, and shall be subject to any 
restrictions, specified in those Rules.  A suspension by the full County 
Council will not be moved without notice unless at least one half of the 

whole number of county councillors is present.  
 

38



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 27 
 

Page 27/35 

 

(d)Rules capable of suspension.  The following Rules may be suspended in 
accordance with Article 16.01 and in compliance with any restrictions 

contained within them: 
 

Meeting Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) - Part 4A 

Financial Procedure Rules - Part 4F 
Contract Procedure Rules - Part 4G 

16.02 Interpretation 

The ruling of the Chairman of the County Council as to the construction or 
application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the County Council 

shall not be challenged at any meeting of the County Council.  Such 
interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in 

Article 1. 

16.03 Publication 

The Chief Executive will ensure that a copy of the Constitution is available for 

inspection at County Hall and is published on the County Council's website.  
The Chief Executive will also ensure that paper copies can be purchased on 
payment of a reasonable fee. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

39



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 28 
 

Page 28/35 

 

SCHEDULE 1 
Description of Executive Arrangements 

 
The following parts of this Constitution constitute the Executive Arrangements for the 
purposes of the Local Government Act 2000: 

 
1. Article 6 (Overview and scrutiny committees) and the Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules (Part 4E); 
2. Article 7 (The Executive) and the Executive Procedure Rules (Part 4D); 
3. Article 10 (Area committees and forums); 

4. Article 11 (Joint arrangements); 
5. Article 13 (Decision making) and the Access to Information Procedure Rules 

(Part 4B);  
6. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions); and 
7. Part 9 (Delegation to officers). 

 

 

 
 

SCHEDULE 2 

Plans and Strategies forming the Policy Framework (Article 4.01) 
 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000: 
 

1. Community Safety Strategy 

2. Local Transport Plan 

3. Minerals and Waste Local Plan  

4. Youth Justice Plan 

By local choice 
 

5. MTFS comprising: 

o Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 

o Treasury Management Strategy 

o Earmarked Funds Policy 

o Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy 

o Capital Strategy 

6. Strategic Plan and strategies relating to its outcomes and principles, including, 

for example, but not limited to: 

o Strong Economy Strategy 

o Affordable and Quality Homes Strategy 

o Environment Strategy 

o Communities Strategy  

o Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Strategy 

7. Annual Performance Report 

8. Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 

9. Code of Corporate Governance 

10. Corporate Parenting Policy 

40



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 29 
 

Page 29/35 

 

11. Strategic Growth Plan and strategies to enable its delivery, including, for 

example, but not limited to: 

o Long Term Infrastructure Plan 

o Planning Obligations Policy 

[Note: the following Plans, which are listed here solely for the sake of completeness, 
do not form part of the Policy Framework] 

 
Plans determined by the Executive 
 

A. Strategies to enable delivery of the Local Transport Plan, including, for 

example, but not limited to: 

o Highways Asset Management Strategy and Policy 

o Passenger Transport Strategy and Policy 

B. Home to School Transport Policies: 

o Mainstream 

o Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

C. Adult Social Care Transport Policy 

D. Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

E. Strategies to enable delivery of the Environment Strategy, including, for 

example, but not limited to: 

o Tree Management Strategy 

o Ash Dieback Strategy 

F. Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

G. Local Development Scheme 

H. Statement of Community Involvement 

I. Leicestershire Rural Framework 

J. Statutory Regulatory Reports including, for example, but not limited to 

o Enforcement Programme for Underage Sales of Tobacco Products and 

Aerosol Paints 

o Use of the Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of Communications 

Data Policy Statement 

K. Corporate Asset Management Plan 

L. Public Health Strategy and Strategies to enable its delivery, including, for 

example, but not limited to: 

o Sexual Health Strategy 

o Substance Misuse Strategy 

o Obesity Strategy 

M. Children and Families Departmental Plan and strategies to enable its delivery 

N. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy 

O. Strategies relating to Schools: 

o School Placements 

o Fair Access Protocol 

o Admissions Policy 

o Schools Funding Formula 

P. Adults and Communities Departmental Strategy and strategies to enable its 

delivery, including, for example, but not limited to: 

o Workforce Strategy 

41



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 30 
 

Page 30/35 

 

o Community Equipment Strategy 

o Accommodation and Investment Prospectus 

o Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 

Q. Adult Social Care Market Position Statement 

R. Whole Life Disability Strategy 

S. Partnership strategies: 

o LLR Carers Strategy 

o LLR Autism Strategy 

o LLR Dementia Strategy 

o Children and Families Partnership Plan 

 

Plans Determined by the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

• Better Care Fund Plan 

• Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

• Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

 

 
SCHEDULE 3 

TABLES 
 

TABLE A 

Overview and scrutiny committees (Article 6.01) 
 

[Note:  

• Articles 2.03(b) of this Constitution states that all County Councillors will act in 
the capacity to which they are elected to the County Council and not speak on 

behalf of any other local authority whilst they are acting as a County Councillor. 
This applies when overview and scrutiny committees consider matters which 

also affect district councils, for example growth and associated infrastructure 
items.  

• Neither the Scrutiny Commission nor any of the other overview and scrutiny 

committees or subcommittees are empowered to take decisions or exercise 
any responsibilities of the Executive or County Council or Health Service 

bodies.  The general role and specific functions are described in Article 6 and 
for the purposes of that Article the Scrutiny Commission is regarded as an 
overview and scrutiny committee for those matters which come within its 

scope.] 
 

Committee  Scope  

 
Scrutiny 

Commission 

1. The executive functions of the County Council in respect of (but 
not limited to) :- 

 
(i) The Budget (the revenue budget and capital programme) 
(ii) Strategic and Operational Property including Corporate 

Asset Investment Fund investments 
(iii) Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 

(iv) Commercial and Customer Services 

42



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 31 
 

Page 31/35 

 

Committee  Scope  

(v) Growth and associated Infrastructure 

(vi) Corporate Transformation and Ways of Working 
(vii) Communities 

(viii) Corporate Performance, complaints and 
compliments. 

 

2. Any functions which are not specifically within the scope of 
any other overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
3. To act as the Crime and Disorder Committee in accordance 

with Section 19 of Part 3 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 

and work with the Police and Crime Panel to scrutinise the 
delivery of effectiveness of measures aimed at reducing crime 

and disorder. 
 

4. To monitor the performance and activities of:- 

 
(a) The Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 

 Board; 
(b) The Leicester and Leicestershire Transport Board; 
(c)  Any other partnerships that are associated with the   

executive functions outlined above and not within the scope of 
any other overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
5. Oversight and co-ordination of the work of the overview and 

scrutiny committees and scrutiny review panels. 

 
6. Resolving any disagreements between overview and scrutiny 

committees. 
 
[Note:  

 
The scope of the Scrutiny Commission will not extend to 

exercising functions relating to the scrutiny of: 

• Any matters linked to the Council’s Green Agenda such as 
energy from the Council’s property portfolio which will be a 

matter for the Environment and Climate Change Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; 

• Operational Transformation within service departments which 
will be a matter for each of the service related overview and 

scrutiny committees;  

• the National Health Service in the County, which will be a 
matter for the designated scrutiny committee.) 

 
See Rule 2A of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Part 

4E) for the functions of the Scrutiny Commissioners.] 
 
 

  

43



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 32 
 

Page 32/35 

 

Committee  Scope  

 

Children and 
Families 

1. The executive functions of the County Council in respect of 

Children and Family Services. 
 

2. To monitor the performance and activities of any partnerships 
that are associated with the executive functions outlined in 1.  
above. 

  
 

Adults and 

Communities 

1. The executive functions of the County Council in respect of the 
Adults and Communities Department. 

 
2. To monitor the performance and activities of any partnerships 

that are associated with the executive functions outlined in 1. 
above.  
 

 

Highways and 
Transport 

1. The executive functions of the County Council in respect of 

Highways and Transport Services within the Environment and 
Transport Department. 

 
2. To monitor the performance and activities of the Flood Risk 

Management Board in accordance with Section 9FH of 

Schedule 2 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
3. To monitor the performance and activities of any partnerships 

that are associated with the executive functions outlined in 1.  
and 2. above. 

  
Environment 
and Climate 

Change 

1. The executive functions of the County Council in respect of: 
 

(e) Environment and Waste Management Services within the 
Council’s Environment and Transport Department; 

(f) Climate Change and delivery of the Council’s Green 
Agenda including Green spaces. 
 

2. To monitor the performance and activities of any partnerships 
that are associated with the executive functions outlined in 1. 

above. 
 

 
Health 

1. The executive functions of the County Council in relation to 
Public Health. 

 
2. To monitor the performance of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

in respect of the executive functions outlined in 1.  above and 
any other partnerships as appropriate that are associated with 
those functions. 

 
3. Health Service Functions 

 
(a)  The exercise by health bodies of functions which affect the 
 area of the County Council; 

44



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 33 
 

Page 33/35 

 

Committee  Scope  

 

(b)  Arrangements for responding to consultation by local 
health  bodies for substantial development of the health 

service or  substantial variation in the provision of such 
services save  where these are dealt with through a joint 
committee with  other Social Services authorities. 

 
[Note:  Article 6.09 makes provision for the County Council to establish a joint 
committee with other Social Services authorities, to scrutinise any health issue or 

consultation which has an area larger than the County Council where it considers it 
necessary or is required to do so.] 

 
TABLE B 

Area committees and forums (Article 10.02) 

 

name of committee composition terms of reference 

   
[to be completed if and when area committees are appointed] 

   

 
TABLE C 

Chief officers (Article 12.01) 

 

Post Functions and areas of responsibility 

Chief Executive 

 
1. Head of the Paid Service. 

2. Leading the Corporate Management Team (CMT). 
3.  Overall corporate management and operational 

responsibility (including overall management 
responsibility for all officers).  

4. Provision of professional advice to all parties in the 

decision-making process. 
5.  Responsibility for a system of record keeping for 

all of the County Council’s decisions.  
6. Representing the County Council on partnership 

and external bodies (as required by statute or the 

County Council). 
7. Monitoring and Reviewing the Constitution. 

8.  Provision of professional advice in connection with 
and managing the effective provision of services in 
respect of:- 

 

(a) Strategic Planning. 
(b) Communities and Economic Strategies, and 

related partnerships. 
(c) Emergency Management. 
 

Director of Corporate 

Resources 

1. Oversight of the operation of the finance function 

and work of the Chief Finance Officer. 

45



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 34 
 

Page 34/35 

 

Post Functions and areas of responsibility 

2. Contribution to corporate management through 

participation in CMT. 
3. Provision of professional advice in connection with 

and managing the effective provision of services 
for:- 

 (a) Corporate Strategy for Transformation. 

 (b) The Council’s Human Resources. 
 (c) The maintenance and development of the land 

and buildings of the County Council. 
 (d) County Farms. 
 (e) Industrial Units. 

 (f) County Council Information Communications 
and Technology (ICT). 

 (g) Public Relations. 
 (h) Country Parks. 
 

Director of Law and 

Governance 

1. Monitoring Officer. 

2. Contribution to corporate management through 
participation in CMT. 

3. Provision of advice on Standards. 
4. Provision of professional advice in connection with 

and managing the effective provision of services in 

respect of:- 

 

(a) Democratic, Civic Affairs and Administrative 

Services. 
(b) Legal Services. 
(c)   Regulatory Services. 

(d)  The Planning Service. 
 

Director of Children and 
Family Services 

1. Provision of professional advice in connection with 

and managing the effective provision of children 
and family services, youth justice and safer 
communities.  

2. Contribution to corporate management through 
participation in CMT. 

 
 
 

 

Director of Adults and 
Communities 

1. Provision of professional advice in connection with 
and managing the effective provision of:- 

     (a) Adult Social Care Services.  

     (b) Libraries Service. 
     (c) Heritage and Arts. 

2. Contribution to corporate management through 
participation in CMT. 

3. Liaison with the NHS.  

 

46



Part 2 
Articles of the Constitution 

Page 35 
 

Page 35/35 

 

Post Functions and areas of responsibility 

Director of Environment 
and Transport 

1. Provision of professional advice in connection with 

and managing the effective provision of services 
for:- 

 
(a) Highways.  
(b) Transportation. 

(c) Waste Management. 
(d) Environmental Management. 

 
2. Contribution to corporate management through 

participation in CMT. 

 
 

Director of Public Health 

1. Provision of professional advice in connection with 

health and public health and managing the 
effective commissioning of services for public 
health.  

2. Contribution to corporate management through 
participation in CMT. 

 

 
TABLE D 

Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and designated 

Scrutiny Officer (Article 12.01) 
 

Post Designation 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service 

Director of Law and 

Governance 

Monitoring Officer 

Director of Corporate 
Resources 

Chief Finance Officer 

Head of Law Scrutiny Officer 

 

[end of Articles] 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions 

 

 

  December 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Responsibility 
for 

Functions 
 
 
 
 

 

49



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 1/23 
 

 

Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions 
 

 

Section A: Responsibility for “Local Choice” functions 
 

[Notes:  
(a)  The use of the word “appeal” in items 3 to 6 in the table below is intended only to 

apply to those instances where a formal right of legal appeal exists.  Processes 

which involve the making of representations or access to a review do not come 
within the legal ambit of an “appeal”.  The word “appeal” is a technical one, 

involving specific legal consequences and the inappropriate use of that word to 
describe representation or review processes should be avoided. 

(b) In items 4 to 6 in the table below, the Executive’s responsibilities are concerned 

with making the arrangements.  The actual hearing of an appeal will be handled 
by a Panel, appointed by the Chief Executive, whose composition will comply with 

any statutory requirements. 
 (c) In item 11 in the table below, the “revocation of appointments” excludes 

considering and determining representations seeking the removal of any LEA 

appointed school governor, which is the function of the Corporate Governance 
Committee]   

 

 Function Responsible Body 

1 Leicestershire Act 1985: 
section 10 (control of floodlighting) 

section 16 (consent to projections) 
section 18 (pedal cycles) 
section 48 (buildings used for storage of flammable 

substances) 
section 58 (byelaws as to leisure centres) 

Development 
Control and 

Regulatory Board 
(DC&RB) 

2 Leicestershire Act 1985: 

section 4 (interference with traffic signs etc) 
section 5 (statutory undertakers’ apparatus etc) 
section 9 (recovery of expense of fencing etc) 

section 11 (vesting of former highway land ) 
section 12 (damage to footways etc) 

section 13 (plans etc of new streets) 
section 14 (temporary prohibition of traffic etc) 
section 15 (affixing of traffic signs to walls) 

section 17 (provision of trees and shrubs) 
section 41 (defacing of streets) 

section 59 (provision of parking places in parks etc) 
section 60 (contribution towards provision of 
recreational facilities) 

section 82 (insurance of visiting pupils) 
section 83 (power to provide information) 

section 84 (publication of bulletins etc) 
section 85 (certain particulars to be furnished in 
writing) 

Executive 

50



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 2/23 
 

section 86 (evidence of confirmation of committee 
decisions etc) 

section 87 (training arrangements) 
section 88 (recording of documents) 

section 89 (microfilming of documents) 
section 90 (restriction on use of armorial bearings) 

3 Determination of an appeal against any decision 
made by or on behalf of the County Council 

Panel appointed by 
Chief Executive 

4 Making arrangements for appeals against 

exclusion of pupils - section 67 of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998 (“the 1998 

Act”) 

Executive 

5 Making arrangements for admission appeals - 
section 94 of the 1998 Act 

Executive 

6 Making arrangements for appeals by governing 

bodies - section 95 of the 1998 Act  

Executive 

7 Conducting Best Value Reviews Executive 

8 
& 
9 

Obtaining information under section 330 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as to 
interests in land  

Obtaining information under section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

as to persons interested in land 
- (a) in connection with functions which are the 
responsibility of the Executive 

- (b) in connection with functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Executive 

 
 
 

 
 

(a) Executive 
 
(b) DC&RB 

10 Making agreements for the execution of highways 

works 
- (a) in connection with the improvement of 

highways 
- (b) in connection with development control 

 

(a) Executive 
(b) DC&RB 

11 Making and revocation (except where the 
revocation is within the remit of the Corporate 

Governance Committee) of appointments 
- (a) in connection with functions which are the 

responsibility of the Executive 
- (b) in connection with functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Executive 

 
 

 
(a) Executive 

 
(b) Constitution 
      Committee 

 

 
 

51



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 3/23 
 

  

Section B: Responsibility for “County Council” functions 
 
[Note:  

(a)  In the context of Leicestershire County Council these non-executive “County 
Council” functions fall within the remit of a series of committees or boards within 

what is described as the “Regulatory” area. 
(b)  Since these committees and boards are intended to reflect the political 

composition of the full County Council, their membership will be that determined 

from time to time by the full County Council and will be listed in the record 
maintained by the Chief Executive for public inspection at County Hall and will be 

published on the County Council’s website. 
 (c) Where functions listed in Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and 

Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000 are described by reference to a 

specific statutory provision, for the purposes of this Section those functions shall 
be deemed to include any subsequent statutory modification or extension.] 

 

Development Control and Regulatory Board 

 
1.   The Development Control and Regulatory Board shall not have power to appoint 

subcommittees. 
 

2.   The extent to which the non-executive powers within the Board’s remit have been 
delegated to heads of departments, either by the full County Council or by the 
Board (or by any of the bodies previously charged with the functions now within 

its remit), will be found: 
 

(a)  in the general scheme of delegation to heads of departments which 
appears in Section D of this Part; and 

 

(b)  in the record of specific delegations maintained by the Chief Executive 
for public inspection at County Hall and which constitutes Part 9 of this 

Constitution. 
 
3.  Subject to the delegations described in paragraph 2, the functions delegated to 

the Board shall be: 
 

(a)  Planning and conservation.   
 
 (i) The exercise of those functions relating to town and country 

planning and development control which are specified in Schedule 
1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 

(England) Regulations 2000 (the “Functions Regulations”) and 
which are relevant to a county council;    

 

 
 

 

52



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 4/23 
 

   

 (ii) Offering advice to the Cabinet in response to consultation 
exercises relating to planning applications referred by District 
Councils or other agencies.    

 
(b) Commons registration.  The exercise of the functions relating to the 

registration of common land or town and village greens and registration 
of the variation of rights of common as set out in Schedule 1 to the 
Functions Regulations. 

(c) Licensing. Those functions relating to licensing which are specified in 
Schedule 1 to the Functions Regulations and which are relevant to a 

county council. 
(d) Marriages.  The exercise of the power to approve premises for the 

solemnisation of marriages as specified in Schedule 1 to the Functions 

Regulations. 
(e) Highways use and regulation.  The exercise of those functions relating 

to the regulation of the use of highways and the miscellaneous highways 
functions which are set out in Schedule 1 to the Functions Regulations 
and which are relevant to a county council. 

(f) Health and safety.  The exercise of those functions relating to health 
and safety under any “relevant statutory provision” within the meaning of 

Part 1 of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, to the extent that 
those functions are discharged otherwise than in the County Council’s 
capacity as employer. 

 (g) Byelaws.  Making recommendations to the County Council relating to 
the making, amendment, revocation or re-enactment of byelaws which 

are specified in Schedule 1 to the Functions Regulations and which are 
relevant to the County Council. 

 (h) Charges.  Determination of charges which should be made (and if so, 

the amount of the charge) for any approval, consent, licence, permit or 
registration the issue of which is within the remit of the Board. 

 

Local Pension Committee 

 
1.   The Local Pension Committee shall not have power to appoint subcommittees but 

the County Council may appoint an Investment Subcommittee to assist the 
Committee to carry out its functions. 

 
2.   The extent to which the non-executive powers within the Committee’s remit have 

been delegated to heads of departments, either by the full County Council or by 

the Board (or by any of the bodies previously charged with the functions now 
within its remit), will be found: 

 
(a)  in the general scheme of delegation to heads of departments which 

appears in Section D of this Part;  

 
(b) in the Financial Procedure Rules in Part 4F; and 

 

53



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 5/23 
 

(c)  in the record of specific delegations maintained by the Chief Executive 

for public inspection at County Hall and which constitutes Part 9 of this 
Constitution. 

 

3.  Subject to the delegations described in paragraph 2, the functions delegated to 
the Committee shall be those related to the maintenance of the Leicestershire 

Pension Fund.  The Committee may carry out these functions with the assistance 
of an Investment Subcommittee with the following terms of reference. 

 

Investment Subcommittee 
 

1. The functions delegated to the Investment Subcommittee shall be: 
 

(a) to monitor the performance of investment managers, particularly those 

whose performance is causing concern. 
 

(b) To assist in the selection of investment managers. 
 

(c) To determine the timing of changes in asset allocation, within the 

Investment Strategy agreed by the Local Pension Committee. 
 

(d) To consider changes to the portfolio size of investment managers. 
 

(e) To determine the management of the ‘opportunity pool’. 

 
(f) To undertake any other duties as requested by the Local Pension 

Committee. 
 
[Note: the membership of the Committee includes representatives of other local 

bodies whose employees are members of the Leicestershire Pension Fund.] 
 

 
Corporate Governance Committee 

 

1. The Corporate Governance Committee shall have power to appoint 
subcommittees to deal with any appointments for which it has responsibilities. 

 
2. The extent to which the non-executive powers within the Committee’s remit have 

been delegated to chief officers, either by the full County Council or by the 

Committee (or by any of the bodies previously charged with the functions now 
within its remit), will be found: 

 
(a) in the general scheme of delegation to heads of departments which 

appears in Section D of this Part; and 

 
(b) in the record of specific delegations maintained by the Chief Executive for 

public inspection at County Hall and which constitutes Part 9 of this 
Constitution. 

 

54



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 6/23 
 

3. Subject to the delegations described in paragraph 2, the functions delegated to the 

Committee shall be: 
 
Corporate Governance Matters 

 
(a) The promotion and maintenance of high standards within the Authority in 

relation to the operation of the Council’s Local Code of Governance and in 
particular to ensure: 

 

(i) that an adequate risk management framework and associated control 
environment is in place; 

(ii) that the Authority’s financial and non financial performance is properly 
monitored; 

(iii) proper oversight of the financial reporting processes; 

(iv) that the Council's Treasury Management arrangements are 
appropriate and regularly monitored. 

 
(b) To review the Council’s Local Code of Governance as necessary and 

make recommendations to the County Council to ensure that it remains 

relevant to the Council’s work and practices. 
 

(c)  To satisfy themselves that the County Council’s Statement of Accounts 
and those relating to the Leicestershire Pension Fund including the County 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement have been prepared in 

accordance with best practice. 
 

(d) To make recommendations to the County Council either directly or via the 
Constitution Committee on any amendments required to the Financial 
Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules set out in Parts 4F and 

4G of this Constitution and to make such changes as are considered 
necessary to the Standard Financial Instructions. 

 
(e) To monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the external audit of the 

Council’s services and functions and to:- 

 
(i) consider, comment upon and note the arrangements chosen by 

the Council to select and appoint its statutory external auditor; 
(ii) review the External Auditor’s disclosure of independence and 

objectivity and satisfy itself that no issues with compliance with 

ethical standards or problems with audit quality have been raised; 
(iii) consider the nature and scope of the external audit of the 

Council’s services and functions; 
(iv) consider external audit reports including the Auditor’s Annual 

Report; 

(v) monitor the County Council’s response to the external auditors 
findings and the implementation of external audit 

recommendations. 
 

55



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 7/23 
 

(f) To monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Audit Service 

and to: - 
 

(i) fulfil the role of ‘the Board’ for the purposes of the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (the PSIAS); 
(ii) Approve the internal audit charter; 

(iii) Approve risk based Internal Audit plans; 
(iv) monitor progress against plans through the receipt of periodic 

progress reports and an annual Internal Audit report containing 

the annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the control environment and conformance to PSIAS; 

(v) consider major Internal Audit findings and recommendations; 
(vi) monitor the response to major Internal Audit findings and the 

implementation of its recommendations; 

(vii) contribute to and support an external quality assessment of the 
internal audit function. 

 
(g) Monitor the effectiveness of officer arrangements for ensuring an adequate 

internal control environment and combating fraud and corruption. 

 
(h) Monitor the arrangements for the identification monitoring and 

management of strategic and operational risk within the Council. 
 

(j) To liaise with the Executive and other bodies as appropriate on matters of 

corporate governance and financial accountability. 
 

(k) Advising on training for members of the Council on matters relating to the 
Corporate Governance of the Authority. 

 

Standards of Conduct Matters 
 

(l) The promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct by members 
and co-opted members within the County Council, including:- 
 

(i) Advising the County Council on the adoption or revision of its Code of 
Conduct; 

(ii) Monitoring and advising the County Council about the operation of its 
Code of Conduct in the light of best practice and changes in the law. 
 

(m) To approve the Council’s procedure for handling Member Conduct 
Complaints. (See also the delegation to the Director of Law and 

Governance).  
 

(n) Ensuring that all members and co-opted members of the County Council 

have access to training in all aspects of the Code of members, that this 
training is actively promoted, and that members are aware of the standards 

expected from local councillors under the Code. 
 

56



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 8/23 
 

(o) Making arrangements for the appointment of independent persons whose 

views must be sought about allegations of a breach of the Members’ Code 
of Conduct in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011. 

 

(p) To have oversight as part of the annual complaints report of the findings of 
the Local Government Ombudsman where there is a finding of 

maladministration against the Council. 
 

(q) To make voluntary payments or provide other benefits in cases of 

maladministration under section 92 of the Local Government Act 2000. 
(See also the delegation to the Director of Law and Governance.) 

 
(r) Making arrangements for members to receive dispensations to speak on or 

participate in matters in which they have interests. (see also the delegation 

to the Director of Law and Governance.) 
 

(s) Exempting members from vacation of office by failure to attend meetings. 
 

(t) Considering and determining representation seeking the removal of any 

LEA appointed school governor. 
 

(u) Subject to the powers of the Employment Committee in relation to Local 
Conditions of Service, advising as necessary on matters relating to the 
conduct of employees and procedures relating to the handling of 

complaints, including “whistle blowing”. 
 

 

Constitution Committee 

 
1.   The Constitution Committee shall not have power to appoint subcommittees, save 

in relation to members’ allowances. 
 

2.   The extent to which the non-executive powers within the Committee’s remit have 
been delegated to chief officers, either by the full County Council or by the 
Committee (or by any of the bodies previously charged with the functions now 

within its remit), will be found: 
 

(a)  in the general scheme of delegation to heads of departments which 
appears in Section D of this Part; and 

 

(b)  in the record of specific delegations maintained by the Chief Executive 
for public inspection at County Hall and which constitutes Part 9 of this 

Constitution. 
 
3.  Subject to the delegations described in paragraph 2, the functions delegated to 

the Committee shall be: 
 

57



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 9/23 
 

(a) Elections. Those functions relating to elections which are specified in 

Schedule 1 to the Functions Regulations and which are relevant to a 
county council. 

(b) Statement of Accounts.  Approval of the County Council’s Statement 

of Accounts and those relating to the Leicestershire Pension Fund. 
(c) Names and status. Those functions relating to the name and status of 

areas and individuals which are specified in Schedule 1 to the Functions 
Regulations and which are relevant to a county council. 

(d) Bills.  Advising the Council on the promotion or opposition of local or 

personal Bills which are specified in Schedule 1 to the Functions 
Regulations and which are relevant to a county council. 

(e) Appointments.  Making and revoking appointments, except where the 
full County Council, the Cabinet, the Corporate Governance Committee 
or other board or committee has such responsibility.    

(f) Members’ Allowances Scheme.  Advising the County Council on the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme [Note: approval of the scheme cannot be 

delegated by the County Council to a committee]. 
(g) Members’ Services.  Approving the arrangements for providing 

appropriate support services to meet the needs of elected members. 

(h) Constitution.  Advising the County Council on the Constitution. 
(i)   Charitable Trustee.  Those functions relating to the Council’s role as a 

Charitable Trustee where the Council has been identified as a trustee of 
a charity or trust or the recipient of a bequest and holds property or 
assets on trust, including consideration of matters where there is a 

conflict or potential conflict between the Council’s interests and those of 
the Charitable Trust or bequest. 

 
 
 

Employment Committee 
 

1. The Employment Committee shall not have power to appoint subcommittees. 
 
2. The extent to which the non-executive powers within the Committee’s remit have 

been delegated to chief officers, either by the full County Council or by the 
Committee (or by any of the bodies previously charged with the functions now 

within its remit), will be found: 
 

(a) in the general scheme of delegation to heads of departments which 

appears in Section D of this Part; and 
 

(b) in the record of specific delegations maintained by the Chief Executive for 
public inspection at County Hall and which constitutes Part 9 of this 
Constitution. 

 
3. Subject to the delegations described in paragraph 2, and to the provisions of the 

Officer Employment Procedure Rules (Part 4H of the Constitution) the functions 
delegated to the Committee shall be: 

 

58



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 10/23 
 

(a) power to determine the terms and conditions on which staff hold office, 

including disciplinary  and grievance procedures. 
 
(b) making effective arrangements to ensure compliance with employment 

legislation and, where necessary, employment codes of practice. 
 

4. The powers of the Employment Committee shall not extend to consultations or 
negotiations with representatives of the recognised trade unions since other 
mechanisms exist within the County Council to undertake these functions. 

 
 

Section C: Responsibility for Executive and Health and Wellbeing Functions 
 
1. The County Council has established a Health and Wellbeing Board as a 

Subcommittee of the Executive to carry out the functions set out in Article 7A of 
Part 2 of this Constitution. 

 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board shall not have the power to appoint 

subcommittees without the consent of the County Council. 

 
 

[Notes: 
(a) The Executive may not, in accordance with Article 7.08 in Part 2, delegate any 

executive functions to an individual member of the Executive.  While that Article 

remains in operation, Table C2 will have no effect. 
(b) Executive powers have been delegated to officers.]   

 
 

 

Delegation to a subcommittee: Table C1 
 

Responsible Body Functions Onward limits on 

delegation 

Health and Wellbeing Board To approve the 
Better Care 

Fund Plan 

No onward delegation 
permitted 

   

 
 
Delegation to an individual member of the Executive: Table C2 

 

Responsible Member Functions Onward limits on 
delegation 

   

[to be completed if and when functions are delegated to an individual 

member] 

   

 
 

59



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 11/23 
 

Joint Arrangements 

 

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO). 
 
The Executive has established joint arrangements for the purchase of goods and 

supplies and the provision of agreed services by establishing a consortium with 
Lincolnshire County Council, Cambridgeshire County Council, Norfolk County 

Council, Warwickshire County Council and Peterborough City Council, which is called 
the Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO).  A joint committee has been 
established in accordance with section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972.  The 

executive has delegated to the joint committee the powers to:- 
 

(i)  Provide a comprehensive cost effective professional purchasing service 
based on the overall requirements of the Member Authorities (and Customers 
where applicable); 

 
(ii) Maintain effective, efficient and economical arrangements for the supply of 

goods and/or services; 
 
(iii) Achieve overall cost savings and efficiencies for the Member Authorities by 

providing a simple, effective system for the supply of goods and/or services; 
 

(iv) Provide timely and relevant information to the Member Authorities based on 
their requirements; and 

 

(v) Provide the ESPO Services [defined in Schedule 2 to the Partnership 
Agreement] to the Member Authorities (and Customers where applicable) 

based on their requirements. 
 
 

Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London Adjudications Joint Committee 
(PATROL) 

 
The Executive has entered into this national Joint Committee arrangement (for which 
Manchester City Council act as lead authority) for the provision of an adjudications 

service to ensure that parking restrictions can be enforced in Leicestershire, under 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
East Midlands Shared Services 
 

The Executive has established joint arrangements with Nottingham City Council for 
the delivery of a programme of shared services including Human Resources, Payroll 

and Finance Transactional Services.  A joint committee has been established in 
accordance with Section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972.  The Executive has 
delegated to the joint committee the power to provide support services to 

Leicestershire and Nottingham Councils and other external clients. 
 

 
 

60



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 12/23 
 

Police and Crime Panel 

 
Joint arrangements with Leicester City Council, Rutland Council and the District 
Councils for the purposes of holding to account the Police and Crime Commissioner 

for the execution of his or her role as required by legislation in force for the time 
being. 

 
[Note: More detailed working arrangements relating to the operation of the Police and 
Crime Panel are set out on the County Council website at 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/other-
bodies/the-police-and-crime-panel.] 

 
Joint Committee for the Local Government Pension Scheme Central Investment 

Pool  
 
The County Council has established joint arrangements with eight Midlands-based 

Local Government Pension Funds (Leicestershire, Cheshire, Shropshire, 
Staffordshire, West Midlands, Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire and Worcestershire) to 

form the Local Government Pension Scheme Central Investment Pool. A joint 
committee has been established in accordance with section 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to enable representatives from the eight authorities to meet, 

ask questions of the operator of the Investment Pool and challenge the performance 
of investments and investment managers. 

 
 

Delegation to and from other local authorities 

 
On–Street Parking 

 
The Cabinet has delegated to the District Councils on 4 June 2007 the task of 
maintaining on-street parking regulations.  That is, patrolling on-street areas and 

where required issuing Penalty Charge Notices where breaches of the regulations 
apply.  The details are the subject of a Service Level Agreement. 

 
The County Council has accepted a reciprocal delegation of necessary notice 
processing powers from the District Councils to enable the County Council to meet its 

obligations under the Service Level Agreement. 
 

Deprivation of Liberty Assessments 
 
The County Council has accepted on 25 March 2009 the delegation of social care and 

health functions from Rutland Council, East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Group and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group to 

carry out Deprivation of Liberty Assessments on behalf of those bodies. 
 
Travellers 

 
The County Council has accepted on 8 July 2009 pursuant to the Local Government 

Acts 1972 and 2000, the delegation of functions from Leicester City Council in relation 

61

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/other-bodies/the-police-and-crime-panel
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/other-bodies/the-police-and-crime-panel


Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 13/23 
 

to unauthorised encampments within the area of Leicester City and from Rutland 

Council in relation to unauthorised encampments in the area of Rutland, such 
delegation to take effect from the date of completion of the associated Compact 
Agreement. 

 
Community Equipment Services 

 
The Cabinet has delegated to Leicester City Council on 27 July 2010 so much of the 
health related functions undertaken by the County Council as may be necessary to 

enable the City Council to provide integrated community equipment services for older 
people and people with disabilities in Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
Trading Standards Functions and Responsibilities 
 

The Cabinet has delegated to Birmingham City Council on 5 April 2011 the functions 
of investigating, administering and enforcing the legislation and offences at common 

law in so far as those relate to or arise from investigations into illegal money lending 
activities within Leicestershire, including the power to institute legal proceedings in 
those cases, as appropriate, pursuant to section 101 of the Local Government Act, 

1972 in accordance with the provisions of Regulation 7 of the Local Authorities 
(Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012 and 

Sections 13 and 19 of the Local Government Act 2000. 
 
Trading Standards Service Practical Arrangements for the Handling of 

Criminal/Civil Proceedings Involving More than One Local Authority 
 

The Cabinet on 13 September 2013 authorised the Chief Executive to enter into 
arrangements under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 with other local 
authorities, involving the delegation of functions of the County Council relating to 

legislation enforced by the Trading Standards Service to such local authorities, in 
cases where he considers it will best serve the interests of justice and/or enable 

cases involving more than one authority to be pursued efficiently and effectively. 
 
The County Council on 25 September 2013 delegated authority to the Chief Executive 

to enter into arrangements under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 with 
other local authorities, involving the acceptance of the delegation of any of the 

functions relating to legislation enforced by the Trading Standards Service from such 
other local authority, in cases where he considers it will best serve the interest of 
justice and/or enable cases involving more than one authority to be pursued efficiently 

and effectively.  
 

The County Council on 25 September 2013 delegated authority to the Director of Law 
and Governance and Head of Regulatory Services or officers nominated by them to 
institute proceedings (civil and/or criminal) pursuant to any arrangements entered into 

under the paragraph immediately above. 
 

 

62



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 14/23 
 

Internal Audit 

 

The County Council on 22 March 2017 accepted a delegation from Leicester City 
Council under section 9EA of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local 
Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012 

to carry out Leicester City Council’s internal audit function. 
 

Care and Mental Health Acts 
 
The County Council has accepted on 21 March 2018 the delegation of the following 

functions from Rutland Council: 
 

(i) Assessments of need pursuant to Section 9 of the Care Act 2014 in 
respect of people aged between 18 and 64 years with mental health 
problems; 

 
(ii) Making arrangements for suitable care to be put in place pursuant to 

Section 2 of the Care Act 2014 where such need has been identified; 
 

(iii) Carrying out the statutory duties of Approved Mental Health Act 

Professionals pursuant to Section 13 of the Mental Health Act 1983. 
 

The Cabinet has delegated to Leicester City Council on 24 May 2019 the statutory 
functions of the County Council in respect of:  
 

i) enquiries pursuant to Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 in respect of 
safeguarding adults from abuse, and 

ii) carrying out the statutory duties of Approved Mental Health Act Professionals 
pursuant to Section 13 of the Mental Health Act 1983 

 

       during the following hours: 
 

i) Monday to Thursday before 08:30 and after 17:00 
ii) Fridays before 08:30 and after 16:30  
iii)Saturdays, Sundays, and public and bank holidays; 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

63



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 15/23 
 

Delegation to officers 

 

The extent to which executive powers within the Executive’s remit have been 
delegated to heads of departments by the Executive (or by any of the bodies, 
including the County Council, previously charged with the functions now within its 

remit), will be found: 
 

(i)  in the general scheme of delegation to heads of departments which appears 
in Section D of this Part; and 

 

(ii)  in the record of specific delegations maintained by the Chief Executive for 
public inspection at County Hall and which constitutes Part 9 of this 

Constitution. 
 
 

Section D: General scheme of delegation to  
Chief Officers 

 
[Notes:  
(a) This general scheme of delegation relates to both executive and non-executive 

functions. 
(b) This general scheme of delegation is supplemented by a series of specific 

decisions which: 
(i)  define which officer is to authorised to act as the “Proper Officer” for 

specified purposes; and 

(ii) give additional delegated powers to heads of departments in relation to 
particular issues or areas of activity.   

The record of those specific decisions is maintained by the Chief Executive, is 
available for public inspection at County Hall during normal office hours and 
constitutes Part 9 of this Constitution.] 

 

Preamble 

 
1. The following delegated powers should be read in conjunction with Financial 

Procedure Rules (Part 4F) and Contract Procedure Rules (Part 4G).   
 

2. Officers should also have regard to specific delegations to heads of 
departments, to the Standard Financial Procedures, to the personnel policies 
and procedures, and to any departmental rules and conventions, before 

exercising powers.   
 

3. The powers delegated to officers under this scheme are in respect of executive 
or non-executive functions as the case may be.   

 

4. In the case of a non-executive function, “relevant body” means the body 
responsible for the non-executive function concerned. 

 

64



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 16/23 
 

General conditions of delegation 

 

5. Any exercise of delegated powers by officers:- 
 

(a) shall comply with the Meeting Procedure Rules (Part 4A), Financial 

Procedure Rules (Part 4F) and Contract Procedure Rules (Part 4G) and 
the Standard Financial Instructions made by the Executive; 

 
(b) shall not authorise expenditure except in accordance with the approved 

budget or capital programme, and where other further approval is 

required, shall not precede that approval; 
 

(c) shall not involve a key decision save in exceptional circumstances where 
it may be necessary for the Chief Executive to act as a matter of urgency 
under paragraph 12 below; 

 
(d) shall not make a new policy or amend an existing policy of the County 

Council as determined at elected member level except in so far as is 
permitted under paragraph 23 below; 

 

(e) shall be in accordance with any approved scale or scheme and any 
directions of the Executive or other relevant body; and 

 
(f) shall be the subject of prior consultation with the appropriate professional 

or technical officer of the County Council in any case involving 

professional or technical considerations not within the province of the 
head of department concerned. 

 
(g) follow any appropriate legislative, regulatory, consultation, equalities or 

procedural requirements that may be required; 

 
(h) have identified and managed appropriate strategic and operational risks 

within the officer’s area of responsibility; 
 
(i) be in accordance with the decision-making requirements set out in this 

Constitution including requirements for decision records and access to 
information. 

 
6. Any delegation to a head of department may be exercised on his or her behalf 

by any officer authorised by him or her either generally or specifically for the 

purpose and in all cases by the Chief Executive. 
 

7. Any proper officer function or delegation to the Chief Executive may in his/her 
absence be exercised by the Director of Corporate Resources and in both their 
absence, the Director of Law and Governance. 

 
8. Subject to any express instruction to the contrary from the delegating body, 

any power to approve also includes power to refuse, power to impose 
appropriate conditions and power to amend decisions.  

65



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 17/23 
 

 

9. Where an officer is authorised or designated as a Proper Officer for the 
purposes of any legislation, that authorisation (unless it specifically states to 
the contrary) will be deemed to authorise that officer to undertake all the 

powers and duties of an authorised officer as are specified in that legislation. 
These may include (but are not restricted to) the power to enter on land, 

undertake inspections, serve notices, take samples and remove goods. 
 

10. Where a power or duty is delegated to an officer, either directly or through 

designation as an authorised officer, and the exercise of that power or duty is 
contingent upon the opinion of the Council that particular conditions or factual 

circumstances exist, then the officer in question has the power to determine 
whether or not those circumstances exist or whether those conditions have 
been fulfilled in the name of and with the authority of the Council.  

 
11. Delegation to officers shall be without prejudice to the overriding right of the 

County Council, Executive or other relevant body itself to decide any matter for 
which it has the capacity under the Local Government Act 2000 to take a 
decision or to call for information about a particular case or class of case 

relevant to its competence.  In particular, a head of department may in any 
case, in lieu of exercising his or her delegated powers, refer a matter to the 

Executive or other relevant body, as the case may be, for decision. 
 
12. Subject to the foregoing conditions and to any special conditions which may 

have been or may in future be applied in respect of particular matters, heads of 
departments will be expected to make such decisions and to initiate such 

action as they deem necessary in the interests of the efficient running of their 
departments and the services which they administer. 

 

13. In the general scheme of delegation the term "employees" shall not include 
teachers employed by schools. 

 
14. Delegations relate to all provisions for the time being in force under any 

applicable legislation. Delegations under a specific legislative provision will 

include references to Regulations and other subordinate legislation made 
thereunder and incorporate any amendment to or re-enactment of that 

provision. 
 

15. Functions, matters, powers, authorisations, delegations, duties and 

responsibilities within this Scheme will be construed in a broad and inclusive 
fashion and will include the doing of anything which is calculated to facilitate or 

is conducive or incidental to the discharge of anything so specified. 
 

16. Where a power or duty delegated under this Scheme includes a power to take 

enforcement action, and/or to recover costs, fees or charges, the delegation 
will include the power to take all necessary action to recover such fees, costs 

or charges by way of civil debt or otherwise. 
 

 

66



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 18/23 
 

General delegations to the Chief Executive 

 

17. Amendments to the Constitution: To amend this Constitution to reflect 
reorganisations, changes in job titles and vacancies (where such changes 
result in redistributing existing delegations), to reflect changes in law and good 

practice and to effect member decisions.  
 

18. Urgent Action:  Power to take action between meetings which he or she 
considers is urgent after consultation:- 

 

(a) On matters within the responsibility of the Executive, with the Leader or 
such other member of the Executive as may be nominated by the Leader; 

or 
 

(b) On matters within the responsibility of a relevant body or with the Chairman 

and relevant Group Spokesmen of the body concerned; 
 

subject to the details of such action being reported for information to the next 
appropriate meeting of the body concerned. 
 

To authorise any action reasonably necessary to protect the health, safety or 
welfare of individuals or the safety of property. 

 
19.     Proper officers: To appoint officers as proper officers for the purposes of any 

specific Council service, function or as required in law and to act as the Proper 

Officer where another officer has not been appointed, and to amend the Proper 
Officer provisions set out in Part 9 of this Constitution accordingly. 

 
20.      Other officer delegations: To exercise all delegated functions to officers in 

the absence of relevant officers.  

 
21.      Emergency planning: To discharge emergency planning and civil protection 

functions. 
 

General delegations to Chief Officers 

 

Subject to the provisions of the preceding paragraphs:- 
 
22. Appointment of employees:  power to appoint, within the approved budget or 

approved external funding, all employees below the level of chief officer.  The 
appointment may be at any point within the approved salary scale. 

 
 To implement changes to staffing structures subject to prior consultation with 

all appropriate parties as required by law and in line with the Council’s own 

policies and procedures.  
 

67



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 19/23 
 

 To enter into reciprocal arrangements for the authorisation and appointment of 

officers to facilitate cross-border co-operation in the discharge of delegated 
functions with any other authority. 
 

23. Finance:  To manage the finance of their departments to ensure value for 
money and the development of budget policy options with a detailed 

assessment of financial implications in accordance with the County Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 

 To enter into contracts. (See also the contract procedure rules.) 
 

 To incur revenue expenditure within the approved budget or approved external 
funding on non-employee related items, subject to the Chief Finance Officer 
having the discretion to lay down conditions, either generally or in any 

particular case, and subject to the approval of the Cabinet where the Chief 
Finance Officer considers this to be appropriate.  

 
24. Tenders and quotes:  in exercising the power in paragraph 11 above the 

Head of Department shall comply with the provisions of the Contract Procedure 

Rules. 
 

25. Grants and External Funding:   power after consultation with the relevant 
Lead Member to apply for and accept grants and external funding subject to:- 
 

(i) there being no additional costs to the Authority for which there is no 
budget or capital programme provision; 

 
(ii) there being no ongoing costs to the Authority for which there is no budget 

provision; 

 
(iii) approval being obtained from the Chief Finance Officer  to any contingent 

liabilities for repayment should any conditions not be met; 
 
(iv) any associated agreement being made with the approval of the Director of 

Law and Governance; 
 

(v) such conditions as the Chief Finance Officer may lay down from time to 
time. 

 

26. Provision of Grants and Financial Assistance:  power to make grants and 
provide financial assistance in accordance with such schemes as may be 

adopted by the Council subject to provision having been made within the 
budget and any conditions laid down by the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

27. Appointment of Consultants: the powers in this scheme (and their 
limitations) will extend to the appointment of:- 

 

  - specialist technical consultants 
  - management consultants 

68



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 20/23 
 

  - interim managers 
 

provided that people so appointed receive appropriate training about the 
Council’s governance arrangements, rules and operating procedures and are 

made clearly aware of the extent of any limitations on any delegated authority 
they may receive from the Chief Officer concerned. 
 

28. Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection regulations 
2018 - charging for subject access: power, in consultation with the Director 

of Corporate Resources, to exercise discretion as to what fee (if any), not 
exceeding the prescribed maximum, is to be required in respect of the right of 
access under Article 15 of the General Data Protection regulations 2016 to 

personal data.   
 

29. Plant and equipment: power to dispose of surplus or obsolete vehicles, plant, 
apparatus, or other equipment or books, in accordance with the Standard 
Financial Instructions.  

 Power to manage vehicles, plant, equipment, apparatus, machinery, stock, 
stores, supplies, materials, furniture, appliances, or other equipment or books, 

necessary for the provision of services.  
 

30. Lost and Uncollected Property:  powers to deal with items under Section 41 

of the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982 in relation to lost 
and uncollected property on County Council premises. 

 

31. Personnel procedures: power for heads of departments to take decisions 
relating to employment matters delegated to them from time to time in 

accordance with the local conditions of service and other personnel policies 
and procedures.  The Chief Executive may determine from time to time those 
matters which may be exercised by the head of department. 

 
32. County Council plans, policies and strategies:  To make such 

consequential amendments to any Council plan, policy or strategy agreed at 
elected member level including plans or strategies within the Council’s Policy 
Framework, following consultation with the Chief Executive as is considered 

necessary to reflect changes in legislation and good practice to ensure the 
plan, policy or strategy remains fit for purpose and is compliant with legal 

requirements. 
 
33. Annual Review of Charges:  in accordance with relevant legislation and 

Standard Financial Instruction 15 to review and set all fees and charges for 
County Council services and activities at least annually, and to determine 

detailed pricing for outside work. 
 
34. General operational: To have overall responsibility for the operational 

management of the relevant area of service and for bringing forward such 
strategic plans and policies, and implementing all decisions, including the 

allocation of resources within approved estimates, as are necessary to 
exercise the functions for which the service is responsible. 

 

69



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 21/23 
 

35. Implementation of decisions: To take all necessary actions (including the 

letting of contracts, undertaking statutory processes and incurring expenditure) 
to implement decisions of the full county council, the Cabinet and any 
Regulatory committee/board.  

 
36. Consultations: To respond to Government consultations and consultations 

from other bodies where appropriate, in consultation with the relevant Lead 
Member or committee/Board Chair. 

 

 To undertake all steps required to complete Government Statistical Returns. 
 

37. Supply of goods and services: To administer the supply of goods and 
services to other public authorities and bodies under the Local Authorities 
(Goods and Services Act) 1970 and all other enabling legislation. 

 
 

Section E: Panels 
 
1. The Chief Executive has power to determine the size of the Panels set out in 

paragraph 5 below and to appoint members to those Panels from a Pool of 
members who have expressed an interest in this role.  The Chief Executive will 

exercise these powers in compliance with any statutory requirements and after 
consultation with the political groups. 

 

2. The Panels relate either to non-executive functions or to executive functions, 
as the case may be. 

 
3. Those of the following Panels which relate to an executive function have been 

given terms of reference which do not involve delegated powers, but rather 

giving advice.  Consequently, where a county councillor who is not a member 
of the Executive is appointed to such a Panel, that person’s membership of the 

Panel will not have the effect of disqualifying him or her from being a member 
of an overview and scrutiny committee. The member will, however, be unable 
to scrutinise any decision in which he or she took part, as a member of the 

Panel concerned. 
 

4. Any appeal from a decision of a Panel which requires determination by another 
Panel will be dealt with by a differently constituted Panel, none of whose 
members was involved in the earlier stages of the matter. 

 
5. The Panels which are appointed by the Chief Executive are: 

 

(a) Adoption Panel: to advise the adoption agency whether adoption is in the 

best interests of the child and whether a prospective adopter is suitable in 
principle and in relation to a particular child. 

 
(b) Approval of Premises Panel (Civil Marriages): to consider objections 

and/or appeals in connection with applications for the approval of premises 

for the performance of civil marriages. 

70



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 22/23 
 

 

(c) Children’s Social Care Panel: to provide strategic oversight at elected 

member level of children’s social care issues, having particular regard to 
the following areas:- 
(i) Children in Care; 

(ii) Child Protection; 
(iii) Partnership Working. 

 

(d) Complaints Panel (School Curriculum and Religious Education): to 
consider and advise the Executive upon complaints made by parents or 

guardians under the provisions of Section 409 of the Education Act 1996 
relating to the school curriculum and religious education. 

 

(e) Member Conduct Panel: to assess any allegation that a member or co-
opted member of the Council has breached the Council’s Code of Conduct 

and to conduct a determination hearing as appropriate. 
 
(f) County Council Employment Panel: to conduct hearings and make 

decisions in individual cases in respect of employment arrangements to the 
extent as may be determined from time to time by conditions of service of 

staff and local procedures. 
 
(g) Appointment Committee (Chief Officer):  as provided for in the Officer 

Employment Procedure Rules, a Committee to appoint or recommend for 
appointment a person to act as Chief Officer or Head of Paid Service 

(Provided that it is not practical to appoint such a Committee at a meeting 
of the Council). 

 

(h) Fostering Panel:  to consider applications from people who wish to be 
registered as foster carers to ensure that they comply with the National 

Standards laid down for the fostering of young children, and make 
recommendations to the Fostering Agency (i.e. Children and Family 
Services). 

 
(i) Manufacture and Storage of Explosives Panel : to consider, through 

public hearings, representations about applications to the Health and Safety 
Executive under the Explosive Regulations 2014 (or such other regulations 
which may be in force) and to determine whether or not to give the 

Council’s assent to those applications. 
 

(j) Disputes Panel:  to consider oral representations from unions and 
management when negotiations at officer level have failed to reach 
agreement (following written submissions) and to make recommendations 

to the Employment Committee or Cabinet, or both, as appropriate. 
 

(k) Representations Panel (Independent Providers of adult social care):  
to consider representations made from independent sector providers 
against proposals to remove them from a list of approved service providers 

71



Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions  

 
 

Page 23/23 
 

or to suspend them from such a list and to make recommendations to the 

Director of Adults and Communities as to the appropriate course of action. 
 

(l) Guardianship Review Panel: to consider whether a Guardianship Order 
made under Section (7) or (37) of the Mental Health Act (1983) is still 

necessary or if the person concerned should be discharged. 
 
[Note: the County Council Employment Panel is intended to perform the 

functions of the County Council Appeals Panel, the Teachers Employment 
Panel and the Teachers’ Grievance Panel. Employment issues in relation to 

teachers in schools are dealt with at school level as a consequence of Local 
Management of Schools.] 

 

 
[end of Part 3] 

72



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

 

  February 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 4 A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting 
Procedure Rules 

 

73



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

 

  February 2022 

Part 4A - Meeting Procedure Rules 
 

Standing Orders 

 

1 Meetings of the County Council 

2 Chairman of the meeting 
3 Quorum 
4 Order of business 

5 Variation of order of business 
6 Minutes of the Council 

7 Questions from Elected Members 
8 Position Statements 
9 Procedure relating to reports to Council 

10 Notices of motion 
11 Motions and amendments which may be moved without notice 

12 Motions which may be moved during debate 
13 Rescissions 
14 Amendments to motions 

15 Alterations or withdrawal of motion or amendment 
16 Motions and amendments generally 

17 Motions affecting persons employed by the Council 
18 Length of speeches and conduct of members 
19 Seconder's speech 

20 When a member may speak again 
21 Right of reply 

  22(A)   

22(B)  

Points of Order  

Points of Personal Explanation or Information for the meeting 
23 Next business etc 

24 Adjournment of debate 
25 Closure 
26 Appointments by the Council 

27 Appointments at the Annual Meeting of the Council 
28 Voting 

29 General disturbances 
30 Interests in contracts and other matters 
31 Chairmanship of the Executive, the Commission, boards and                  

committees 
32 Meetings of the Executive, the Commission, boards and committees 

33 Proceedings of the Executive, the Commission, boards or 
committees 

34 Questions from electors at the Commission, boards or committees 

35 Petitions at the Commission, boards, committees or forums 
36 Variation and revocation of Standing Orders 

37 Suspension of Standing Orders 
38 Interpretation of Standing Orders 

74



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 1 

1/24 
 

Part 4A - Meeting Procedure Rules 
 

STANDING ORDER 1 
Meetings of the County Council 

 
(1)  The annual meeting of the Council shall be held:- 

 
(a) in the year of the ordinary election of councillors to the Council, 

on the second Wednesday after the day of election; 

 
(b) in any other year, on any Wednesday in May. 

 
(2)  In addition to the annual meeting of the Council and any meetings 

convened by the Chairman or by members of the Council, meetings for 

the transaction of general business shall be held on such days as may 
be determined by the Council at its annual meeting on the 

recommendation of the Executive provided that a date so determined 
may be varied by the Executive.* 

 

(3)  In these Standing Orders "ordinary meeting" means a meeting 
described in paragraph (1) or (2) above other than a meeting convened 

by the Chairman or by members of the Council. 
 

(4)  Unless the Council otherwise determines, all meetings of the Council 

shall be held at 2.00 p.m. other than a meeting on a Saturday which 
shall be held at 10.00 a.m. provided that the time may be varied by the 

Chairman following consultation with Group Leaders. 
 
[*Under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 an 

extraordinary meeting of the Council may be called at any time by the 
Chairman of the Council.  There is also provision for such a meeting to be 

requisitioned by any five members of the Council.] 
 

 

STANDING ORDER 2 
Chairman of the meeting 

 
Any power or duty of the Chairman in relation to the conduct of a meeting may 
be exercised by the person presiding at the meeting. 

 

75



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 2 

2/24 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 3 

Quorum 
 

If during any meeting of the Council the Chairman after counting the number 
of members present declares that there is not a quorum* present the meeting 
shall stand adjourned. The consideration of any business not transacted shall 

be adjourned to a time fixed by the Chairman at the time the meeting is 
adjourned, or, if he or she does not fix a time, to the next ordinary meeting of 

the Council. 
 
[*Note: The quorum prescribed by statute for meetings of the County 

Council is one quarter of the whole number of members.] 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 4 

Order of business 

 
Except as otherwise provided by Standing Order 5 the order of business at 

ordinary meetings of the Council shall be:- 
 
(1)  to choose a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice-Chairman be 

absent; 
 

(2)  to deal with any business required by statute to be done before any 
other business; 
 

(3)  Chairman's announcements; 
 

(4)  to receive the report of the Returning Officer; 
 

(5)  to confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Council; 

 
(6)  to deal with any business expressly required by statute to be done; 

 
(7)  to answer questions asked under Standing Order 7 (1), (2) and (5); 

 

(8)  to dispose of business (if any) remaining from the last meeting; 
 

(9)  to receive Position Statements under Standing Order 8; 
 

(10)  to consider reports of the Executive, the Scrutiny Commission (the 

“Commission”), the Scrutiny Committees, the Development Control and 
Regulatory Board, the Constitution Committee, the Corporate 

Governance Committee and the Local Pension Committee; 
 

(11)  to appoint the Leader and such Cabinet Support Members as the 

Council considers appropriate; 
 

(12)  to appoint members of the Commission, boards and committees; 

76



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 3 

3/24 
 

 
(13) to consider motions in the order in which notice has been received; 

 
(14)  other business, if any, specified in the summons. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 5 

Variation of order of business 
 

Business falling under items (1), (2), (4), (5) or (6) of Standing Order 4 shall 
not be displaced, but subject thereto the foregoing order of business may be 
varied:- 

 
(1) by the Chairman at his or her discretion; or 

 
(2)  by a resolution passed at that meeting.  A motion to vary the order of 

business shall be moved and seconded formally and put without 

discussion. 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 6 

Minutes of the Council 

 
(1)  At a meeting of the Council at which minutes of a previous meeting are 

submitted for approval as a correct record, the Chairman shall move 
that those minutes be so approved. 
 

(2)  No motion or discussion shall take place upon the minutes, except upon 
their accuracy, and any matter concerning their accuracy shall be 

raised by amendment. 
 

(3)  If no such matter is raised, or if it is raised then as soon as it has been 

disposed of, the Chairman shall sign the minutes. 
 

(4)  Where in relation to any meeting of the Council the next such meeting 
is a meeting called under paragraph 3 (extraordinary meetings) of 
Schedule 12 to the Local  Government Act 1972, the next following 

meeting of the Council (being a meeting called otherwise than under 
that paragraph) shall be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes 

of paragraphs 41(1) and (2) (signing of minutes) of that Schedule.  
 
[Note: paragraph (4) means that there is no requirement to sign the 

minutes of the previous meeting at an extraordinary meeting - this 
wording is required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 

Regulations 1993] 

77



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 4 

4/24 
 

STANDING ORDER 7 
Questions from Elected Members 

 
(1)  At a meeting of the Council a member may ask the Chairman of the 

Council, the Leader, any designated member of the Executive, or the 
Chairman of the Commission, a board or a committee, any question 
relating to the business of the Council or of the Executive or which 

relates to a matter affecting the County.  The term “designated 
member” means any member of the Executive which the Executive 

from time to time may specify as such for the purposes of this Standing 
Order. 
 

(2)  At ordinary meetings of the Commission or any board or committee, 
any member of the Council may ask the chairman of the body 

concerned any question on any matter in relation to which the body 
concerned has delegated or advisory functions.  The time for dealing 
with such questions shall immediately follow the item on the agenda for 

answering questions from electors.  This paragraph shall not apply to 
meetings of the Executive. 

 
(3)  The text of any question shall be submitted in writing to the Chief 

Executive not less than five clear days before the meeting at which the 

member proposes to ask the question subject to paragraph (4) of this 
Standing Order (urgent business). 

 
(4) The chairman of the meeting may allow the asking of a question which 

has not been submitted as required by paragraph (3) above, if he or 

she considers that it relates to urgent business.  The text of any such 
question shall, if possible, be delivered to the Chief Executive not later 

than 10.00 a.m. on the day before the meeting at which the question is 
to be asked. 

 

(5)  After a question has been replied to, the member who asked it may, if 
they are present at the meeting, ask one supplementary question for 

the purpose of clarifying the reply which has been given.  A member 
asking such a supplementary question shall confine himself or herself 
to the substance of the original question and shall not introduce any 

new matter which did not fall within the scope of his or her original 
question.  In paragraphs (7) - (10) of this Standing Order, the word 

"question" shall include such a supplementary question. 
 

(6)  Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. 

 
(7)  No resolution shall be moved with reference to any question or reply to 

a question. 
 

(8)  If the chairman of the meeting is of the opinion that the question is out 

of order, or of a personal character, or in the interests of the Council it is 
undesirable, he or she shall so inform the member and shall not allow 

the question to be put. 

78



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 5 

5/24 
 

 
(9)  Questions asked in pursuance of the above paragraphs of this Standing 

Order shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting, and the Chief 
Executive shall supply the questioner with a copy of the replies thereto 

within seven working days after the meeting. 
 
(10)  In addition to the right to put questions contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs, at a meeting of the Council any member may without 
notice ask the Leader, or the Chairman of the Commission, or the 

chairman of a board or a committee any question upon an item of the 
report of the body concerned then before the Council, provided that the 
question is put before the Council's consideration of that item is 

concluded. 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 8 
Position Statements 

 
(1)  One or more Position Statements may be presented to the Council by 

the Leader and any member of the Executive in such form as the 
person presenting the Position Statement may determine. 
 

(2)  A Position Statement may give rise to an informal discussion by the 
Council provided that, subject to paragraph (3), no motion or 

amendment shall be moved during that discussion. 
 
(3)  At the conclusion of any discussion of a Position Statement, a formal 

motion may be moved to the effect that a particular issue relevant to the 
Position Statement be referred to the Executive, the Commission, a 

board or a committee as the case may be, for consideration.  Such a 
motion shall be moved and seconded formally and shall be put without 
discussion. 

 
(4)  The discussion of any Position Statement shall not exceed twenty 

minutes but the Chairman, at his or her discretion, may permit an 
extension of such length as he or she considers appropriate. 
 

(5) A Position Statement may be presented to the Council by the Chairman 
of the Scrutiny Commission in such form as he or she may determine. 

The provisions of paragraphs (2) to (4) shall apply to such a Position 
Statement.  

79



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 6 

6/24 
 

STANDING ORDER 9 
Procedure relating to reports to Council 

 
(1)  A report of the Executive, the Commission, a board or a committee to 

the Council shall be signed by the chairman of the body concerned 
unless he or she is unwilling, in which case the deputy chairman of the 
body shall sign the report, unless he or she also is unwilling. 

 
(2)  At the appropriate place in the order of business of the Council each 

report shall be taken as read and the member who has signed the 
report (or in the case of a report of the Cabinet, the Leader or his or her 
nominee) shall propose any necessary motions for securing the 

approval by the Council of the recommendations in the report unless at 
his or her request or with his or her concurrence the Council give leave 

for recommendations to be amended or for the report to be withdrawn. 
 

(3)  Except in the case of a report of the Cabinet, the motions referred to in 

the previous paragraph of this Standing Order shall, in the absence of 
the member who signed the report, be proposed by some other 

member of the reporting body designated by the Chairman of the 
Council, who shall give preference to the deputy chairman of the body 
concerned when the member absent is the chairman of the body.  In 

the case of a report of the Cabinet, a motion may be moved by any 
member of that body in the absence of, or at the request of, the Leader. 

 
(4)  Two or more bodies may submit a joint report and in such case the 

motions referred to in paragraph (2) of this Standing Order shall be 

proposed by the member whose signature to the report appears first. 
 

(5)  The relevant group spokesman for the body concerned may, within 
three days of a meeting, give notice in writing to the Chief Executive 
requiring him or her to include in a report of that meeting (for 

consideration by the Council under this Standing Order or by the 
Executive or any parent body) a fair reflection of the views of that group 

in that report. 
 
[Note: Rule 9(b) of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4E of 

the Constitution provides that where an overview and scrutiny committee 
cannot agree on a final single report to the Council, then up to one minority 

report may be prepared and submitted with the majority report.] 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 10 
Notices of motion 

 
(1)  Notice of every motion (other than a motion which under Standing 

Order 11 may be moved without notice) shall be in writing signed by the 

member or members of the Council giving the notice and delivered at  
 

80



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 7 

7/24 
 

 least eight clear days before the next meeting of the Council to the 
Chief Executive, by whom it shall be dated, numbered in the order in 

which it is received, and shall be available for inspection by every 
member of the Council. 

 
(2)  There shall be inserted in the summons for every meeting of the 

Council all notices of motion duly given in the order in which they have 

been received, unless the member giving such a notice has, when 
giving it, intimated in writing that he or she proposes to move it at some 

later meeting or has withdrawn it in writing. 
 

(3)  If a motion of which notice has been given and not withdrawn be not 

moved by the member who gave notice of it, it may be moved by 
another member of the Council and if not so moved it shall, unless 

postponed by consent of the Council, be treated as abandoned and 
shall not be moved without fresh notice. 
 

(4)  Any notice of motion which would have the effect of materially 
increasing the expenditure or reducing the revenue of the Council, 

otherwise than in the form of a proposal that the matter be referred to 
the Executive for consideration and report, shall not be deemed to have 
been duly given for the purposes of this Standing Order. 

 
(5)  Any notice of motion which would have the effect of reviewing or 

rescinding a decision of the Executive taken under delegated powers, 
otherwise than in the form of a proposal that the matter be referred to 
the Executive for consideration and report, shall not be deemed to have 

been duly given for the purposes of this Standing Order. 
 

[Note: In Standing Order 10(5) the phrase “taken under delegated powers” is 
deemed to cover those matters which are the responsibility of the Executive 
not only as a matter of local choice but also as a consequence of the 

operation of the Local Government Act 2000 and any statutory provisions 
made under that Act.] 

 
(6) Any notice of motion which would have similar effect to a notice of 

motion which has already been lodged shall not be deemed to have 

been duly given for the purpose of this Standing Order, on the basis 
that any differences can be addressed at the meeting through an 

amendment to the accepted motion. 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 11 
Motions and amendments which may be moved without notice 

 
Motions and amendments relating to the following matters may be moved 
without notice:- 

 
(1)  appointment of a chairman of the meeting at which the motion is made; 

 

81



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 8 

8/24 
 

(2) the approval of accuracy of the minutes; 
 

(3)  that an item of business specified in the summons have precedence; 
 

(4) appointment of a body or the members thereof, occasioned by an item 
mentioned in the summons to the meeting; 
 

(5)  adoption of reports and recommendations of the Executive, the 
Commission, a board or committee and any consequent resolution; 

 
(6)  authorising the sealing of documents; 

 

(7)  giving consent of the Council where the consent of the Council is 
required by these Standing Orders; 

 
(8) any of the motions listed in Standing Order 12 whether or not moved 

whilst another motion is under debate. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 12 
Motions which may be moved during debate 

 

When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the 
following:- 

 
(1)  to amend the motion; 
 

(2)  to adjourn the meeting; 
 

(3)  to adjourn the debate; 
 

(4)  to proceed to the next business; 

 
(5)  that the proposition under discussion be put; 

 
(6)  that a member be not further heard; 
 

(7)  by the Chairman under Standing Order 18(9) "That the member named 
do leave the meeting"; 

 
(8)  to exclude the public; 
 

(9)  that the subject of debate be referred to the Executive, the Scrutiny 
Commission a board or committee; 

 
(10)  to extend the time limit for speeches; 

 

(11)  that Standing Orders be suspended under Standing Order 38; 
 

82



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 9 

9/24 
 

(12)  subject to Standing Order 9(5), that leave be given to alter or withdraw 
a motion, amendment or report. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 13 
Rescissions 

 

(1)  No motion to rescind any resolution passed within the preceding six 
months and no motion to the same effect as one which has been 

rejected within that period shall be proposed unless at a meeting 
subsequent to the meeting at which such resolution or rejection was 
agreed a member moves for consent to propose his or her motion and 

obtains a majority of those members present at the meeting, in which 
case notice of the motion shall be inserted in the summons for the next 

ordinary meeting of the Council. 
 
(2)  This Standing Order shall not apply to a motion moved whilst there is 

before the Council a recommendation of the Executive, the 
Commission, a board or committee relating to the matter. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 14 

Amendments to motions 
 

(1)  Subject to Standing Order 10(5), an amendment shall be relevant to the 
motion and shall be either:- 

 

(a) to refer a subject of debate to the Executive, the Commission, a 
board or a committee for consideration or re-consideration; 

(b) to leave out words; 
(c) to leave out words and insert or add others; 
(d) to insert or add words; 

 
but such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not only have the 

effect of negativing a motion before the Council. 
 

(2) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time and no 

further amendment shall be moved until the amendment under 
discussion has been disposed of; 

 
Provided that the Chairman may permit two or more amendments to be 
discussed (but not voted on) together if he or she considers that this 

course would facilitate the proper conduct of the Council's business. 
 

(3)   If an amendment be lost, other amendments may be moved on the 
original motion. If an amendment be carried, the motion as amended 
shall take the place of the original motion and shall become the 

substantive motion upon which any further amendment may be moved. 
 

 

83



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 10 

10/24 
 

STANDING ORDER 15 
Alterations or withdrawal of motion or amendment 

 
(1)  Subject to Standing Order 10 (5), a proposer of a motion may, with the 

concurrence of the seconder and the consent of the Council, alter the 
motion if the alteration is such that it could properly be effected by an 
amendment of the motion. A proposer of an amendment may, with the 

like concurrence and consent, alter the amendment if the amendment 
as altered could properly have been moved in that form as an 

amendment. The altered motion or amendment shall if required by the 
Chairman be reduced into writing and handed to him or her before the 
consent of the Council to the alteration is sought. 

 
(2)  A proposer of a motion or of an amendment may, with the concurrence 

of the seconder and the consent of the Council, withdraw the motion or 
amendment which he or she has proposed, and no member shall speak 
upon it after the proposer has thus asked permission for its withdrawal, 

unless such permission shall have been refused. 
 

(3)  The giving or refusal of the consent of the Council to the alteration or 
withdrawal of a motion or amendment shall be signified without 
discussion. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 16 
Motions and amendments generally 

 

(1)  A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been 
proposed and seconded, and unless notice has already been given in 

accordance with Standing Order 10 it shall, if required by the Chairman, 
be put into writing and handed to the Chairman before it is further 
discussed or put to the meeting. 

 
(2)  A member may not propose or second a motion or amendment on 

which he or she is disqualified from voting. 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 17 
Motions affecting persons employed by the Council 

 
If any question arises at a meeting of the Council, the Executive, the 
Commission, a board or a committee as to the appointment, promotion, 

dismissal, salary, pension, conditions of service or the conduct of any 
person employed by the Council, such question shall not be the subject 

of discussion until the body concerned has decided whether or not the 
power of exclusion of the public shall be exercised. 

 

 

84



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 11 

11/24 
 

STANDING ORDER 18 
Length of speeches and conduct of members 

 
(1)  A member shall direct his or her speech to the question under 

discussion (i.e. it shall be directly relevant to the matter under 
discussion) or to a point of order or a point of personal explanation or 
information for the meeting, shall not impute motives or use offensive 

expressions to or about any other member and shall act in accordance 
with the role of a County Councillor as set out in Article 2.03 of the 

Constitution. 
 
(2)  Except in the case of a speech given by a principal speaker which shall 

not exceed 10 minutes, no speech shall exceed 5 minutes without the 
consent of the Council, and upon a motion for extension of these time 

limits no discussion shall be allowed. For the purposes of this Standing 
Order "principal speaker" shall be the member who moves the adoption 
of a report or of an item of a report of the Executive, the Commission, a 

board or a committee or who is designated as being an “appropriate 
spokesman” of the body concerned and is speaking on such a motion 

or any amendment to it or the member who moves a motion under 
Standing Order 10. 

 

(3)  Any extension of time granted to speakers by the Council in pursuance 
of this Standing Order shall not exceed 10 minutes in the case of a 

principal speaker or 5 minutes in any other case but the Chairman, at 
his or her discretion, may permit a further extension if he or she 
considers that this would facilitate the conduct of the Council's 

business. 
 

(4)  A member when speaking shall stand and address the Chairman. 
 
(5)  If two or more members rise, the Chairman shall call on one to speak, 

the other or others shall then sit. 
 

(6)  While a member is speaking the other members shall remain seated, 
unless rising to a point of order or in personal explanation. 

 

(7)  Whenever the Chairman rises during a debate a member then standing 
shall resume his or her seat and the Council shall be silent. 

 
(8)  If any member in the opinion of the Chairman signified to the Council, 

misconduct himself or herself by persistently disregarding the ruling of 

the Chair, or by behaving irregularly, improperly, or offensively, or by 
wilfully obstructing the business of the Council, or by tedious repetition 

or unbecoming language in his or her speech, the Chairman or any 
other member may move "That the member named be not further 
heard", and such motion if seconded shall be put and determined 

without discussion. 
 

85



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 12 

12/24 
 

(9)  If the member named continues his or her misconduct after a motion 
under the last previous paragraph has been carried, the Chairman shall 

either:- 
 

(a) move "That the member named do leave the meeting" (in which 
case the motion shall be put and determined without seconding or 
discussion); or 

(b) adjourn the meeting of the Council for such period as he or she in 
his or her discretion shall consider expedient. 

 
[Note: for the purposes of paragraph (2) above, “appropriate spokesman” 
has been defined by the Council as follows: 

 

reporting body: “appropriate spokesman” 

Executive: Leader of the Opposition or his or her nominee 

Scrutiny Commission: Leader or his or her nominee 

Scrutiny Committees: 

 
spokesmen of the two Groups to which the chairman of 
the Scrutiny Committee concerned does not belong 

Employment Committee: 
 

spokesmen of the two Groups to which the chairman of 
the Committee does not belong 

Development Control & 
Regulatory Board: 

spokesmen of the two Groups to which the chairman of 
the Board does not belong 

Constitution Committee: 
spokesmen of the two Groups to which the chairman of 
the Committee does not belong 

Local Pension 
Committee: 

spokesmen of the two Groups to which the chairman of 
the Committee does not belong] 

Corporate Governance 

Committee 
Spokesmen of the two Groups to which the Chairman of 
the Committee does not belong 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 19 

Seconder's speech 
 

A member when seconding a motion or amendment may, if he or she 
then declares his or her intention to do so, reserve his or her speech 
until a later period of the debate. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 20 
When a member may speak again 

 

(1)  A member who has spoken on any motion shall not speak again whilst 
it is the subject of debate except:- 

 
(a) in exercise of the right of reply given by Standing Order 21; 
(b) on a point of order or by way of personal explanation or point for 

information for the Council in accordance with Standing Order 22; 

86



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 13 

13/24 
 

(c) to alter or withdraw a motion or amendment in accordance with 
Standing Order 15; 

(d) to propose or second any of the motions referred to in paragraphs 
(2) to (12) of Standing Order 12; 

(e) to second or to speak once on an amendment moved by another 
member; 

(f) if the motion has been amended since he or she last spoke, to 

move a further amendment. 
 

(2)  A member whose first speech was on an amendment moved by 
another member, may, after that amendment has been disposed of, 
speak again on the main issue or on any further amendment. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 21 
Right of reply 

 

(1)  The proposer of a motion shall have the right to reply to the debate:- 
 

(a) at the close of the debate on the motion; 
(b) at the close of the debate on an amendment to the motion; 
(c) before a motion to proceed to next business or that the Council 

adjourn or a motion or amendment to refer the subject of debate to 
a Committee is put; 

(d) after the closure is carried. 
 
(2)  The proposer of an amendment shall not have the right of reply to either 

the debate on the amendment or to the debate on a substantive motion 
formed by the carrying of the amendment. 

 
(3)  A member exercising a right of reply shall strictly confine himself or 

herself to answering previous speakers to whom he or she has not 

already had the opportunity of replying and shall not introduce any new 
matter. 

 
(4)  After every reply to which this Standing Order applies a decision shall 

forthwith be taken upon the motion or amendment then under 

discussion. 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 22 (A) 

Points of Order  

 
(1)  A member may rise on a point of order and shall be entitled to be heard 

forthwith. A point of order shall relate only to an alleged breach of a 
Standing Order or statutory provision and the member shall specify the 
Standing Order or statutory provision and the way in which he or she 

considers it has been broken.  
 

87



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 14 

14/24 
 

(2)  The ruling of the Chairman on a point of order shall not be open to 
discussion. 

 
STANDING ORDER 22 (B) 

Points of Personal Explanation or Information for the meeting 
 

(1) A member may rise on a point of personal explanation or point for 

 information for the Council and shall be heard forthwith. 
 

(2) A point of personal explanation shall be confined to some material part 
 of the former speech by him or her which may have been 
 misunderstood in the present debate. 

 
(3) A point of information for the meeting shall be confined to correcting a 

 speaker developing their argument on incorrect facts or figures so as to 
 avoid misleading the meeting. 
 

(4) The ruling of the Chairman on a point of personal explanation or point 
 of information for the Council shall not be open for discussion. 

 
STANDING ORDER 23 

Next business etc 

 
(1)  A member who seeks to avoid a decision being taken on a matter under 

discussion may, at the conclusion of a speech of another member, 
unless the Chairman considers that the matter has been insufficiently 
discussed, move "that the Council proceed to the next business" or, if 

there is no other business to be transacted, "that the Council adjourn". 
 

(2)  The proposer of such a motion may speak thereon for five minutes but 
the seconding of the motion shall be formal and without comment and 
there shall be no debate on the motion. 

 
(3)  On the seconding of the motion, the Chairman shall first give the mover 

of the original motion an opportunity to speak on it for not more than 5 
minutes and then put to the vote the motion to proceed to the next 
business or to adjourn the Council. 

 
(4)  lf that motion is carried, the original motion shall be considered as 

withdrawn. 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 24 
Adjournment of debate 

 
(1)  A member who seeks to interrupt a debate so that it may be continued 

at a later hour or on another occasion may, at the conclusion of the 

speech of another member, move that the debate be adjourned to that 
hour or occasion. 

 

88



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 15 

15/24 
 

(2)  If the member does not specify an hour or occasion, the motion shall be 
deemed to intend that the debate shall be resumed at the next ordinary 

meeting of the Council. 
 

(3)  The proposer of such a motion may speak thereon for five minutes but 
the seconding of the motion shall be formal and without comment and 
there shall be no debate on the motion except that the mover of the 

original motion may speak on it for not more than five minutes. 
 

(4)  On the resumption after adjournment of an interrupted debate, the 
Council shall proceed to the further consideration of the adjourned 
business as though the meeting had been continuous for the purposes 

of these Standing Orders. 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 25 

Closure 

 
(1)  A member may at the conclusion of the speech of another member 

move "that the proposition under discussion be now put" (which is in 
these Standing Orders referred to as "the closure"). 

 

(2)  The proposal and seconding of the closure shall be formal and without 
comment and there shall be no debate on it. The closure shall be put 

forthwith to the vote unless it appears to the Chairman that the 
proposition to which it is sought to apply the closure has not been 
sufficiently discussed. 

 
(3)  If the closure is carried, the motion or amendment which is the subject 

of the interrupted debate shall be put without further discussion, subject 
to the mover of the original motion, first having the right of reply given 
by Standing Order 21. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 26 
Appointments by the Council 

 

(1) Every candidate nominated to represent the Council in any capacity or 
for any position to be filled by the Council shall be openly proposed and 

seconded; 
 
(2)  At the close of nominations the Chairman shall state the names of the 

candidates who have been duly proposed and seconded and the 
number of vacancies to be filled if the number is limited; 

 
(3)  If the number of nominations does not exceed the number of vacancies 

or if the number of vacancies is not limited the Chairman shall forthwith 

put the appointment of the duly nominated candidates collectively as a 
substantive motion upon which no amendment may be moved; 

 

89



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 16 

16/24 
 

(4)  If the number of nominations exceeds the number of vacancies there 
shall be a secret ballot of the members present at the meeting in which 

each member of the Council may vote for as many candidates as there 
are vacancies to be filled; 

 
(5)  Any ballot shall be conducted by the Chief Executive whose return shall 

be final and conclusive; 

 
Provided that no candidate shall be appointed unless the number of 

votes cast in his or her favour exceeds half the number of persons 
voting. If in any ballot no candidate receives the number of votes 
entitling him or her to be appointed, the names of those who receive no 

votes and the name of the one who receives the least number of votes 
shall be struck off the list and a fresh ballot be taken, and so on, until all 

the vacancies are filled. 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 27 
Appointments at the Annual Meeting of the Council 

 
At the Annual Meeting of the Council the procedure for the appointment 
of the Leader, Cabinet Support Members and those members of the 

Commission and of the boards and committees who are to be appointed 
by the Council shall be as set out below, and Standing Orders 10, 11 

and 26 shall not apply for the purpose of such appointments:- 
 

(a) The Chairman of the Council shall invite proposals, each of which 

shall be in the form of a list of candidates nominated for all the 
vacancies to be filled; it shall not be in order to propose a list of 

nominations which does not deal with all the appointments which 
are to be made at the meeting. 

(b) No amendment may be moved in respect of any list of nominations. 

(c) The Chairman shall then put to the Council for decision the lists of 
nominations proposed and seconded. Each member shall have one 

vote only to be cast in favour of one list of nominations. 
(d) If there is more than one list of nominations there shall be a series 

of votes. After each vote, the list which has attracted the least 

number of votes shall be struck out and a further vote taken, and so 
on until one list receives a majority of the members of the Council 

present and voting. 
(e) The Chairman shall declare appointed those members named in 

the list of nominations which attract the majority of votes. 

 
 

 
 
 

90



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 17 

17/24 
 

 
STANDING ORDER 28 

Voting 
 

(1)  Every proposition shall, unless otherwise required by these Standing 
Orders or Statute, be determined by show of hands or, at the discretion 
of the Chairman, by voices. 

 
(2)  If an automatic system of recording votes is in operation, the Chairman 

shall have power to order votes to be given and counted in accordance 
with the system. 
 

(3)  In taking the votes on any proposition, those members only shall be 
entitled to vote who are present in the Council Chamber when the 

proposition is put from the Chair. 
 
(4) A vote on any proposition at a budget meeting which relates to the 

calculation of or the issuing of the precept shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting so as to show whether each member present 

gave his or her vote for or against the proposition or abstained from 
voting. 

 

(5) After a proposition is put from the Chair but before the vote is taken, 
any five members rising in their places may require that the voting shall 

be recorded in the minutes of the meeting so as to show whether each 
member present gave his or her vote for or against that proposition or 
abstained from voting. 

 
(7)  Where immediately after a vote is taken any member so requires, there 

shall be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting 
whether that person cast his or her vote for the question or against the 
question or whether he or she abstained from voting. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 29 
General disturbances 

 

(1)  If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the 
Chairman shall warn him or her. If he or she continues the interruption 

the Chairman shall order his or her removal from the room. In case of 
general disturbance in any part of the room open to the public the 
Chairman shall order that part to be cleared. 

 
(2)  If, in the opinion of the Chairman, misconduct or obstruction renders the 

due and orderly dispatch of business impossible, the Chairman, in 
addition to any other power vested in him or her, may without the 
question being put suspend the meeting for a period not exceeding 30 

minutes. 
 

 

91



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 18 

18/24 
 

STANDING ORDER 30 
Interests in contracts and other matters 

 
If any member of the Council has any interest under the County Council’s 

Code of Conduct in any contract, proposed contract, or other matter, that 
member shall declare that interest and withdraw from the meeting while the 
contract, proposed contract, or other matter, is under consideration by the 

Council unless the disability to discuss that matter imposed upon him or her 
by the Code has been removed by the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
 [Note: The County Council is required by law to maintain a register of certain 
types of interests.  All elected members must give notice to the Monitoring 

Officer of interests covered within 28 days of being elected.  Members are 
also required to ensure that interests are declared at meetings in accordance 

with legislation and Standing Order 30 above and that any disclosable 
interests declared at meetings which are not in the Authority’s register are 
notified to the monitoring officer within 28 days of disclosure.  By law the 

Register is open to public inspection.  As a matter of good practice the County 
Council has determined that members should be required to keep the register 

up to date by notifying the monitoring officer of any changes within 28 days of 
their occurrence.] 
 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 31 
Chairmanship of the Executive, the Commission, boards and 

committees 

 
(1) The Leader shall be appointed by the Council and shall hold office 

subject to Article 7 of the Constitution.  The Leader and Deputy Leader 
(where appointed) shall ex-officio respectively act as the chairman and 
deputy chairman of the Executive. 

 
(2) The Leader of the numerically largest opposition party shall be the 

Leader of the Opposition and shall ex-officio act as the Chairman of the 
Commission.  The deputy chairman of the Commission shall be 
appointed by the Commission from amongst its members.   

 
(3) Except where otherwise agreed by the Council, each board or 

committee shall appoint its chairman and deputy chairman from 
amongst its members.  

 

(4) The deputy chairman of the Commission and the chairman and deputy 
chairman of a board or committee shall hold office until:  

 
(a)  he or she resigns;  
(b)  he or she is suspended by the Group (although he or she may 

resume office at the end of the period of suspension);  
(c)  he or she is no longer a county councillor;  

(d)  he or she is removed from office by the appointing body; or  

92



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 19 

19/24 
 

(e)  the meeting of the appointing body next following the Annual   
Meeting of the Council after his or her appointment. 

 
(5) The appointment of the deputy chairman of the Commission and the 

chairman and deputy chairman of a board or committee shall be 
conducted in the same way as an appointment is required to be made 
by the Council under Standing Order 26. 

 
(6)  Subject to paragraph (8) of this Standing Order the deputy chairman of 

the Executive, Commission, board or committee shall preside at all 
meetings of the body concerned at which he or she is present in the 
absence of the chairman. 

 
(7)  If both the chairman and deputy chairman of the Executive, 

Commission, board or committee are absent from a meeting, the 
members present shall choose one of their number who is a member of 
the Council to preside over the meeting subject to paragraph (8) of this 

Standing Order. 
 

(8)  If the chairman of the Executive, Commission, board or committee 
arrives at a meeting of the body concerned or if the deputy chairman 
arrives at such a meeting from which the chairman is absent after the 

time for which the meeting has been summoned he or she shall preside 
over the meeting after any question under discussion on his or her 

arrival has been disposed of but not before then. 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 32 
Meetings of the Executive, the Commission, boards and committees 

 
(1)  The Leader as chairman of the Executive, the Leader of the Opposition 

as Chairman of the Commission, or the chairman of a board or a 

committee or the Chairman of the Council may cause a special meeting 
of the body concerned to be called at any time.  In the absence of the 

chairman of the body concerned the deputy chairman may exercise the 
powers conferred on the chairman by this Standing Order. 
 

(2)  A special meeting of the Executive, the Commission, a board or  a 
committee or subcommittee shall be called on the request of at least 

one quarter of the whole number of members of the body concerned by 
notice in writing signed by them and given to the Chief Executive and 
specifying the business for which the meeting is to be called. 

 
(3)  In relation to meetings of the Scrutiny Commission and Scrutiny 

Committees, a political group may give notice in writing to the Chief 
Executive delivered at least eight clear days before the next meeting 
that they wish the item of business specified in the notice to be included 

in the agenda for consideration at that meeting.  Such notice shall 
include an explanation of the reasons underlying the request and the 

purpose to be achieved. 

93



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 20 

20/24 
 

 
(4)  In relation to meetings of the Scrutiny Commission and Scrutiny 

Committees, the Commission or Committee may, by resolution, require 
a relevant member of the Executive or chief officer to attend a meeting 

to provide information or answer questions. 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 33 
Proceedings of the Executive, the Commission, boards or committees 

 
(1)  The quorum of the Executive, Commission, board or  committee, unless 

a special quorum is otherwise prescribed, shall be at least one quarter 

of the whole number of the body concerned, provided that in no case 
shall a quorum be less than three members. 

 
(2)  Any Council member may attend as an observer at meetings of the 

Commission, boards or committees (except those meetings which the 

County Council may from time to time determine for the purposes of 
this Standing Order) to which he or she has not been appointed as a 

member, including meetings or items of business from which the public 
has been excluded.  If given permission by the chairman of the 
meeting, a member attending as an observer may speak (but not vote) 

on any matter. 
 

(3) Any Council member may attend as an observer at decision-making 
meetings of the Executive, including meetings or items of business from 
which the public has been excluded.  If given permission by the 

chairman of the meeting, a member attending as an observer may 
speak (but not vote) on any matter.  

 
(4)  Subject to the provisions of Section 100 of the Local Government Act 

1972, all reports and all documents marked as "confidential" or "not for 

publication" shall be treated as confidential until they become public in 
the ordinary course of the Council's business. 

 
(5)  No act of a subcommittee shall have effect until approved by the 

appointing board or committee except to the extent that the board or 

committee has itself power to act without the approval of the Council 
and the power so to act has been conferred upon the subcommittee.   

 
(6)  In addition to those Standing Orders which expressly relate to the 

Executive, the Commission, boards or committees, Standing Orders 7, 

14 to 19 inclusive, 21 to 26 inclusive and 28 to 30 inclusive, shall apply 
with any necessary modification to the Executive, Commission, boards 

or committees. 
 
 

 

94



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 21 

21/24 
 

STANDING ORDER 34 
Questions from electors at the Commission, boards or committees 

 
(1)  At any ordinary meeting of the Commission, a board or committee to 

which the press and public are admitted, any elector registered within 
the County may, subject to this Standing Order, ask the chairman of the 
body concerned any question on any matter in relation to which the 

body concerned has powers and duties.  This Standing Order shall not 
apply to meetings of the Executive. 

 
(2)  Any question shall be submitted in writing to the Chief Executive not 

less than five clear days before the meeting at which the elector 

proposes to ask the question. 
 

(3)  The Chief Executive may decline to accept a proposed question if in his 
or her opinion it is: 

 

(a)  not relevant to the functions of the body concerned; 
(b)  is otherwise offensive, frivolous or defamatory; 

(c)  is substantially similar to a question which has been put at a 
meeting in the past six months; or 

(d)  requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 
(4)  The period allowed for the putting and answering of questions shall be 

ten minutes, commencing immediately following the confirmation of the 
minutes of the previous meeting, but it shall be open to any member of 
the body concerned to move an extension of this period should there be 

questions remaining unanswered. Such a motion shall be moved and 
seconded formally and be put without discussion. 

 
(5)  Questions shall be put and answered in the order in which they were 

received and accepted by the Chief Executive. 

 
(6)  After a question has been replied to, the elector who asked it may, if 

they are present at the meeting, ask one supplementary question for 
the purpose of clarifying the reply which has been given.  An elector 
asking such a supplementary question shall confine himself or herself 

to the substance of the original question, and shall not introduce any 
new matter which did not fall within the scope of his or her original 

question.  If the chairman of the meeting is of the opinion that the 
supplementary question is out of order, or of a personal character, or in 
the interests of the Council it is undesirable, he or she shall so inform 

the elector and shall not allow the question to be put.  In paragraph (7) 
of this Standing Order, the word "question" shall include such a 

supplementary question. 
 
(7)  There shall be no discussion on the question or the answer, but a 

member of the body concerned may propose that the subject matter of 
the question be placed on the agenda of the next ordinary meeting of 

95



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 22 

22/24 
 

the body concerned. Such a motion shall be moved and seconded 
formally and be put without discussion. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 35 
Petitions at the Commission, boards or committees 

 

[Note: This Standing Order should be considered alongside the Petitions 
Scheme set out in Part 10 of the Council’s Constitution.] 

 
(1)  Petitions may be presented at meetings of the Commission, a board or 

committee in accordance with the conditions set out in the Petitions 

Scheme at Part 10 of this Constitution. The Commission, board or 
committee shall receive only such petitions as have been lodged with 

the Chief Executive eight clear days before the meeting and are 
presented by a person who resides, studies or works in the County 
and/or is a recipient of County Council services and is associated with 

the petition.  Petitions can also be presented by an elected member on 
behalf of such a person or can be considered in their absence.  This 

Standing Order shall not apply to meetings of the Council or the 
Executive, subject to paragraphs (5) and (6) below. 
 

(2)  Every petition shall be couched in proper language and be relevant to 
some question over which the Council or the Commission or board or 

committee concerned have authority, or which otherwise affects the 
County and shall involve a call for action.  Signatories should record 
their name, address (and email address for electronic petitions) and 

date they signed the petition, and any residential, work or study 
addresses.  The Chief Executive shall have the right to refuse to accept 

any petition which is considered to be frivolous, vexatious, 
discriminatory or otherwise inappropriate. 
 

(3) If the petitioner is present and wishes to do so, he or she may speak 
but only to the extent of formally repeating the wording of the petition 

and stating the number of signatories to it.  The Commission, board or 
committee shall then debate the question raised by the petition at that 
meeting.   

 
(4) Nothing in this Standing Order will prevent a petition being presented 

elsewhere provided that it relates to a matter which is already before 
the body concerned. 

 

(5) Where a petition attracts significant support from the local community, 
defined as being signed by at least 10,000 persons living, working or 

studying in the Authority's area, it will be considered at a meeting of the 
full County Council.  

 

(6) Where a body considering a petition believes that a wider debate can 
be justified, it may report to a meeting of the full County Council, 

regardless of the number of signatories to that petition. 

96



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 23 

23/24 
 

 
  

(7) If the petition organiser feels unhappy with the way their petition was 
handled he/she can request that the Council review the steps taken in 

response to the petition. The petition organiser should contact 
Democratic Services and provide an explanation of the reasons why 
the way the petition has been dealt with is not considered to be 

adequate. The Council will consider the request and respond 
accordingly within 10 working days. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 36 

Variation and revocation of Standing Orders 
 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Standing Orders shall when 
proposed and seconded stand adjourned without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 
 

STANDING ORDER 37 
Suspension of Standing Orders 

 

(1)  Subject to paragraph (2) of this Standing Order, any of the preceding 
Standing Orders may be suspended so far as regards any business at 

the meeting where its suspension is moved. 
 

(2)  A motion to suspend any of the preceding Standing Orders shall not be 

moved without notice unless there shall be present at least one-half of 
the whole number of the members of the Council. 

 
 
 

STANDING ORDER 38 
Interpretation of Standing Orders 

 
The ruling of the Chairman as to the construction or application of any of 
these Standing Orders, or as to any proceedings of the Council, shall not 

be challenged at any meeting of the Council. 
 

 
[end of Meeting Procedure Rules] 

 

 
[Note: the County Council has determined the following meetings for the 

purposes of Standing Order 33(2): 
 
Adoption Panel; 

Appointment Committee (Chief Officer); 
Approval of Premises Panel (Civil Marriages); 

Children’s’ Social Care Panel 

97



Part 4A 
Meeting Procedure Rules 

Page 24 

24/24 
 

Complaints Panel (School Curriculum and Religious Education); 
County Council Employment Panel; 

Disputes Panel; 
Fostering Panel; 

Guardianship Panel; 
Member Conduct Panel; 
Representations Panel (Independent providers of adult social care); 

] 

98



 
 

 

 

99



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 4B 
  Access to Information Procedure Rules  

 September 2016 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Part 4 B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Access to Information 
Procedure Rules 

101



Part 4B 
  Access to Information Procedure Rules  

 September 2016 

Part 4B - Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

Contents 
 

1 Scope 
2 Additional rights to information 

3 Rights to attend meetings 
4 Notices of meeting 
5 Access to agenda and reports before the meeting 

6 Supply of copies 
7 Access to minutes and decisions 

8 Background papers 
9 Summary of the public’s rights 

10 Exclusion of access by the public to meetings 

11 Exclusion of access by the public to reports 
12 Application of Rules to the Executive 

13 Procedure before taking Key decisions 
14 The Forward Plan 
15 General exception 

16 Confidential and Exempt Items 
17 Special urgency 

18 Report to County Council 
19 Record of decisions 
20 Executive meetings relating to matters which are not Key Decisions 

21 Notice of private meeting of the Executive 
22 Attendance at meetings of the Executive and its committees 

23 Decisions by individual members of the Executive and officers 
24 Overview and scrutiny committees access to documents 
25 Additional rights of access for members 

 
Schedule: Exempt information 

 
 

 
 
[Note: in various Rules in this Part, there are references to a period of notice 

for meetings, which is presently five days.  The Government may make 
statutory regulations amending this period; if such regulations are made, then 

the relevant Rules will need to be read in the light of any changes brought 
about by those regulations.  Similarly, the Government may amend the 
statutory definition of exempt information, which appears in the Schedule to 

these Rules; if such changes are made then the Schedule will be amended. 
 

The Government makes reference to clear days.  Case law defines this as 
meaning, in effect, working days.  Thus weekends and other days on which 
the Council’s offices are closed are excluded as are the day of despatch and 

the day of the meeting.]  

102



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 1 

 

Page 14/1 
September 2016 

Part 4B - Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 
 

RULE 1 

Scope 
 

These rules apply to all meetings of the County Council, overview and scrutiny 
committees, area committees (if any), the Member Conduct Panel and 
Regulatory boards and committees, and public meetings of the Executive 

(together called “meetings”). 
 

 
RULE 2 

Additional rights to information 

 
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 

elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 
 

RULE 3 
Rights to attend meetings 

 
(1) Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the 

exceptions in these Rules. 

 
(2) Members of the public attending meetings not covered by the exceptions 

in these rules shall be permitted to report on the proceedings of such 

meetings.  Such reporting shall include filming or providing a 
commentary on proceedings using social media tools, providing that any 

such reporting does not cause obstruction so as to render the due and 
orderly despatch of business impossible. 

 
 

RULE 4 

Notices of meeting 
 
The County Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting by 

posting details of the meeting at County Hall.  It will also publish such details 
on its website. 
 
 

RULE 5 

Access to agenda and reports before the meeting 
 

(1) The County Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open 
 to the public available for inspection at County Hall at least five clear 
 days before the meeting and will publish these on its website. If an item 

 is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be open to 
 inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. Where 

 reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Chief 

103



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 2 

 

Page 14/2 
September 2016 

 Executive shall make each such report available to the public as soon 
 as the report is completed and sent to County Councillors. 

 
(2) Where it is proposed to consider a matter in private at a meeting of the 

 Executive, the agenda for that meeting will include:- 
 

(a) a statement of the reasons for the matter being considered in  

 private; 
(b) details of any representations received about why the matter should 

 be considered in public; 
(c) a statement of the response to any such representations; 
(d) where the item has not been included on the Forward Plan and the 

 agreement of the relevant persons has been obtained to enable the 
 matter to be considered in accordance with Rule 16, a statement as 

to why the matter is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 
 

(3) As the agenda for meetings of the Executive must be made available to 

 the public and published on the Council’s website, that document will 
 constitute the necessary notices required under Section 5 of the Local 

 Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
 Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

 
RULE 6 

Supply of copies 
 
The County Council will supply copies of: 

 
any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 

any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 
the items in the agenda; and 
if the Chief Executive thinks fit, any other documents supplied to County 

Councillors in connection with an item to any person; 
 

on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 
 

RULE 7 
Access to minutes and decisions 

 
The County Council will make available copies of the following for six years 
after a meeting: 

 
(a) the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together 

with reasons, for all meetings of the Executive, excluding any part of 
the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the 
public or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 
minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 

coherent record; 

104



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 3 

 

Page 14/3 
September 2016 

(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 
 

RULE 8 
Background papers 

 

The Proper Officer (in this context, the officer writing the report) will set out in 
every report a list of those documents (called background papers) relating to 

the subject matter of the report which in his/her opinion: 
 

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important 

part of the report is based; and 
(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the 

report but does not include published works or those which disclose 
exempt or confidential information (as defined in Rule 10) and in 
respect of Executive reports, the advice of a political adviser (if any 

has been appointed). 
 

The County Council will make available for public inspection for four years 
after the date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 
background papers.  In the case of reports submitted to the Executive, 

background papers will also be published on the County Council’s website. 
 
 

RULE 9 
Summary of the public’s rights 

 
A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and 
copy documents must be kept at and available to the public at County Hall.  

As the Constitution must be available to the public, then these Rules 
constitute the written summary. 
 
 

RULE 10 

Exclusion of access by the public to meetings 
 

(1) The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view 
of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 

(2) The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view 
of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. Where the 

meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or 
adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 

1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public 
unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in 
Article 6. 

 

105



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 4 

 

Page 14/4 
September 2016 

(3) “Confidential information” means information given to the County Council 
by a Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure 

or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 
 

(4) “Exempt information” means information falling within the statutory 
categories (subject to any qualification) described in the schedule to 

these Rules.  Information is not exempt if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority can grant itself 

planning permission under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992.  Information is only “exempt 
information” if and so long as in all the circumstances of the case the 

public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

 
 

RULE 11 

Exclusion of access by the public to reports 
 

If the Chief Executive thinks fit, the County Council may exclude access by 
the public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in 
accordance with Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public.  

Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together with the category of 
information likely to be disclosed. 
 
 

RULE 12 

Application of Rules to the Executive 
 

(1) Rules 13 to 25 apply to the Executive and its committees (if any). If the 
Executive or its committees meet to take a Key Decision then it must 
also comply with Rules 1 to 11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or 

Rule 17 (special urgency) apply.  A Key Decision is as defined in Article 
13.03 of this Constitution. 

 
(2) If the Executive or its committees (if any) meet to discuss a Key 

Decision, with an officer other than a political assistant present, within 

28 days of the date according to the Forward Plan by which it is to be 
decided, then it must also comply with Rules 1 to 11 unless Rule 15 

(general exception) or Rule 17 (special urgency) apply.  This 
requirement does not include meetings, whose sole purpose is for 
officers to brief members. 

 
 

RULE 13 
Procedure before taking Key Decisions 

 

Subject to Rule 15 (general exception) and Rule 17 (special urgency), a Key 
Decision may not be taken unless: 

 

106



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 5 

 

Page 14/5 
September 2016 

(a) a notice (called here a Forward Plan) has been published in 
connection with the matter in question; 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the 
Forward Plan; and 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Executive or 
its committees (if any), notice of the meeting has been given in 
accordance with Rule 4 (notice of meetings). 

 

[Note: a Key Decision is defined, in principle, in Article 13.03 in Part 2 
(Articles).  The local working definition of a Key Decision is in Rule 8 in Part 
4D (Executive Procedure Rules)] 

 
 

RULE 14 
The Forward Plan 

 

(1) At least 28 clear days before decisions of the nature set out in 
paragraph (2) are to be taken by a decision making body exercising 

executive functions the Chief Executive will produce a Forward Plan 
setting out the details.  The Forward Plan will be published on the 
County Council’s website and made available for inspection by 

members of the public.  
 

(2) The Forward Plan will contain matters which are considered to involve:- 
  

(a) a key decision, and/or 
(b) a matter where it is likely in view of the nature of the business to 

be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential or 
exempt information would be disclosed and therefore it is 
proposed that the public be excluded from the meeting (i.e. the 

matter will be considered in private). 
  

(3) Where a decision maker intends to make a key decision the Forward 
Plan will describe the following particulars in so far as the information is 
available or might reasonably be obtained:- 

 
(a) that a key decision is to be made on behalf of the County Council 

(b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 
(c) where the decisions maker is an individual, that individual’s name, 

and title if any and, where the decision maker is a decision-making 

body, its name and a list of its members; 
(d) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be 

made; 
(e) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for 

consideration in relation to the matter in respect of which the key 

decision is to be made; 
(f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on 

their disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is 
available; 

107



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 6 

 

Page 14/6 
September 2016 

(g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted 
to the decision maker; and 

(h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as 
they become available. 

 
(4) Where a matter is to be considered in private the Forward Plan will give 
 notice of the Authority’s intentions and will give a statement of the 

 reasons for doing so. 
 

 
 

RULE 15 

General exception 
 

(1) If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in 
the Forward Plan, then subject to Rules 16 (confidential and exempt 
items) and 17 (special urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 

 
(a) the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to 

defer the decision until it has been included in the next Forward 
Plan; 

(b) the Chief Executive has informed the chairman of a relevant 

overview and scrutiny committee, or if there is no such person, each 
member of that committee in writing, by notice, of the matter on 

which the decision is to be made and the reasons why inclusion on 
the Forward Plan is impractical; 

(c) the Chief Executive has made copies of that notice available to the 

public at County Hall and the notice has been published on the 
Council’s website; and 

(d) at least five clear days have elapsed since the Chief Executive 
complied with (b) and (c). 

 

 
 

RULE 16 
Confidential and Exempt Items 

 

Where confidential or exempt items have not been included on the Forward 
Plan in accordance with Rule 14 the matter may still be considered where 

agreement that the matter is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred has 
been obtained from;- 

 

(a) the chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee; or 
 

(b) if there is no such person, or if the chairman of the relevant overview 
and scrutiny committee is unable to act, the agreement of the chairman 
of the County Council or in his/her absence the vice-chairman will 

suffice. 
 

 

108



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 7 

 

Page 14/7 
September 2016 

 

RULE 17 
Special urgency 

 
(1) If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 15 

(general exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be 

taken if the decision taker (if an individual) or the chairman of the body 
making the decision, obtains the agreement of the chairman of a 

relevant overview and scrutiny committee that the taking of the decision 
cannot be reasonably deferred.  

 

(2) If there is no chairman of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee, 
or if the chairman of each relevant overview and scrutiny committee is 

unable to act, then the agreement of the Chairman of the County 
Council, or in his/her absence the Vice-chairman will suffice. 

 

(3) The decision taker must make available to the public a notice setting 
out the reasons why the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be 

deferred and must publish that notice on the County Council’s website. 
 
 

RULE 18 
Report to County Council 

 
(1) If an overview and scrutiny committee thinks that a Key Decision 

has been taken which was not: 

 
(a) included in the Forward Plan; or 

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or 
(c) the subject of an agreement with a relevant overview and 

 scrutiny committee chairman, or the chairman / vice-chairman 

 of the County Council under Rule 17;  
 

the committee may require the Executive to submit a report to the 
County Council within such reasonable time as the committee 
specifies. The power to require a report rests with the committee, 

but is also delegated to the Chief Executive, who shall require such 
a report on behalf of the committee when so requested by its 

chairman or any four of its members. Alternatively, the requirement 
may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the relevant 
overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
(2) The Executive will prepare a report for submission to the next 

available meeting of the County Council. However, if the next 
meeting of the County Council is within seven days of receipt of the 
written notice, or the resolution of the committee, then the report 

may be submitted to the meeting after that. The report to County 
Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body 

making the decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was 
not a Key Decision the reasons for that opinion. 

109



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 8 

 

Page 14/8 
September 2016 

 
(3) In any event the Leader will submit annual reports to the County 

Council on any Executive decisions taken in the circumstances set 
out in Rule 17 (special urgency) in the preceding twelve months.  

The report will include the number of decisions so taken and a 
summary of the matters in respect of which those decisions were 
taken. 

 
 

RULE 19 
Record of decisions 

 

After any meeting of the Executive or any of its committees, whether held in 
public or private, the Chief Executive or, where no officer was present, the 

person presiding at the meeting will as soon as practical produce a statement 
of every decision taken at the meeting. The statement will include:- 
 

   
(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 
(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 

decision-making body at the meeting at which the decision was 

made; 
(d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided 

which is declared by any member of the decision-making body 

which made the decision; and 
(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 

granted by the Chief Executive. 
 

RULE 20 
Executive meetings relating to matters which are not Key Decisions 

 
Subject to Article 7.06(a) in Part 2 of this Constitution, the Executive will 

decide whether meetings relating to matters which are not Key Decisions will 
be held in public or private. 
 

[Note: in Rules 21, 22 and 25(1) “private meeting of the Executive” means 
a meeting of the Executive at which decisions which are not Key 

Decisions are taken and which the Executive has decided should be held 
in private, as permitted by the Local Government Act 2000.  Rule 20 
restates the powers given to the Executive to do this by the Local 

Government Act 2000.  However, in adopting this Constitution the County 
Council decided, with the concurrence of the then Executive, that all 

meetings of the Executive where any executive decisions (of whatever 
kind) are to be taken will be held in public, except where the public may 
excluded in accordance with Rule 10.  Therefore, while that County 

Council decision remains in operation and is reflected in Article 7.06(a), 
Rule 20 is effectively suspended and the provisions relating to “private 

meeting of the Executive” in Rules 21, 22 and 25(1) are of no practical 
effect] 

110



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 9 

 

Page 14/9 
September 2016 

 
RULE 21 

Notice of private meeting of the Executive 
 

Members of the Executive or its committees will be entitled to receive three 
clear working days notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless 
the meeting is convened at shorter notice as a matter of urgency. 

 
 

RULE 22 
Attendance at meetings of the Executive and its committees 

 

(1) All members of the Executive will be served notice of a private meeting 
of a committee of the Executive (if any), whether or not they are 

members of that committee, and will be entitled to attend and speak at 
that meeting. 

 

(2) Members other than Executive members will not be entitled to attend 
private meetings of the Executive, and its committees. 

 
(3) In accordance with Standing Order 34(3) in Part 4A, any Council 

member may attend as an observer at decision-making meetings of the 

Executive, including meetings or items of business from which the 
public has been excluded.  If given permission by the chairman of the 

meeting, a member attending as an observer may speak (but not vote) 
on any matter. 

 

(4) The Chief Executive as Head of the Paid Service, the Chief Finance 
Officer, and the Director of Law and Governance as Monitoring Officer 

(and their nominees) are entitled to attend any meeting of the 
Executive and its committees where any executive decisions are to be 
taken.  

 
(5) Where the Executive meets in private and without an officer being 

present, the person presiding will have responsibility for compliance 
with any relevant requirements of Rule 19 (recording and publicising 
decisions). 

 
 

RULE 23 

Decisions by individual members of the Executive and officers 
 

(1) Where an individual member of the Executive receives a report which 
he/she intends to take into account in making any Key Decision, then 
he/she will not make the decision until at least 28 clear days notice has 

been given. 
 

(2) On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person 
who prepared the report will give a copy of it to the chairman of every 

111



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 10 

 

Page 14/10 
September 2016 

relevant overview and scrutiny committee as soon as reasonably 
practicable, and make it publicly available at the same time. 

 
(3) As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision has 

been taken by an individual member of the Executive, he/she will 
prepare, or instruct the Chief Executive to prepare, a record of the 
decision, a statement of the reasons for it, any alternative options 

considered and rejected, a record of any conflict of interest declared by 
any executive member who is consulted by the officer which relates to 

the decision and, in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note 
of dispensation granted by the Head of Paid Service. 
 

(4) As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a relevant 
executive decision, he/she must produce a written statement which 

includes a record of the decision including the date it was made, a 
record of the reasons for the decision, details of any alternative options 
considered and rejected by the officer when making the decision, a 

record of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member 
who is consulted by the officer which relates to the decision and in 

respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 
granted by the Head of Paid Service. 

 

(5) The provisions of Rules 7 and 8 (inspection of documents after 
meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual 

members of the Executive. This does not require the disclosure of 
exempt or confidential information or advice from a political assistant (if 
any). 

 

[Note: in adopting this Constitution the County Council decided, with the 
concurrence of the Executive, that no executive decisions will be taken by 
individual members of the Executive. Therefore, while that decision 

remains effective and is reflected in Article 7.08, those parts of Rule 23 
which relate to such decisions have no practical effect] 

 
 

RULE 24 

Overview and scrutiny committees access to documents 
 

(1) Subject to paragraph (2) of this Rule, an overview and scrutiny 
committee (including its sub-committees) will be entitled to copies of  
any document which is in the possession or control of the Executive or 

its committees and which contains material relating to 
 

(a) any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the 
Executive or its committees; 

(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Executive; or 

(c) any decision taken by an officer of the authority in accordance 
with executive arrangements. 

 
(2) An overview and scrutiny committee will not be entitled to: 

112



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 11 

 

Page 14/11 
September 2016 

 
(a) any document that is in draft form; 

(b) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential 
information, unless that information is relevant to an action or 

decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or intend to scrutinise; 
or 

(c) the advice of a political adviser (if any). 
 
 

RULE 25 
Additional rights of access for members 

 

(1) All members of the County Council will be entitled to inspect any 
document which is in the possession or under the control of the 

Executive or its committees and contains material relating to any 
business previously transacted at a private meeting, unless either (a), 
(b) or (c) below applies: 

 
(a) It contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5 

and 7 of the categories of exempt information; or 
 
(b) It contains information falling within paragraph 3 of the 

categories of exempt information and that information relates to 
any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Authority in 
the course of negotiations for a contract. 

 
(c) It contains the advice of a political adviser. 

 
(2) All members of the County Council will be entitled to inspect any 

document (except those available only in draft form) in the possession 

or under the control of the Executive or its committees which relates to 
any Key Decision unless paragraph (a) or (b) above applies. 

 
(3) These rights of a member are additional to any other right he/she may 

have. 

 

113



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 12 

 

Page 14/12 
September 2016 

SCHEDULE 
EXEMPT INFORMATION (RULES 10 AND 24) 

 

(N.B. Paragraph numbers of the categories mirror those contained in 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

[NOTE – All categories are subject to the application of a public interest test – 

see note at the end of this schedule.] 
 

CATEGORY QUALIFICATIONS/DEFINITIONS 
1 Information relating to any 

individual. 
 

 

2 Information which is likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual. 

 

 

3 Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority 
holding that information). 

Information is not exempt information if it is 
required to be registered under – 
 

(a) the Companies Act 1985; 
 

(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
 

(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
 

(d) the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 

 

(e) the Building Societies Act 1986;  or 
 

(f) the Charities Act 1993 
 

‘financial or business affairs’ includes 
contemplated, as well as past or current, 
activities 
 

‘registered’ in relation to information 
required to be registered under the 
Building Societies Act 1986 means 
recorded in the public file of any building 
society (within the meaning of that Act) 
 

4 Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister 
of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

‘employee’ means a person employed 
under a contract of service 
 

‘labour relations matter’ means – 
 

(a) any of the matters specified in 
paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 
218(1) of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992 (matters which may be the 
subject of a trade dispute, within the 
meaning of that Act);  or 

 

(b) any dispute about a matter falling 
within paragraph (a) above;  

114



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 13 

 

Page 14/13 
September 2016 

CATEGORY QUALIFICATIONS/DEFINITIONS 
  

and for the purposes of this definition the 
enactments mentioned in paragraph (a) 
above, with the necessary modifications, 
shall apply in relation to office-holders 
under the authority as they apply in 
relation to employees of the authority; 
 
‘office-holder’, in relation to the authority, 
means the holder of any paid office 
appointments to which are or may be 
made or confirmed by the authority or by 
any joint board on which the authority is 
represented or by any person who holds 
any such office or is an employee of the 
authority 
 

 
5 Information in respect of which a 

claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal 
proceedings. 

 

 

 
6 Information which reveals that the 

authority proposes – 
 
 (a) to give under any enactment a 

notice under or by virtue of 
which requirements are 
imposed on a person;  or 

 
 (b) to make an order or direction 

under any enactment 
 

 

 
7 Information relating to any action 

taken or to be taken in connection 
with the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime. 

 

 

 
 

Public Interest Test – Paragraph 10 
 
The above information is only exempt information if and so long as, in 

all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
 
 

 

115



   Part 4B 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Page 14 

 

Page 14/14 
September 2016 

Town and Country Planning 
 

Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for 
which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission 

pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992. 
 
 
 

 

[end of Access to Information Procedure Rules] 
 

 
 
 

 
 

116



 

Page 10/1 

 

117



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  

 

  September 2017 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Part 4 C 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget and 
Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules 

119



120



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

Page 1 

Page 4C/1 
  September 2017 

Part 4C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules 

 

RULE 1 
The Framework for Executive decisions 

 
The County Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget (which 

includes both the annual revenue budget and the capital programme) and for 
the adoption of each of the Plans which comprise the Policy Framework as set 
out in Article 4. Once a Budget or a Policy Framework is in place, it will be the 

responsibility of the Executive to implement it. 
 

RULE 2 

Process for developing the Policy Framework 
 
The process by which the Plans comprising the Policy Framework are 

developed will be: 
 

(a) The Policy Framework will usually be developed through the work of 
the ad hoc review panels and as a product of the roll-forward of the 
Plans which form part of the Policy Framework.   Those undertaking 

any review and roll-forward process will canvass the views of local 
stakeholders as appropriate and in a manner suitable to the matter 
under consideration.  The results of a review or roll-forward process will 

be presented to the Executive for consideration. 
 

(b) The Executive’s proposals in response to the review or roll-forward 
process will be referred to the relevant overview and scrutiny 
committee for any further advice and consideration.  The overview and 

scrutiny committee will canvass the views of local stakeholders if it 
considers it appropriate in accordance with the matter under 

consideration, but having particular regard not to duplicate any 
consultation carried out earlier. The overview and scrutiny committee 
will report to the Executive on the outcome of its deliberations. The 

overview and scrutiny committee will have four weeks to respond to the 
initial proposals of the Executive unless the Executive considers that 

there are special factors that make this timescale inappropriate. If it 
does, it will inform the overview and scrutiny committee of the time for 
response when the proposals are referred to it. 

 
(c) The Executive, if it considers it appropriate, may amend its proposals 

having considered the report of the overview and scrutiny committee.   
If the Executive’s final proposals do not require submission to the 
County Council because they are within the approved Policy 

Framework and/or Budget, then those proposals may be implemented 
by the Executive without reference to the County Council.  If the 

 

121



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
Page 2 
 

 

Page 4C/2 
  September 2017 

Executive’s proposals do require submission to the County Council,  
then they will be submitted to the County Council for consideration.  

The Executive will also report to County Council on how it has taken  
into account any recommendations from the overview and scrutiny 

committee. 
 

(d) The County Council will consider the proposals of the Executive and 

may adopt them, amend them, refer them back to the Executive for 
further consideration, or substitute its own proposals in their place. In 

considering the matter, the County Council shall have before it the 
Executive’s proposals and any report from any relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee. 

 
RULE 3 

Process for approving the Budget 
 
The County Council adopts a Medium Term Financial Strategy which sets out 

the financial proposals for the County Council for a four year period.  This will 
be reviewed and updated annually.  The process by which the Budget is 

approved will be: 
 
(a) In early December the Executive will consider and determine its budget 

strategy. This will enable detailed budget proposals to be determined 
taking into account any developments and particularly any 

announcement from the Secretary of State concerning local government 
finance. 

 

(b) By mid-January the Executive will publish its detailed budget proposals 
and will refer them to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee(s) for 

consideration.  The overview and scrutiny committee(s) will have at least 
three weeks to respond to the detailed budget proposals of the Executive 
unless the Executive considers that there are special factors that make 

this timescale inappropriate. If it does, it will inform the overview and 
scrutiny committee(s) of the reasons why and of the time for response 

when the detailed budget proposals are referred to it. 
 
(c) The Executive may, if it considers it appropriate, amend its detailed 

budget proposals in time for submission to the Budget Meeting of the 
County Council, alerting the Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission to 

any major changes so that if appropriate and practical these can be the 
subject of further consideration by the Scrutiny Commission. 

 

(d) Changes to the Budget and Policy Framework are reserved to the 
County Council. 

 
RULE 4 

Council decision and Leader’s objection 

 
(a) The County Council’s decision on the Policy Framework or Budget will 

be publicised in accordance with Article 4 and a copy shall be given to 

122



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

Page 3 

Page 4C/3 
  September 2017 

the Leader. The notice of decision will be dated and will state either 
that the decision shall be effective immediately (if the County Council 

accepts the Executive’s proposals without amendment) or (if the 
Executive’s proposals are not accepted without amendment), that the 

County Council’s decision will become effective on the expiry of five 
working days after the publication of the notice of decision, unless the 
Leader objects to it in that period. 

 
(b) If the Leader objects to the decision of the County Council, he/she will 

give written notice to the Chief Executive to that effect prior to the date 
upon which the decision is to be effective. The written notification must 
state the reasons for the objection. Where such notification is received, 

the Chief Executive will convene a further meeting of the County 
Council to reconsider its decision and the decision shall not be effective 

pending that meeting. 
 
(c) The County Council meeting must take place within 21 working days of 

the receipt of the Leader’s written objection. At that County Council 
meeting, the decision of the County Council will be reconsidered in the 

light of the objection, which will be available in writing for the County 
Council. 

 

(d) The County Council will at that meeting make its final decision on the 
matter on the basis of a simple majority. The decision shall be made 

public in accordance with Article 4, and shall be implemented 
immediately. 

 

(e) The Leader may, in respect of a specific decision of the County 
Council, waive his/her right of objection as described in paragraph (a) 

above if he/she deems that the interests of the County Council will be 
better served if the County Council’s decision (even though it 
represents an amendment to the Executive’s proposals) is acceptable 

and should be implemented immediately.  The Leader may signify 
his/her waiver (which will be irrevocable) verbally at any time during the 

County Council meeting or in writing at any time during the five working 
days thereafter.  If made at the meeting, the Leader’s waiver will be 
recorded in the minutes.  If made after the meeting, the Chief Executive 

will keep the written waiver and its existence will be noted in the 
minutes of the meeting involved. 

 
RULE 5 

Decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework 

 
(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 7 (virement) the Executive, 

committees of the Executive, individual members of the Executive and 
any officers, area committees or joint arrangements discharging 
Executive functions may only take decisions which are in line with the 

Budget and Policy Framework. If any of these bodies or persons 
wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, 

or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget approved by 

123



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
Page 4 
 

 

Page 4C/4 
  September 2017 

full County Council, then that decision may only be taken by the County 
Council, subject to Rule 6 below. 

 
(b) If the Executive, committees of the Executive, individual members of 

the Executive and any officers, area committees or joint arrangements 
discharging Executive functions want to make such a decision, they 
shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance 

Officer as to whether the decision they want to make would be contrary 
to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 

the Budget. If the advice of either of those officers is that the decision 
would not be in line with the existing Budget and/or Policy Framework, 
then the decision must be referred by that body or person to the County 

Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in 
which case the provisions in Rule 6 (urgent decisions outside the 

Budget and Policy Framework) shall apply. 
 

[Note: the County Council decided, with the concurrence of the 

Executive, that no individual member of the Executive will be 
authorised to take an executive decision;  such decisions will be taken 

either by the Executive collectively at a properly convened meeting or 
by professional officers under the published schemes of delegation. 
While that decision remains effective and is reflected in Article 7.08, 

those provisions in Rules 5 and 6 which relate to individual members of 
the Executive have no practical effect]  

 
[Note: the County Council has yet to decide to appoint area 
committees.] 

 
RULE 6 

Urgent decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 
(a) The Executive, a committee of the Executive, an individual member of 

the Executive or officers, area committees or joint arrangements 
discharging Executive functions may take a decision which is contrary 

to the County Council’s Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the Budget approved by full County Council if the 
decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may only be 

taken: 
 

(i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full County 
Council; and 

(ii) if the chairman of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee 

agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency. 
 

The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full 
County Council and the chairman of the relevant overview and scrutiny 
committees’ consent to the decision being taken as a matter of urgency 

must be noted on the record of the decision. In the absence of the 
chairman of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee the consent of 

124



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

Page 5 

Page 4C/5 
  September 2017 

the Chairman of the County Council, and in the absence of both, the 
Vice-chairman, will be sufficient. 

 
(b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the 

next available County Council meeting explaining the decision, the 
reasons for it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency. 

 

RULE 7 

Virement 
 
Steps taken by the Executive, a committee of the Executive, an individual 

member of the Executive, officers, area committees or joint arrangements 
discharging Executive functions to implement County Council policy shall not 

exceed those budgets allocated.  Such bodies or individuals shall be entitled 
to vire across budget heads in accordance with the Standard Financial 
Instructions made under the Financial Procedure Rules in Part F. 
 

RULE 8 
In-year changes to Policy Framework 

 
The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the 
County Council, and decisions by the Executive, a committee of the 

Executive, an individual member of the Executive or officers, area committees 
or joint arrangements discharging Executive functions must be in line with it.  
No changes to any policy and strategy which make up the Policy Framework 

may be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes: 
 

(a) which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part 

of service to meet a budgetary constraint; 
(b) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or 

government guidance; 

(c) in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy which would 
normally be agreed annually by the County Council following 

consultation, but where the existing policy document is silent on the 
matter under consideration; or 

(d) which relate to policy in relation to schools, where the majority of 

school governing bodies agree with the proposed change. 
 
 

RULE 9 
Call-in of decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework 

 
(a) Where an overview and scrutiny committee is of the opinion that an 

Executive decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy 

Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the County 
Council’s Budget, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer 

and/or Chief Finance Officer. 
 
(b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Executive, the 

Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report shall be 
addressed to the Executive, with a copy to every member of the County 

125



Part 4C 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
Page 6 
 

 

Page 4C/6 
  September 2017 

Council. Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the 
Executive must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the 

report and to prepare a report to County Council in the event that the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the 

decision was a departure, and to the overview and scrutiny committee 
if the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the 
decision was not a departure. 

 
(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 

implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to the 
Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 

Budget, the overview and scrutiny committee may refer the matter to 
County Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect 

of the decision or its implementation until the County Council has met 
and considered the matter. The County Council shall meet within 21 
days of the request by the overview and scrutiny committee. At the 

meeting it will receive a report of the decision or proposals and the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer. The 

County Council may either: 
 

(i) endorse a decision or proposal of the Executive decision taker as 

falling within the existing Budget and Policy Framework. In this 
case no further action is required, save that the decision of the 

County Council be minuted and circulated to all county councillors 
in the normal way; or 

(ii) amend the County Council’s financial arrangements or policy 

concerned to encompass the decision or proposal of the body or 
individual responsible for that Executive function and agree to the 

decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further action is 
required save that the decision of the County Council be minuted 
and circulated to all county councillors in the normal way; or 

(iii) where the County Council accepts that the decision or proposal is 
contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in 

accordance with the Budget, and does not amend the existing 
framework to accommodate it, require the Executive to reconsider 
the matter in accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring 

Officer/Chief Finance Officer. 
 

 
[end of Budget and Policy Framework Rules] 

 

126



 

Page 10/1 

 

127



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 4D 
Executive Procedure Rules 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Part 4 D 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
Procedure Rules 

129



 

Page 1/5 
 

Part 4D - Executive Procedure Rules 
 
 

RULE 1 

The discharge of Executive functions 
 

The arrangements for the discharge of Executive functions are set out in the 
Executive Arrangements adopted by the County Council.  Article 7.08 
prohibits the delegation of Executive functions to individual members of the 

Executive.  Subject to Article 7.08 the Leader may decide how Executive 
functions are to be exercised.  In either case, the Executive Arrangements or 

the Leader may provide for Executive functions to be discharged by: 
 

(a) the Executive as a whole; 

(b) a committee of the Executive; 
(c) an individual member of the Executive; 

(d) an officer; 
(e) an area committee; 
(f) joint arrangements; or 

(g) another local authority. 
 

[Note: while the County Council decision reflected in Article 7.08 remains in 
operation, the provisions in Rules 1 and 2 which relate to an individual 

member of the Executive will have no practical effect.] 
 
 

RULE 2 
The delegation of Executive functions 

 

(a) Subject to Article 7.08, at the annual meeting of the County Council, 
the Leader will present to the County Council a written record of any 
delegations made by him or her for inclusion in the County Council’s 

scheme of delegation at Part 3 to this Constitution. The document 
presented by the Leader will contain the following information about 

Executive functions in relation to the coming year: 
 

(i) the extent of any authority delegated to Executive members 

individually, including details of the limitation on their authority; 
(ii) the terms of reference and constitution of such Executive 

committees as the Leader appoints and the names of Executive 
members appointed to them; 

(iii) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive functions to 

area committees, any other authority or any joint arrangements and 
the names of those Executive members appointed to any joint 

committee for the coming year; and 
 

(b) Where the Executive, a committee of the Executive or an individual 

member of the Executive is responsible for an Executive function, they 
may delegate further to an area committee, joint arrangements or an 

officer. 

130



 

Page 2/5 
 

 
(c) Unless the County Council directs otherwise, if the Leader delegates 

functions to the Executive, then the Executive may delegate further to a 
committee of the Executive or to an officer. 

 
(d) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the Executive to 

whom functions have been delegated by the Leader may delegate 

further to an officer. 
 

(e) Even where Executive functions have been delegated, that fact does 
not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body 
who delegated. 

 
 

RULE 3 
The County Council’s Scheme of Delegations and Executive functions  

 

(a) Subject to (b) below the County Council’s Scheme of Delegations will 
be subject to adoption by the County Council and may only be 

amended by the County Council. It will contain the details required in 
Article 7.07 and set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 

(b) Subject to Article 7.08, the Leader may amend the Scheme of 
Delegations relating to Executive functions at any time during the year. 

To do so, the Leader must give written notice to the Chief Executive 
and to the person, body or committee concerned. The notice must set 
out the extent of the amendment to the Scheme of Delegation, and 

whether it entails the withdrawal of delegation from any person, body, 
committee or the Executive as a whole. The Chief Executive will 

present a report to the next ordinary meeting of the County Council 
setting out the changes made by the Leader. 

 

(c) Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a committee, 
notice will be deemed to be served on that committee when he or she 

has served it on its chairman. 
 
 

RULE 4 
Conflicts of Interest 

 

(a) Conflicts of interest for the Leader and/or other members of the 
Executive should be dealt with having regard to the County Council’s 

Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution.  
Dispensation may be granted where appropriate in accordance with 
any legislation applying for the time being. 

 
 

(b) If the exercise of an Executive function has been delegated to a 
committee of the Executive, an individual member or an officer, and 

131



 

Page 3/5 
 

should a conflict of interest arise, then the function will be exercised by 
the person or body by whom the delegation was made. 

 
 

RULE 5 
Executive Meetings 

 

(a) The meetings of the Executive will be conducted in accordance with 
those Standing Orders in the Meeting Procedure Rules in Part 4A of 

this Constitution which are relevant to the Executive. 
 
[Note: The “Executive” means the Leader and Cabinet, and a meeting of the 

Executive will usually, in the normal course of the County Council’s business, 
be referred to as a “Cabinet Meeting”.  The relevant Standing Orders are 33 

and 34, which in turn apply Standing Orders 14 to 19, 21 to 26 and 28 to 30, 
with any necessary modification.]  
 

(b) The Executive will observe those requirements of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 
 

RULE 6 

Consultation 
 

All reports to the Executive from any member of the Executive or an officer on 
proposals relating to the budget and Policy Framework must contain details of 
the nature and extent of consultation with stakeholders and relevant overview 

and scrutiny committees, and the outcome of that consultation.  Reports about 
other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation as 

appropriate. The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature 
of the matter under consideration. 
 
 

RULE 7 
Executive agenda 

 

(a) The Leader will decide upon the schedule for the meetings of the 
Executive. He or she may put on the agenda of any Executive meeting 

any matter which he or she wishes, whether or not authority has been 
delegated to the Executive, a committee of it or any member or officer 
in respect of that matter. The Chief Executive will comply with the 

Leader’s requests in this respect. 
 

(b) Any member of the Executive may require the Chief Executive to make 
sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting 

of the Executive for consideration. 
 

(c) The Chief Executive will make sure that an item is placed on the 
agenda of the next available meeting of the Executive where a relevant 

132



 

Page 4/5 
 

overview and scrutiny committee or the full County Council have 
resolved that an item be considered by the Executive.  

 
(d) Any member of the County Council may ask the Leader to put an item 

on the agenda of an Executive meeting for consideration, and if the 
Leader agrees the item will be considered at the next available meeting 
of the Executive.  The notice of the meeting will give the name of the 

County Councillor who asked for the item to be considered. The 
individual member may attend the meeting in accordance with Standing 

Order 34 in the Meeting Procedure Rules in Part 4A of this 
Constitution.  

 

(e) The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer may include an 
item for consideration on the agenda of an Executive meeting and may 

require the Chief Executive to call such a meeting in pursuance of their 
statutory duties. In other circumstances, where any two of the Head of 
Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer are of the 

opinion that a meeting of the Executive needs to be called to consider a 
matter that requires a decision, they may jointly include an item on the 

agenda of an Executive meeting. If there is no meeting of the Executive 
soon enough to deal with the issue in question, then the person(s) 
entitled to include an item on the agenda may also require that a 

meeting be convened at which the matter will be considered. 
 

 
RULE 8 

Working definition of “Key Decision” 

 
For the purposes of Article 13.03 (Types of decision) and Rule 14 of the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules (Part 4B), a decision which falls within 
any of the following working definitions will be deemed to be a Key Decision 
for the purpose of making decisions and will be dealt with accordingly:  

 
(i) a report proposing changes or additions to the Plan Framework (as 

defined in the Constitution), arising from the Plans Roll-forward or 
otherwise; 

(ii) a report in connection with the preparation of the annual revenue 

budget; 
(iii) a report in connection with the preparation of the capital 

programme; 
(iv) a report proposing specific action which is outside the Plan 

Framework, annual revenue budget or capital programme 

previously approved by the County Council; 
(v) a report of a Review Panel (which has conducted a review: 

commissioned by the Executive; or by an overview and scrutiny 
committee) which requires a decision to be made by the 
Executive; 

(vi) expenditure or savings which the Chief Finance Officer together 
with the Director of Law and Governance consider to be 

133



 

Page 5/5 
 

significant having regard to the budget for the service or function 
to which the decision relates; 

(vii) a report proposing action which the originator of the report, in 
consultation with his or her chief officer, believes may have a 

significant impact on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more County Council electoral divisions;  

(viii)* a report proposing the closure of, or reduction by more than ten 

percent in the level of service (for example in terms of funding, 
staffing or hours of operation) provided from, any facility from 

which County Council services are provided; or 
(ix) a report which in the opinion of the Chief Executive or Monitoring 

Officer involves a material departure from a policy or plan 

previously agreed at elected member level. 
 

[*Note: Where the closure or reduction is as a result of time-limited 
external funding coming to an end and there is no reasonable prospect 
of continuing the service, other than on a transitional basis, this 

provision does not apply.] 
 

 
[end of Executive Procedure Rules] 

134



Part 4E 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 
  December 2021 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 4 E 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules 

 
 

 

135



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

Page 2/12 
 

Part 4E - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules 

 

 
Contents 

 

1 The number and arrangements for overview and scrutiny committees 
2 The Scrutiny Commission 

2A The Scrutiny Commissioners 
3 Membership of overview and scrutiny committees 
4 Co-opted members 

5 Education representatives 
6 Chairmanship and meetings of the overview and scrutiny committees 

7 Work programme 
8 Policy review and development 
9 Reports from overview and scrutiny committees dealing with County 

Council functions on proposals for development 
10 Reports from overview and scrutiny committees on items scrutinised 

11 Rights of overview and scrutiny committee members to documents 
12 Members and officers giving account 
13 Attendance by others 

14 Call-in 
15 Call-in and urgency 

16 The party whip 
17 Procedure at overview and scrutiny committee meetings 
18 Matters within the remit of more than one overview and scrutiny 

committee 
 

 

136



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 3 

Page 3/12 
 

 

Part 4E - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules 

 
 

RULE 1 

The number and arrangements for overview and scrutiny committees 
 

The Council will have the overview and scrutiny committees and 
subcommittees set out in Article 6 and will appoint them as it considers 
appropriate from time to time.  In the case of bodies dealing with County 

Council functions such committees may appoint subcommittees subject to the 
approval of the Scrutiny Commission.  Such references in these rules to an 

overview and scrutiny committee shall be deemed to include references to 
subcommittees. 
 

 
RULE 2 

The Scrutiny Commission 
 
The Scrutiny Commission will exercise the following responsibilities in relation 

to the overview and scrutiny of the discharge of County Council functions: 
 
1. to have the powers of an overview and scrutiny committee in relation to 

Executive decisions made but not implemented as set out in section 
21(3) of the Local Government Act 2000, similar to other overview and 

scrutiny committees;  
 

2. to act as the statutory appeal body where a petitioner has requested a 

review of the adequacy of the steps taken or which are proposed to be 
taken in the Authority's response to a petition;  

 
3. to agree job descriptions for the Scrutiny Commissioners and for the 

Chairmen, Deputy Chairmen and Spokesmen of the overview and 

scrutiny committees. 
 

RULE 2A 
The Scrutiny Commissioners 

 

The Scrutiny Commissioners will exercise the following responsibilities in 
relation to the overview and scrutiny of the discharge of County Council 

functions, whilst recognising that scrutiny committees are encouraged to set 
their own relevant agendas: 
 

1. to approve an annual overview and scrutiny work programme for the 
Scrutiny Commission, to ensure that there is efficient use of the 

committees’ time, and that the potential for duplication of effort is 
minimised; 

 

137



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 4 

Page 4/12 
 

2. where matters fall within the remit of more than one overview and 
scrutiny committee, to determine which of them will assume 

responsibility for any particular issue, and to resolve any issues of 
dispute between overview and scrutiny committees; 

 
3. to receive requests from the Executive and/or the full County Council 

for reports from overview and scrutiny committees and to allocate them 

if appropriate to one or more overview and scrutiny committees; 
 

4. to put in place and maintain a system to ensure that referrals from 
Overview and Scrutiny to the Executive, either by way of report or for 
reconsideration, are managed efficiently; 

 
5. at the request of the Executive, to make decisions about the priority of 

referrals made if the volume of such referrals creates difficulty for 
management of Executive business or jeopardises the efficient running 
of County Council business; 

 
RULE 3 

Membership of overview and scrutiny committees 
 
All County Councillors except members of the Executive and Cabinet Support 

Members may be members of an overview and scrutiny committee which 
deals with County Council functions.  No member may be involved in 

scrutinising a decision with which he/she has been directly involved. 
 
 

RULE 4 
Co-opted members 

 
Each overview and scrutiny committee shall be entitled to recommend to the 
County Council the appointment of a number of people as co-opted members 

as set out in the Table below.  In the case of voting co-opted members this will 
be subject to the approval of the necessary scheme under Section 115 of the 

Local Government Act 2003. 
 
[Note:  the County Council has determined that it is unnecessary to co-opt 

people who are not County Councillors to be members of an overview and 
scrutiny committee, save to the extent required by law as described in Rule 5.  

However an overview and scrutiny committee may, if it wishes, invite 
individuals to attend to contribute to the discussion of a specific matter at a 
specific meeting.  Such invitations should be regarded as exceptional and 

should not become a matter of routine.] 
 

committee/sub-committee permitted co-options 

  

[not in operation] 
  

 

138



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 5 

Page 5/12 
 

RULE 5 
Education representatives 

 
(a) Each relevant overview and scrutiny committee dealing with education 

matters shall include in its membership the following education 
representatives from schools maintained by the local education authority: 

 

(i) 1 Church of England diocese representative; 
(ii) 1 Roman Catholic diocese representative; and 

(iii) 2 parent governor representatives. 
 
(b) A relevant overview and scrutiny committee in this Rule is an overview 

and scrutiny committee of a local education authority, where the 
committee’s functions relate wholly or in part to any education functions 

which are the responsibility of the authority’s Executive.  The rights of 
education representatives to participate in and vote on issues related to 
education functions will be subject to the provisions of any relevant 

statutory regulations.  If the overview and scrutiny committee deals with 
other matters, these representatives shall not vote on those other matters, 

though they may stay in the meeting and speak. 
 

[Note: for the purposes of this Rule the relevant overview and scrutiny 

committee is the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee]  

 
 

RULE 6 

Chairmanship and meetings of the overview and scrutiny committees 
 

(a) The appointment of the Chairman of the standing overview and scrutiny 
committees will be made by the Council in determining the membership 
of the Scrutiny Commission in accordance with Article 6.06 of this 

Constitution.  The appointment of chairmen of review panels will be a 
matter for the Scrutiny Commission to determine for those relating to 

County Council functions and for the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to determine for those relating to Health Service functions. 

 

(b) The meetings of the overview and scrutiny committees shall be 
conducted as set out for committees in the Meeting Procedure Rules 

(Standing Orders) in Part 4A of this Constitution. 
 

[Note: the relevant Standing Orders are 33 to 36; Standing Order 34 applies 
Standing Orders 7, 14 to 19, 21 to 26 and 28 to 31, with any necessary 

modification.]  
 

RULE 7 

Work programme 
 

The overview and scrutiny committees dealing with County Council functions 
shall obtain the prior approval of the Scrutiny Commission for their work 

139



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 6 

Page 6/12 
 

programme and in formulating their work programme they shall take into 
account wishes of members on that committee who are not members of the 

current political administration of the County Council. 
 

 
RULE 8 

Policy review and development 

 
(a) The role of the overview and scrutiny committees in relation to the 

development of the County Council’s Budget and Policy Framework is 
set out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in 
Part 4C. 

 
(b) In relation to the development of the County Council’s approach to other 

matters not forming part of its Budget and Policy Framework, overview 
and scrutiny committees may make proposals to the Executive for 
developments in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of 

reference. 
 

(c) Overview and scrutiny committees may investigate the available options 
for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and 
assessors to assist them in this process.  They may go on site visits, 

conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and 
do all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to inform 

their deliberations.  They may ask witnesses to attend to address them 
on any matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, 
assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so. 

 
(d) In respect of the examination of County Council functions the Scrutiny 

Commission shall have power to impose any limitation (general or 
specific and including a requirement to obtain the prior approval of the 
Scrutiny Commission) upon an overview and scrutiny committee’s use of 

any of the actions specified in paragraph (c) above, in the interests of 
avoiding action which might lead to expenditure in excess of any budget 

provision; or which might duplicate other work already being undertaken 
or planned; or which might be disproportionate to the significance of the 
review involved, in terms of the Budget and Plan Framework. 

 
 

RULE 9 
Reports from overview and scrutiny committees dealing with County 

Council functions on proposals for development 

 
(a) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for development, the 

overview and scrutiny committee will submit these for consideration 
either by the Executive (if the proposals are consistent with the existing 
Budget and Policy Framework), or to the County Council as appropriate 

(e.g. if the recommendation would require a departure from or a change 
to the agreed Budget and Policy Framework). 

 

140



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 7 

Page 7/12 
 

(b) If an overview and scrutiny committee cannot agree on one single 
response to the County Council or Executive as appropriate, then up to 

one minority report may be prepared and submitted for consideration by 
the County Council or Executive alongside the committee’s 

recommendations. 
 
(c)  The basis of any minority report prepared under paragraph (b) above 

must have been discussed and been the subject of a proposal at the 
meeting of the committee and must have had the support of more than 

one member. 
 
(d) The County Council or Executive shall consider recommendations from 

the overview and scrutiny committee within two months of them being 
arrived at. 

 
 

RULE 10 

Reports from overview and scrutiny committees on items scrutinised 
 

(a) The agenda for Executive meetings shall include an item entitled ‘Issues 
arising from overview and scrutiny’.  The reports of overview and scrutiny 
committees referred to the Executive shall be included at this point in the 

agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the 
Executive’s deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within 

two months of the overview and scrutiny committee completing its 
report/recommendations. 

 

(b) Where an overview and scrutiny committee prepares a report for 

consideration by the Executive in relation to a matter where the Leader 
or County Council has delegated decision making power to another 
individual member of the Executive, then the overview and scrutiny 

committee will submit a copy of their report to that individual for 
consideration.  At the time of doing so, the overview and scrutiny 

committee shall serve a copy on the Chief Executive and the Leader.  If 
the member with delegated decision making power does not accept the 
recommendations of the overview and scrutiny committee then he/she 

must then refer the matter to the next available meeting of the Executive 
for debate before exercising his or her decision making power and 

responding to the report in writing to the overview and scrutiny 
committee.  The Executive member to whom the decision making power 
has been delegated will respond to the overview and scrutiny committee 

within four weeks of receiving it.  A copy of his or her written response to 
it shall be sent to the Chief Executive and he/she will attend a future 

meeting to respond. 
 

[Note: The County Council decided, with the concurrence of the 

Executive, that no individual member of the Executive will be authorised to 
take an executive decision;  such decisions will be taken either by the 

Executive collectively at a properly convened meeting or by professional 
officers under the published schemes of delegation.]  

141



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 8 

Page 8/12 
 

 
(c) Overview and scrutiny committees will in any event have access to the 

Executive’s Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for 
consultation.  Even where an item is not the subject of detailed proposals 

from an overview and scrutiny committee following a consideration of 
possible policy/service developments, the committee will be able to 
respond in the course of the Executive’s consultation process in relation 

to any Key Decision. 
 

 
RULE 11 

Rights of overview and scrutiny committee members to documents 

 
(a) In addition to their rights as County Councillors, members of overview 

and scrutiny committees have the additional right to documents, and to 
notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules in Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 
(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the 

Executive and an overview and scrutiny committee as appropriate 
depending on the particular matter under consideration. 

 

 
RULE 12 

Members and officers giving account 
 
(a) An overview and scrutiny committee may require any member of the 

Executive, the Head of Paid Service and any senior officer of the 
Council and in the case of an overview and scrutiny committee dealing 

with Health Services any member or employee of a relevant NHS body 
or member or employee of a relevant health service provider, to attend 
before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
(i) any particular policy, decision or series of decisions; 

(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement the policy of the 
County Council or relevant health body; and/or 

(iii) their performance, 

 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

 
(b) Where any member or officer is required to attend an overview and 

scrutiny committee under this provision, the chairman of that committee 

will inform the Chief Executive.  The Chief Executive shall inform the 
member or officer in writing giving (where practical) at least seven 

working days notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend.  
The notice will state the nature of the item on which he/she is required to 
attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be 

produced for the committee.  Where the account to be given to the 
committee will require the production of a report, then the member or 

142



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 9 

Page 9/12 
 

officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of 
that documentation. 

 
(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to 

attend on the required date, then the overview and scrutiny committee 
may in consultation with the member or officer arrange an alternative 
date for attendance. 

 
 

RULE 13 
Attendance by others 

 

An overview and scrutiny committee may invite people other than those 
people referred to in Rule 12 above to address it, discuss issues of local 

concern and/or answer questions.  It may for example wish to hear from 
residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the public 
sector and may invite such people to attend.  The people invited may decline 

to accept the invitation. 
 

 
 
 

RULE 14 
Call-in 

 
(a) Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances.  To ensure that 

call-in is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay, it will only apply to 

Key Decisions and will also be subject to the conditions described in this 
Rule.  

 
(b) When a decision is made by the Executive, an individual member of the 

Executive or a committee of the Executive, or a Key Decision is made by 

an officer with delegated authority from the Executive or an area 
committee or under joint arrangements, the decision shall be published, 

including where possible by electronic means, and shall be available at 
County Hall normally within 2 days of being made.  Chairmen of all 
overview and scrutiny committees will be sent copies of the records of all 

such decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible for 
publishing the decision.  

 
(c) That notification of the decisions will bear the date on which it is 

published and will specify that a Key Decision will come into force, and 

may then be implemented, on the expiry of 5 working days after the 
publication of the decision, unless it has been called in under this Rule.  

Those decisions which are Key Decisions but which will require further 
consideration by the Executive at a later stage prior to implementation, 
may be proceeded with immediately (as in the case for example of a 

decision to proceed with consultation on a proposal).  Those decisions 
which are not Key Decisions are not subject to call in under this Rule and 

may be implemented immediately. 

143



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 10 

Page 10/12 
 

 
(d) During that period, the Chief Executive shall call-in a relevant Key 

Decision for scrutiny by a relevant overview and scrutiny committee only 
if so requested in writing by any four members of the Council, at least 

two of which must be members of the Scrutiny Commission.  The written 
request shall include a cogent explanation of the reasons for the call-in.   

 

(e) The call-in notice can be withdrawn at any time in writing by the four 
members who originally invoked the call-in procedure.  

 
(f) The Chief Executive shall notify the decision-taker (where the decision 

was taken by the Executive, the Leader) of the call-in.   

 
(g) The Chief Executive shall call a meeting of the relevant overview and 

scrutiny committee on such date as he/she may determine, where 
possible after consultations with the chairman of the committee, and in 
any case the meeting shall be held within 10 working days of the 

decision to call-in. 
 

(h) If, having considered the decision, the overview and scrutiny committee 
is still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the decision making 
person or body for reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its 

concerns or refer the matter to full County Council.  If referred to the 
decision maker, he/she/it shall then reconsider the decision within a 

further 10 working days, amending the decision or not, before adopting a 
final decision. 

 

(i) If following a call-in, the overview and scrutiny committee does not meet 
in the period set out above, or does meet but does not refer the matter 

either back to the decision making person or body, or to the County 
Council, the decision shall take effect on the date of the overview and 
scrutiny meeting, or the expiry of the 10 day period referred to in (g) 

above, whichever is the earlier. 
 

(j) If the matter is referred to full County Council and the County Council 
does not object to the called-in decision, then no further action is 
necessary and the decision will be effective in accordance with the 

provisions below. 
 

(k) The Chief Executive will consult with the Leader to determine whether 
the nature of the called-in decision requires that an extraordinary 
meeting of the County Council be convened or whether the next ordinary 

meeting of the County Council will be appropriate.   
 

(l) The County Council has no power to make final decisions in respect of 
an Executive decision, unless that decision is contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the Budget.  

Unless that is the case, the County Council can only refer any decision to 
which it objects back to the decision making person or body, together 

with the County Council’s views on the decision, leaving the final 

144



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 11 

Page 11/12 
 

decision to the decision maker.  That decision making body or person will 
choose whether to amend the decision or not, before reaching a final 

decision and implementing it.  
 

(m) Where the decision was taken by the Executive as a whole or a 
committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within 10 
working days of the County Council request.  Where the decision was 

made by an individual, the individual will reconsider within 10 working 
days of the County Council request. 

 
(n) If the County Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the 

decision back to the decision making body or person, the decision will 

become effective on the date of the County Council meeting or expiry of 
the period in which the County Council meeting should have been held, 

whichever is the earlier. 
 
(o) Where an Executive decision has been taken by an area committee then 

the right of call-in shall extend to any other area committee which 
resolves to refer a decision which has been made but not implemented 

to a relevant overview and scrutiny committee for consideration in 
accordance with these provisions.  An area committee may only request 
the Chief Executive to call-in the decision if it is of the opinion that the 

decision will have an adverse effect on the area to which it relates.  All 
other provisions relating to call in shall apply as if the call in had been 

exercised by members of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee. 
 

[Note: the County Council  decided, with the concurrence of the 

Executive, that no individual member of the Executive will be authorised 
to take an executive decision;  such decisions will be taken either by the 

Executive collectively at a properly convened meeting or by professional 
officers under the published schemes of delegation. 
 

The County Council has yet to decide to appoint any area committees.  
The provisions in this Rule will, therefore, not apply to area committees 

until such time as they are appointed and, even then, only when they are 
given any delegated powers] 

  

 
RULE 15 

Call-in and urgency 
 

(a) The call-in procedure set out in Rule 14 shall not apply where a decision 

which would otherwise be subject to the call-in procedure is urgent.  A 
decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in 
procedure would seriously prejudice the County Council’s or the public’s 

interests.  
 

(b) The record of the decision and notice by which it is made public shall 
state whether in the opinion of the decision making person or body, the 
decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject to call-in.  

145



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 12 

Page 12/12 
 

 
(c) The Chairman of the County Council must agree both that the decision 

proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as 
a matter of urgency.  In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-

chairman’s consent shall be required.  In the absence of both, the Head 
of Paid Service or his or her nominee’s consent shall be required.  The 
Chief Executive will obtain the required consent. 

 
(d) Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next 

available meeting of the County Council, together with the reasons for 
urgency. 

 

(e) Since the call-in procedure can only apply to Key Decisions which should 
feature in the Executive’s Forward Plan, the need for urgent action 

should be discussed beforehand by the Leader of the Council and the 
Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission.    

 
 
 
 
 

RULE 16 
The party whip 

 

(a) In this Rule, “party whip” means any instruction given by or on 
behalf of a political group to any councillor who is a member of that 

group as to how that councillor shall speak or vote on the specific 
matter before the County Council or any committee or sub-
committee, or the application or threat to apply any sanction by the 

group in respect of that councillor should he/she speak or vote in 
any particular manner.  

 

(b) When considering any matter in the following categories: 
 

(i) any matter referred to the overview and scrutiny committee by 

the Executive; or 
(ii) the review of any policy or decision; or 

(iii) the performance of any member of the Executive, 
 

in respect of which a member of an overview and scrutiny committee is 

subject to a party whip, the member must declare the existence of the 
whip, and the nature of it, before the commencement of the committee’s 

deliberations on the matter.  The declaration and the detail of the 
whipping arrangements shall be recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
RULE 17 

Procedure at overview and scrutiny committee meetings 
 
(a) Overview and scrutiny committees shall consider the following 

business: 

146



  Part 4E 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Page 13 

Page 13/12 
 

 
(i)  minutes of the last meeting; 

(ii)  declarations of interest (including whipping declarations); 
(iii) consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision 

in relation to call in of a decision; 
(iv) responses of the Executive or the relevant health body to reports of 

the overview and scrutiny committee; 

(v) a referral made to the Committee by a member of the Council 
which is not an excluded matter; and 

(vi) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 
 

(b) Where the overview and scrutiny committee conducts investigations (e.g. 

with a view to policy development), the committee may also ask people 
to attend to give evidence at committee meetings which are to be 

conducted in accordance with the following principles: 
 

(i)  that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 

committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, 
and to contribute and speak; 

(ii) that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated 
with respect and courtesy; and 

(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency 

of the investigation or analysis. 
 

(c) Following any investigation or review, the committee shall prepare a 
report, for submission to the County Council, the Executive and/or the 
relevant NHS body or relevant health service provider and shall make its 

report and findings public. 
 
 

[end of Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules] 

147



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

 

 

  December 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 4 F 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 
Procedure Rules 

149



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

 

 

  December 2022 

Part 4F - Financial Procedure Rules 
 
 

Contents 

 
 

1  Application of Rules 
2  Responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer 
3 Responsibility of chief officers 

4 Application to subsidiary accounts 
5 Changes to service provision 

6 Changes in expenditure levels 
7 Capital programmes 
8 Implementation and amendment of approved capital programme 

9 Capital expenditure - accountability and performance 
10 Financial planning 

11 Annual budgets and financial plans 
12 Implementation and amendment of approved budgets and plans 
13 Accountability and performance 

14 Reviews 
15 Internal audit 

16 Internal control and check 
17 Financial irregularities 
18 Appointment of employees 

19 Redeployment or redundancy 
20 Personnel rules 

21 Property records and deeds 
22 Property acquisition, disposal and review 
23 Property management 

24 Information and communication technology 
25 Purchasing and income collection 

26 Inventories of assets 
27 Stocks and stores 
28 Pension fund investments 

29 Treasury management  
30 Risks and liabilities 

31 Insurance 

150



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 1 

 

Page 1/11 
 

Part 4F - Financial Procedure Rules 
 
 

RULE 1 

Application of Rules 
 

(a) These Rules set out the main financial management requirements of the 
County Council.  They state what these are and who is responsible for 
preparing, authorising and acting on them.  The Rules apply to the 

Executive and Committees and to officers of the County Council.  They 
also apply to any person acting on behalf of the County Council.  

Amendments to the Rules will be made by the County Council on the 
recommendations of the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 

(b) The Executive shall make arrangements for the proper administration of 
the financial affairs delegated to it.  The County Council or Corporate 

Governance Committee on its behalf, may make, amend or revoke the 
Standard Financial Instructions and the Executive will be responsible for 
ensuring that they are followed.  The Standard Financial Instructions will 

be proposed by the Chief Finance Officer and will not form part of these 
Rules.  The Standard Financial Instructions will cover the more detailed 

procedures required for the control of capital programme and revenue 
budgets, contracts, ordering, payments, imprest accounts, stocks and 
assets, income collection, banking, insurance and unofficial funds. 

 
(c) Where Special Rules are produced, on for example local management of 

schools, the financial arrangements should follow the requirements of 
those Special Rules and the Standard Financial Instructions. 

 

 
RULE 2 

Responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer 
 
(a) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the proper administration of 

the County Council's financial affairs under the requirements of Section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Section 114 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988. 
 
(b) Having informed both the Executive and Corporate Governance 

Committee, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the full County 
Council if in his or her opinion any significant failure in the proper 

administration of the Council's affairs is occurring. 
 
(c) To fulfil his or her statutory duty the Chief Finance Officer may issue 

Accounting Instructions to complement these Rules and the Standard 
Financial Instructions. 

 
(d) The Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for the provision of 

corporate budgeting and accounting systems, including the 

establishment of reserves and provisions. 

151



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 2 

 

Page 2/11 
 

 
(e) The Chief Finance Officer will provide guidance on the control of the 

delegation of budgets by chief officers. 
 

(f) In monitoring the application of these Rules and the Standard Financial 
Instructions, the Chief Finance Officer will identify (and propose) any 
amendments to them which would enable the County Council to take 

advantage of developments in electronic methods, provided that any 
such amendments would retain a degree of security which is similar to 

that provided by traditional paper-based systems.   
 
 

RULE 3 
Responsibility of chief officers 

 
(a) Chief officers of departments are responsible for the management of the 

resources made available to them by the County Council to achieve its 

objectives and to meet the Annual Plan.  When doing this they must act 
in accordance with these Rules and Standard Financial Instructions.  

They should also follow any financial requirements laid down in the 
Contract Procedure Rules and the General Scheme of Delegation to 
Heads of Departments.  Where responsibilities for management of 

resources are delegated, the chief officer should ensure that the 
authorised person is familiar with these Rules, the Contract Procedure 

Rules, the General Scheme of Delegation to Heads of Departments and 
the Standard Financial Instructions.  

 

(b) Chief officers should also make authorised persons aware of financial 
requirements contained in Acts and associated Parliamentary directives 

specific to the services for which they are responsible. 
 
(c) The chief officer when deciding to delegate authority to a representative 

should consider the duties of that representative in relation to the level of 
delegated authority.  He or she may choose to place financial limits on 

the authorisation levels allowed. 
 
(d) Chief officers shall consult and take into account financial advice given 

by the Chief Finance Officer including guidance on delegation of 
budgets.  They will also be responsible for providing financial information 

when requested by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
(e) Chief officers should ensure that corporate guidance is followed with 

respect to the governance and financial aspects of partnerships. 
 

(f) Chief officers must ensure that a financial control framework is in place 
for the operation of key partnerships. 

152



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 3 

 

Page 3/11 
 

RULE 4 
Application to subsidiary accounts 

 
These Rules and the Standard Financial Instructions will apply to all accounts 

maintained by the County Council including subsidiary accounts.  The 
Executive may make special arrangements, however, to take account of the 
different needs of such accounts. 

 
 

RULE 5 
Changes to service provision 

 

Where the Executive considers there may be a need to change the policy on 
provision or delivery of services, it shall consider a written report by the 

appropriate chief officer.  In this the chief officer will be required to set out the 
need for the change and the resources implications.  He or she will also be 
required to state whether the change is likely to involve a Key Decision.  The 

expected financial implications should include both part year and full year 
effects.  In addition, if material changes are expected to occur in the longer 

term a financial assessment of these should be included.  If necessary, the 
statutory authority to incur expenditure or raise income should also be 
included. 

 
 

RULE 6 
Changes in expenditure levels 

 

Any new or increased level of expenditure, whether capital or revenue, shall 
be properly authorised before any commitments are entered into.  Funding 

arrangements must be agreed in accordance with these Rules or the 
Standard Financial Procedures. 
 

 
RULE 7 

Capital programmes 
 
(a) Chief officers will prepare proposals for capital expenditure, in 

consultation with the relevant technical department, covering the 
categories and years and within any guidance and guidelines specified to 

them by the Executive.  These proposals will be in a form prescribed by 
the Chief Finance Officer and will include both the capital costs and an 
estimate of the full additional annual revenue implications.  The 

Executive will consider these. The Executive's proposals to the County 
Council will be subject to consultation with the Scrutiny Commission. 

 
(b) Inclusion of projects in a capital programme shall not override any 

requirement to obtain approval to new policies or changes in policies. 

 
 

153



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 4 

 

Page 4/11 
 

(c) When the full County Council has given its approval, and in accordance 
with Finance Procedure Rule 22 regarding property matters, capital 

expenditure included in the first year of the programme may commence 
without further approval unless this is required by Government 

Departments or other outside bodies.   
 

(d) Commencement before the planned programme year can be approved 
by the Chief Finance Officer provided he/she is satisfied that resources 

are available within the overall four year programme. 
 

RULE 8 

Implementation and amendment of approved capital programme 
 

(a) When the capital programme has been approved, the designated chief 
officer will be responsible for controlling expenditure on each project 
agreed. 

 
(b) Amendments to the capital programme, including their revenue 

implications, will be subject to the arrangements outlined in the Standard 
Financial Instructions.  This is unless they are deemed by the Chief 
Finance Officer to involve a Key Decision, in which case there may be a 

need for consultation with the Scrutiny Commission, approval by the 
Executive and possible further approval by the County Council. 

 
RULE 9 

Capital expenditure - accountability and performance 

 
The Executive will make arrangements through the Chief Finance Officer to 

control and monitor total capital spending.  The Executive and the Scrutiny 
Commission will receive financial statements.  The Chief Finance Officer will 
also report the final position to the Executive and the Scrutiny Commission. 

 
RULE 10 

Financial planning 
 
(a) The Executive may require that all chief officers prepare estimates within 

any specified guidelines of future expenditure and income to cover a 
stipulated time period.  The plans will be prepared in a form specified by 

the Chief Finance Officer.  The plans will be considered by the Executive 
and they will include such additional information and explanations as 
may be required by the Executive.  Where the Executive submits 

proposals to the full County Council, these will be subject to consultation 
with the Scrutiny Commission. 

 
(b) Where Government Departments and other bodies require submissions 

of estimates of expenditure and income in future years, these shall be in 

accordance with plans and policies approved by the full County Council 
or the Executive.  They must also comply with any guidance given by the 

full County Council or the Executive.  No new expenditure shall be 

154



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 5 

 

Page 5/11 
 

committed in advance of the approval of the annual budget unless this is 
agreed by the Executive. 

 
RULE 11 

Annual budgets and financial plans 
 
(a) The chief officer of a department will be responsible for preparing an 

annual revenue budget of expenditure and income.  The budget will be 
prepared following such guidance and within such limits as specified by 

the Executive or County Council.  The Chief Finance Officer will co-
ordinate the production of budgets and ensure they are prepared in a 
consistent manner.   

 
(b) The process by which the budget is eventually approved by the County 

Council is set out in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
(Part 4C). 

 

 
RULE 12 

Implementation and amendment of approved budgets and plans 
 

(a) When the annual budget has been approved the appropriate chief officer 

or governors will be responsible for ensuring expected income is 
received and budgeted expenditure is not exceeded. 

 
(b) The Executive will be responsible for maintaining a control over the total 

of County Council's revenue expenditure and income. 

 
(c) Amendments to the approved annual Budget will be subject to the 

virement arrangements specified in the Standard Financial Instructions.  
This is unless they are deemed by the Chief Finance Officer to involve a 
Key Decision, in which case there may be a need for consultation with 

the Scrutiny Commission, approval by the Executive and possible further 
approval by the County Council. 

  
RULE 13 

Accountability and performance 

 
(a) Procedures for the collection of income and making of payments against 

budgeted expenditure will be laid down in the Standard Financial 
Instructions. 

 

(b) Chief officers will be responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
arrangements are made, on a regular basis, to monitor performance 

against budgets and financial forecasts.  Any potential difficulties shall be 
reported in writing immediately to the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

(c) The Executive will receive regular budget monitoring reports from the 
Chief Finance Officer and will monitor overall performance.   

 

155



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 6 

 

Page 6/11 
 

(d) The Chief Finance Officer will co-ordinate the production of final 
accounts and ensure they are produced in a consistent manner.  The 

Chief Finance Officer will prepare a summary of the final accounts for 
approval by the Executive and consideration by the Scrutiny 

Commission.  The Statements of Accounts will be approved by the 
Constitution Committee. 

 

 
RULE 14 

Reviews 
 
(a) Chief officers are responsible for undertaking regular reviews of services 

under their control.  In particular, consideration should be given to actual 
performance against approved targets for the service and the 

requirements of Best Value.   
 
(b) When undertaking reviews chief officers will need to take into account 

guidance provided by the Chief Executive in his or her capacity of review 
co-ordinator. 

 
(c) The Executive may require chief officers to report on the performance of 

any aspect of the services within their area of responsibility.  In addition it 

may require them to provide explanations on performance indicators and 
other related information published by the Government or the National 

Audit Office. 
 
(d) The Scrutiny Commission or the other overview and scrutiny committees 

may require chief officers (and where specifically required Executive 
members) to report on the performance of any aspect of the services 

within their area of responsibility.  This would include the results of 
comparative performance and value for money studies.  The extent of 
the review will be bound by the terms of reference and the rules relating 

to the committee. 
 

RULE 15 
Internal audit 

 

(a) Responsibility for arranging a continuous internal audit of the County 
Council's financial management arrangements will be delegated by 

members of the County Council to the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
(b) The Chief Finance Officer or an authorised representative has authority 

to:- 
 

(i)   enter any Council building or land at all reasonable times; 
(ii)  have access to all records, documents and correspondence 

relating to any transactions of the Council; 

(iii) receive such explanations as he or she considers necessary on 
any matter under examination; and 

156



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 7 

 

Page 7/11 
 

(iv)  require any employee of the Council to produce cash, stores or 
any other Council property under his or her control. 

 
(c) Chief officers (or where appropriate the Executive) will be responsible for 

considering and taking appropriate action on matters drawn to their 
attention by audit reports. 

 

 
RULE 16 

Internal control and check 
 
The duties of staff concerned with financial transactions should, as far as is 

practicable, be distributed with regard to the principles of internal control and 
check.  Chief officers and governors should consult the Chief Finance Officer 

(or his or her authorised representative) when this is not considered 
practicable or when changes to financial arrangements are being proposed so 
that the Chief Finance Officer or his or her authorised representative can 

ensure proper financial systems will still be in place. 
 

 
RULE 17 

Financial irregularities 

 
The Chief Finance Officer and the Director of Law and Governance shall be 

notified immediately by chief officers and governors of any financial 
irregularities, or of any circumstances which may suggest the possibility of an 
irregularity, affecting any asset of the County Council. 

 
 

RULE 18 
Appointment of employees 

 

Proposals made by chief officers and governors to appoint employees or alter 
grades need to take into account both current and future years funding and 

potential termination costs, where the proposals relate to a fixed time scale. 
 

 

RULE 19 
Redeployment or redundancy 

 
(a) The Chief Finance Officer will present an Organisational Change report 

to the Employment Committee on a quarterly basis which provides 

information on the number of redundancies. 
 

(b) When preparing an Action Plan, the chief officer will have due regard to 
the requirements of the County Council's Organisational Change Policy.  
Chief officers shall consult the Chief Finance Officer over the funding 

arrangements for the Action Plan proposals.   
 

157



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 8 

 

Page 8/11 
 

RULE 20 
Personnel rules 

 
Chief officers and governors must abide by any rules approved by the 

Executive or a chief officer under powers delegated to him or her, which are 
mandatory to the service. 
 

 
RULE 21 

Property records and deeds 
 
(a) A terrier of all land, buildings and interests owned by the County Council 

will be maintained by the Chief Finance Officer in a form approved by the 
Director of Law and Governance. 

 
(b) The Director of Law and Governance will be responsible for the custody 

of all title deeds. 

 
 

RULE 22 
Property acquisition, development, disposal and review 

 

(a) The Executive will be responsible for acquisition, disposal and allocation 
of land and buildings as requested by the Chief Finance Officer, following 

consultation with departments. 
 
(b) The Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for a continuing review both 

of the purpose for and the efficient utilisation of all land and buildings 
owned or used by the County Council.  He or she will provide regular 

reports on these subjects to the Executive. 
 
(c) The Chief Finance Officer will regulate the administration of the 

purchase, lease, disposal, management and repair and maintenance of 
land and buildings. 

 
 

RULE 23 

Property management 
 

(a) Chief officers and governors will undertake the responsibilities of a 
tenant for the properties they use, unless specifically agreed otherwise 
with the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
(b) They shall take advice from the Chief Finance Officer on leasing, letting 

and changes in use of property.  They should also take advice from him 
or her on maintenance and property management.  It is important that 
special attention is given to compliance with Fire Certificates and Health 

and Safety Regulations. 
 

158



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 9 

 

Page 9/11 
 

(c) The Chief Finance Officer will act as the landlord for County Council 
properties.  In addition where buildings have joint use he or she may also 

undertake some of the responsibilities of the tenant. 
 

 
RULE 24 

Information and communication technology  

 
(a)   Corporate Strategy Chief officers and governors will comply with the 

relevant sections of the Corporate Information and Technology Strategy.  
The I&T Service should be consulted on any proposed purchase of 
systems or any major changes to existing systems and/or IT equipment. 

I&T will provide specialist advice, including technical standards and 
specifications that apply and will ensure satisfactory links with other 

systems where appropriate. 
 
(b)   System Developments and Amendments Where developments of or 

material amendments to systems take place that affect financial 
procedures, then chief officers and governors shall inform the Chief 

Finance Officer.  The Chief Finance Officer or his or her authorised 
representative will stipulate the standards of control required. 

 

(c) Control and Security Chief officers and governors are responsible for 
the overall management and control of their own computer systems.  

Departmental Information Asset Owners are responsible for the security 
and privacy of data held by the system.  Where central and other users' 
systems are accessed, they are responsible for ensuring agreed controls 

are complied with.  Instructions on how to carry out these responsibilities 
are included in the Information and Data Governance Policy and the I&T 

Strategy. 
 

RULE 25 

Purchasing and income collection 
 

Purchasing and collection officers must follow the requirements laid down in 
these Rules, the Contract Procedure Rules, the Standard Financial 
Instructions, the General Scheme of Delegation to Heads of Departments, and 

any specific delegated powers of Heads of Departments. 
 

 
 

RULE 26 

Inventories of assets 
 

(a) Chief officers and governors will be responsible for the safe keeping and 
condition of County Council assets under their control.  They will also 
maintain an up to date inventory.  The Chief Finance Officer will issue 

instructions on which assets should be included in these. 
 

159



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 10 

 

Page 10/11 
 

(b) The Corporate Governance Committee will have power to make 
Standard Financial Instructions on the checking, usage and disposal of 

assets. 
 

 
RULE 27 

Stocks and stores 

 
(a) Chief officers and governors will be responsible for the custody and 

physical condition of the stocks and stores under their control.  The 
levels of stocks shall not exceed reasonable requirements. 

 

(b) The Corporate Governance Committee will have power to make 
Standard Financial Instructions on the control, checking, valuation and 

disposal of stocks. 
 
 

RULE 28 
Pension fund investments 

 
(a) Purchase and sales of investments will be made by the Local Pension 

Committee's authorised representatives in accordance with the policies 

approved by the Local Pension Committee.  The Committee may call 
upon both internal and external advisers to assist it in formulating and 

implementing these policies. 
 
(b) Securities relating to Pension Fund investments will be held by 

representatives of the Local Pension Committee.  In circumstances 
where it is impractical or not legally possible for the investments to be 

held in the name of the County Council, the investments will be 
registered in the name of, and held by, a nominee company. 

 

(c) The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to sign contracts such as 
investment management agreements and custody agreements, in order 

that the investment and administration of Pension Fund monies can be 
carried out efficiently and in line with the policies approved by the Local 
Pension Committee. 

 
 

 
RULE 29 

Treasury management 

 
(a) The County Council in making decisions on borrowing and lending will 

have due regard to the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management in Local Authorities. 

 

(b) A Treasury Policy Statement setting out strategy and procedures shall be 
adopted by the Executive. 

 

160



Part 4F 
Financial Procedure Rules  

Page 11 

 

Page 11/11 
 

(c) The Chief Finance Officer when exercising powers delegated to him or 
her will have due regard to the requirements of the CIPFA Code of 

Practice and CIPFA's Guide for Chief Financial Officers. 
 

(d) The Chief Finance Officer will provide the Executive with an annual 
report on the Treasury Management operation, which will enable the 
Executive to monitor the implementation of the approved policy. 

 
(e) The Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for the borrowing and 

repayment of money on behalf of the County Council. 
 
(f) The Chief Finance Officer shall be consulted prior to entering into any 

leases. 
 

(g) Before the responsible officer enters into a leasing agreement a full 
understanding of the commitment that is being made on behalf of the 
Council is essential.  The Chief Finance Officer and Director of Law and 

Governance should be consulted if further advice is required. 
 

(h) The leasing of an asset may relate to the award of a specific contract.  
Where this is the case the Chief Financial Officer shall be consulted prior 
to the award of the contract. 

 
(i) The Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for the investment of 

surplus funds. 
 
 

RULE 30 
Risks and liabilities 

 
Chief officers and governors should have due regard to operational and 
financial risks and liabilities when considering alternative policies.  They also 

need to consider potential physical risks to persons and assets.  In doing so 
they need to follow the risk management strategy. 

 
 
 

RULE 31 
Insurance 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for arranging or amending 
insurance cover.  This will be in accordance with policies laid down by the 

Executive. 
 

 
 

[end of Financial Procedure Rules] 

 

161



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 1 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 1 

Standard Financial Instructions 
 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
 
[Note: the following Standard Financial Instructions were formally approved by 
the County Council when adopting this Constitution for the first time.  Future 

amendments to these Instructions will be made either by the full Council or 
Corporate Governance Committee under the authority given by Rule 1(b) of 

the Financial Procedure Rules.  Although, unlike the Constitution itself, these 
Instructions do not require formal approval of the County Council, they are 
nevertheless included here for the sake of completeness and will be updated 

as necessary, to reflect any amendments made.] 
 

 
Contents 

 

1 Capital - expenditure in excess of approved amount 
2 Changes to the Capital Programme 

3 Grants and external funding 
4 Revenue - virement 
5 Revenue - supplementary estimates 

6 Revenue – carry forward of over or underspendings 
7 Contracts 

8 Orders for work, goods and services 
9 Payments of invoices and claims 
10 Imprest accounts and Procurement Cards 

11 Stocktaking and consequential action 
12 Inventories and consequential action 

13 Income records and grant claims 
14 Write-offs 
15 Review of charges 

16 Banking arrangements 
17 Salaries, wages and pensions 

18 Insurance of risks 
18A Litigation and Disputes Resolution 
19 Security of assets 

20 Unofficial funds 
21 Private property 

22 Schools and Fair Funding Regulations 

162



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 2 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 2 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
(made under Rule 1(b) of the Financial Procedure Rules) 

 
INSTRUCTION 1 

Capital - expenditure in excess of approved amount 
 

(a) Where a specific approval given in the capital programme is likely to be 
exceeded the appropriate Chief Officer will consult with the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 
(b) The Chief Finance Officer may approve increases in expenditure where 

compensating savings are being made or funding is available and there is 
no change in policy.  In any particular instance, the Chief Finance Officer 
may decline to give approval and instead refer the proposal to the 

Executive. No additional expenditure should be committed prior to the 
appropriate approval. 

 
 

INSTRUCTION 2 

Changes to the Capital Programme 
 

The Chief Finance Officer may approve requests to add or amend schemes 
within the capital programme, providing that they are totally funded, there is 
no overall increase in future revenue costs, there is no change in overall 

policy and subject to reporting any changes to the Executive and Scrutiny as 
part of the next MTFS monitoring report. In any particular instance, the Chief 

Finance Officer may decline to give approval and instead refer the proposal to 
the Executive. 
 

INSTRUCTION 3 
Grants and External Funding 

 
Unless already included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) bids 
for external funding must be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer.  He can 

approve bids where there is no additional one off or ongoing costs to the 
Authority for which there is no budget, capital programme or other provision. 

 
Approval must be obtained from the Chief Finance Officer to any contingent 
liabilities for repayment should any conditions not be met, with any associated 

agreement being made with the approval of the Director of Law and 
Governance. 

 
In other cases the approval of the Executive is required. 
 

 
 

 

163



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 3 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 3 

INSTRUCTION 4 
Revenue – virement 

 

(a) In order to maintain effective and responsive services to meet the needs of 
the people of the County it is acknowledged that spending on individual 

budget heads may vary from the approved budget.  This is permissible 
(subject to (b) and (c) below) so long as the total departmental budget is 
not exceeded. 

 
(b) Virement (either between individual lines or sections of the approved 

budget) is allowed except where it would involve:- 
 

i. a change in an existing policy; 

ii. a reduction in service; 
iii. on-going net costs which might not be containable;  

iv. funding which has been included in that year's budget for service 
improvements above the limit of £20,000 or 5%, whichever is the 
greater. 

v.  the situation where the overall Council budget is forecast to be 
overspent. 

 
The above will require the prior approval of the Executive, may constitute a 
Key Decision and may require the approval of the County Council.  The 

Executive may consult the Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission if it 
considers that the nature of the proposal is such that the views of an 

overview and scrutiny committee should be canvassed. 
 
(c) Before submitting a virement proposal which falls under (b) above to the 

Executive for approval, the chief officer shall consult the Chief Finance 
Officer and shall include in his or her report to the Executive the 

justification for the change in priorities and any comments of the Chief 
Finance Officer.  If the expenditure proposal is for longer than the current 
financial year, the chief officer must demonstrate that the proposed 

corresponding saving will also be continuing.  This change will then be 
built into the ongoing budget. 

 
(d) Member approval is not required where a budget will continue to be used 

for the approved purpose but is being moved, for example, to reflect a 

change in budget holder responsibilities. Such transfers will however 
require the approval of the relevant Finance Business Partner(s). 

 
(e) Regular budget monitoring reports shall be made to the Executive and 

Scrutiny Commission identifying the main variations in expenditure in order 

that virement can be questioned as appropriate. 
 

 
 

164



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 4 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 4 

INSTRUCTION 5 
Revenue - supplementary estimates 

 

(a) A supplementary estimate approval means that not only do individual 
budget approvals increase, but the total approved departmental budget 

increases.  Requests must be approved by the Executive and may 
constitute a key decision.  The Chief Finance Officer must be consulted 
before a report written by the chief officer is submitted to the Executive. 

 
(b) Requests should result only from new legislation or other unforeseen and 

exceptional circumstances.  Chief officers would be expected to show 
virement is not available to fund the proposal.  Supplementary estimates 
may be approved but budget adjustments deferred whilst it becomes 

clearer whether costs can be met from elsewhere within the relevant 
budget. 

 
(c) No expenditure should be committed prior to Executive approval. 
 

 
INSTRUCTION 6 

Revenue – carry forward of over or underspendings 
 

(a) The Executive may authorise adjustments in a department's current 

year's budgets for underspendings or overspendings incurred in the 
previous financial year. 

 
(b) The Chief Finance Officer may agree the carry forward of an 

underspending on all budgets subject to any guidelines laid down by the 

Executive.  He or she may do this only when the total departmental 
budget is underspent by more than the requested carry forward. 

 
(c) Within an approved budget line special rules may apply to carrying 

forward over or underspendings.  An example of these is local 

management of schools.  The relevant Guidance Manuals will include 
the limits on types of carry forwards. 

 
[Note on Guidelines:  The Cabinet at its meeting on 27 June 2006 agreed that 
the Chief Finance Officer should be allowed to approve carry forwards where 

the money is to be spent for the purpose for which it was originally allocated in 
the budget.  Where the carry forward is to be used for a different purpose (i.e. 

effectively comprising virement) the Chief Finance Officer should be allowed 
to approve items up to £100,000 with the following exceptions, where Cabinet 
approval is required:- 

 
Where a carry forward would result in an overspending position on the 

department's budget 
Where a carry forward would represent a change in existing policy 
Where ongoing costs might result. 

 

165



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 5 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 5 

INSTRUCTION 7 
Contracts 

 

(a) All contracts should be dealt with in accordance with the Contract 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4G of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
 

Capital Contracts 

 
(b) The appropriate chief officer will be responsible for the maintenance of 

all financial as well as technical records for contracts of a capital nature. 
 
(c) Where building, construction or other capital contracts provide for 

payment to be made by instalments on the certificate issued by an 
authorised officer, the records must show the state of account on each 

contract between the County Council and the contractor together with 
other payments and related professional fees. 

 

(d) Payments to contractors in respect of all contracts must be authorised 
only by a certificate signed by the person made responsible by the 

contract for issuing such certificates (i.e. “the Certifying Officer” or 
authorised deputy).  In the case of Private Architects, Quantity 
Surveyors, Engineers or Consultants, certificates must be countersigned 

as to validity by the appropriate chief officer who appointed them.  The 
form of the certificate must be agreed by the Chief Finance Officer.  The 

Certifying Officer will be responsible for the correct certification of all 
aspects of contract payments and for ensuring the correct completion of 
all associated contract documentation. 

 
(e) The Certifying Officer will ensure that all contract documentation is 

properly completed before the contractor’s final account is paid. 
 
(f) Prior to issue of final certificates the Chief Finance Officer will, to the 

extent he or she considers necessary, audit accounts for contracts.  He 
or she will be entitled to make all such enquiries and receive such 

information and explanations as he or she may require in order to satisfy 
himself or herself as to the accuracy of the accounts. 

 

(g) Chief officers should actively try to promote an agreement with 
contractors on outstanding issues, where work was completed over two 

years ago. 
 
(h) Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the terms 

of any existing contract must be referred to the Director of Law and 
Governance for consideration of the Council's legal liability before a 

settlement is reached.  The Chief Finance Officer must also be informed 
of the amount of such claims before final settlement to enable him or her 
to consider the financial implications. 

 

166



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 6 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 6 

(i) Where completion of a contract is delayed beyond the due date for 
completion by more than one-sixth of the contract period, it will be the 
duty of the responsible officer under the contract, after consultation with 

the Director of Law and Governance and spending department, to take 
appropriate action in respect of any claim for liquidated damages.  The 

responsible officer may decide that liquidated damages should not be 
applied.  This should be reported to the Executive subject to any 
guidelines set down by the Executive. 

 
Professional Fees 

 
(j) Where staff are not charged to projects on a fee basis, the appropriate 

chief officers will supply the Chief Finance Officer with details of the cost 

of staff and private consultants employed on capital work. 
 

(k) In all cases an agreement with a private firm or individual shall require 
them to comply with the Contract Procedure Rules (Part 4G) and to give 
the same facilities to the Chief Finance Officer as required of chief 

officers of the Council by its instructions and procedures. 
 

(l) Where private consultants are to supervise work, the contracting chief 
officer is responsible for ensuring that he or she receives regular written 
reports covering the physical and financial progress of that work and for 

taking any appropriate action on the basis of progress reports. 
 

 
INSTRUCTION 8 

Orders for work, goods and services 

 
(a) Orders for work, goods and services must not be placed unless the 

expenditure to be incurred is in accordance with the Financial Procedure 
Rules and these Instructions. 

 

(b) Orders on official forms must be issued for all work, goods and services to 
be supplied to the County Council, except for supplies of public utility 

services such as gas, electricity and water, for periodical payments such 
as rent and rates, for petty cash purchases for Procurement Card and e-
procurement transactions allowed under the scheme approved by the 

Chief Finance Officer, or for such other exceptions as the Chief Finance 
Officer may approve. 

 
(c) Where urgent orders are given orally they must be confirmed by a written 

official order not later than the next working day following the day in which 

the oral order is given.  Confirmation orders should be clearly marked as 
confirmation only.   

 
(d) Some agreements or contracts for goods or services provide for payment 

by instalments.  To show the state of the accounts of each such 

167



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 7 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 7 

agreement or contract, the appropriate chief officer will ensure such 
records are maintained in a manner agreed with the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

(e) Official order forms will be supplied by the Chief Finance Officer unless he 
or she has agreed in particular cases to the use of other forms for specific 

classes of transaction.  Orders must be authorised only by officers 
designated by the appropriate chief officer who will maintain a list of 
officers authorised to sign on his or her behalf.  Before placing an order 

the certifying officer must satisfy himself or herself that this would be 
proper expenditure and would be within the appropriate approved 

estimate.  To provide segregation of duties at as early a stage as 
possible, it is recommended that a second officer should be responsible 
for making out the order. 

 
(f) The chief officer of each department will be responsible for ensuring the 

validity of all orders issued, the control and safe custody of all official 
order books issued to him or her, and obtaining alternative quotations or 
tenders as required before orders are placed.  He or she will also be 

responsible for ensuring that the expenditure being incurred can be met 
from the approved estimates. 

 
(g) Departments must obtain goods, works or services in a manner and from 

sources which demonstrate best value for money.  In the case of goods 

this will usually mean obtaining supplies through ESPO unless cheaper 
alternatives of comparable quality are available and ESPO are unable to 

match these terms. 
 
 

INSTRUCTION 9 
Payments of invoices and claims 

 
(a) Invoices should be on suppliers’ printed forms except where alternative 

arrangements have been agreed by the Chief Finance Officer.  The Chief 

Finance Officer is authorised to make all payments as they become due 
out of the General County Fund, its subsidiary accounts, and the Pension 

Fund.  The system within spending departments should ensure that 
expenditure has been certified by an officer authorised by the chief officer. 

 

(b) Invoices should be on suppliers’ official forms, printed or electronic. These 
and internal claims for payment shall be checked and certified in the 

appropriate departments and establishments in accordance with 
arrangements agreed with the Chief Finance Officer before payment is 
made. 

 
(c) The chief officers will ensure that a list of officers authorised to certify 

accounts is maintained.  The verification and certification of accounts must 
be in accordance with instructions issued by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

 

168



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 8 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 8 

(d) Before certifying an invoice or claim the certifying officer must satisfy 
himself or herself that it is allocated to the correct expenditure head. 

 

(e) The Chief Finance Officer will examine, so far as he or she considers 
necessary, invoices and claims passed for payment and he or she will be 

entitled to receive such information and explanations as he or she may 
require.  For this purpose all books and documents relating to the payment 
must be placed at his or her disposal. 

 
(f) For purchases made through iProcurement the duties of ordering and 

receiving goods and services, and certifying invoices and claims for 
payments, may by exception be performed by one and the same officer 
under the scheme approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
(g) All claims for the payment of vehicle and subsistence allowances, 

travelling and incidental expenses must be certified and submitted to the 
Chief Finance Officer.  These will be on a form approved by him or her, 
unless alternative arrangements have been agreed by him or her.  Claims 

must be submitted promptly each month for the preceding month.  Travel 
and subsistence claims which are for a period over 3 months old will not 

be paid unless there are extenuating circumstances. 
 
(h) Where the Chief Finance Officer considers it appropriate he or she will call 

the attention of the chief officer and, if necessary, the Executive to any 
item which has been passed for payment.  He or she will also report to the 

Executive on any such item which he or she considers for any good 
reason should not be paid. 

 

(i) Schools operating under Local Management are subject to specific 
regulations.  These are contained in the LMS Scheme of Delegation. 

 
 

INSTRUCTION 10 

Imprest accounts and Procurement Cards  
 

(a) The Chief Finance Officer may in consultation with the appropriate chief 
officer, provide imprest accounts where necessary for defraying petty 
cash and other minor expenses.  Persons responsible must maintain a 

record of their receipts and payments in the form and manner prescribed 
by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
(b) The Chief Finance Officer may in consultation with the appropriate Chief 

Officer, provide Procurement Cards (pCards) where the type of spend or 

the practicalities preclude the purchaser from using the Council’s usual 
ordering and invoicing processes in an efficient way.  Persons responsible 

must ensure the pCards are only used in accordance with the Council’s 
scheme, have consideration of the Contract Procedure Rules where 
appropriate, be for the approved purposes of the department and maintain  

appropriate records. 

169



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 9 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 9 

 
(c) The Chief Finance Officer may issue instructions as to the type and level 

of expenditure which should be met out of the imprest account or with 

pCards.  Such expenditure must be supported by receipted vouchers to 
the extent that the Chief Finance Officer may require. 

 
(d) The holder of the pCard will be responsible for all transactions performed 

with their assigned card and must support the scheme administrators in 

the resolution of queried transactions.  The card holder is additionally 
responsible for providing supplementary information required under the 

scheme to support VAT claims and updates to the Council’s financial 
systems.  Chief Officers are required to ensure monitoring is in place to 
verify that pCards within their department are used in accordance with the 

Council’s scheme. 
 

(e) An official subsidiary bank account will be opened by the Chief Finance 
Officer in cases where he or she considers this to be necessary.  Where 
such a bank account is opened in no circumstances will an overdraft be 

allowed. 
 

(f) Chief officers must arrange for the Chief Finance Officer or his or her 
authorised representative to be notified as early as possible whenever a 
person holding an imprest account ceases to be responsible for the 

account.  The name of the new holder will be similarly notified when this is 
known.  Equally the Chief Finance Officer must be notified when a pCard 

holder leaves the Council or transfers between cost centres to allow 
withdrawal or amendment of the pCard as appropriate. 

 

(g) No income received on behalf of the Council, other than the 
reimbursement received from the Chief Finance Officer, may be paid into 

an imprest account without prior consent of the Chief Finance Officer.  
Income must be banked separately or paid to the County Council as 
described elsewhere in these procedures. 

 
(h) pCards and imprest accounts are provided to allow officers to carry out 

their Council duties in a more efficient manner and are not provided for 
personal use.  Specifically postal orders or personal or other cheques 
must not be cashed from monies held in an imprest account.  Personal 

loans must not be made from such accounts, nor should loans be made to 
unofficial funds.  Any accidental use must be reported to the Budget 

Holder and Chief Finance Officer as soon as it is discovered and LCC 
reimbursed. 

 

(i) Reimbursement of monies spent should be made by the Chief Finance 
Officer, except where he or she agrees to provide payments on account.  

In all cases imprest accounts will be made up to 31 March each year, 
subject to any exceptions agreed by the Chief Finance Officer.  The Chief 
Finance Officer will determine the method of payment to settle the 

outstanding balances on pCards. 

170



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 10 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 10 

INSTRUCTION 11 
Stocktaking and consequential action 

 

(a) Stocks and stores records must be kept in such cases and in a form as 
may be agreed by the chief officer or his or her authorised representative 

with the Chief Finance Officer.  There must be a complete independent 
stocktaking i.e. not carried out by the storekeeper or his or her staff, at 
least once in every financial year.  The exception to this is where 

continuous stocktaking arrangements, agreed with the Chief Finance 
Officer, are operating.  Test checks will also be made from time to time. 

 
(b) The value of stocks held at 31 March each year must be certified by the 

appropriate chief officer or his or her authorised representative and 

supplied to the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

(c) Surpluses or deficiencies revealed during any one stocktaking can be 
adjusted up to a net book value of £1,000 on the authority of the relevant 
chief officer or his or her authorised representative.  Above this amount 

surpluses or deficiencies must be reported to the Chief Finance Officer 
who can approve write-offs or adjustments.  The Chief Finance Officer will 

have the right to report any write-off or adjustment to the Executive if he or 
she considers this appropriate. 

 

(d) Surplus or obsolete items of stocks and stores up to a total book value of 
£1,000 at any one time may be disposed of by a chief officer or his or her 

authorised representative.  Where the book value is over this figure but 
the resale value is considered to be below this, the chief officer should 
arrange for a suitably qualified second person to give a written 

confirmation of the valuation prior to disposal.  Where the estimated 
resale value is above £1,000, the agreement of the Chief Finance Officer 

is necessary and, wherever appropriate, disposal will be by competitive 
quotation or tender.  A record should be kept of all details relating to 
disposals. 

 
 

INSTRUCTION 12 
Inventories and consequential action 

 

(a) Items costing over £250 should be included on an inventory.  Additionally, 
lower value attractive and portable items should be included, subject to a 

minimum value of £50.  All inventories will be kept in a form approved by 
the Chief Finance Officer.  Where a computerised inventory is being 
proposed, its method of operation should conform to standards set down 

by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

(b) Each chief officer will be responsible for ensuring that an annual check of 
all items on the inventory is carried out and for taking action after 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer in relation to any surpluses or 

deficiencies and noting the inventory accordingly.  Deficiencies due to 

171



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 11 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 11 

irregularity should be reported to Executive, if the Chief Finance Officer 
considers this appropriate. 

 

(c) The Chief Finance Officer or his or her representative may at all 
reasonable times have access to all property of the Council and may 

make such checks and tests as he or she deems reasonable. 
 
(d) The Council's property must not be removed from County Council 

premises except in the ordinary course of the Council's business, or used 
otherwise than for the Council's purposes except in accordance with 

specific directions issued by the chief officer or his or her authorised 
representative and agreed by the Chief Finance Officer.  A record of such 
removals will be maintained at the establishment concerned. 

 
(e) Surplus or obsolete items of any one commodity up to a total book value 

at any one time of £1,000 may be disposed of by a chief officer or his or 
her authorised representative.  Where the book value is over this figure 
but the resale value is considered to be below this, the chief officer should 

arrange for a suitably qualified second person to give a written 
confirmation of the valuation prior to disposal.  Where the estimated 

resale value is above £1,000, the agreement of the Chief Finance Officer 
is necessary and whenever appropriate disposal will be by competitive 
quotation or tender.  A record should be kept of all details relating to 

disposals. 
 

(f) Chief officers or their authorised representatives should follow standard 
corporate procedures for the redistribution, sale or disposal of surplus 
items of computer and ICT equipment.  These procedures will be 

prepared by the Head of ICT, with the agreement of the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 
INSTRUCTION 13 

Income records and grant claims 

 
(a) The collection of all monies due to the Council, including income from 

trading activities, should be under the control of the Chief Finance Officer.  
He or she will require that all monies due are promptly recorded, are 
collected in accordance with an approved collection strategy and all 

monies are promptly banked. 
 

(b) The records kept by each department relating to income will be in such 
form as may be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

(c) All official receipt forms, receipt books, tickets and other documents of a 
similar nature will be ordered, controlled by, and issued by the Chief 

Finance Officer unless he or she has agreed alternative arrangements.  
Every issue of any such document should be authorised by the chief 
officer of the department concerned or his or her nominated officer and 

acknowledged by the signature of the employee receiving the document. 

172



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 12 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 12 

 
(d) No employee or agent shall give a receipt for money received on behalf of 

the Council on any form other than an official receipt form. 

 
(e) Chief officers of departments will designate and maintain a list of 

employees as accounting officers for the purpose of receiving monies due 
to the Council.  These employees must maintain a record of their receipts 
and bankings in the form and manner prescribed by the Chief Finance 

Officer.  The Chief Finance Officer will issue instructions regarding the 
frequency of deposit either with himself or herself or by payment into a 

bank account or Giro Bank. 
 
(f) Each officer paying money into a bank account of the County Council 

must show on the paying slip the amount of each cheque paid in and 
sufficient information to identify the individual transaction, e.g. receipt 

number, name of debtor. 
 
(g) Monies received by an accounting officer will be banked intact and must 

not be used to meet expenditure or to cash postal orders or personal or 
other cheques. 

 
(h) Chief officers should ensure that all grants and external funding income is 

promptly claimed and proper records and working papers are retained to 

justify claims. 
 

 
INSTRUCTION 14 

Write-offs 

 
(a) An amount due to the County Council must only be discharged by 

payment or by write-off in accordance with the following system.   
 
(b) Amounts up to £10,000 in any one case may be written-off by the Chief 

Finance Officer with the agreement of the chief officer of the department 
concerned.  In special categories of write-offs, such as library issues, the 

Chief Finance Officer may authorise chief officers or nominated officers to 
write-off debts on his or her behalf.   

 

(c) Amounts over £10,000 in any one case may be written off by the Chief 
Finance Officer after consultation with the Leader or his nominee except 

that, in the case of debts of organisations in liquidation, receivership or 
bankruptcy where the Director of Law and Governance advises there is no 
reasonable prospect of recovering any monies or debts partially recovered 

by means of an out of court settlement where the Director of Law and 
Governance advises there is no reasonable prospect of recovering any 

further monies, these may be written off directly by the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 

173



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 13 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 13 

(d) The Chief Finance Officer will have the right to report any write-off to the 
Executive if he considers this appropriate. 

 

 
INSTRUCTION 15 

Review of charges 
 
(a) The Chief Officer of each department shall ensure that all charges for 

County Council services are reviewed at least annually at the time of the 
preparation of the budget.  Rents should be reviewed at least triennially 

unless they are subject to any longer review period under the terms of the 
rental agreement. 

 

(b) Chief Officers will be free to decide on the pricing of discretionary 
services, i.e. traded services, though they must seek to cover all costs, 

including overheads, and where appropriate to make a profit, on all such 
activity.  Where services are supplied within the County Council, any 
charges should not, as a matter of principle, seek to make a profit. 

 
(c) Charges for Statutory Services - where it is proposed to introduce, revise, 

or discontinue charges for statutory services, the Chief Finance Officer 
should be consulted before the proposal is progressed.  Changes may be 
approved by the Chief Officer concerned following consultation with the 

Chief Finance Officer and appropriate Executive Lead Members. 
 

 
 

INSTRUCTION 16 

Banking arrangements 
 

(a) Arrangements with regard to the County Council's bank accounts, 
including Giro Bank accounts, will be made by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

(b) Cheques, except those used by imprest accounts, will be ordered and 
controlled by the Chief Finance Officer who will make proper 

arrangements for the safe custody of blank cheques and the preparation, 
signing and despatch of cheques. 

 

(c) All County Council bank accounts, including imprest accounts, must 
include "Leicestershire County Council" in their titles and in no 

circumstances must an account be opened in the name of an individual or 
individual establishment.  Special arrangements may be made by schools 
under specific legislation. 

 
(d) Cheques drawn will bear the pre-printed signature of the Chief Finance 

Officer, or be signed by the Chief Finance Officer, or by an employee duly 
authorised by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

174



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 14 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 14 

(e) Schools that operate the Extended Bank Account Scheme are subject to 
specific regulations.  These are contained within that Scheme's manual 
for guidance. 

 
 

 
INSTRUCTION 17 

Salaries, wages and pensions 

 
(a) The payment of all salaries, wages, pensions, compensation and other 

emoluments will be made by the Chief Finance Officer or under 
arrangements approved and controlled by him or her. 

 

(b) Chief officers will arrange for the Chief Finance Officer to be notified as 
early as possible, and in the form prescribed by him or her, of all matters 

affecting the payment of items referred to paragraph (a) above and in 
particular: 

 

(i) appointments, resignations, dismissals, suspensions, 
secondments and transfers; 

(ii) absences from duty for sickness or other reason, apart from 
approved leave; 

(iii) changes in remuneration, other than normal increments and pay 

awards and agreements generally applied; and 
(iv) information necessary to maintain records of service for 

superannuation, income tax and national insurance. 
 
(c) Tax, pension, national insurance and all other deductions from pay and 

related matters must be recorded and controlled in such a manner as 
determined by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
(d) All time records or other documents relating to salaries and wages will be 

in a form prescribed or approved by the Chief Finance Officer and shall be 

checked and authorised in appropriate establishments or departments.  
They should be signed by or on behalf of the Chief Officer.  The Chief 

Finance Officer will make information available regarding employees’ pay 
details to establishments/departments to provide a means of verifying the 
accuracy of the pay records. 

 
(e) Advice should be sought from the Chief Finance Officer on proposed 

payments to non-staff members which may require the County Council to 
deduct tax. 

 

 
INSTRUCTION 18 

Insurance of risks 
 
(a) Chief Officers will ensure, following consultation with the Chief Finance 

Officer and Director of Law and Governance, that the Executive is advised 

175



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 15 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 15 

at key stages in the process of any litigation or disputes resolution where 
the County Council is at risk of paying significant damages or costs. 

 

(b) Chief officers will arrange that the Chief Finance Officer is notified 
immediately in writing of any fire, loss, liability or damage, or any event 

likely to lead to a claim. 
 
(c) Chief officers must obtain the prior approval of the Chief Finance Officer 

and the Director of Law and Governance to the terms of any indemnity 
which the County Council is requested to give. 

 
(d) A chief officer may, at his or her own discretion, arrange to provide 

insurance cover against risks not normally covered by the County Council 

as a whole.  Such cover must be arranged via the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

 
INSTRUCTION 19 
Security of assets 

 
(a) Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that arrangements are made 

for maintaining proper security at all times for buildings, stocks and stores, 
vehicles, furniture, equipment, cash, etc. under his or her control.  He or 
she will consult the Chief Finance Officer in any case where security is 

thought to be defective or where it is considered that special security 
arrangements may be needed. 

 
(b) Maximum limits for cash holdings will be agreed with the Chief Finance 

Officer and must not be exceeded without his or her express permission. 

 
(c) Safes must be kept locked and the key removed.  The chief officer 

concerned must ensure that arrangements are made for the safe custody 
of keys to safes and similar receptacles.  The loss of any such keys must 
be reported to the Chief Finance Officer immediately. 

 
 

INSTRUCTION 20 
Unofficial funds 

 

(a) Where an employee of the County Council, by reason of his or her 
employment with the County Council, has any responsibility for a fund 

other than an official fund, this is deemed to be an unofficial fund under 
this Rule.  It should be the responsibility of each chief officer to be aware 
of the existence of all unofficial funds involving employees under his or 

her control, and to arrange for a regular review of the completeness and 
accuracy of records and arrangements. 

 
(b) The chief officer will agree with the Chief Finance Officer the type and 

extent of audit required for each particular fund, after taking into account 

the nature of activities covered, and the degree of risk.  In no 

176



 

Part 4F 
Standard Financial Instructions  

Page 16 

 

Standard Financial Instructions 
Page 16 

circumstances must unofficial monies be mixed in with official receipts for 
the County Council.  Where several unofficial funds are kept by the same 
officer, the funds should always be separate and readily identifiable. 

 
 

INSTRUCTION 21 
Private property 

 

The Chief Finance Officer shall, in conjunction with the appropriate chief 
officer and the Director of Law and Governance, prescribe rules for the 

protection of private property of individuals who are in the care of the County 
Council. 
 

 
INSTRUCTION 22 

Schools and Fair Funding Regulations 
 
(a) The School Standards and Framework Act 1998, through the 

Leicestershire Scheme for Financing Schools allows governors of schools 
to determine their own arrangements for payroll, ordering and payments 

to suppliers, the collection of income and banking. 
 
(b) The Act also confirms the Chief Finance Officer’s overall responsibility for 

ensuring that arrangements for the proper administration of the school’s 
financial affairs are in place. 

 
(c) When undertaking this role, the Chief Finance Officer will wish to be 

assured that the Standard Financial Instructions outlined in the document 

are in place.  He or she will also wish to be assured that the financial 
requirements on schools contained in the Scheme for Financing Schools 

are being carried out. 
 

[end of Standard Financial Instructions] 

177



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 4G Contract 
Procedure Rules 
 

Page 1 of 40 
 

Part 4 G 

Contract Procedure Rules 

February 2024 

   

179



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 2 of 40 
 

Part 4 G - Contract Procedure Rules 

GENERAL 

RULE 1 
Compliance 

(a) Officers must comply with these Rules. Failure to do so may result in 

disciplinary action. 

(b) Where a procurement under these rules involves a key decision, as 

determined by the appropriate Chief Officer, then prior to the 
commencement of the procurement this must be taken to the Executive. 

Key decisions are defined in Rule 8 of the Executive Procedure Rules 
(Part 4D) of this Constitution. In the case of ESPO only if a decision does 
not fall within Appendix 4 to Schedule 1: Functions of, and Delegations to 

the Director of ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Director of 
ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Chief Officers Group or 

Management Committee. 

(c) Sale of council assets are not part of these rules. They are covered by 

Rule 25 Purchasing and income collections and Rule 26 
Inventories and assets of the Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4F) of the 

Constitution. 

RULE 2 
Delegation 

Appropriate Chief Officers and the Director of Law and Governance may 

delegate their responsibilities under these Rules in accordance with Rule 6 of 

Section D (General scheme of delegation to heads of departments) of Part 3 
(Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution. 

RULE 3 

Interpretation 

Words and expressions used in these Rules are to be interpreted in accordance 

with the provisions of Schedule 1. 

RULE 4 

Application 

These Rules apply to every procurement contract made by or on behalf of the 

Council except contracts:

180



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 3 of 40 
 

(a) for only the acquisition or disposal of any interest in land; 

(b) for the lending or borrowing of money; 

(c) of employment (making an individual a direct employee of the 
Council). 

(d) for financial services in connection with the issue, sale, purchase or 

transfer of securities or other financial instruments within the meaning 
of the Financial Services and Market Act 2000 (Markets in Financial 
Instruments) Regulation 2017 – UK Statutory Instruments 2017 No. 

701. 

PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 

RULE 5 

General Requirements 

(a) Every Contract or official order for works, supplies or services made by the 

Council shall be for the purpose of implementing the Council’s policies and 

must be made in accordance with the Council's duty of Best Value and in 
line with the Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-26. 

(b) (i) Social Value will be considered in any contract with an estimated 
value equal to or greater than £50,000 in one of the of the 

following two ways: 

• As award criteria linked to the Council’s Social Value 

Policy Statement and the Council’s Strategic Plan 2022 – 

2026; 

• As Outcomes built into the Specification or contract. 

(ii) Social Value will be addressed at contract management for any 

contract with a value equal to or greater than £50,000. 

(iii) Where Social Value has not been considered within either the 

tender process or specification, the reason shall be recorded 
and forwarded for approval to the relevant Commercial 

Specialist. 

(c) Where the services are Light-Touch Services the threshold for contracts 

for public supply or services contracts applies for the purposes of the 
Social Value Act, being the sum specified in regulation 5 (1) (d) of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

(d) Where the services are required to be procured under The Health Care 

Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023, Social Value will 
need to be considered regardless of the estimated contract value. 

181



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 4 of 40 
 

(e) Use of Corporate Contracts: The Procuring Officer must ensure that 

whenever Corporate Contracts have been approved by a Commercial 

Specialist that supplies, services and works are ordered via these. 
Intention to award via these contracts where the value exceeds £25,000 
the Procuring Officer should include consultation with the relevant 

Commercial Specialist, before completing the award. The Procuring 
Officer must consider what risks the contract presents ahead of any 

procurement exercise, considerations must include those relating to 
Health and Safety, Business Continuity, Compliance with the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 and Information Security. The Procuring Officer may not 

procure outside of the Corporate Contract unless it is agreed by the 
Commercial Specialist that better value for money can be clearly 

demonstrated outside of these approved Corporate Contracts. All such 
instances involving ESPO must be notified to ESPO by the Commercial 
Specialist. 

(f) Procedures set out in the relevant EU Retained law, Acts of Parliament 

and UK legislation (including for the avoidance of doubt the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, 
the Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 

and where applicable the Public Contracts Regulations 2006) must be 
complied with at all times. 

(g) Based on criteria laid down by the Executive, the Chief Finance Officer 

will be responsible for evaluating the financial status of Tenderers and 
suppliers. 

(h) The Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient budget provision has 

been agreed with the budget holder prior to any Procurement Exercise 

being undertaken. 

(i) Procurement Exercises should usually be undertaken by electronic 

means provided that:- 

(j) the requirements of these Rules are followed with only such 
modifications as may be necessary to allow for procurement by 

such means; and 
 

(ii) any electronic tendering system has been approved by the 
Director of Law and Governance following consultation with 

the Director of Corporate Resources. 

(i) Subject to the provisions of Rule 28(b) Contracts shall not be longer 

than 5 years (including extensions) in duration or of indeterminate 
length without the prior written approval of the Director of Corporate 
Resources, such approval to be obtained prior to the commencement 

of the Procurement Exercise. 

182



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 5 of 40 
 

RULE 6  

Exceptions 

What is the Exception? 

 

What approval is required? 

6a) Direct purchase for supplies, 
materials, services or works which 

are available only as proprietary 
and/or patented articles, services or 
works from one contractor or 

supplier where there is no 
reasonably satisfactory alternative 

available in the UK and for repairs 
(to maintain warranties) to, or the 
supply of, parts of existing 

proprietary or patented articles or 
works, including machinery or plant. 

Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist. 

 
In addition: 

• Where the contract value/ exception is 

equal to or exceeds £100,000 the 
exception must be approved by the 

Assistant Director for Finance. 

• Where the contract value/ exception is 

equal to or exceeds £179,087 a copy of 
the exception form and reasons must 
be authorised by the Director of 

Corporate Resources and the Director 
of Law and Governance. 

 
Where the contract value/ exception is below 
£25,000 Rule 11 can apply. 

 
The approved form must be retained in the 

appropriate file. 

6b) Direct purchase without 
advertising of works of art, museum 
specimens or historical documents. 

Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 
for an exception. 

 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  
In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds £25,000, 
involvement required of the Supplier 

Relationship Manager to ensure value 
for money is attained. 

• Where the contract is equal to or 
exceeds £179,087 a copy of the 
exception form/note and reasons must 

be authorised by the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance. 
 

183



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 6 of 40 
 

The approved form must be retained in the 

appropriate file. 

6c) Direct purchase for the following 
social care services provided that 

the Estimated Value of such 
services does not exceed the UK 
threshold for Light-Touch service 

contracts: 
i.) residential placements sought for 

an individual with a registered care 
provider of their choice; 
ii.) supported living services sought 

for an individual with an appropriate 
care and support provider of their 

choice under the National Health 
Service and Community Care Act 
1990 and Care Act 2014; 

iii.) social care packages managed 
by or on behalf of individual clients 

under the personalisation agenda; 
iv.) where certain needs of an 
individual (either an adult or a child) 

require a particular social care 
package, which is only available 

from a specific provider in the 
opinion of the appropriate Chief 
Officer. 

v.) residential placements sought for 
an individual under the Shared 

Lives scheme (or any equivalent 
scheme). 
 

Exception note must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  

In addition: 

• Supplier Relationship Manager should 

be consulted to ensure value for money 
is attained. 

 

The approved note must be retained in the 
appropriate file. 

 
In each case the appropriate Chief Officer 
must ensure that the provider meets the 

relevant national minimum standards 
legislative or otherwise, (for example those 

standards set by the Care Act 2014, OFSTED 
and HMI) and Contract Procedure Rules that a 
record of the reasons for the choice of 

provider is maintained on the individual’s case 
notes as well as submitting to the relevant 

Commercial Specialist justification and 
evidence for exception placements.  
 

A record of the annual cumulative expenditure 
with each provider will be maintained by each 
directorate and made available for audit. 

 

6d) Direct purchase for those 
unforeseen emergencies, where 

immediate action is required to fulfil 
the Council’s statutory obligations 

under the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004  

Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 

Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds £25,000, 

involvement required of the Supplier 
Relationship Manager to ensure value 
for money is attained. 

 

• Where the contract is equal to or 

exceeds £179,087 a copy of the 
exception form and reasons must be 
authorised by the Director of Corporate 

184



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 7 of 40 
 

Resources and the Director of Law and 

Governance. 
 

The approved form must be retained in the 
appropriate file.  

6e) Other exceptions to these Rules  Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 

Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds £25,000, 

involvement required of the Supplier 
Relationship Manager to ensure value 

for money is attained.  

• Where the contract is equal to or 
exceeds £100,000 the exception must 

be authorised by the Assistant Director 
for Finance and also; 

• Where the contract is equal to or 
exceeds £179,087 a copy of the 
exception form and reasons must be 

also authorised by the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance along with the 
Executive and Leader or Deputy 
Leader where the Leader is not 

practical. The requesting department is 
responsible for ensuring Cabinet 

approval is sought; 

• In an urgent case the Chief Executive 

after consultation with the Council 
Leader or Deputy Leader (save where 
this is not practicable) may direct that 

an exception be made subject to this 
being reported to the next meeting of 

the Executive. 
  
The approved form must be retained in the 

appropriate file. 
 

 

185



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 8 of 40 
 

RULE 7 
Financial Thresholds and Delegation 

(a) Financial limits and thresholds within these Rules may be varied from time to time by 
the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
(b)   Arrangements for delegation of functions to Officers within these Rules may be varied 

from time to time by the Chief Executive. 

 

RULE 8 

Annual Reporting 

(a) The Director of Corporate Resources, in consultation with the Director of Law and 

Governance, shall at least once in each financial year submit a report to the Corporate 

Governance Committee in relation to the operation of these Rules (except those 
granted under Rule 6(iv)) and approved extensions to contract where not provided for 
in the contract, and proposed revisions to these Rules and/or changes required to 

accommodate the requirements of UK and EU Retained procurement law as may be 
necessary from time to time. 
 

(b) An annual summary of the number of contracts awarded using the Provider Selection 
Regime, in the year to which the summary relates where Direct Award Process A, 
Direct Award Process B, Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process 

or the Competitive Process was followed. 

RULE 9 

Prevention of Corruption / Conflict of Interest 

(a) The Employee Code of Conduct (Part 5b of the Constitution) applies to any 

Procurement Exercise. 

(b) The following clause, or a clause that is substantially similar, will be included as a 

standard term and condition in every written contract in accordance with Rule 25(c): 

"The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss from the Contractor if 

the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor's behalf do any of 

the following things: 

(i) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any personal inducement or reward in 

respect of this or any other Council contract (even if the contractor does not 
know what has been done); or 

(ii) commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or give any fee or reward, 

the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local 

Government Act 1972; or 

186



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 9 of 40 
 

(iii) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council contract 
whether alone or in conjunction with Council 

members, contractors or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor's liability shall not apply to this clause". 

(c) The Council’s Supplier Code of Conduct applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

RULE 9A 

Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 

Where appropriate, the Contract shall make appropriate provision for information sharing 

between the Contractor and the Council in line with the General Data Protection Regulation 

(GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018, and/or such other measures as are appropriate, 
such as staff training, to support the Council in meeting its duty under section 26 of the 

Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 to have due regard to the need to prevent people 
from being drawn into terrorism. 

PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

RULE 10 

Pre-Estimate 

(a)    Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate its 

Estimated Value in accordance with this Rule. The estimated value for the 
Procurement must not be subdivided for the purpose of reducing the total value of 

the contract for multiple procurements. 

(b)    The Estimated Value shall be calculated as follows: 

(i) Where the contract period is fixed the Estimated Value shall be the total 

estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or works to be 
supplied over the period covered including any extensions to the contract; 

(ii) Where the contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Value shall be 

calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly value by 48; 

(iii) For feasibility studies the Estimated Value shall include the value of 

the study and any subsequent contracts which may be awarded to 
the same supplier as a result where this is known; 

(iv) For Concession Contracts the Estimated Value shall be the 

estimated financial value to the supplier that shall be made over the 

duration of the Contract, net of value added tax; 

187



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 10 of 40 
 

(v) The Estimated Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but 

must include all other taxes and duties; 

(vi) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from 

the same or different suppliers, must be aggregated over a minimum 
of a 12 month period; 

(vii) Where the Council may be contributing only part of the Total Value 

of a contract, it is nevertheless the total Estimated Value that should 

be applied in determining the correct procedures to be applied under 
these Rules. 

(c) Where there is any doubt as to the Estimated Value then the procedure for the 

higher threshold in Rule 11 must be used. 

(d) Where the Estimated Value is: 

(i) £5,000 or more the Procuring Officer must notify in writing the appropriate 

Commercial Specialist of the Estimated Value before proceeding. A written 
record of that Estimated Value must then be kept on file by the Procuring 
Officer. 

(ii) £25,000 or more the spend controls guidance must be followed and a 
Procurement Initiation Document used (this is not 

applicable to ESPO). 

RULE 11 
Procurement Exercise Process 

(a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 10, Table 1 below makes 

provision for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement 

Exercise. 

(b) In the case of a contract for individual independent day or residential school 

placement sought for a child with Special Educational Needs (SEN) with an 
Estimated Contract Value up to the UK Threshold for Light Touch Services three 

quotes must be sought. 

(c) In the case of a contract or framework agreement for healthcare services (as 

defined by Schedule 1 of the Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) 
Regulations 2023), the Procuring Officer must seek the advice of a Commercial 
Specialist on a suitable Process to follow under these Regulations. If Direct 

Award Process A, B, C or The Most Suitable Provider Process are considered 
the most appropriate route to market, approval must be sought from the Head of 
Procurement & Supply Chain Management. 

188



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 11 of 40 
 

(d) All contracts with an Estimated Value equal to or greater than the UK Threshold 

must be referred to the Commissioning Support Unit prior to the 

commencement of the Procurement Exercise. The Commissioning Support 
Unit shall advise the Procuring Officer on the appropriate route to market 
which may include the use of ESPO and ESPO framework agreements, 

Crown Commercial Services framework agreements, etc. 

(d) Details of oral Quotations must be confirmed in writing. 

(e) Where any Corporate Contracts or Standing Lists have been set up for 

supplies, services or works then these Rules are deemed to have been 
satisfied when the arrangement was set up and do not have to be further 

applied, if appropriately used. When the Corporate Contract is a Framework 
Agreement then the Procuring Officer must comply with Rule 28(c) after 
consultation with a relevant Commercial Specialist on the suitability of the 

framework intended to be used. When using a Standing List the Procuring 
Officer must comply with Rule 27. 

(f) All procurements over £25,000 must be approved before any procurement 

activity, by the Commissioning Support Unit via the spend controls guidance 

and use of the Procurement Initiation Document (this is not applicable to 
ESPO). 

Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions 

see Rule 6): 

Estimated 
Contract Value Procurement  

Process 

Minimum Contract Opportunity 

Publication 
Documentation 

From Up To 

£0 £5,000 
Obtain a minimum of 

one oral/written 

Quotation 

None Record details 

Above 
£5,000 

£25,000 
Seek to obtain a 
minimum of 3 written 

Quotations 

When inviting quotations officers 
should consider the benefits of 
including a local supplier in the 
invitation to quote where 

appropriate or applicable to the 

contract.* 

Record details. 

(If three Quotations cannot 
be obtained a record of the 

reasons for this must be 
agreed in consultation with 
the appropriate 

Commercial Specialist.) 
When inviting quotations 
officers should consider the 

benefits of including a local 
supplier in the invitation to 
quote where appropriate or 

applicable to the Contract. 
 

189



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 12 of 40 
 

Estimated Contract 
Value Procurement  

Process 

Minimum Contract 

Opportunity Publication 
Documentation 

From Up To 

Above 

£25,000 

Up to but  
not  
including  

£179,087 

Seek written  

Quotations 

(to be based on a 
Request for 

Quotation document 
where practical) 

For exceptions see 
Rule 6(b) 

Contracts Finder and on a 
website approved by the 
Director of Corporate 
Resources for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market. 

Request for Quotation 
issued by the Procuring 
Officer and Quotations 
received. 

Relevant UK 
Threshold 

Goods/services: 

£179,087 before 
VAT 

Works, 

Concessions and 
Utilities: 
£4,477,175 

before VAT 

Light touch 
regime: 

£552,950 

 

 

 

 

 

Above 

 

Formal Tender 
Process (Refer to 
Commissioning 

Support) 

The UK e-notification 
service where required, 
Contracts Finder and on a 

Website approved by the 
Director of Corporate 
Resources for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 
market. 

 

Formal Tender and sealed 
bids (should be submitted 
via an electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 18(d)). 

 

* These are total contract spend estimates equaling total contract value over the term of the contract. 
* All values are not inclusive of VAT, the Threshold figures inclusive of VAT can be used on a project by project 
basis if it is deemed beneficial. 

* The Council cannot give preference to local suppliers, as there are legislative constraints and such a policy 
would be incompatible with Best Value. However, the Council recognises that there can be barriers limiting or 
restricting the ability of smaller suppliers to compete for Council business. The Council will seek to reduce the 
impact of such barriers, where it can do so legally, without discrimination, and without placing unacceptable 
levels of risk on the Council. 

RULE 12 

Suitability Assessment and Award Evaluation Criteria 

(a) The Council shall not include a pre-qualification questionnaire stage where 

the value of the procurement is below the UK Threshold set out in Reg. 5 
(1) (c) of the Public Contacts Regulations 2015. Below the UK Threshold 

only Suitability Assessment Questions may be asked. A standard form of 
Suitability Assessment Questions must be used. 

(b) In a Procurement Exercise with an estimated Value equal to or greater than 

the UK Threshold both selection and award criteria must be included. A 

190



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 13 of 40 
 

Standard Selection Questionnaire or the Single Procurement Document 
must be used for the selection criteria; 

(c) Selection criteria must be included in the evaluation process where 

applying the Open Tendering procedure (Rule 15) or must be the only 

criteria used for the shortlisting methodology where applying the 
Restricted Tendering procedure (Rule 16). 

RULE 13 
Award and Evaluation Criteria 

(a) The award criteria shall be based on the most economically advantageous 

Tender from the Council’s point of view. That Tender shall be identified on 
the basis of price or cost, using a cost- effectiveness approach, such as Life-

Cycle Costing and may include the best price-quality ratio which shall be 
assessed on the basis of criteria, such as qualitative, environmental and/or 

social aspects or any other criteria linked to the subject-matter of the 
Contract in question. 

(b) When procuring Healthcare services, the five Key Criteria as stated in the 

Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 must 

all be evaluated. These are: 

• Quality and innovation 

• Value 

• Integration, collaboration, and service sustainability 
• Improving access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice 

• Social value 

(c) Before a contract can be awarded following an Open Tender procedure the 

supplier must meet the minimum standard for the selection criteria included 
in the evaluation process. 

(d) In the case of a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value of 

£25,000 or more the process for identifying the most economically 

advantageous Tender, including selection and award criteria, must be 
agreed in consultation with the appropriate Commercial Specialist and 
included in the RFQ/Invitation to Tender and a copy retained on file. 

(e) The Procuring Officer must notify all Tenderers of the award methodology 

and evaluation criteria being used in the case of the contract in question. If 
weightings are to be applied to the criteria then the Procuring Officer must 
ensure that these are also incorporated into the Invitation to Tender. 

 

191



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 14 of 40 
 

RULE 14 
Contract Opportunity Publication 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed by the appropriate Chief Officer, the Procuring 

Officer must ensure, for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated 
Value of £25,000 or more but less than the relevant UK Threshold, that 

Contract Opportunity Publication is given on a website approved by the 
Director of Corporate Resources for the purpose of notifying the supply 

market. 

(b) All Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more 

must be advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when 
the Procurement Exercise is advertised in any other way. Procurement 
exercises over the relevant UK Threshold must be advertised on the UK e-

notification service known as Find a Tender Service (FTS) and on 
Contracts Finder. 

(c) For all proposed contracts which are advertised where the Estimated 

Value is below the UK Threshold, a period of at least ten working days 

should be allowed between the date when an Invitation to Tender 
becomes available to all bidders and either: 

(i) the deadline for receipt of Tenders where an Open Tendering 

procedure is being used; or 

(ii) the deadline for receipt of the standard form of Suitability 

Assessment Questions or the Single Procurement Document, 
where a Restricted Tendering procedure is being used. 

(d) The Contract Opportunity Publication must express the nature and 

purpose of the Procurement Exercise, stating where further details may 
be obtained, how and to whom an interested supplier is to respond and 

any other requirements such as suitability requirements or explanatory 
information. 

(e) If the Estimated Value exceeds the relevant UK Threshold the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that Contract Opportunity Publication is 
first published on the UK e-notification service known as Find a 
Tender Service (FTS) and then on a website approved by the Director 

of Corporate Resources for the purpose of notifying the supply market 
and in Contracts Finder. 

(f) A Procurement Exercise that is equal to or more than the UK 

Threshold for Light-Touch Services must be procured in compliance 

with Chapter 3, section 7 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

192



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 15 of 40 
 

(g) Where a contract opportunity is equal to or greater than the UK  

Threshold a Contract Opportunity Publication should not appear in any 
form before publication on the UK e-notification service and neither 

should any advertisement contain any more information than that 
published on the UK e-notification service known as Find a Tender 
Service (FTS). 

(h) The advertising requirements set out in this Rule 14 are minimum 

requirements and do not preclude further Contract Opportunity 
Publication where appropriate (e.g. in the local newspaper, trade or 
professional journal, the Council website). 

193



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 16 of 40 
 

PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

RULE 15 
Open Tendering 

Under Open Tendering, Procuring Officers must send Invitations to Tender to all 

those Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who 
meet the requirements stated therein. Where the opportunity has been 

advertised via the electronic tendering system the Invitation to Tenders and all 
supporting documents must be made available in the system for all interested 

parties to access subject to confidentiality agreement where applicable. 

RULE 16 
Restricted Tendering 

(a)   Subject to Rule 16 (b), this Rule applies to Tenders where the 
Estimated Value is equal to or exceeds the UK Threshold. 

(b)   Where the services being tendered are Light-Touch Services the 

Procuring Officer may choose to use this Restricted Tendering 

procedure but is not required to. 

(c) Under Restricted Tendering, Procuring Officers need only send 
Invitations to Tender to: 

(i) not less than five of the Persons who respond to the 

Contract Opportunity Publication and who best meet the 

shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 12(c); or 

(ii) where fewer than five Persons have applied or are considered 
suitable, to all those Persons who equal or exceed the 

minimum requirements for the shortlisting methodology 
agreed in Rule 12(c). 

(d)  The shortlisting criteria and process must be prepared (in 
consultation with the Commercial Specialist) in advance of the issue 

of the Standard Selection Questionnaire or the Single Procurement 

Document and a copy retained on file. 

(e)   All Persons that do not qualify for inclusion on the shortlist to receive 

an Invitation to Tender must receive notice that they have been 
excluded from the Procurement Exercise. Any Person requesting in 

194



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 17 of 40 
 

writing the reasons why they were unsuccessful shall be informed by 
the Procuring Officer of the reasons for the Council's decision. 

RULE 17 
Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, 

Competitive Dialogue Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure 

The Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, 

Competitive Dialogue Procedure or Innovation Partnership Procedure must 
only be used with the prior approval of the Director of Law and Governance 

and the Director of Corporate Resources. Competitive Procedure with 
Negotiation or Competitive Dialogue can only be used when criteria under 
PCR Reg.26(4) are met. Competitive Procedure with Negotiation or 
Competitive Dialogue can only be used when criteria under PCR Reg. 26(4) 
are met. 

RULE 17A 

Concession Contracts 

Procuring Officers must only establish Concession Contracts with prior 

consultation of the Director of Law and Governance and with the prior 

approval of the Director of Corporate Resources also in the case of 

Concession Contracts above the UK Threshold. 

RULE 18 
Invitations to Tender 

(a) Every Invitation to Tender must specify the latest day and hour and the 

place appointed for the receipt of Tenders and must state the effect of 
Rule 19. 

(b) Procuring Officers must give all Tenderers the same information about 

the Procurement Exercise and in particular information relating to the 

Tender process, specification, award methodology and evaluation 
criteria and the terms and conditions of the Contract or Framework 

agreement. 

(c) Procuring Officers must also give all Tenderers the same information 

relating to questions, answers and clarifications raised during the 
Procurement Exercise unless they relate solely to another Person’s 

Tender. 

195



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 18 of 40 
 

(d) All Procurement Exercises equal to or greater than £25,000 shall be 

handled via an Electronic Tendering System where possible. Only in 
exceptional cases may a Procurement Exercise be undertaken not using 
an Electronic Tendering System. Paper Tenders must be submitted to, 

addressed to and opened by the Chief Executive. Where the Estimated 
value is below £25,000 the Tenders may be returned directly to the 

Procuring Officer. 

(e) Where an Electronic Tendering System is not available and paper 

Tenders are to be received by the Chief Executive, the Procuring Officer 
must send to the Chief Executive a note of the subject and the closing 

date and time and (where appropriate) a list of the Persons invited to 
Tender together with the Estimated Value before the closing date for 
receipt of Tenders. 

RULE 19 

Irregular Tenders 

(a) An Irregular Tender must not be accepted by either the Chief 

Executive or the Procuring Officer, other than in accordance with this 
Rule. 

(b) A Tender is not valid unless it has been either submitted via an Electronic 
Tendering System or in the case of paper tenders 

delivered to the place appointed in accordance with Rule 18 and not later 

than the appointed day and hour. 

(c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or 

greater than £179,087 are not valid unless they are received in a plain 
sealed envelope or parcel addressed to the Chief Executive. The 

envelope or package must bear the word “Tender” followed by the subject 
to which it relates. 

(d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the 
Electronic Tendering System used. 

(e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it 

does not fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender 

and/or because it is received after the appointed time for receipt or does 
not comply with Rules 19(b) or 19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(f) and 
19(g) apply. 

(f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date 
and time may be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if 

there is clear evidence of it having:- 

196



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 19 of 40 
 

(i) been posted by first class post at least a day before the 
closing date; OR 

(ii) been posted by second class post at least three days before 

the closing date; OR 

(iii) been placed in the custody of a courier who has provided 

written assurance of delivery prior to the closing date and time. 

(g) If in other cases of Irregular Tenders the Chief Executive considers that 

there are exceptional circumstances and that the Tenderer who submitted 
the Irregular Tender has gained no advantage from its irregularity he may 

determine to accept the Irregular Tender and authorise that it be opened 
and evaluated together with any other Tenders in accordance with Rule 
20. The Chief Executive shall record in writing the reasons why each 

Irregular Tender has been accepted or rejected. 

(h) Irregular Tenders that the Chief Executive has rejected under this Rule 

must be returned to the Tenderer by the Chief Executive with a covering 
letter stating the reason for their rejection. 

RULE 20 
Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

(a) Rules 20(b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is 

equal to or greater than £179,087 before VAT and the Tender is not an E-
Tender. Rule 20(g) applies to E-Tenders only. 

(b) On receipt of non-electronic Tenders, envelopes containing the Tenders 

must be date and time stamped by the Chief Executive and shall remain 

in his custody until they are opened. 

(c) The Chief Executive must keep a record of all non-electronic Tenders 
received. 

(d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two 

Officers one of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who 

is designated by the Chief Executive. Each Officer must initial each 
Tender once opened which must also be date stamped. 

(e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Chief Executive 

upon the record which must be signed by the Officers present at the 
opening, together with a note of all Irregular Tenders. 

197



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 20 of 40 
 

(f) The Chief Executive must forthwith send a copy of the record to the 

appropriate Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy 
himself. 

(g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the 
Electronic Tendering System used. 

RULE 21 

Errors or Discrepancies in Tenders 

(a) Tenderers are not allowed to alter their Tenders after opening save in 

accordance with this Rule or Rule 22. 

(b) Where it is suspected that there has been an error in a Tender and 

following the closing date for receipt of Tenders but before  
acceptance of any Tender discussions may take place with  
Tenderers in order to: 

(i) ensure that the Tender is constructed correctly; or 

(ii) ensure that the Tenderer has fully understood the  

specification; or 

(iii) seek clarification from Tenderers of cost, quality and  
performance indicators. 

(c) A written note of the discussions must be made to record the 

suspected error, date, time, detail of the discussion and any 
agreement reached. 

RULE 22 

Discussions and Post Tender Negotiations 

(a) In the case where the Estimated Value is below the relevant UK 

Threshold, the Procuring Officer in consultation with the appropriate 
Commercial Specialist may carry out Post Tender Negotiations with the 

Tenderer submitting the most competitive Tender in an attempt to secure 
improvements in the price or economic advantage in one or more of the 
following circumstances: 

(i) where the most competitive Tender (according to the pre-

determined award methodology and evaluation criteria) 
submitted exceeds the Estimated Value; 

198



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 21 of 40 
 

(ii) where it is considered that the price of the most competitive 

Tender submitted does not represent the best value for money 
that can reasonably be obtained; 

(iii) where Tenders have been invited only on the basis of unit 

prices or a schedule of rates and the lowest in aggregate is 

not the lowest on all items; 

(iv) where the most competitive Tender contains conditions, 
trading terms, guarantees, or provisions relating to 

performance or service delivery less favourable than in other 

Tenders, or than stipulated for and this defect appears 
capable of being remedied by Post Tender Negotiations. 

(b)    When conducting Post Tender Negotiations, the following additional Rules 
shall apply: 

(i) At no time during the negotiations must a Tenderer be 

informed of the detail of any other Tender submitted or as to 

whether or not the Tender he submitted was the lowest. 

(ii) During negotiations in person there must always be present at 
least two officers of the Council. 

(iii) A note of the negotiations will be made by one of the 

Officers present recording those present, the time and 

location of the negotiations, detail of the discussion and any 
agreement reached. 

(iv) Post Tender Negotiations shall not enable any material 

departure from the published specification. The Director of Law 

and Governance shall determine whether any proposed 
change to the specification constitutes a material departure. 

(c) Post Tender Negotiations are not allowed in the case of contracts 

with an Estimated Value exceeding the relevant UK Threshold. 

However, clarifications of errors or discrepancies in Tenders 
may take place in accordance with Rule 21. 

199



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 22 of 40 
 

AWARD OF CONTRACT 

RULE 23 

Acceptance of Tenders 

(a) A Tender can only be accepted in accordance with the initial award 
methodology and evaluation criteria as set out in Rule 13. Any 
evaluation sheets must be maintained on file in accordance with Rule 34. 

(b) Any Tender with an Estimated Value of below £25,000 (where a Request 

for Quotation or an Invitation to Tender is not used) may only be accepted 

with the prior written approval of the appropriate Commercial Specialist. 

(c) If the Tender to be accepted exceeds the budget which was agreed in 

accordance with Rule 5(g) the Procuring Officer must ensure that 
sufficient funds are available and approved by the appropriate budget 

holder, appropriate Chief Officer or Executive prior to accepting the 
Tender. 

(d) Where an abnormally low Tender is submitted the Council shall require 

the Tenderer to explain in writing the price or costs proposed and may 

only reject the Tender where the explanation is 
unsatisfactory. Where it is established that the Tender is low due to 
breaches of environmental, social or labour law, the Council must reject 

the Tender. 

(e) Subject to Rule 1, the appropriate Chief Officer shall have the authority to 

accept a Tender but in any particular circumstance may decline to give 
approval and refer the decision to the Executive to determine. 

 RULE 24  

Notification of Contract Award 

(a) The Procuring Officer must notify the successful Tenderer of the 

acceptance of their Tender and for all Procurement Exercises with an 
Estimated Value of £5,000 or more this notification must be in writing. 

(b) In the case where the Estimated Value is £25,000 or more the Procuring 

Officer must notify in writing all Tenderers who submitted a Tender of the 
decision as soon as possible after the decision has been made. 

200



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 23 of 40 
 

(c) Where a Contract with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more is awarded 

the Council must publish information as required by the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 on Contracts Finder within 90 calendar days of the date 
the Contract was awarded. 

(d) In the case where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the 

relevant UK Threshold the following additional Rules shall apply: 

(i) The notice in Rule 24 (b) shall include the award criteria, the 

reasons for the decision, including the successful Tenderer's 
score, the score (if any) of the Tenderer receiving the notice, 

and the characteristics and (if appropriate) relative advantages 
of the successful Tenderer's Tender, any reasons why the 
recipient of the notice did not meet the technical specification, 

the name of the Tenderer awarded the Contract, as well as the 
date when the standstill period required in accordance with 

Rule 24 (d)(ii) will come to an end. 

(ii) A minimum period of 10 calendar days must elapse between 

the day of sending the notice in Rule 24 (b) and the date on 
which the Council enters into a contract, if the notice is sent 

electronically. Where the notice is sent by other means then 
either 15 days from the day of sending the notice or 10 days 
from the day of receipt of the notice by the last Tenderer to 

receive the notice must elapse. In all cases counting the day 
after sending the notice as day 1. The standstill period must 

end on a working day. 

(iii) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that a UK e-notification 

service contract award notice known as Find a Tender Service 
(FTS) is placed within 30 days of the contract award where 
required. In the case where contracts are awarded under the 

regime covering Light Touch Services or Dynamic Purchasing 
System, award notices may be grouped together in 

accordance with regulation 74 for Light-Touch Services and 
regulation 50(5) for Dynamic Purchasing Systems. 

(iv) For every Contract or Framework Agreement covered by the 

Public Contract Regulations, and every time a Dynamic 

Purchasing System is established, the Procuring Officer shall 
draw up a written report in accordance with the requirements 
outlined in regulation 84 of PCR. 

(e) The Procuring Officer must notify the appropriate Commercial Specialist in 

writing of any contract (including framework call off contracts) that has been 
awarded with a Total Value of £5,000 or more.  

201



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 24 of 40 
 

(f) In the case of the Provider Selection Regime the relevant notification to 
awards must be adhered to dependent on the route to market deemed 
most appropriate 

 
RULE 25 

Form of Contract 

(a) A Contract shall be formed: 

(i) by exchange of letter or electronic communication accepting 

the successful Tender and incorporating the Invitation to 

Tender or Request for Quotation and the outcome of any 
subsequent negotiations and discussions; or 

(ii) by completion of a formal contract incorporating the 

Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation, the Tender 

and the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and/or 
discussions; or 

(iii) by placing an order in accordance with Rule 26. 

(b) In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of contract, 

the Procuring Officer must ensure that the appropriate Standard 

Terms and Conditions are incorporated unless the Procuring Officer 
having consulted the appropriate Director of Law and Governance 
and the appropriate Commercial Specialist considers it inappropriate 

to do so. 

(c) All contracts with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be in 
writing and where appropriate the appropriate Chief Officer shall: 

(i) ensure that the Contract includes a definition of the 

circumstances that will be considered to constitute a default on 
the terms of the Contract by the supplier. The Contract must 

provide for notice of default to be given to the supplier and for 
any resulting losses to be recovered from the supplier if the 
default is not rectified. 

(ii) decide whether it is necessary to require suppliers to provide a 

Performance Bond with a third party. The need for this will 
depend on an assessment of the risk associated with the 
contract or the supplier. 

(iii) ensure that the contract provides for the supplier to have an 

insurance policy, which can be inspected during the contract 
period. The Chief Finance Officer shall be consulted on the 

insurance requirements. 

202



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 25 of 40 
 

(iv) consult the Chief Finance Officer on the appropriate VAT 
requirements. 
 

(d) Every contract must be signed (by electronic means or otherwise) by the appropriate 
Officer as defined in the scheme of delegation table below. 
 

(e) The Director of Law and Governance has designated the following officers to sign 
contracts, in accordance with Article 14.04(a): 

 

Contract Value (including 

possible extensions) 

Designated 
Officer  

authorised 
to sign the 

contract 

From 

£0 

Up to 

£24,999 

Team 

Manager 

(Grade 12-

14) 

From 

£2
5,0

00 

Up to 

£175,00

0 

Head of 
Service 

(Grade 15-

17) 

From  

£175

,001 

Up to 

£499,999 
Assistant 
Director 

(Grade 17-

19) 

From 

£500,000 and above 
Director 
(Grade 18 

and above) 

 

(f) The Procuring Officer shall comply with the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 requirements and 
shall include in the contract appropriate provisions. 

203



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 26 of 40 
 

(g) The Procuring Officer shall ensure the contract includes a Right 

to Audit Clause. 

RULE 25A 

Contract Management 

(Rule 25A is not yet adopted by ESPO) 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall advise the Commercial Officer or 

Commercial Specialist who shall immediately upon completion of every 
Procurement Exercise; 

(i) In respect of contracts having a value of less than 

£25,000 and where the Electronic Tendering System has 

not been used, enter the Contract details in the Council’s 
contracts register; 

(ii) In respect of contracts of whatever value handled via the 

Electronic Tendering System the Procuring Officer shall 

ensure that the details of the Contract are published in the 
Council’s contracts register. 

(b) All contracts shall be managed in accordance with these Rules and the 

Council’s contract management toolkit which can be found in the 

Commissioning Toolkit on the Council’s intranet. 

(c) The authorised officer or Contract Manager responsible for the 
management of the Contract shall: 

(i) Obtain prior approval in accordance with Rule 30 before 

proceeding to authorise (in writing) any modification/extension 
to the Contract; 

(ii) Ensure all documentation is uploaded to the Council’s 

Contracts Register; 

(iii) Ensure that a record is kept of all certificates and 

instructions issued under the Contract; 

(iv) Keep documents in support of each payment showing how 

the payment amount has been valued and maintain a record 

of all such payments including any professional fees; 

(v) Prior to the contract renewal notice period for a contract, 

consult the relevant Commercial Specialist to review 
opportunities for contract negotiations for favourable contract 

terms; 

(vi) Before terminating any contract and in particular for 
breach, consult the Director of Law and Governance; 

(vii) Resolve all contractual matters and contractual claims, and 

issue any final account and final certificate in accordance 

204



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 27 of 40 
 

with the terms of the Contract, taking advice from the Director 

of Law and Governance. 

RULE 26 

Orders for work, goods and services 

Orders for work, goods and services must only be placed in accordance with 
Instruction 8 of the Standard Financial Instructions. 

STANDING LISTS 

RULE 27 

Standing Lists 

(a) Standing Lists must not be created or added to without the prior written 

approval of the appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the 
appropriate Commercial Specialist. 

(b) Procuring Officers must not use a Standing List where the total value of 

contracts to be awarded using the Standing List is estimated to exceed 

the relevant UK Threshold. 

(c) The Standing List must contain the names of all Persons who are 

approved and indicate the categories of contract and the values or 
amounts in respect of those categories for which those Persons are 

approved. 

(d) At least four weeks before a list is first compiled, the Procuring Officer 

must publish on a website approved by the Director of Corporate 
Resources for the purpose of notifying the supply market a notice inviting 

applications by a specified date for inclusion in it. 

(e) Procuring Officers must renew all Standing Lists at intervals not 

exceeding four years. At least four weeks before each renewal, each 
Person whose name appears in the list must be notified by the Procuring 

Officer of the intention to review the list. If they wish to remain on the list 

they must re-apply for inclusion. Procuring Officers must ensure that 
notices inviting applications for inclusion in the list are published in the 

manner provided by Rule 27(d). 

(f) In cases where the use of a Standing List has been authorised the 

Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to not less than four of 
the Persons from among those approved for a contract of the relevant 
category and amount or value. Where fewer than four Persons are 

approved for a contract of the relevant category and amount or value 
Invitations to Tender shall be sent to no fewer than three Persons. Where 

205



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 28 of 40 
 

there are fewer than three Persons the procedure for Standing Lists must 
not be used unless the appropriate Commercial Specialist advises 

otherwise. 

(g)     The Procuring Officer in consultation with the Commercial Specialist shall 
determine the criteria for selecting Persons from the list. 

(h) In such circumstances as the Director of Corporate Resources shall 

determine, Procuring Officers shall provide such information as shall 
reasonably be necessary of the extent to which Standing Lists have been 

utilised. 

  FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS  

RULE 28 

Framework Agreements 

(a) Procuring Officers must establish all Framework Agreements in 
accordance with these Rules. 

(b) Framework Agreements must not be awarded for more than 4 years, 

including any extensions without the prior written consent of the Director 

of Corporate Resources following consultation with the Director of Law 
and Governance. 

(c) All suppliers on the Framework Agreement capable of performing the 

contract must be invited to participate in a Further Competition unless 

it is clear from the terms of the Framework Agreement which supplier 
best meets the award methodology set out in the Framework 
Agreement in which case that supplier may be selected provided the 

Procuring Officer can demonstrate value for money. Direct Award on 
frameworks must be first discussed with a relevant Commercial 
Specialist before proceeding if the value exceeds the threshold. 

(d) Additional suppliers may only be added to a Framework Agreement 
throughout its duration in circumstances where: 

(i)    the Estimated Value is below the UK Threshold; or 

(ii) the services tendered are Light-Touch Services to which the full   
regime of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 is not 

considered to apply: or 

       (iii) the services tendered are Healthcare services to which the Health Care 

Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 apply: 

(iv) and in whichever case ((i) (ii) or (iii) above) provided that the 
Invitation to Tender states: 

206



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 29 of 40 
 

(aa) that new suppliers may be added to the Framework 

Agreement; and 

(bb)      how many suppliers can apply to be added to the 
Framework Agreement; and 

(cc) that the same evaluation criteria and award 

methodology are applied when deciding whether to 
award a place on the Framework Agreement to new 

suppliers as was applied at the time of the original 
award. 

(e) Each use of a Framework agreement either by call off or direct 

award must be included on the Contracts Register within 30 days of 

award. 

RULE 29 

Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

Procuring Officers must only establish Dynamic Purchasing Systems with the 

prior written approval of a Senior Commercial Specialist and the Director of 

Corporate Resources and in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 and these Rules where appropriate. 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

RULE 30 

Contract Modifications and Extensions 

 

What is the Modification? What approval is required? 

30a)  

Where the contract modification meets 
all the following: 

i) Modification value is below 

£179,087 (ex VAT) – this value 
shall be net cumulative of all 

modifications to the contract. 
ii) Modification value is within 10% 

greater or lesser of the original 

contract value. 
iii) Does not alter the overall nature 

of the original contract. 
or 
 

Where the contract modification meets 
all the following and was procured 

under the provider selection regime: 
i) Modification value is below 

£500,000 (ex VAT) – this value 

Modification form must be completed 

outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for a modification 
 

All approvals need authorisation from 
the appropriate Chief Officer, on the 

advice of the Commercial Specialist.  
In addition: 
 

• Where the value exceeds 
£25,000, involvement required of 

the Supplier Relationship 
Manager to ensure value for 
money is attained. 

 

• Where the modification is equal 

to or exceeds £100,000 the 
modification must be approved 

207



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 30 of 40 
 

shall be net cumulative of all 

modifications to the contract. 
ii) Modification is 25% greater or 

lesser the original contract 
value. 

iii) Does not alter the overall nature 

of the original contract. 
 

by the Assistant Director for 

Finance. 
 

Prior to any modification being agreed 
which would result in an increase in the 
Total Value of the Contract the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that 
sufficient additional budget provision 

has been approved by the budget 
holder. 
 

30(b) 

Where the contract modification meets 
all the following: 

i) Modification value is below 
£25,000 

ii) Modification value is above 10% 

greater or lesser the original 
contract value. 

iii) The overall contract value 
including this modification does 
not exceed £179,087 (ex VAT). 

iv) Does not alter the overall nature 
of the original contract. 

Modification form must be completed 

outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for a modification 

 
Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice 

of the Commercial Specialist.  
 

Prior to any modification being agreed 
which would result in an increase in the 
Total Value of the Contract the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that 
sufficient additional budget provision 

has been approved by the budget 
holder. 
 

30c)  

All other contract modifications. 

Modification form must be completed 

outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for a modification. 

 
Modification approval needs 
authorisation from the appropriate Chief 

Officer, on the advice of the Commercial 
Specialist and authorisation from the 

Director of Corporate Resources and 
the Director of Law and Governance. 
 

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds 

£25,000, involvement required of 
the Supplier Relationship 

Manager to ensure value for 
money is attained. 

 

The approved form must be retained in 
the appropriate file. 

 
Prior to any modification being agreed 
which would result in an increase in the 

Total Value of the Contract the 

208



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 31 of 40 
 

Procuring Officer must ensure that 

sufficient additional budget provision 
has been approved by the budget 

holder. 

What is the Extension? What approval is required? 

30d)  
Where a Contract Extension has been 

provided for both in the Initial 
Procurement Documents and in the 
Contract in clear and precise terms. 

 
Or 

 
Where the Contract Extension 

i) Value is below £179,087 (ex 

VAT) – this value shall be net 
cumulative of all extensions to 

this contract. 
ii) Value is within 10% up of the 

original contract value. 

iii) Does not alter the overall nature 
of the original contract. 

 

Extension form must be completed 
outlining the full reasons for the request 

to extend the contract. 
 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

Chief Officer in consultation with the 
Commercial Specialist. 

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds 
£25,000, involvement required of 

the Supplier Relationship 
Manager to ensure value for 

money is attained. 
 
The approved form must be retained in 

the appropriate file. 
 

Prior to any extension being agreed the 
Contract the Procuring Officer must 
ensure that sufficient additional budget 

provision has been approved by the 
budget holder. 

 

30e)  
All other Contract Extensions 
 

Extension form must be completed 
outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for an extension to the 

contract. 
 

Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice 
of the Commercial Specialist and 

authorisation from the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance. 
In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds 

£25,000, involvement required of 
the Supplier Relationship 

Manager to ensure value for 
money is attained. 

 

The approved form must be retained in 
the appropriate file. 

 
Prior to any extension being agreed the 
Contract the Procuring Officer must 

209



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 32 of 40 
 

ensure that sufficient additional budget 

provision has been approved by the 
budget holder. 

 

 

RULE 31 

Novation of Existing Contracts 

The novation of a Contract to a new Person irrespective of value requires the 

prior written approval of the Director of Corporate Resources in consultation 

with the Director of Law and Governance (or the Director of ESPO in the case 
of ESPO). 

RULE 32 

Early Termination of Contracts 

Unless a provision for early termination is clearly stated in the Contract, 

Procuring Officers shall seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance 

where it is intended to terminate a contract early. Where the Total Value of 
the Contract is equal to £179,087 or more the prior written approval of the 
Director of Corporate Resources shall also be obtained. 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

RULE 33 

Application of these Rules to ESPO 

(a) Where acting solely on behalf of the Council ESPO must comply 

with these Rules where applicable. 

(b) In cases where ESPO is acting on behalf of the Council: 

(i) ESPO is authorised to act as agent of the Council in place of 

the appropriate Chief Officer or Procuring Officer for the 

purposes of Rules 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 
27 and 28 and these Rules shall be construed accordingly. 

(ii) ESPO is authorised to act as agent of the Chief Executive 

for the purposes of Rules 18, 19 and 20. 

(iii) For the avoidance of doubt, decisions under Rule 23 

shall remain the responsibility of Procuring Officers who 

may receive advice from ESPO. 

210



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 33 of 40 
 

RULE 34 

Document Retention 

(a) All Contract records, that might be required in court proceedings 
must be retained for at least six years and any under seal for at least 

twelve years from expiry of the Contract. 

(b) Where the Contract is externally funded any contingent liabilities 

and/or grant conditions must be taken account of by the length of 
the retention period. 

RULE 35 

Supervision of Contracts by Third Parties 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that it is a condition of any contract 

between the Council and any Person (not being an Officer of the Council) 
who is involved in a Procurement Exercise or the 
management of a contract on behalf of the Council that in relation to that 

contract he must comply with the requirements of these Rules and other 
reasonable requirements of the Council. 

(b) Such Person must: 

(i) at any time during the carrying out of the Contract produce to 

the appropriate Chief Officer or his representative, 
Commercial Specialist or in the case of ESPO an officer with 

delegated authority or Council Auditor on request all records 
maintained by him in relation to the Contract; and 

(ii) on completion of the Contract transmit all records to the 

appropriate Chief Officer, Commercial Specialist or in the 
case of ESPO an officer with delegated authority. 

RULE 36 

Nominated Sub-Contractors and Suppliers 

(a) Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated by the Council to 

a main contractor, the provisions of these Rules shall have effect. 

(b) The terms of an Invitation to Tender under Rule 18 must require an 

undertaking by the Tenderer that, if selected, they will be willing to enter 

into a contract with the main contractor on terms which indemnify the 
main contractor against their own obligations under the main contract in 

relation to the work, supplies or services included in the sub-contract. 

  

211



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 34 of 40 
 

 

SCHEDULE 1  

Interpretation 

1. “appropriate Chief Officer” means the Chief Officer responsible for the 

function to which the Contract relates except that, where another 
Chief Officer is responsible for the letting of the Contract, it shall mean 

that Chief Officer in consultation with the Chief Officer on whose 
behalf the Contract is to be let. Refer to the following for the list of 

Chief Officers: https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-
council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-
the-council (In the case of ESPO the Chief Officer refers to the 

Director of ESPO). 

2. “Best Value” means the duty of the Council to secure continuous 

improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

3. “Chief Finance Officer” is a statutory appointment pursuant to 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. The functions of the 

Chief Finance Officer are set out in Article 12 of Part 2 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

4. “Commercial Specialist” means an Officer authorised by the Director of 

Corporate Resources to manage the procurement of a category or 
categories of goods, services and/or works. If there is no Commercial 
Specialist for the goods, services and/or works being procured then 

the Senior Commercial Specialists or Procurement and 
Commissioning Support Manager will adopt this role. 

5. “Concession Contract” means a works concession Contract or services 

concession Contract for pecuniary interest concluded in writing by 

means of which the Council entrusts the execution of works or the 
provision and the management of services (other than the execution of 

works) to one or more economic operators, the consideration for which 
consists either solely in the right to exploit the works or the services 
that are the subject of the Contract or in that right together with 

payment; and that meets the requirements of Regulation 3(4) of the 
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (CCR 2016). 

Regulation 3(4) of the CCR 2016 further defines the necessary 

requirements of the arrangement for the purposes of the regime, 

which are : 

212

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-the-council
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-the-council
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-the-council


Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 35 of 40 
 

(i) the award of the Contract must transfer to the 

concessionaire the operating risk in exploiting the works or 
services encompassing demand or supply risk or both; and 

(ii) the part of the risk transferred to the concessionaire involves 

real exposure to the vagaries of the market, such that any 
potential estimated loss incurred by the concessionaire is not 
merely nominal or negligible. 

 

6. “Concession Contracts Regulations 2016” means the Concession 

Contracts Regulations 2016 as amended, consolidated, extended, re-
enacted or replaced. These Regulations implement Directive 

2014/23/EU25/EU of the European Parliament is this now Statutory 
Instrument 2016 No. 273 and of the Council on Public Procurement. 

7. "Contract" means a binding agreement between two or more parties 

for performing, or refraining from performing, some specified act(s) in 

exchange for lawful consideration. 

8. "Contract Extension" means an extension to the duration of the 
Contract, but not including any alteration to the scope of the Contract. 

9. “Contracts Finder” means the web-based portal provided for 
the purposes of Part 4 of the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015. 

10. “Contract Opportunity Publication” is the means by which a Procurement 

Exercise is advertised, and includes (where appropriate) the ‘Contract 
Notice’ and Contracts Finder as defined in the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. 

11. “Contract Manager” means an Officer responsible for the 
administration and management of the Contract. 

12. "Contract Modification" means an alteration to the scope of the contract. 

13. “Contracts Register” means a register of (current) contracts, 

commissioned activity, purchase orders, framework agreements and 
any other legally enforceable agreement with a value that exceeds 

£25,000 entered into by the Council and held on the Councils electronic 
tendering system. 

14. “Corporate Contract” means any Contract or Framework Agreement or 

other arrangement approved for use in sourcing a particular 
requirement in consultation with the relevant Commercial Specialist, 
and put in place by the Council itself, ESPO, or any other public sector 

organisation (including other Local Authorities) or consortium in which 

213



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 36 of 40 
 

the Council is entitled to participate and which, where necessary, has 
been awarded in compliance with EU Retained law. 

15. “Council” means Leicestershire County Council. 

16. “Direct Employee: a person who works as an employee of the Council 

and is paid a salary by it, rather than being employed through an 

agency or other third party.” 

17. “Dynamic Purchasing System” means a completely electronic 

process, which has a limited duration, for making commonly used 
purchases, as more particularly defined and described in the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. 

18. “Electronic Tendering System” means an electronic tendering 
system approved in accordance with Rule 5 (h) (ii). 

19. “ESPO” means the Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation being a 

local authority purchasing and distribution consortium of which the 
Council is a joint member authority. 

20. "Estimated Value” means the value as estimated under Rule10. 

21. “E-Tender” means a Tender that has been submitted using an 
Electronic Tendering System. 

22. “EU Retained law” is where some EU law was carried over into UK law 

after the UK exit from the European Union on the 31st December 2020.  

The means by which this was done was via the European Union 
(Withdrawal Act 2018.) The retained EU law includes i) domestic law 

which was implemented or related to former EU obligations; ii) EU 
Legislation which was applicable in the UK without implementing 
legislation; and iii) other rights and principles in EU law (such as EU 

treaties) that has direct effect in the UK. 

23. “Executive” means the executive or committee determined in accordance 

with the Council’s constitution. 

24. “Formal Tender Process” is a process following the requirements of 

Open Tendering, Restricted Tendering, Standing List, Negotiated 

Procedure, Competitive procedure with Negotiation, Competitive 
Dialogue or Innovation Partnership Procedure. And Formal Tender 

shall be construed accordingly. 

25. “Framework Agreement" is a general term for agreements with suppliers 

which set out terms and conditions under which specific purchases 
(call-offs) can be made throughout the term of the agreement. The 

214



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 37 of 40 
 

Framework Agreement may, itself, be a contract to which the EU Retained 
procurement directives and Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Health Care 
Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 apply. 

26. "Further Competition" is undertaken where not all the terms of a 

proposed contract are laid down in a Framework Agreement. It 
involves re-opening competition between the economic operators 

which are parties to the Framework Agreement and which are capable 
of performing the proposed contract, on the basis of the same or, if 

necessary, more precisely formulated terms, and where appropriate 
other terms referred to in the contract documents based on the 

Framework Agreement. 

27.   “Invitation to Tender” means the document(s) containing the 
specification, proposed terms and conditions and other appropriate 

information as issued to the Tenderers to solicit Formal Tenders. 

28.  “Irregular Tender” means a Tender that does not fully comply with the 

instructions given in the Invitation to Tender. 

29.  “Life-Cycle Costing” means all or part of the following costs over the life-

cycle of a product, service or works, to the extent that they are 

relevant: 

(a) Costs of acquisition; 
(b) Costs of use, such as consumption of energy and other resources; 

(c) Maintenance costs; 
(d) End of life costs, such as collection and recycling costs; 

(e) Costs imputed to the environmental externalities linked to the product, 
service or works during its life cycle, provided their monetary value can be 
determined and verified. These costs may include the costs of emissions of 

greenhouse gases and of other pollutant emissions and other climate 
change mitigation costs. 

30. “Light-Touch Services” means those services referred to in regulation 74 

and Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

31. “Officer” means an employee of the Council. 

32. “Person” includes a partnership, body corporate or unincorporated 

association. 

34. “Post Tender Negotiations” means the ability to negotiate with a 
Tenderer after a Tender has been opened and evaluated in accordance 

with the published evaluation criteria for the purposes of securing an 

215



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 38 of 40 
 

improvement in the delivery of the contract including but not limited to 

improvements in price. 

35. “Procurement Exercise” means any process by which goods, services 
and/or works are to be procured including but not limited to Request 

for Quotations and Formal Tender Processes. For the purpose of 
these Rules a contract for a Concession, a contract via a Framework 

Agreement/Dynamic Purchasing system shall be treated as a 

Procurement Exercise. 

36. “Procuring Officer” means any Officer, acting under the delegated 

powers of the appropriate Chief Officer, who is responsible for the 

procurement of works, goods and/or services. 

37. “Provider Selection Regime” means a set of rules for procuring health 

care services in England by organisations termed relevant authorities 
The Provider Selection Regime (PSR) came into force on 1 January 

2024. 

38.  “Public Contracts Regulations 2015” means the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 as amended, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or 

replaced. These Regulations implement Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 

102 and of the Council on Public Procurement. 

39. “Quotation” means an offer to sell works, goods and/or services at a 
stated price under specified conditions. A Quotation may or may not be 

written. 

40. “Request for Quotation” (“RFQ”) means a document or documents 
containing the specification, and proposed terms and conditions issued 

to potential suppliers to solicit written Quotations. 

41. “Standard Terms and Conditions” means standard contractual terms 
used by Leicestershire County Council, including those attached to 

iprocurement orders or orders generated by ‘line of business’ systems, 
those included in Request for Quotation templates, and standard 

industry terms. 

42. “Standard Selection questionnaire” means a questionnaire that 
complies with the Crown Commercial Service statutory guidance 

relating to Standard Selection Questionnaires. 

43. “Standing List” means a list of Persons which has been established in 

accordance with Rule 27. 

216



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 39 of 40 
 

44. “Suitability Assessment Question” means a question which relates to 

the subject matter of the procurement and is proportionate and which 

the Council requires for assessing the Tenderers suitability. 

45. "The Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-26" means the strategy document 
that explains how the Council's commissioning and procurement 

activity will be used between 2018 and 2022 to improve the quality of 
life for the people of Leicestershire and make Leicestershire the best 

possible place to live and work for everyone. 

46. “Tender” means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of 
acceptance by the Council, which is a response to an Invitation to 

Tender. It shall include all documents comprising the submission 
including pricing, technical specification and method statements as 

well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quotation is also a 
Tender. The term “Tender” also includes an E-Tender except where 

the context implies otherwise. 

47. “Tenderer” or “Tenderers” means the Person or Persons invited to 

participate in a Procurement Exercise. 

48. “Total Value” means the value of a contract which has been calculated 

in accordance with Rule 10(b) (excluding Rule 10(b)(vii)) reading 

where appropriate Total Value for Estimated Value. 

49. “UK e-notification service” known as “FTS” (Find a Tender Service) is 

defined in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended). 

50. “UK Threshold” means the respective threshold for Services, Supplies, 

Works or Light-Touch Services contracts referred to in the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 

51. "In writing" or "written" for the purpose of interpreting these Rules 

includes transmission by any electronic means which have been 
approved by the Director of Law and Governance in consultation with 

the Director of Corporate Resources. 

52. Words imparting the masculine include the feminine gender. 

53.    “Rule(s)” means these Contract Procedure rules as may be amended 

from time to time. 

[end of Contract Procedure Rules]

217



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 40 of 40 
 

 

218



Part 4G Contract 
Procedure Rules 
 

Page 1 of 40 
 

Part 4 G 

Contract Procedure Rules 

February 2024 

   

219



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 2 of 40 
 

Part 4 G - Contract Procedure Rules 

GENERAL 

RULE 1 
Compliance 

(a) Officers must comply with these Rules. Failure to do so may result in 

disciplinary action. 

(b) Where a procurement under these rules involves a key decision, as 

determined by the appropriate Chief Officer, then prior to the 
commencement of the procurement this must be taken to the Executive. 

Key decisions are defined in Rule 8 of the Executive Procedure Rules 
(Part 4D) of this Constitution. In the case of ESPO only if a decision does 
not fall within Appendix 4 to Schedule 1: Functions of, and Delegations to 

the Director of ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Director of 
ESPO, the decision can be escalated to the Chief Officers Group or 

Management Committee. 

(c) Sale of council assets are not part of these rules. They are covered by 

Rule 25 Purchasing and income collections and Rule 26 
Inventories and assets of the Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4F) of the 

Constitution. 

RULE 2 
Delegation 

Appropriate Chief Officers and the Director of Law and Governance may 

delegate their responsibilities under these Rules in accordance with Rule 6 of 

Section D (General scheme of delegation to heads of departments) of Part 3 
(Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution. 

RULE 3 

Interpretation 

Words and expressions used in these Rules are to be interpreted in accordance 

with the provisions of Schedule 1. 

RULE 4 

Application 

These Rules apply to every procurement contract made by or on behalf of the 

Council except contracts:

220



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 3 of 40 
 

(a) for only the acquisition or disposal of any interest in land; 

(b) for the lending or borrowing of money; 

(c) of employment (making an individual a direct employee of the 
Council). 

(d) for financial services in connection with the issue, sale, purchase or 

transfer of securities or other financial instruments within the meaning 
of the Financial Services and Market Act 2000 (Markets in Financial 
Instruments) Regulation 2017 – UK Statutory Instruments 2017 No. 

701. 

PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 

RULE 5 

General Requirements 

(a) Every Contract or official order for works, supplies or services made by the 

Council shall be for the purpose of implementing the Council’s policies and 

must be made in accordance with the Council's duty of Best Value and in 
line with the Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-26. 

(b) (i) Social Value will be considered in any contract with an estimated 
value equal to or greater than £50,000 in one of the of the 

following two ways: 

• As award criteria linked to the Council’s Social Value 

Policy Statement and the Council’s Strategic Plan 2022 – 

2026; 

• As Outcomes built into the Specification or contract. 

(ii) Social Value will be addressed at contract management for any 

contract with a value equal to or greater than £50,000. 

(iii) Where Social Value has not been considered within either the 

tender process or specification, the reason shall be recorded 
and forwarded for approval to the relevant Commercial 

Specialist. 

(c) Where the services are Light-Touch Services the threshold for contracts 

for public supply or services contracts applies for the purposes of the 
Social Value Act, being the sum specified in regulation 5 (1) (d) of the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

(d) Where the services are required to be procured under The Health Care 

Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023, Social Value will 
need to be considered regardless of the estimated contract value. 

221



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 4 of 40 
 

(e) Use of Corporate Contracts: The Procuring Officer must ensure that 

whenever Corporate Contracts have been approved by a Commercial 

Specialist that supplies, services and works are ordered via these. 
Intention to award via these contracts where the value exceeds £25,000 
the Procuring Officer should include consultation with the relevant 

Commercial Specialist, before completing the award. The Procuring 
Officer must consider what risks the contract presents ahead of any 

procurement exercise, considerations must include those relating to 
Health and Safety, Business Continuity, Compliance with the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 and Information Security. The Procuring Officer may not 

procure outside of the Corporate Contract unless it is agreed by the 
Commercial Specialist that better value for money can be clearly 

demonstrated outside of these approved Corporate Contracts. All such 
instances involving ESPO must be notified to ESPO by the Commercial 
Specialist. 

(f) Procedures set out in the relevant EU Retained law, Acts of Parliament 

and UK legislation (including for the avoidance of doubt the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, 
the Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 

and where applicable the Public Contracts Regulations 2006) must be 
complied with at all times. 

(g) Based on criteria laid down by the Executive, the Chief Finance Officer 

will be responsible for evaluating the financial status of Tenderers and 
suppliers. 

(h) The Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient budget provision has 

been agreed with the budget holder prior to any Procurement Exercise 

being undertaken. 

(i) Procurement Exercises should usually be undertaken by electronic 

means provided that:- 

(j) the requirements of these Rules are followed with only such 
modifications as may be necessary to allow for procurement by 

such means; and 
 

(ii) any electronic tendering system has been approved by the 
Director of Law and Governance following consultation with 

the Director of Corporate Resources. 

(i) Subject to the provisions of Rule 28(b) Contracts shall not be longer 

than 5 years (including extensions) in duration or of indeterminate 
length without the prior written approval of the Director of Corporate 
Resources, such approval to be obtained prior to the commencement 

of the Procurement Exercise. 

222



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 5 of 40 
 

RULE 6  

Exceptions 

What is the Exception? 

 

What approval is required? 

6a) Direct purchase for supplies, 
materials, services or works which 

are available only as proprietary 
and/or patented articles, services or 
works from one contractor or 

supplier where there is no 
reasonably satisfactory alternative 

available in the UK and for repairs 
(to maintain warranties) to, or the 
supply of, parts of existing 

proprietary or patented articles or 
works, including machinery or plant. 

Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist. 

 
In addition: 

• Where the contract value/ exception is 

equal to or exceeds £100,000 the 
exception must be approved by the 

Assistant Director for Finance. 

• Where the contract value/ exception is 

equal to or exceeds £179,087 a copy of 
the exception form and reasons must 
be authorised by the Director of 

Corporate Resources and the Director 
of Law and Governance. 

 
Where the contract value/ exception is below 
£25,000 Rule 11 can apply. 

 
The approved form must be retained in the 

appropriate file. 

6b) Direct purchase without 
advertising of works of art, museum 
specimens or historical documents. 

Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 
for an exception. 

 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  
In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds £25,000, 
involvement required of the Supplier 

Relationship Manager to ensure value 
for money is attained. 

• Where the contract is equal to or 
exceeds £179,087 a copy of the 
exception form/note and reasons must 

be authorised by the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance. 
 

223



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 6 of 40 
 

The approved form must be retained in the 

appropriate file. 

6c) Direct purchase for the following 
social care services provided that 

the Estimated Value of such 
services does not exceed the UK 
threshold for Light-Touch service 

contracts: 
i.) residential placements sought for 

an individual with a registered care 
provider of their choice; 
ii.) supported living services sought 

for an individual with an appropriate 
care and support provider of their 

choice under the National Health 
Service and Community Care Act 
1990 and Care Act 2014; 

iii.) social care packages managed 
by or on behalf of individual clients 

under the personalisation agenda; 
iv.) where certain needs of an 
individual (either an adult or a child) 

require a particular social care 
package, which is only available 

from a specific provider in the 
opinion of the appropriate Chief 
Officer. 

v.) residential placements sought for 
an individual under the Shared 

Lives scheme (or any equivalent 
scheme). 
 

Exception note must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  

In addition: 

• Supplier Relationship Manager should 

be consulted to ensure value for money 
is attained. 

 

The approved note must be retained in the 
appropriate file. 

 
In each case the appropriate Chief Officer 
must ensure that the provider meets the 

relevant national minimum standards 
legislative or otherwise, (for example those 

standards set by the Care Act 2014, OFSTED 
and HMI) and Contract Procedure Rules that a 
record of the reasons for the choice of 

provider is maintained on the individual’s case 
notes as well as submitting to the relevant 

Commercial Specialist justification and 
evidence for exception placements.  
 

A record of the annual cumulative expenditure 
with each provider will be maintained by each 
directorate and made available for audit. 

 

6d) Direct purchase for those 
unforeseen emergencies, where 

immediate action is required to fulfil 
the Council’s statutory obligations 

under the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004  

Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 

Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds £25,000, 

involvement required of the Supplier 
Relationship Manager to ensure value 
for money is attained. 

 

• Where the contract is equal to or 

exceeds £179,087 a copy of the 
exception form and reasons must be 
authorised by the Director of Corporate 

224



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 7 of 40 
 

Resources and the Director of Law and 

Governance. 
 

The approved form must be retained in the 
appropriate file.  

6e) Other exceptions to these Rules  Exception form must be completed outlining 
the full reasons for the request and the need 

for an exception. 
 

Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice of the 
Commercial Specialist.  

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds £25,000, 

involvement required of the Supplier 
Relationship Manager to ensure value 

for money is attained.  

• Where the contract is equal to or 
exceeds £100,000 the exception must 

be authorised by the Assistant Director 
for Finance and also; 

• Where the contract is equal to or 
exceeds £179,087 a copy of the 
exception form and reasons must be 

also authorised by the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance along with the 
Executive and Leader or Deputy 
Leader where the Leader is not 

practical. The requesting department is 
responsible for ensuring Cabinet 

approval is sought; 

• In an urgent case the Chief Executive 

after consultation with the Council 
Leader or Deputy Leader (save where 
this is not practicable) may direct that 

an exception be made subject to this 
being reported to the next meeting of 

the Executive. 
  
The approved form must be retained in the 

appropriate file. 
 

 

225



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 8 of 40 
 

RULE 7 
Financial Thresholds and Delegation 

(a) Financial limits and thresholds within these Rules may be varied from time to time by 
the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
(b)   Arrangements for delegation of functions to Officers within these Rules may be varied 

from time to time by the Chief Executive. 

 

RULE 8 

Annual Reporting 

(a) The Director of Corporate Resources, in consultation with the Director of Law and 

Governance, shall at least once in each financial year submit a report to the Corporate 

Governance Committee in relation to the operation of these Rules (except those 
granted under Rule 6(iv)) and approved extensions to contract where not provided for 
in the contract, and proposed revisions to these Rules and/or changes required to 

accommodate the requirements of UK and EU Retained procurement law as may be 
necessary from time to time. 
 

(b) An annual summary of the number of contracts awarded using the Provider Selection 
Regime, in the year to which the summary relates where Direct Award Process A, 
Direct Award Process B, Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process 

or the Competitive Process was followed. 

RULE 9 

Prevention of Corruption / Conflict of Interest 

(a) The Employee Code of Conduct (Part 5b of the Constitution) applies to any 

Procurement Exercise. 

(b) The following clause, or a clause that is substantially similar, will be included as a 

standard term and condition in every written contract in accordance with Rule 25(c): 

"The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss from the Contractor if 

the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor's behalf do any of 

the following things: 

(i) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any personal inducement or reward in 

respect of this or any other Council contract (even if the contractor does not 
know what has been done); or 

(ii) commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or give any fee or reward, 

the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local 

Government Act 1972; or 

226



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 9 of 40 
 

(iii) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council contract 
whether alone or in conjunction with Council 

members, contractors or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor's liability shall not apply to this clause". 

(c) The Council’s Supplier Code of Conduct applies to any Procurement Exercise. 

RULE 9A 

Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 

Where appropriate, the Contract shall make appropriate provision for information sharing 

between the Contractor and the Council in line with the General Data Protection Regulation 

(GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018, and/or such other measures as are appropriate, 
such as staff training, to support the Council in meeting its duty under section 26 of the 

Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 to have due regard to the need to prevent people 
from being drawn into terrorism. 

PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

RULE 10 

Pre-Estimate 

(a)    Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate its 

Estimated Value in accordance with this Rule. The estimated value for the 
Procurement must not be subdivided for the purpose of reducing the total value of 

the contract for multiple procurements. 

(b)    The Estimated Value shall be calculated as follows: 

(i) Where the contract period is fixed the Estimated Value shall be the total 

estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or works to be 
supplied over the period covered including any extensions to the contract; 

(ii) Where the contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Value shall be 

calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly value by 48; 

(iii) For feasibility studies the Estimated Value shall include the value of 

the study and any subsequent contracts which may be awarded to 
the same supplier as a result where this is known; 

(iv) For Concession Contracts the Estimated Value shall be the 

estimated financial value to the supplier that shall be made over the 

duration of the Contract, net of value added tax; 

227



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 10 of 40 
 

(v) The Estimated Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but 

must include all other taxes and duties; 

(vi) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from 

the same or different suppliers, must be aggregated over a minimum 
of a 12 month period; 

(vii) Where the Council may be contributing only part of the Total Value 

of a contract, it is nevertheless the total Estimated Value that should 

be applied in determining the correct procedures to be applied under 
these Rules. 

(c) Where there is any doubt as to the Estimated Value then the procedure for the 

higher threshold in Rule 11 must be used. 

(d) Where the Estimated Value is: 

(i) £5,000 or more the Procuring Officer must notify in writing the appropriate 

Commercial Specialist of the Estimated Value before proceeding. A written 
record of that Estimated Value must then be kept on file by the Procuring 
Officer. 

(ii) £25,000 or more the spend controls guidance must be followed and a 
Procurement Initiation Document used (this is not 

applicable to ESPO). 

RULE 11 
Procurement Exercise Process 

(a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 10, Table 1 below makes 

provision for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement 

Exercise. 

(b) In the case of a contract for individual independent day or residential school 

placement sought for a child with Special Educational Needs (SEN) with an 
Estimated Contract Value up to the UK Threshold for Light Touch Services three 

quotes must be sought. 

(c) In the case of a contract or framework agreement for healthcare services (as 

defined by Schedule 1 of the Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) 
Regulations 2023), the Procuring Officer must seek the advice of a Commercial 
Specialist on a suitable Process to follow under these Regulations. If Direct 

Award Process A, B, C or The Most Suitable Provider Process are considered 
the most appropriate route to market, approval must be sought from the Head of 
Procurement & Supply Chain Management. 

228



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 11 of 40 
 

(d) All contracts with an Estimated Value equal to or greater than the UK Threshold 

must be referred to the Commissioning Support Unit prior to the 

commencement of the Procurement Exercise. The Commissioning Support 
Unit shall advise the Procuring Officer on the appropriate route to market 
which may include the use of ESPO and ESPO framework agreements, 

Crown Commercial Services framework agreements, etc. 

(d) Details of oral Quotations must be confirmed in writing. 

(e) Where any Corporate Contracts or Standing Lists have been set up for 

supplies, services or works then these Rules are deemed to have been 
satisfied when the arrangement was set up and do not have to be further 

applied, if appropriately used. When the Corporate Contract is a Framework 
Agreement then the Procuring Officer must comply with Rule 28(c) after 
consultation with a relevant Commercial Specialist on the suitability of the 

framework intended to be used. When using a Standing List the Procuring 
Officer must comply with Rule 27. 

(f) All procurements over £25,000 must be approved before any procurement 

activity, by the Commissioning Support Unit via the spend controls guidance 

and use of the Procurement Initiation Document (this is not applicable to 
ESPO). 

Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions 

see Rule 6): 

Estimated 
Contract Value Procurement  

Process 

Minimum Contract Opportunity 

Publication 
Documentation 

From Up To 

£0 £5,000 
Obtain a minimum of 

one oral/written 

Quotation 

None Record details 

Above 
£5,000 

£25,000 
Seek to obtain a 
minimum of 3 written 

Quotations 

When inviting quotations officers 
should consider the benefits of 
including a local supplier in the 
invitation to quote where 

appropriate or applicable to the 

contract.* 

Record details. 

(If three Quotations cannot 
be obtained a record of the 

reasons for this must be 
agreed in consultation with 
the appropriate 

Commercial Specialist.) 
When inviting quotations 
officers should consider the 

benefits of including a local 
supplier in the invitation to 
quote where appropriate or 

applicable to the Contract. 
 

229



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 12 of 40 
 

Estimated Contract 
Value Procurement  

Process 

Minimum Contract 

Opportunity Publication 
Documentation 

From Up To 

Above 

£25,000 

Up to but  
not  
including  

£179,087 

Seek written  

Quotations 

(to be based on a 
Request for 

Quotation document 
where practical) 

For exceptions see 
Rule 6(b) 

Contracts Finder and on a 
website approved by the 
Director of Corporate 
Resources for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 

market. 

Request for Quotation 
issued by the Procuring 
Officer and Quotations 
received. 

Relevant UK 
Threshold 

Goods/services: 

£179,087 before 
VAT 

Works, 

Concessions and 
Utilities: 
£4,477,175 

before VAT 

Light touch 
regime: 

£552,950 

 

 

 

 

 

Above 

 

Formal Tender 
Process (Refer to 
Commissioning 

Support) 

The UK e-notification 
service where required, 
Contracts Finder and on a 

Website approved by the 
Director of Corporate 
Resources for the purpose 

of notifying the supply 
market. 

 

Formal Tender and sealed 
bids (should be submitted 
via an electronic tendering 

system, see Rule 18(d)). 

 

* These are total contract spend estimates equaling total contract value over the term of the contract. 
* All values are not inclusive of VAT, the Threshold figures inclusive of VAT can be used on a project by project 
basis if it is deemed beneficial. 

* The Council cannot give preference to local suppliers, as there are legislative constraints and such a policy 
would be incompatible with Best Value. However, the Council recognises that there can be barriers limiting or 
restricting the ability of smaller suppliers to compete for Council business. The Council will seek to reduce the 
impact of such barriers, where it can do so legally, without discrimination, and without placing unacceptable 
levels of risk on the Council. 

RULE 12 

Suitability Assessment and Award Evaluation Criteria 

(a) The Council shall not include a pre-qualification questionnaire stage where 

the value of the procurement is below the UK Threshold set out in Reg. 5 
(1) (c) of the Public Contacts Regulations 2015. Below the UK Threshold 

only Suitability Assessment Questions may be asked. A standard form of 
Suitability Assessment Questions must be used. 

(b) In a Procurement Exercise with an estimated Value equal to or greater than 

the UK Threshold both selection and award criteria must be included. A 

230



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 13 of 40 
 

Standard Selection Questionnaire or the Single Procurement Document 
must be used for the selection criteria; 

(c) Selection criteria must be included in the evaluation process where 

applying the Open Tendering procedure (Rule 15) or must be the only 

criteria used for the shortlisting methodology where applying the 
Restricted Tendering procedure (Rule 16). 

RULE 13 
Award and Evaluation Criteria 

(a) The award criteria shall be based on the most economically advantageous 

Tender from the Council’s point of view. That Tender shall be identified on 
the basis of price or cost, using a cost- effectiveness approach, such as Life-

Cycle Costing and may include the best price-quality ratio which shall be 
assessed on the basis of criteria, such as qualitative, environmental and/or 

social aspects or any other criteria linked to the subject-matter of the 
Contract in question. 

(b) When procuring Healthcare services, the five Key Criteria as stated in the 

Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 must 

all be evaluated. These are: 

• Quality and innovation 

• Value 

• Integration, collaboration, and service sustainability 
• Improving access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice 

• Social value 

(c) Before a contract can be awarded following an Open Tender procedure the 

supplier must meet the minimum standard for the selection criteria included 
in the evaluation process. 

(d) In the case of a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value of 

£25,000 or more the process for identifying the most economically 

advantageous Tender, including selection and award criteria, must be 
agreed in consultation with the appropriate Commercial Specialist and 
included in the RFQ/Invitation to Tender and a copy retained on file. 

(e) The Procuring Officer must notify all Tenderers of the award methodology 

and evaluation criteria being used in the case of the contract in question. If 
weightings are to be applied to the criteria then the Procuring Officer must 
ensure that these are also incorporated into the Invitation to Tender. 

 

231



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 14 of 40 
 

RULE 14 
Contract Opportunity Publication 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed by the appropriate Chief Officer, the Procuring 

Officer must ensure, for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated 
Value of £25,000 or more but less than the relevant UK Threshold, that 

Contract Opportunity Publication is given on a website approved by the 
Director of Corporate Resources for the purpose of notifying the supply 

market. 

(b) All Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more 

must be advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when 
the Procurement Exercise is advertised in any other way. Procurement 
exercises over the relevant UK Threshold must be advertised on the UK e-

notification service known as Find a Tender Service (FTS) and on 
Contracts Finder. 

(c) For all proposed contracts which are advertised where the Estimated 

Value is below the UK Threshold, a period of at least ten working days 

should be allowed between the date when an Invitation to Tender 
becomes available to all bidders and either: 

(i) the deadline for receipt of Tenders where an Open Tendering 

procedure is being used; or 

(ii) the deadline for receipt of the standard form of Suitability 

Assessment Questions or the Single Procurement Document, 
where a Restricted Tendering procedure is being used. 

(d) The Contract Opportunity Publication must express the nature and 

purpose of the Procurement Exercise, stating where further details may 
be obtained, how and to whom an interested supplier is to respond and 

any other requirements such as suitability requirements or explanatory 
information. 

(e) If the Estimated Value exceeds the relevant UK Threshold the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that Contract Opportunity Publication is 
first published on the UK e-notification service known as Find a 
Tender Service (FTS) and then on a website approved by the Director 

of Corporate Resources for the purpose of notifying the supply market 
and in Contracts Finder. 

(f) A Procurement Exercise that is equal to or more than the UK 

Threshold for Light-Touch Services must be procured in compliance 

with Chapter 3, section 7 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

232



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 15 of 40 
 

(g) Where a contract opportunity is equal to or greater than the UK  

Threshold a Contract Opportunity Publication should not appear in any 
form before publication on the UK e-notification service and neither 

should any advertisement contain any more information than that 
published on the UK e-notification service known as Find a Tender 
Service (FTS). 

(h) The advertising requirements set out in this Rule 14 are minimum 

requirements and do not preclude further Contract Opportunity 
Publication where appropriate (e.g. in the local newspaper, trade or 
professional journal, the Council website). 

233



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 16 of 40 
 

PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

RULE 15 
Open Tendering 

Under Open Tendering, Procuring Officers must send Invitations to Tender to all 

those Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who 
meet the requirements stated therein. Where the opportunity has been 

advertised via the electronic tendering system the Invitation to Tenders and all 
supporting documents must be made available in the system for all interested 

parties to access subject to confidentiality agreement where applicable. 

RULE 16 
Restricted Tendering 

(a)   Subject to Rule 16 (b), this Rule applies to Tenders where the 
Estimated Value is equal to or exceeds the UK Threshold. 

(b)   Where the services being tendered are Light-Touch Services the 

Procuring Officer may choose to use this Restricted Tendering 

procedure but is not required to. 

(c) Under Restricted Tendering, Procuring Officers need only send 
Invitations to Tender to: 

(i) not less than five of the Persons who respond to the 

Contract Opportunity Publication and who best meet the 

shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 12(c); or 

(ii) where fewer than five Persons have applied or are considered 
suitable, to all those Persons who equal or exceed the 

minimum requirements for the shortlisting methodology 
agreed in Rule 12(c). 

(d)  The shortlisting criteria and process must be prepared (in 
consultation with the Commercial Specialist) in advance of the issue 

of the Standard Selection Questionnaire or the Single Procurement 

Document and a copy retained on file. 

(e)   All Persons that do not qualify for inclusion on the shortlist to receive 

an Invitation to Tender must receive notice that they have been 
excluded from the Procurement Exercise. Any Person requesting in 

234



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 17 of 40 
 

writing the reasons why they were unsuccessful shall be informed by 
the Procuring Officer of the reasons for the Council's decision. 

RULE 17 
Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, 

Competitive Dialogue Procedure and Innovation Partnership Procedure 

The Negotiated Procedure, Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, 

Competitive Dialogue Procedure or Innovation Partnership Procedure must 
only be used with the prior approval of the Director of Law and Governance 

and the Director of Corporate Resources. Competitive Procedure with 
Negotiation or Competitive Dialogue can only be used when criteria under 
PCR Reg.26(4) are met. Competitive Procedure with Negotiation or 
Competitive Dialogue can only be used when criteria under PCR Reg. 26(4) 
are met. 

RULE 17A 

Concession Contracts 

Procuring Officers must only establish Concession Contracts with prior 

consultation of the Director of Law and Governance and with the prior 

approval of the Director of Corporate Resources also in the case of 

Concession Contracts above the UK Threshold. 

RULE 18 
Invitations to Tender 

(a) Every Invitation to Tender must specify the latest day and hour and the 

place appointed for the receipt of Tenders and must state the effect of 
Rule 19. 

(b) Procuring Officers must give all Tenderers the same information about 

the Procurement Exercise and in particular information relating to the 

Tender process, specification, award methodology and evaluation 
criteria and the terms and conditions of the Contract or Framework 

agreement. 

(c) Procuring Officers must also give all Tenderers the same information 

relating to questions, answers and clarifications raised during the 
Procurement Exercise unless they relate solely to another Person’s 

Tender. 

235



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 18 of 40 
 

(d) All Procurement Exercises equal to or greater than £25,000 shall be 

handled via an Electronic Tendering System where possible. Only in 
exceptional cases may a Procurement Exercise be undertaken not using 
an Electronic Tendering System. Paper Tenders must be submitted to, 

addressed to and opened by the Chief Executive. Where the Estimated 
value is below £25,000 the Tenders may be returned directly to the 

Procuring Officer. 

(e) Where an Electronic Tendering System is not available and paper 

Tenders are to be received by the Chief Executive, the Procuring Officer 
must send to the Chief Executive a note of the subject and the closing 

date and time and (where appropriate) a list of the Persons invited to 
Tender together with the Estimated Value before the closing date for 
receipt of Tenders. 

RULE 19 

Irregular Tenders 

(a) An Irregular Tender must not be accepted by either the Chief 

Executive or the Procuring Officer, other than in accordance with this 
Rule. 

(b) A Tender is not valid unless it has been either submitted via an Electronic 
Tendering System or in the case of paper tenders 

delivered to the place appointed in accordance with Rule 18 and not later 

than the appointed day and hour. 

(c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or 

greater than £179,087 are not valid unless they are received in a plain 
sealed envelope or parcel addressed to the Chief Executive. The 

envelope or package must bear the word “Tender” followed by the subject 
to which it relates. 

(d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the 
Electronic Tendering System used. 

(e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it 

does not fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender 

and/or because it is received after the appointed time for receipt or does 
not comply with Rules 19(b) or 19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(f) and 
19(g) apply. 

(f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date 
and time may be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if 

there is clear evidence of it having:- 

236



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 19 of 40 
 

(i) been posted by first class post at least a day before the 
closing date; OR 

(ii) been posted by second class post at least three days before 

the closing date; OR 

(iii) been placed in the custody of a courier who has provided 

written assurance of delivery prior to the closing date and time. 

(g) If in other cases of Irregular Tenders the Chief Executive considers that 

there are exceptional circumstances and that the Tenderer who submitted 
the Irregular Tender has gained no advantage from its irregularity he may 

determine to accept the Irregular Tender and authorise that it be opened 
and evaluated together with any other Tenders in accordance with Rule 
20. The Chief Executive shall record in writing the reasons why each 

Irregular Tender has been accepted or rejected. 

(h) Irregular Tenders that the Chief Executive has rejected under this Rule 

must be returned to the Tenderer by the Chief Executive with a covering 
letter stating the reason for their rejection. 

RULE 20 
Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

(a) Rules 20(b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is 

equal to or greater than £179,087 before VAT and the Tender is not an E-
Tender. Rule 20(g) applies to E-Tenders only. 

(b) On receipt of non-electronic Tenders, envelopes containing the Tenders 

must be date and time stamped by the Chief Executive and shall remain 

in his custody until they are opened. 

(c) The Chief Executive must keep a record of all non-electronic Tenders 
received. 

(d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two 

Officers one of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who 

is designated by the Chief Executive. Each Officer must initial each 
Tender once opened which must also be date stamped. 

(e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Chief Executive 

upon the record which must be signed by the Officers present at the 
opening, together with a note of all Irregular Tenders. 

237



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 20 of 40 
 

(f) The Chief Executive must forthwith send a copy of the record to the 

appropriate Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy 
himself. 

(g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the 
Electronic Tendering System used. 

RULE 21 

Errors or Discrepancies in Tenders 

(a) Tenderers are not allowed to alter their Tenders after opening save in 

accordance with this Rule or Rule 22. 

(b) Where it is suspected that there has been an error in a Tender and 

following the closing date for receipt of Tenders but before  
acceptance of any Tender discussions may take place with  
Tenderers in order to: 

(i) ensure that the Tender is constructed correctly; or 

(ii) ensure that the Tenderer has fully understood the  

specification; or 

(iii) seek clarification from Tenderers of cost, quality and  
performance indicators. 

(c) A written note of the discussions must be made to record the 

suspected error, date, time, detail of the discussion and any 
agreement reached. 

RULE 22 

Discussions and Post Tender Negotiations 

(a) In the case where the Estimated Value is below the relevant UK 

Threshold, the Procuring Officer in consultation with the appropriate 
Commercial Specialist may carry out Post Tender Negotiations with the 

Tenderer submitting the most competitive Tender in an attempt to secure 
improvements in the price or economic advantage in one or more of the 
following circumstances: 

(i) where the most competitive Tender (according to the pre-

determined award methodology and evaluation criteria) 
submitted exceeds the Estimated Value; 

238



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 21 of 40 
 

(ii) where it is considered that the price of the most competitive 

Tender submitted does not represent the best value for money 
that can reasonably be obtained; 

(iii) where Tenders have been invited only on the basis of unit 

prices or a schedule of rates and the lowest in aggregate is 

not the lowest on all items; 

(iv) where the most competitive Tender contains conditions, 
trading terms, guarantees, or provisions relating to 

performance or service delivery less favourable than in other 

Tenders, or than stipulated for and this defect appears 
capable of being remedied by Post Tender Negotiations. 

(b)    When conducting Post Tender Negotiations, the following additional Rules 
shall apply: 

(i) At no time during the negotiations must a Tenderer be 

informed of the detail of any other Tender submitted or as to 

whether or not the Tender he submitted was the lowest. 

(ii) During negotiations in person there must always be present at 
least two officers of the Council. 

(iii) A note of the negotiations will be made by one of the 

Officers present recording those present, the time and 

location of the negotiations, detail of the discussion and any 
agreement reached. 

(iv) Post Tender Negotiations shall not enable any material 

departure from the published specification. The Director of Law 

and Governance shall determine whether any proposed 
change to the specification constitutes a material departure. 

(c) Post Tender Negotiations are not allowed in the case of contracts 

with an Estimated Value exceeding the relevant UK Threshold. 

However, clarifications of errors or discrepancies in Tenders 
may take place in accordance with Rule 21. 

239



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 22 of 40 
 

AWARD OF CONTRACT 

RULE 23 

Acceptance of Tenders 

(a) A Tender can only be accepted in accordance with the initial award 
methodology and evaluation criteria as set out in Rule 13. Any 
evaluation sheets must be maintained on file in accordance with Rule 34. 

(b) Any Tender with an Estimated Value of below £25,000 (where a Request 

for Quotation or an Invitation to Tender is not used) may only be accepted 

with the prior written approval of the appropriate Commercial Specialist. 

(c) If the Tender to be accepted exceeds the budget which was agreed in 

accordance with Rule 5(g) the Procuring Officer must ensure that 
sufficient funds are available and approved by the appropriate budget 

holder, appropriate Chief Officer or Executive prior to accepting the 
Tender. 

(d) Where an abnormally low Tender is submitted the Council shall require 

the Tenderer to explain in writing the price or costs proposed and may 

only reject the Tender where the explanation is 
unsatisfactory. Where it is established that the Tender is low due to 
breaches of environmental, social or labour law, the Council must reject 

the Tender. 

(e) Subject to Rule 1, the appropriate Chief Officer shall have the authority to 

accept a Tender but in any particular circumstance may decline to give 
approval and refer the decision to the Executive to determine. 

 RULE 24  

Notification of Contract Award 

(a) The Procuring Officer must notify the successful Tenderer of the 

acceptance of their Tender and for all Procurement Exercises with an 
Estimated Value of £5,000 or more this notification must be in writing. 

(b) In the case where the Estimated Value is £25,000 or more the Procuring 

Officer must notify in writing all Tenderers who submitted a Tender of the 
decision as soon as possible after the decision has been made. 

240



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 23 of 40 
 

(c) Where a Contract with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more is awarded 

the Council must publish information as required by the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 on Contracts Finder within 90 calendar days of the date 
the Contract was awarded. 

(d) In the case where the Estimated Value is equal to or greater than the 

relevant UK Threshold the following additional Rules shall apply: 

(i) The notice in Rule 24 (b) shall include the award criteria, the 

reasons for the decision, including the successful Tenderer's 
score, the score (if any) of the Tenderer receiving the notice, 

and the characteristics and (if appropriate) relative advantages 
of the successful Tenderer's Tender, any reasons why the 
recipient of the notice did not meet the technical specification, 

the name of the Tenderer awarded the Contract, as well as the 
date when the standstill period required in accordance with 

Rule 24 (d)(ii) will come to an end. 

(ii) A minimum period of 10 calendar days must elapse between 

the day of sending the notice in Rule 24 (b) and the date on 
which the Council enters into a contract, if the notice is sent 

electronically. Where the notice is sent by other means then 
either 15 days from the day of sending the notice or 10 days 
from the day of receipt of the notice by the last Tenderer to 

receive the notice must elapse. In all cases counting the day 
after sending the notice as day 1. The standstill period must 

end on a working day. 

(iii) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that a UK e-notification 

service contract award notice known as Find a Tender Service 
(FTS) is placed within 30 days of the contract award where 
required. In the case where contracts are awarded under the 

regime covering Light Touch Services or Dynamic Purchasing 
System, award notices may be grouped together in 

accordance with regulation 74 for Light-Touch Services and 
regulation 50(5) for Dynamic Purchasing Systems. 

(iv) For every Contract or Framework Agreement covered by the 

Public Contract Regulations, and every time a Dynamic 

Purchasing System is established, the Procuring Officer shall 
draw up a written report in accordance with the requirements 
outlined in regulation 84 of PCR. 

(e) The Procuring Officer must notify the appropriate Commercial Specialist in 

writing of any contract (including framework call off contracts) that has been 
awarded with a Total Value of £5,000 or more.  

241



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 24 of 40 
 

(f) In the case of the Provider Selection Regime the relevant notification to 
awards must be adhered to dependent on the route to market deemed 
most appropriate 

 
RULE 25 

Form of Contract 

(a) A Contract shall be formed: 

(i) by exchange of letter or electronic communication accepting 

the successful Tender and incorporating the Invitation to 

Tender or Request for Quotation and the outcome of any 
subsequent negotiations and discussions; or 

(ii) by completion of a formal contract incorporating the 

Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation, the Tender 

and the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and/or 
discussions; or 

(iii) by placing an order in accordance with Rule 26. 

(b) In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of contract, 

the Procuring Officer must ensure that the appropriate Standard 

Terms and Conditions are incorporated unless the Procuring Officer 
having consulted the appropriate Director of Law and Governance 
and the appropriate Commercial Specialist considers it inappropriate 

to do so. 

(c) All contracts with an Estimated Value of £25,000 or more must be in 
writing and where appropriate the appropriate Chief Officer shall: 

(i) ensure that the Contract includes a definition of the 

circumstances that will be considered to constitute a default on 
the terms of the Contract by the supplier. The Contract must 

provide for notice of default to be given to the supplier and for 
any resulting losses to be recovered from the supplier if the 
default is not rectified. 

(ii) decide whether it is necessary to require suppliers to provide a 

Performance Bond with a third party. The need for this will 
depend on an assessment of the risk associated with the 
contract or the supplier. 

(iii) ensure that the contract provides for the supplier to have an 

insurance policy, which can be inspected during the contract 
period. The Chief Finance Officer shall be consulted on the 

insurance requirements. 

242



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 25 of 40 
 

(iv) consult the Chief Finance Officer on the appropriate VAT 
requirements. 
 

(d) Every contract must be signed (by electronic means or otherwise) by the appropriate 
Officer as defined in the scheme of delegation table below. 
 

(e) The Director of Law and Governance has designated the following officers to sign 
contracts, in accordance with Article 14.04(a): 

 

Contract Value (including 

possible extensions) 

Designated 
Officer  

authorised 
to sign the 

contract 

From 

£0 

Up to 

£24,999 

Team 

Manager 

(Grade 12-

14) 

From 

£2
5,0

00 

Up to 

£175,00

0 

Head of 
Service 

(Grade 15-

17) 

From  

£175

,001 

Up to 

£499,999 
Assistant 
Director 

(Grade 17-

19) 

From 

£500,000 and above 
Director 
(Grade 18 

and above) 

 

(f) The Procuring Officer shall comply with the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 requirements and 
shall include in the contract appropriate provisions. 

243



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 26 of 40 
 

(g) The Procuring Officer shall ensure the contract includes a Right 

to Audit Clause. 

RULE 25A 

Contract Management 

(Rule 25A is not yet adopted by ESPO) 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall advise the Commercial Officer or 

Commercial Specialist who shall immediately upon completion of every 
Procurement Exercise; 

(i) In respect of contracts having a value of less than 

£25,000 and where the Electronic Tendering System has 

not been used, enter the Contract details in the Council’s 
contracts register; 

(ii) In respect of contracts of whatever value handled via the 

Electronic Tendering System the Procuring Officer shall 

ensure that the details of the Contract are published in the 
Council’s contracts register. 

(b) All contracts shall be managed in accordance with these Rules and the 

Council’s contract management toolkit which can be found in the 

Commissioning Toolkit on the Council’s intranet. 

(c) The authorised officer or Contract Manager responsible for the 
management of the Contract shall: 

(i) Obtain prior approval in accordance with Rule 30 before 

proceeding to authorise (in writing) any modification/extension 
to the Contract; 

(ii) Ensure all documentation is uploaded to the Council’s 

Contracts Register; 

(iii) Ensure that a record is kept of all certificates and 

instructions issued under the Contract; 

(iv) Keep documents in support of each payment showing how 

the payment amount has been valued and maintain a record 

of all such payments including any professional fees; 

(v) Prior to the contract renewal notice period for a contract, 

consult the relevant Commercial Specialist to review 
opportunities for contract negotiations for favourable contract 

terms; 

(vi) Before terminating any contract and in particular for 
breach, consult the Director of Law and Governance; 

(vii) Resolve all contractual matters and contractual claims, and 

issue any final account and final certificate in accordance 

244



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 27 of 40 
 

with the terms of the Contract, taking advice from the Director 

of Law and Governance. 

RULE 26 

Orders for work, goods and services 

Orders for work, goods and services must only be placed in accordance with 
Instruction 8 of the Standard Financial Instructions. 

STANDING LISTS 

RULE 27 

Standing Lists 

(a) Standing Lists must not be created or added to without the prior written 

approval of the appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the 
appropriate Commercial Specialist. 

(b) Procuring Officers must not use a Standing List where the total value of 

contracts to be awarded using the Standing List is estimated to exceed 

the relevant UK Threshold. 

(c) The Standing List must contain the names of all Persons who are 

approved and indicate the categories of contract and the values or 
amounts in respect of those categories for which those Persons are 

approved. 

(d) At least four weeks before a list is first compiled, the Procuring Officer 

must publish on a website approved by the Director of Corporate 
Resources for the purpose of notifying the supply market a notice inviting 

applications by a specified date for inclusion in it. 

(e) Procuring Officers must renew all Standing Lists at intervals not 

exceeding four years. At least four weeks before each renewal, each 
Person whose name appears in the list must be notified by the Procuring 

Officer of the intention to review the list. If they wish to remain on the list 

they must re-apply for inclusion. Procuring Officers must ensure that 
notices inviting applications for inclusion in the list are published in the 

manner provided by Rule 27(d). 

(f) In cases where the use of a Standing List has been authorised the 

Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to not less than four of 
the Persons from among those approved for a contract of the relevant 
category and amount or value. Where fewer than four Persons are 

approved for a contract of the relevant category and amount or value 
Invitations to Tender shall be sent to no fewer than three Persons. Where 

245



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 28 of 40 
 

there are fewer than three Persons the procedure for Standing Lists must 
not be used unless the appropriate Commercial Specialist advises 

otherwise. 

(g)     The Procuring Officer in consultation with the Commercial Specialist shall 
determine the criteria for selecting Persons from the list. 

(h) In such circumstances as the Director of Corporate Resources shall 

determine, Procuring Officers shall provide such information as shall 
reasonably be necessary of the extent to which Standing Lists have been 

utilised. 

  FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS  

RULE 28 

Framework Agreements 

(a) Procuring Officers must establish all Framework Agreements in 
accordance with these Rules. 

(b) Framework Agreements must not be awarded for more than 4 years, 

including any extensions without the prior written consent of the Director 

of Corporate Resources following consultation with the Director of Law 
and Governance. 

(c) All suppliers on the Framework Agreement capable of performing the 

contract must be invited to participate in a Further Competition unless 

it is clear from the terms of the Framework Agreement which supplier 
best meets the award methodology set out in the Framework 
Agreement in which case that supplier may be selected provided the 

Procuring Officer can demonstrate value for money. Direct Award on 
frameworks must be first discussed with a relevant Commercial 
Specialist before proceeding if the value exceeds the threshold. 

(d) Additional suppliers may only be added to a Framework Agreement 
throughout its duration in circumstances where: 

(i)    the Estimated Value is below the UK Threshold; or 

(ii) the services tendered are Light-Touch Services to which the full   
regime of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 is not 

considered to apply: or 

       (iii) the services tendered are Healthcare services to which the Health Care 

Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 apply: 

(iv) and in whichever case ((i) (ii) or (iii) above) provided that the 
Invitation to Tender states: 

246



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 29 of 40 
 

(aa) that new suppliers may be added to the Framework 

Agreement; and 

(bb)      how many suppliers can apply to be added to the 
Framework Agreement; and 

(cc) that the same evaluation criteria and award 

methodology are applied when deciding whether to 
award a place on the Framework Agreement to new 

suppliers as was applied at the time of the original 
award. 

(e) Each use of a Framework agreement either by call off or direct 

award must be included on the Contracts Register within 30 days of 

award. 

RULE 29 

Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

Procuring Officers must only establish Dynamic Purchasing Systems with the 

prior written approval of a Senior Commercial Specialist and the Director of 

Corporate Resources and in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 and these Rules where appropriate. 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

RULE 30 

Contract Modifications and Extensions 

 

What is the Modification? What approval is required? 

30a)  

Where the contract modification meets 
all the following: 

i) Modification value is below 

£179,087 (ex VAT) – this value 
shall be net cumulative of all 

modifications to the contract. 
ii) Modification value is within 10% 

greater or lesser of the original 

contract value. 
iii) Does not alter the overall nature 

of the original contract. 
or 
 

Where the contract modification meets 
all the following and was procured 

under the provider selection regime: 
i) Modification value is below 

£500,000 (ex VAT) – this value 

Modification form must be completed 

outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for a modification 
 

All approvals need authorisation from 
the appropriate Chief Officer, on the 

advice of the Commercial Specialist.  
In addition: 
 

• Where the value exceeds 
£25,000, involvement required of 

the Supplier Relationship 
Manager to ensure value for 
money is attained. 

 

• Where the modification is equal 

to or exceeds £100,000 the 
modification must be approved 

247



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 30 of 40 
 

shall be net cumulative of all 

modifications to the contract. 
ii) Modification is 25% greater or 

lesser the original contract 
value. 

iii) Does not alter the overall nature 

of the original contract. 
 

by the Assistant Director for 

Finance. 
 

Prior to any modification being agreed 
which would result in an increase in the 
Total Value of the Contract the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that 
sufficient additional budget provision 

has been approved by the budget 
holder. 
 

30(b) 

Where the contract modification meets 
all the following: 

i) Modification value is below 
£25,000 

ii) Modification value is above 10% 

greater or lesser the original 
contract value. 

iii) The overall contract value 
including this modification does 
not exceed £179,087 (ex VAT). 

iv) Does not alter the overall nature 
of the original contract. 

Modification form must be completed 

outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for a modification 

 
Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice 

of the Commercial Specialist.  
 

Prior to any modification being agreed 
which would result in an increase in the 
Total Value of the Contract the 

Procuring Officer must ensure that 
sufficient additional budget provision 

has been approved by the budget 
holder. 
 

30c)  

All other contract modifications. 

Modification form must be completed 

outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for a modification. 

 
Modification approval needs 
authorisation from the appropriate Chief 

Officer, on the advice of the Commercial 
Specialist and authorisation from the 

Director of Corporate Resources and 
the Director of Law and Governance. 
 

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds 

£25,000, involvement required of 
the Supplier Relationship 

Manager to ensure value for 
money is attained. 

 

The approved form must be retained in 
the appropriate file. 

 
Prior to any modification being agreed 
which would result in an increase in the 

Total Value of the Contract the 

248



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 31 of 40 
 

Procuring Officer must ensure that 

sufficient additional budget provision 
has been approved by the budget 

holder. 

What is the Extension? What approval is required? 

30d)  
Where a Contract Extension has been 

provided for both in the Initial 
Procurement Documents and in the 
Contract in clear and precise terms. 

 
Or 

 
Where the Contract Extension 

i) Value is below £179,087 (ex 

VAT) – this value shall be net 
cumulative of all extensions to 

this contract. 
ii) Value is within 10% up of the 

original contract value. 

iii) Does not alter the overall nature 
of the original contract. 

 

Extension form must be completed 
outlining the full reasons for the request 

to extend the contract. 
 
Approval needs authorisation from the 

Chief Officer in consultation with the 
Commercial Specialist. 

In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds 
£25,000, involvement required of 

the Supplier Relationship 
Manager to ensure value for 

money is attained. 
 
The approved form must be retained in 

the appropriate file. 
 

Prior to any extension being agreed the 
Contract the Procuring Officer must 
ensure that sufficient additional budget 

provision has been approved by the 
budget holder. 

 

30e)  
All other Contract Extensions 
 

Extension form must be completed 
outlining the full reasons for the request 
and the need for an extension to the 

contract. 
 

Approval needs authorisation from the 
appropriate Chief Officer, on the advice 
of the Commercial Specialist and 

authorisation from the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the Director 

of Law and Governance. 
In addition: 

• Where the value exceeds 

£25,000, involvement required of 
the Supplier Relationship 

Manager to ensure value for 
money is attained. 

 

The approved form must be retained in 
the appropriate file. 

 
Prior to any extension being agreed the 
Contract the Procuring Officer must 

249



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 32 of 40 
 

ensure that sufficient additional budget 

provision has been approved by the 
budget holder. 

 

 

RULE 31 

Novation of Existing Contracts 

The novation of a Contract to a new Person irrespective of value requires the 

prior written approval of the Director of Corporate Resources in consultation 

with the Director of Law and Governance (or the Director of ESPO in the case 
of ESPO). 

RULE 32 

Early Termination of Contracts 

Unless a provision for early termination is clearly stated in the Contract, 

Procuring Officers shall seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance 

where it is intended to terminate a contract early. Where the Total Value of 
the Contract is equal to £179,087 or more the prior written approval of the 
Director of Corporate Resources shall also be obtained. 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

RULE 33 

Application of these Rules to ESPO 

(a) Where acting solely on behalf of the Council ESPO must comply 

with these Rules where applicable. 

(b) In cases where ESPO is acting on behalf of the Council: 

(i) ESPO is authorised to act as agent of the Council in place of 

the appropriate Chief Officer or Procuring Officer for the 

purposes of Rules 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 
27 and 28 and these Rules shall be construed accordingly. 

(ii) ESPO is authorised to act as agent of the Chief Executive 

for the purposes of Rules 18, 19 and 20. 

(iii) For the avoidance of doubt, decisions under Rule 23 

shall remain the responsibility of Procuring Officers who 

may receive advice from ESPO. 

250



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 33 of 40 
 

RULE 34 

Document Retention 

(a) All Contract records, that might be required in court proceedings 
must be retained for at least six years and any under seal for at least 

twelve years from expiry of the Contract. 

(b) Where the Contract is externally funded any contingent liabilities 

and/or grant conditions must be taken account of by the length of 
the retention period. 

RULE 35 

Supervision of Contracts by Third Parties 

(a) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that it is a condition of any contract 

between the Council and any Person (not being an Officer of the Council) 
who is involved in a Procurement Exercise or the 
management of a contract on behalf of the Council that in relation to that 

contract he must comply with the requirements of these Rules and other 
reasonable requirements of the Council. 

(b) Such Person must: 

(i) at any time during the carrying out of the Contract produce to 

the appropriate Chief Officer or his representative, 
Commercial Specialist or in the case of ESPO an officer with 

delegated authority or Council Auditor on request all records 
maintained by him in relation to the Contract; and 

(ii) on completion of the Contract transmit all records to the 

appropriate Chief Officer, Commercial Specialist or in the 
case of ESPO an officer with delegated authority. 

RULE 36 

Nominated Sub-Contractors and Suppliers 

(a) Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated by the Council to 

a main contractor, the provisions of these Rules shall have effect. 

(b) The terms of an Invitation to Tender under Rule 18 must require an 

undertaking by the Tenderer that, if selected, they will be willing to enter 

into a contract with the main contractor on terms which indemnify the 
main contractor against their own obligations under the main contract in 

relation to the work, supplies or services included in the sub-contract. 

  

251



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 34 of 40 
 

 

SCHEDULE 1  

Interpretation 

1. “appropriate Chief Officer” means the Chief Officer responsible for the 

function to which the Contract relates except that, where another 
Chief Officer is responsible for the letting of the Contract, it shall mean 

that Chief Officer in consultation with the Chief Officer on whose 
behalf the Contract is to be let. Refer to the following for the list of 

Chief Officers: https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-
council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-
the-council (In the case of ESPO the Chief Officer refers to the 

Director of ESPO). 

2. “Best Value” means the duty of the Council to secure continuous 

improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

3. “Chief Finance Officer” is a statutory appointment pursuant to 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. The functions of the 

Chief Finance Officer are set out in Article 12 of Part 2 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

4. “Commercial Specialist” means an Officer authorised by the Director of 

Corporate Resources to manage the procurement of a category or 
categories of goods, services and/or works. If there is no Commercial 
Specialist for the goods, services and/or works being procured then 

the Senior Commercial Specialists or Procurement and 
Commissioning Support Manager will adopt this role. 

5. “Concession Contract” means a works concession Contract or services 

concession Contract for pecuniary interest concluded in writing by 

means of which the Council entrusts the execution of works or the 
provision and the management of services (other than the execution of 

works) to one or more economic operators, the consideration for which 
consists either solely in the right to exploit the works or the services 
that are the subject of the Contract or in that right together with 

payment; and that meets the requirements of Regulation 3(4) of the 
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (CCR 2016). 

Regulation 3(4) of the CCR 2016 further defines the necessary 

requirements of the arrangement for the purposes of the regime, 

which are : 

252

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-the-council
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-the-council
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/leader-and-cabinet/chief-officers-of-the-council


Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 35 of 40 
 

(i) the award of the Contract must transfer to the 

concessionaire the operating risk in exploiting the works or 
services encompassing demand or supply risk or both; and 

(ii) the part of the risk transferred to the concessionaire involves 

real exposure to the vagaries of the market, such that any 
potential estimated loss incurred by the concessionaire is not 
merely nominal or negligible. 

 

6. “Concession Contracts Regulations 2016” means the Concession 

Contracts Regulations 2016 as amended, consolidated, extended, re-
enacted or replaced. These Regulations implement Directive 

2014/23/EU25/EU of the European Parliament is this now Statutory 
Instrument 2016 No. 273 and of the Council on Public Procurement. 

7. "Contract" means a binding agreement between two or more parties 

for performing, or refraining from performing, some specified act(s) in 

exchange for lawful consideration. 

8. "Contract Extension" means an extension to the duration of the 
Contract, but not including any alteration to the scope of the Contract. 

9. “Contracts Finder” means the web-based portal provided for 
the purposes of Part 4 of the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015. 

10. “Contract Opportunity Publication” is the means by which a Procurement 

Exercise is advertised, and includes (where appropriate) the ‘Contract 
Notice’ and Contracts Finder as defined in the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. 

11. “Contract Manager” means an Officer responsible for the 
administration and management of the Contract. 

12. "Contract Modification" means an alteration to the scope of the contract. 

13. “Contracts Register” means a register of (current) contracts, 

commissioned activity, purchase orders, framework agreements and 
any other legally enforceable agreement with a value that exceeds 

£25,000 entered into by the Council and held on the Councils electronic 
tendering system. 

14. “Corporate Contract” means any Contract or Framework Agreement or 

other arrangement approved for use in sourcing a particular 
requirement in consultation with the relevant Commercial Specialist, 
and put in place by the Council itself, ESPO, or any other public sector 

organisation (including other Local Authorities) or consortium in which 

253



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 36 of 40 
 

the Council is entitled to participate and which, where necessary, has 
been awarded in compliance with EU Retained law. 

15. “Council” means Leicestershire County Council. 

16. “Direct Employee: a person who works as an employee of the Council 

and is paid a salary by it, rather than being employed through an 

agency or other third party.” 

17. “Dynamic Purchasing System” means a completely electronic 

process, which has a limited duration, for making commonly used 
purchases, as more particularly defined and described in the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. 

18. “Electronic Tendering System” means an electronic tendering 
system approved in accordance with Rule 5 (h) (ii). 

19. “ESPO” means the Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation being a 

local authority purchasing and distribution consortium of which the 
Council is a joint member authority. 

20. "Estimated Value” means the value as estimated under Rule10. 

21. “E-Tender” means a Tender that has been submitted using an 
Electronic Tendering System. 

22. “EU Retained law” is where some EU law was carried over into UK law 

after the UK exit from the European Union on the 31st December 2020.  

The means by which this was done was via the European Union 
(Withdrawal Act 2018.) The retained EU law includes i) domestic law 

which was implemented or related to former EU obligations; ii) EU 
Legislation which was applicable in the UK without implementing 
legislation; and iii) other rights and principles in EU law (such as EU 

treaties) that has direct effect in the UK. 

23. “Executive” means the executive or committee determined in accordance 

with the Council’s constitution. 

24. “Formal Tender Process” is a process following the requirements of 

Open Tendering, Restricted Tendering, Standing List, Negotiated 

Procedure, Competitive procedure with Negotiation, Competitive 
Dialogue or Innovation Partnership Procedure. And Formal Tender 

shall be construed accordingly. 

25. “Framework Agreement" is a general term for agreements with suppliers 

which set out terms and conditions under which specific purchases 
(call-offs) can be made throughout the term of the agreement. The 

254



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 37 of 40 
 

Framework Agreement may, itself, be a contract to which the EU Retained 
procurement directives and Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Health Care 
Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 apply. 

26. "Further Competition" is undertaken where not all the terms of a 

proposed contract are laid down in a Framework Agreement. It 
involves re-opening competition between the economic operators 

which are parties to the Framework Agreement and which are capable 
of performing the proposed contract, on the basis of the same or, if 

necessary, more precisely formulated terms, and where appropriate 
other terms referred to in the contract documents based on the 

Framework Agreement. 

27.   “Invitation to Tender” means the document(s) containing the 
specification, proposed terms and conditions and other appropriate 

information as issued to the Tenderers to solicit Formal Tenders. 

28.  “Irregular Tender” means a Tender that does not fully comply with the 

instructions given in the Invitation to Tender. 

29.  “Life-Cycle Costing” means all or part of the following costs over the life-

cycle of a product, service or works, to the extent that they are 

relevant: 

(a) Costs of acquisition; 
(b) Costs of use, such as consumption of energy and other resources; 

(c) Maintenance costs; 
(d) End of life costs, such as collection and recycling costs; 

(e) Costs imputed to the environmental externalities linked to the product, 
service or works during its life cycle, provided their monetary value can be 
determined and verified. These costs may include the costs of emissions of 

greenhouse gases and of other pollutant emissions and other climate 
change mitigation costs. 

30. “Light-Touch Services” means those services referred to in regulation 74 

and Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

31. “Officer” means an employee of the Council. 

32. “Person” includes a partnership, body corporate or unincorporated 

association. 

34. “Post Tender Negotiations” means the ability to negotiate with a 
Tenderer after a Tender has been opened and evaluated in accordance 

with the published evaluation criteria for the purposes of securing an 

255



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 38 of 40 
 

improvement in the delivery of the contract including but not limited to 

improvements in price. 

35. “Procurement Exercise” means any process by which goods, services 
and/or works are to be procured including but not limited to Request 

for Quotations and Formal Tender Processes. For the purpose of 
these Rules a contract for a Concession, a contract via a Framework 

Agreement/Dynamic Purchasing system shall be treated as a 

Procurement Exercise. 

36. “Procuring Officer” means any Officer, acting under the delegated 

powers of the appropriate Chief Officer, who is responsible for the 

procurement of works, goods and/or services. 

37. “Provider Selection Regime” means a set of rules for procuring health 

care services in England by organisations termed relevant authorities 
The Provider Selection Regime (PSR) came into force on 1 January 

2024. 

38.  “Public Contracts Regulations 2015” means the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 as amended, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or 

replaced. These Regulations implement Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 

102 and of the Council on Public Procurement. 

39. “Quotation” means an offer to sell works, goods and/or services at a 
stated price under specified conditions. A Quotation may or may not be 

written. 

40. “Request for Quotation” (“RFQ”) means a document or documents 
containing the specification, and proposed terms and conditions issued 

to potential suppliers to solicit written Quotations. 

41. “Standard Terms and Conditions” means standard contractual terms 
used by Leicestershire County Council, including those attached to 

iprocurement orders or orders generated by ‘line of business’ systems, 
those included in Request for Quotation templates, and standard 

industry terms. 

42. “Standard Selection questionnaire” means a questionnaire that 
complies with the Crown Commercial Service statutory guidance 

relating to Standard Selection Questionnaires. 

43. “Standing List” means a list of Persons which has been established in 

accordance with Rule 27. 

256



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 39 of 40 
 

44. “Suitability Assessment Question” means a question which relates to 

the subject matter of the procurement and is proportionate and which 

the Council requires for assessing the Tenderers suitability. 

45. "The Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-26" means the strategy document 
that explains how the Council's commissioning and procurement 

activity will be used between 2018 and 2022 to improve the quality of 
life for the people of Leicestershire and make Leicestershire the best 

possible place to live and work for everyone. 

46. “Tender” means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of 
acceptance by the Council, which is a response to an Invitation to 

Tender. It shall include all documents comprising the submission 
including pricing, technical specification and method statements as 

well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quotation is also a 
Tender. The term “Tender” also includes an E-Tender except where 

the context implies otherwise. 

47. “Tenderer” or “Tenderers” means the Person or Persons invited to 

participate in a Procurement Exercise. 

48. “Total Value” means the value of a contract which has been calculated 

in accordance with Rule 10(b) (excluding Rule 10(b)(vii)) reading 

where appropriate Total Value for Estimated Value. 

49. “UK e-notification service” known as “FTS” (Find a Tender Service) is 

defined in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended). 

50. “UK Threshold” means the respective threshold for Services, Supplies, 

Works or Light-Touch Services contracts referred to in the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 

51. "In writing" or "written" for the purpose of interpreting these Rules 

includes transmission by any electronic means which have been 
approved by the Director of Law and Governance in consultation with 

the Director of Corporate Resources. 

52. Words imparting the masculine include the feminine gender. 

53.    “Rule(s)” means these Contract Procedure rules as may be amended 

from time to time. 

[end of Contract Procedure Rules]

257



Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Page 40 of 40 
 

 

258



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

  September 2016 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Part 4 H 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules 

259



260



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Page 1 
 

 

Page 9/1 

  September 2016 

Part 4H – Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
 

RULE 1 
Interpretation 

 
 

In these Rules –  
 
‘The 1989 Act’ means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989;  

 
‘The 2000 Act’ means the Local Government Act 2000; 

 
‘Disciplinary Action’ has the same meaning as in the Local Authorities  
(Standing Orders) Regulations 2001; 

 
‘The Executive’ and ‘The Leader’ have the same meanings as in Part II of the 

2000 Act; and  
 
‘Member of staff’ means a person appointed to or holding a paid office or 

employment under the County Council. 
 

 
RULE 2 

Responsibility for Appointing, Dismissing and Disciplining Employees 

 
(1) Subject to paragraph (2) below and to Rule 10 below, the power to 

appoint, dismiss and take disciplinary action against a member of staff 
of the County Council must be discharged, on behalf of the County 
Council, by the Chief Executive (as the officer designated under 

Section 4(1) of the 1989 Act as the Head of Paid Service) or by an 
officer nominated by him. 

 
(2) The provisions of paragraph (1) above shall not apply to the 

appointment or dismissal of, or disciplinary action against –  

 
 (a) the Chief Executive as the officer designated as the Head of  

Paid Service; 
 
 (b) the Director of Children and Family Services, the Director of 

Adults and Communities and the Chief Finance Officer as 
statutory chief officers within the meaning of Section 2(6) of the 

1989 Act;  
 
 (c) any other Chief Officer as a non-statutory chief officer within the 

meaning of Section 2(7) of the 1989 Act;  
 

 (d) a formally designated Deputy Chief Officer or in the absence of 
such a post any member of a departmental management team 

261



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
Page 2 

Page 9/2 
  September 2016 

 

as a deputy chief officer within the meaning of Section 2(8) of 
the 1989 Act;  or 

 
 (e) an assistant for a political group appointed under Section 9 of 

the 1989 Act. 
 
 

RULE 3 
Head of Paid Service 

 
Where a committee, sub-committee or officer is discharging, on behalf of the 
County Council, the function of the appointment of an officer designated as 

the Head of Paid Service, the full County Council must approve that 
appointment before an offer of appointment is made to that person.    

 
 

RULE 4 

Composition of Member Body 
 

Where a committee or subcommittee of the County Council is discharging, on 
behalf of the County Council, the function of the appointment or dismissal of 
any officer referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) (b) (c) or (d) of Rule 2(2) above, 

at least one member of the Executive must be a member of that committee or 
subcommittee.    

 
 

RULE 5 

Procedure Regarding Appointments 
 

(1) In this Rule, ‘appointor’ means, in relation to the appointment of a 
person as an officer of the County Council, the full County Council, or 
where a committee, subcommittee or officer is discharging the function 

of appointment on behalf of the County Council, that committee, 
subcommittee or officer, as the case may be. 

 
(2) An offer of an appointment as an officer referred to in sub-paragraphs 

(a), (b), (c) or (d) of Rule 2(2) above must not be made by the appointor 

until: 
 

 (a) the appointor has notified the Chief Executive of the name of the 
person to whom the appointor wishes to make the offer and any 
other particulars which the appointor considers are relevant to 

the appointment; 
 

 (b) the Chief Executive has notified every member of the Executive 
of –  

 

  (i)  the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to 
make the offer;   

 

262



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Page 3 
 

 

Page 9/3 

  September 2016 

  (ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which 
the appointor has notified to the Chief Executive;  and 

 
  (iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the 

offer is to be made by the Leader on behalf of the 
Executive to the Chief Executive;  and 

 

 (c) either – 
 

  (i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice 
under sub-paragraph (b) (iii) above, notified the appointor 
that neither he nor any other member of the Executive 

has any objection to the making of the offer;   
 

  (ii) the Chief Executive has notified the appointor that no 
objection was received by him within that period from the 
Leader;  or 

 
  (iii) the appointor is satisfied that any objection received from 

the Leader within that period is not material or is not well-
founded. 

 

 
RULE 6 

Appointment of Chief Officers 
 
(1) Where the County Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer, and it is 

not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among its 
existing officers, the County Council shall - 

 
 (a) draw up a statement specifying –  
 

  (i) the duties of the officer concerned, and  
 

  (ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person 
to be appointed; 

 

 (b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way 
as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified 

to apply for it; and 
 
 (c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement referred to in 

sub-paragraph (a) above to be sent to any person on request. 
 

 
 
 

(2) Where a post has been advertised as provided in sub-paragraph (1) (b) 
above, the County Council shall – 

 

263



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
Page 4 

Page 9/4 
  September 2016 

 

 (a) interview all qualified applicants for the post, or 
 (b) select a shortlist of such qualified applicants and interview those 

included on the shortlist.   
 

(3) Where no qualified person has applied, the County Council shall make 
further arrangements for advertisement in accordance with sub-
paragraph (1) (b) above.  

 
(4) The steps to be taken under paragraphs (1) or (2) above may be taken 

by a committee, subcommittee or chief officer of the County Council.   
Every appointment of a chief officer shall be made by the County 
Council or by a committee or subcommittee of the County Council. 

 
(5) For the purposes of this Rule, ‘chief officer’ includes the post of Chief 

Executive. 
 
 

RULE 7 
Recruitment and Appointment 

 
 
(1)  Declarations: 

 
 (a) The County Council will draw up a statement requiring any 

candidate for appointment as an officer to state in writing 
whether they are the parent, grandparent, partner, child, 
stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, 

nephew or niece of an existing county councillor or officer of the 
County Council;  or of the partner of such persons. 

 
 (b) No candidate so related to a county councillor or an officer will 

be appointed without the authority of the relevant chief officer or 

an officer nominated by him/her. 
 

(2) Seeking support for appointment: 
 
 (a) The County Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or 

indirectly seeks the support of any county councillor for any 
appointment with the County Council.   The content of this 

paragraph will be included in any recruitment information. 
 
 (b) No county councillor will seek support for any person for any 

appointment with the County Council. 
 

 [Note: A request for, and the provision of, a formal reference will not  
constitute seeking support for the purposes of this Rule.] 

 

 
 

 

264



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Page 5 
 

 

Page 9/5 

  September 2016 

RULE 8 
Appointment of Assistants for Political Groups 

 
(1) A political assistant appointed under Section 9 of the 1989 Act may 

only provide assistance to members of a political group in order to help 
them discharge their functions as members of the County Council. 

 

(2) The County Council will allocate a political assistant to each political 
group which qualifies for such a post under Section 9 of the 1989 Act, 

and the appointment of any person as a political assistant shall not take 
effect until such an allocation has been made.    

 

(3) The County Council shall not allocate a political assistant to any group 
which does not qualify for such a post, and shall not allocate more than 

one post to any one political group. 
 
(4) Unless the political group to which a post is allocated indicate that they 

are content that the terms and conditions of that post shall be less 
favourable than they would otherwise be, then those for each post 

allocated to political groups shall be the same. 
 
(5) Nothing in this Rule shall require a political group to make any 

appointment to a post allocated to them.   However, where a group 
wishes an appointment to be made, and the post is vacant, the Chief 

Executive shall, in accordance with the wishes of that political group –  
 
 (i) place an advertisement on the County Council’s website giving 

details of the post together with up to two advertisements in 
such newspapers or periodicals designated by that group; 

 
 (ii) make arrangements for meetings of such members of that group 

as the group nominate for the purpose of choosing a shortlist of 

and interviewing candidates for the post;  and 
 

 (iii) appoint such person as that group shall indicate, on the terms 
and conditions as approved by the County Council. 

 

(6) A political assistant who fails to fulfil the requirements of his 
employment contract because of incapacity through ill health, repeated 

misconduct or gross misconduct shall be liable to dismissal in 
accordance with appropriate procedures.   The political group will follow 
advice from the Head of Human Resources on the procedure to be 

used.  
 

 
RULE 9 

Procedure Regarding Dismissals 

 
(1) In this paragraph, ‘dismissor’ means, in relation to the dismissal of an 

officer of the County Council, the full County Council or, where a 

265



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
Page 6 

Page 9/6 
  September 2016 

 

committee, subcommittee or officer is discharging the function of 
dismissal on behalf of the County Council, that committee, 

subcommittee or officer, as the case may be. 
 

(2) Notice of the dismissal of an officer referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) 
(b) (c) or (d) of Rule 2 (2) above must not be given by the dismissor 
until – 

 
 (a) the dismissor has notified the Chief Executive of the name of the 

person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other 
particulars which the dismissor considers are relevant to the 
dismissal;  

 
 (b) the Chief Executive has notified every member of the Executive 

of – 
 
  (i) the name of the person who the dismissor wishes to 

dismiss; 
 

  (ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the 
dismissor has notified to the Chief Executive;  and 

 

  (iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to 
be made by the Leader on behalf of the Executive to the 

Chief Executive;  and 
 
 (c) either – 

 
  (i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice 

under sub-paragraph (b) (iii) above, notified the dismissor 
that neither he nor any other member of the Executive 
has any objection to the dismissal;   

 
  (ii) the Chief Executive has notified the dismissor that no 

objection was received by him within that period from the 
Leader;  or 

 

  (iii) the dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from 
the Leader within that period is not material or is not well-

founded. 
 
 

RULE 10 
The Role of Members in Disciplinary Action 

 
Nothing in Rule 2 above shall prevent a member of the County Council (or 
other person) from – 

 
(a) serving as a member of any committee or subcommittee established by 

the County Council to consider an appeal by a member of staff of the 

266



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Page 7 
 

 

Page 9/7 

  September 2016 

County Council against any decision relating to the dismissal of, or 
taking disciplinary action against, that member of staff. 

 
(b) acting as a witness (if necessary) in any investigation or inquiry into 

alleged misconduct by an officer. 
 
 

RULE 11 
Disciplinary Action against Certain Employees 

 
(1) No action may be taken by the Employment Committee - except for 

suspension – relating to the dismissal of either the Head of the Paid 

Service, the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer other than 
in accordance with The Local Authorities (Standing Order) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2015) and as set out below. 
 
(2) In respect of the proposed dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the 

Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer, the Employment 
Committee may appoint an Independent Investigating Officer (IIO) to 

examine the circumstances of the case and to advise the Committee 
on any action to be taken.  

 

(3) Where consideration is being given to the dismissal of the Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer a Panel 

(comprising an Advisory Committee established under section 102(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972) will be set up which shall consist of 
three Independent Persons and which shall meet at least 20 working 

days before any meeting of the County Council at which any proposed 
dismissal is to be considered.  

 
(4) The Employment Committee will, having considered the advice of any 

Independent Investigating Officer appointed, make a recommendation 

to the Council for consideration, including any terms for cessation of 
employment.  

 
(5) Where a committee, subcommittee or officer is discharging, on behalf 

of the County Council, the function of the dismissal of an officer 

designated as the Head of Paid Service, as the Chief Finance Officer, 
or as the Monitoring Officer, the full County Council must approve that 

dismissal before notice is given to that person. 
 
(6)      Any proposal to dismiss the Head of the Paid Service, the Monitoring 

Officer and the Chief Finance Officer may only be taken by the Council 
following consideration of 

 
a. any advice, views or recommendations from the Panel set up 
 under paragraph 3 above. 

b. the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal 
 : and 

c. any representations from the officer concerned. 

267



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
Page 8 

Page 9/8 
  September 2016 

 

 
 

 
 [end of Officer Employment Procedure Rules]  

 
 
[Note. The following Procedure, which is set out here for the sake of 

completeness does not form part of the Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules.] 

 
PROCEDURE FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF THE HEAD OF PAID 
SERVICE, CHIEF OFFICERS AND DEPUTY CHIEF OFFICERS 

 
This procedure sets out the arrangements for the appointment of the Head of 

Paid Service, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers, in order to comply with 
Part 4H of the Constitution of the County Council – Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules – and the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 

Regulations 2001. 
 

[Note – “Deputy Chief Officers” is defined as officers who in respect of all or 
most of their duties are required to report directly or are directly accountable 
to one or more of the statutory or non-statutory Chief Officers (excluding 

secretarial/ administrative/other support staff).  For the purpose of this 
procedure, unless there is a formally designated Deputy Chief Officer, this is 

taken to mean all members of a Departmental Management Team.] 
 
 

Head of Paid Service 
 

1 The appointment has to be made by the full County Council following a 
recommendation from an Appointment Committee. 

 

2 The selection process up to and including the making of a 
recommendation is carried out by an Appointment Committee established 

for that purpose by the Council.  The Chief Executive has delegated 
power to appoint such a committee where it is not practical to wait until 
the next meeting of the Council.  At least one member of the Cabinet must 

be a member of the Appointment Committee. 
 

3 When the Appointment Committee has made its recommendation, it must 
immediately notify the Head of Human Resources of the name of the 
recommended appointee and any other particulars which they consider 

are relevant to the appointment. 
 

4 The Head of Human Resources will notify every member of the Cabinet 
who was not a member of the Appointment Committee of the name of the 
recommended appointee and any other particulars which the Committee 

considers are relevant.  Notification may be by telephone, fax or email.  
The Head of Human Resources will give them 24 hours within which to 

indicate whether they have any objection to the recommended appointee. 

268



Part 4H 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Page 9 
 

 

Page 9/9 

  September 2016 

 
5 If an objection is made, the Head of Human Resources will advise the 

Leader immediately.  The Leader will need to speak to the objector to 
clarify the nature of the objection.  If the Leader does not consider the 

objection to be well-founded he/she may seek to persuade him/her to 
withdraw his/her objection, but cannot insist on that.  The Leader will then 
advise the Head of Human Resources of the outcome of these 

discussions. 
 

6 The recommendation can be taken forward when the time period has 
passed and either no objections have been lodged, any objections have 
been withdrawn or the Appointment Committee is satisfied that any 

remaining objection is not material or well-founded. 
 

7 If the Appointment Committee is satisfied that an objection received within 
the 24-hour period is material and well-founded the recommendation 
cannot be made and the Appointment Committee would have to decide 

what action to take.  This could include considering another 
recommendation or restarting the process.  Note – the recommended 

appointee would be entitled to see the grounds of objection if he or she 
asked 

 

8 A report containing a recommendation of the Appointment Committee will 
be prepared and presented to the Council by the Chairman of the 

Committee for a decision. 
 
 

Chief Officers 

9 The appointment is made by an Appointment Committee established in 
accordance with paragraph 2 above.  The procedure set out in 
paragraphs 3-7 above applies.  The offer of appointment can be made 

when the position described in paragraph 6 above has been reached. 
 

Deputy Chief Officers 

10 The appointment is an officer appointment and is made by the Chief 

Executive or his nominee (the appointer).  When the appointer has formed 
a view who he or she wishes to appoint, the procedure set out in 
paragraphs 3-7 above will apply, but references to the Appointment 

Committee should be read as references to the officer responsible for the 
appointment.  The offer of appointment can be made when the position 

described in paragraph 6 above has been reached. 
 
 

 
[end of Note] 

269



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

   December 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 5 A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Members’ 
Code of Conduct 

271



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 2 of 23  

  

Part 1 - BACKGROUND TO THIS CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

1.1 This section sets out general interpretation and background to the 
Code of Conduct, including definitions used within the Code, the 
purpose of the Code, the principles the Code is based on and when 
the Code applies.  It does not form part of the Code of Conduct itself 
and consequently does not contain any obligations for you to follow, as 
these are contained in the ‘Code of Conduct’ section below.    
 

1.2 All councils are required to have a local Member Code of Conduct.  
 

Definitions  
 
1.3 For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “member” means a 

member or co-opted member of Leicestershire County Council (‘the 
Council’). 
 

1.4 A “co-opted member” is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) 
as “a person who is not a member of the authority but who:  
 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the Council; 
or 

b) is a member of, and represents the Council on, any joint 
committee or joint subcommittee of the Council;  
 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at 
any meeting of that committee or sub-committee”.  
 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct  
 
1.5    The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a member, in 

modelling the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal 
check and balance, and to set out the type of conduct that could lead to 
action being taken against you.  It is also to protect you, the public, 
fellow members, Council officers and the reputation of the Council and 
local government.  It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 
all members and your specific obligations in relation to standards of 
conduct.  The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain 
public confidence in the role of member and local government.  
 

General principles of member conduct  
 

1.6 Everyone in public office at all levels (i.e. all who serve the public or 
deliver public services, including ministers, civil servants, members 
and council officers) should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, 
also known as the Nolan Principles, which are set out in Appendix A. 
 

1.7 Building on these principles, the following general principles have 
been developed specifically for the role of a member and these 

272

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 3 of 23  

  

underpin the obligations in the Code of Conduct that follows.  
 

1.8 In accordance with the public trust placed in you, you should:  
 
• act with integrity and honesty;  
• act lawfully;  
• treat all persons fairly and with respect; and  
• lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence 

in the role of member.  
 

1.9     In undertaking your role you should:  
 
• impartially exercise your responsibilities in the interests of the     

local community;  
• not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on 

any person;  
• avoid conflicts of interest;  
• exercise reasonable care and diligence;  
• ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance 

with your Council’s requirements and in the public interest; and  
• uphold high standards of conduct, show leadership at all times 

and not misuse your position when acting as a member. 
  
Application of the Code of Conduct  

 
1.10   This Code of Conduct applies to you as a member or co-opted member 

of the Council.  It applies as soon as you sign your declaration of 
acceptance of the office of member or attend your first meeting as a co-
opted member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a 
member.  
 

1.11  This Code of Conduct applies to you when you: 
 

• act in your capacity as a member or co-opted member of the 
Council; and 

• conduct the business of the Council (which, in this Code, 
includes the business of the office to which you are elected or 
appointed). 
 

1.12   Where you act as a representative of the Council:  
 

• on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that 
other authority, comply with that other authority’s code of 
conduct; or  

• on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, 
comply with this Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it 
conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other body 
may be subject. 
 

273



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 4 of 23  

  

1.13  The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, 
including:  
 
• at face-to-face meetings;  
• at online or telephone meetings;  
• in written communication;  
• in verbal communication;  
• in non-verbal communication;  
• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements 

and comments.  
 

1.14  Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the 
implementation of the Code of Conduct.  It is your responsibility to 
comply with the provisions of this Code and to ensure all its obligations 
are met.  You are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct which 
you are unsure of.  
 

Part 2 - THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

Standards of member conduct  

2.1    This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum 

standards of conduct required of you as a member. Should your 

conduct be perceived to fall short of these standards or the Nolan 

Principles, a complaint may be made against you, which may result in 

action being taken.  

2.2    Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations 

and how they should be followed.  

General Conduct  

Respect  

2.3 As a member:  

2.3.1 I will treat other members and members of the public with 

respect.  

2.3.2 I will treat council officers, employees and representatives 

of partner organisations and those volunteering for the 

council with respect and respect the role they play.  

2.4 Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in 

the written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a 

healthy democracy. As a member, you can express, challenge, criticise 

and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but 

civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of 

people or organisations to personal attack.  

274



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 5 of 23  

  

2.5 In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and 

courteously. Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s 

expectations and confidence in members.  

2.6 In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the 

public. If members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or 

threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or interaction in 

person or online and notify them to the Council, the relevant social 

media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow members, 

where action could then be taken under the Member Code of Conduct, 

and council officers where concerns should be raised in line with the 

council’s member-officer protocol.  

Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

2.7 As a member:  

2.7.1 I will not bully any person.  

2.7.2 I will not harass any person.  

2.7.3 I will promote equalities and will not discriminate unlawfully 

against any person.  

2.8 The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises 

bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an 

abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, 

denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of 

behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in 

emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events 

and may not always be obvious or noticed by others.  

2.9 The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as 

conduct that causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence 

and must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include 

repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact 

upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or 

fear in any reasonable person.  

2.10 Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of 

a protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects 

of a person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, 

disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 

orientation.  

2.11 The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. 

Members have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are 

integral to the Council's performance and strategic aims, and that there 

is a strong vision and public commitment to equality across public 

services.  

275



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 6 of 23  

  

Impartiality of officers of the Council  

2.12 As a member I will not compromise, or attempt to compromise, 

the impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the 

Council.  

2.13    Officers work for the Council as a whole and must be politically neutral 

(unless they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or 

persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. You 

can question officers in order to understand, for example, their reasons 

for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that 

they have written. However, you must not try and force them to act 

differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if 

doing so would prejudice their professional integrity.  

Confidentiality and access to information 

2.14 As a member:  

2.14.1 I will not disclose information:  

a. given to me in confidence by anyone;  

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably 

to be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless:  

i.     I have received the consent of a person authorised 

to give it;  

ii. I am required by law to do so;  

iii. The disclosure is made to a third party for the 

purpose of obtaining professional legal advice 

provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 

the information to any other person; or  

iv. The disclosure is:  

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and  

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the Council; and  

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to 

its release.  

 

2.14.2   I will not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a 

result of my role as a member for the advancement of 

myself, my friends, my family members, my employer or 

my business interests.  

2.14.3   I will not prevent anyone from getting information that 

they are entitled to by law.  

2.15   Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their 

proceedings and printed materials are open to the public, except in 

276



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 7 of 23  

  

certain legally defined circumstances. You should work on this basis, 

but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions, 

documents and other information relating to or held by the Council must 

be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include personal data 

relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations.  

Disrepute  

2.16 As a member I will not bring my role or the Council into disrepute 

or conduct myself in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing my role or the Council into disrepute.  

2.17    As a member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your 

community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater 

scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be 

aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other 

members and/or the Council and may lower the public’s confidence in 

your or the Council’s ability to discharge your/its functions. For example, 

behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring the 

Council into disrepute.  

2.18   You are able to hold the Council and fellow members to account and are 

able to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions 

and processes undertaken by the Council whilst continuing to adhere to 

other aspects of this Code of Conduct.  

Use of position  

2.19 As a member:  

2.19.1 I will not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to 

the advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.  

2.19.2   I will not place myself under a financial or other obligation 

to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to 

influence me in the performance of my official duties. 

2.20 Your position as a member of the Council provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all 

the time that will impact others. However, you should not take 

advantage of these opportunities to further your own or others’ private 

interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

2.21 As a member you need to be able to act impartially in the exercise of 

your responsibilities and ensure that you make decisions in the 

interests of the local community.  You should therefore avoid any 

financial or other obligations to outside individuals or organisations 

whose influence may prevent you from acting impartially.  

 

277



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 8 of 23  

  

Use of Council resources and facilities  

2.22 As a member:  

2.22.1 I will not misuse Council resources.  

  

2.22.2 I will, when using the resources of the Council or 

authorising their use by others:  

a. act in accordance with the Council's requirements; 

and  

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political 

purposes unless that use could reasonably be 

regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, 

the discharge of the functions of the Council or of 

the office to which I have been elected or appointed.  

 

2.23 You may be provided with resources and facilities by the Council to 

assist you in carrying out your duties as a member. Examples include:  

•  office support;  

•  stationery;  

•  equipment such as phones, iPads, dongles computers etc. 

•  transport;  

•  access and use of Council buildings and rooms.  

2.24   These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a member 

more effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. 

They should be used in accordance with the purpose for which they 

have been provided and the Council’s own policies regarding their use.  

Making decisions 

2.24 As a member: 

2.24.1 When reaching decisions on any matter I will have regard 

to any relevant advice provided to me by officers and 

professional third parties. 

2.24.2   I will give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any 

statutory requirements and any reasonable additional 

requirements imposed. 

2.24.3   I will make all choices, such as making public 

appointments, awarding contracts or recommending 

individuals for rewards or benefits, on individual and 

independent merit. 

2.24.4   I will be as open as possible about my decisions and 

actions and the decisions and actions of the Council and 

278



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 9 of 23  

  

will be prepared to give reasons for those decisions and 

actions, notwithstanding my other obligations under this 

Code. 

2.25 To assist members in acting lawfully, officers may give advice from time 

to time.  It is important that as a member you have due regard to any 

such advice given and consider it fully, even if (for good reason) you 

may choose not to follow that advice. 

2.26 In making any decisions, giving reasons helps instil public confidence in 

the role of the member and can be a legal requirement in certain 

situations.  You should ensure that you always give reasons in 

accordance with any specific requirements and having regard to the 

benefits of transparency generally. 

2.27 As a member you must act impartially and not improperly seek to confer 

an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person.  It is therefore important 

that when you are making decisions that involve choosing one party 

over another, that you do so based on independent merit.  You should 

be open and transparent about the decisions that you have made and 

the actions of the Council. 

Complying with the Code of Conduct  

2.28 As a Member:  

2.28.1 I will undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my 

Council.  

2.28.2   I will cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation 

and/or determination.  

2.28.3   I will not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person 

who is likely to be involved with the administration of any 

investigation or proceedings.  

2.28.4   I will comply with any sanction imposed on me following a 

finding that I have breached the Code of Conduct.  

2.29   It is extremely important for you as a member to demonstrate high 

standards, for you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not 

to undermine public trust in the Council or its governance.  If you do not 

understand or are concerned about the Council’s processes in handling 

a complaint you should raise this with the Monitoring Officer.  

 

 

 

 

279



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 10 of 23  

  

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the Council  

Interests  

2.30 As a member I will register and disclose my interests in 

accordance with the provisions set out in Appendix B.   

2.31 Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to 

establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the Council. 

2.32 You need to register your interests so that the public, Council 

employees and fellow members know which of your interests might give 

rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a public document that can 

be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also 

protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a 

willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for 

deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, 

but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that a 

potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know 

about any interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other 

members when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 

making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure 

that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.  

2.33 You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable 

pecuniary interest as defined in Appendix B, is a criminal offence under 

the Localism Act 2011.  

2.34 The provisions of paragraph 2.30 and Appendix B shall be applied in 

such a manner as to recognise that this Code of Conduct should not 

obstruct a member’s service on more than one local authority. For the 

avoidance of doubt, participation in discussion and decision-making at 

one local authority will not by itself normally prevent you from taking part 

in discussion and decision-making on the same matter at another local 

authority. This is on the basis that a reasonable member of the public 

will see no objection in principle to such service or regard it as 

prejudicing a member’s judgement of the public interest and will only 

regard a matter as giving rise to an interest which might affect your 

participation in discussion and decision-making in exceptional 

circumstances.   

2.35 Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and 

disclosing interests. If in doubt, you should always seek advice from the 

Monitoring Officer.  

Gifts and hospitality  

2.36 As a member: 

2.36.1 I will not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of 

estimated value, which could give rise to real or 

280



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 11 of 23  

  

substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion of 

influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking 

to acquire, develop or do business with the Council  or 

from persons who may apply to the Council  for any 

permission, licence or other significant advantage.  

2.36.2   I will register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or 

hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 within 

28 days of its receipt.  

2.36.3   I will register with the Monitoring Officer any significant 

gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 

that I have been offered but have refused to accept.  

2.37  In order to protect your position and the reputation of the Council , you 

should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are 

(or which you reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are 

a member. The presumption should always be not to accept significant 

gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a refusal 

may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept 

it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to 

register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also 

important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and 

hospitality associated with your duties as a member. If you are unsure, 

do contact the Monitoring Officer for guidance.  

 

Dispensations 

2.37 As a member: 

2.38.1 I may request a dispensation from the Proper Officer for 

one meeting only. 

2.38.2   I must make the request in writing detailing what my 

interest is, why the dispensation is required and for what 

meeting. 

2.38.3   I must make my request 5 days prior to the meeting at 

which the Dispensation is required. 

2.38.4   If I wish to make a further request for dispensation, this 

must be made to the Relevant Officer/Committee. 

2.38.5   I will only be granted a Dispensation where there are 

reasonable grounds for doing so and where such grounds 

are in the public interest. 

2.39 Appendix B sets out the situations where a member’s interest in a 

matter may prevent them from participating in the decision-making 

process.  In certain circumstances, however, there may be reasonable 

281



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

December 2021                                                            Page 12 of 23  

  

grounds to allow a member to participate in decision-making on that 

matter where it would be in the public interest to do so.   Where you 

consider that there may be good grounds for you to continue to 

participate you should request a dispensation from the Monitoring 

Officer. 

282



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 13 of 23  

  

Appendix A 

The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness  

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  

Integrity  

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 

or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 

should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any 

interests and relationships.  

Objectivity  

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.  

Accountability  

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and 

actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  

Openness  

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 

and lawful reasons for so doing.  

Honesty  

Holders of public office should be truthful.  

Leadership  

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 

poor behaviour wherever it occurs.  

283



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 14 of 23  

  

Appendix B 

Interests 

1. Definitions 

 

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means any interest described as such in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 and 

includes an interest of yourself, or of your Partner (if you are aware of your 

Partner's interest) that falls within the descriptions set out in the following table. A 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is a Registerable Interest.  

 

Subject  Description  

Employment, office, trade, 

profession or vocation  

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain.  

 

Sponsorship  Any payment or provision of any 
other financial benefit (other than 
from the council) made to the 
member during the previous 12-
month period for expenses incurred 
by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a member, or towards 
his/her election expenses.  
This includes any payment or financial 

benefit from a trade union within the 

meaning of the Trade Union and 

Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 

1992.  

Contracts  Any contract made between the 
member or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in 
which such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such 
person is a director* or a body that 
such person has a beneficial interest 
in the securities of*) and the council  

—  

(a) under which goods or services are 

to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and (b) which has not been 

fully discharged. 

Land and Property  Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council.  

‘Land’ excludes an easement, 

284

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 15 of 23  

  

servitude, interest or right in or over 

land which does not give the member 

or his/her spouse or civil partner or 

the person with whom the member is 

living as if they were spouses/ civil 

partners (alone or jointly with another) 

a right to occupy or to receive 

income.  

Licenses  Any licence (alone or jointly with 

others) to occupy land in the area of 

the council for a month or longer  

Corporate tenancies  Any tenancy where (to the member’s 

knowledge)—  

(a) the landlord is the council; 

and  

the tenant is a body that the member, 

or his/her spouse or civil partner or 

the person with whom the member is 

living as if they were spouses/ civil 

partners is a partner of or a director* 

of or has a beneficial interest in the 

securities* of.  

Securities  Any beneficial interest in securities* of 

a body where—  

(a) that body (to the member’s 
knowledge) has a place of business 
or land in the area of the council; 
and  

(b) either—  

(i) ) the total nominal value of the 

securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share  

capital of that body; or  

if the share capital of that body is of 

more than one class, the total 

nominal value of the shares of any 

one class in which the member, or 

his/ her spouse or civil partner or the 

person with whom the member is 

living as if they were spouses/civil 

partners has a beneficial interest 

exceeds one hundredth of the total 

issued share capital of that class. 

 

285



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 16 of 23  

  

*  ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an 

industrial and provident society.  

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 

bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 

description, other than money deposited with a building society.  

 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 

husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.  

 

“Other Registerable Interest” is a personal interest in any business of your authority 
which relates to or is likely to affect:   
  

a) any body of which you are a member or are in general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority; or  

b) any body:  
(i) exercising functions of a public nature;  
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes; or   
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 

or policy (including any political party or trade union).  
 

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management. 
 

“Registrable Interests” are interests that you are required to register in accordance 

with this Code of Conduct and include both Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other 

Registerable Interests. 

 

“Non-Registrable Interests” are interests that you are not required to register but 

need to be disclosed in accordance with section 3.3. 

 

A “Dispensation” is agreement that you may continue to participate in the decision-

making process notwithstanding your interest as detailed at section 2.37 of the Code of 

the Conduct and this Appendix B. 

 

A “Sensitive Interest” is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the member, 

or a person connected with the member, being subject to violence or intimidation.  In 

any case where this Code of Conduct requires to you to disclose an interest (subject to 

the agreement of the Monitoring Officer in accordance with paragraph 2.2 of this 

Appendix regarding registration of interests), you do not have to disclose the nature of 

the interest, if it is a Sensitive Interest.  In such circumstances you just have to disclose 

that you have an interest. 

 

A matter “directly relates” to one of your interests where the matter is directly about 

that interest. For example the matter being discussed is an application about a 

286



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 17 of 23  

  

particular property in which you or somebody associated with you has a financial 

interest. 

 

A matter “affects” your interest where the matter is not directly about that interest but 

would still have clear implications for the interest.  For example, the matter concerns a 

neighbouring property. 

 

2. Registering Interests 

 

2.1. Within 28 days of becoming a member or co-opted member or your 

re-election or re-appointment to office you must register with the 

Monitoring Officer any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and any Other 

Registerable Interests.  

 

2.2. Where you have a Sensitive Interest you must notify the Monitoring 

Officer with the reasons why you believe it is a Sensitive Interest. If 

the Monitoring Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the 

public register.  

 

2.3. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and 

within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any 

change to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.  

 

3. Declaration at and Participation in Meetings 

 

If you are present at a meeting and you have either a Registerable or Non-

Registerable Interest in any matter to be considered or being considered, and 

the interest is not a Sensitive Interest, you must disclose that interest to the 

meeting (whether or not it is registered).  

 

To determine whether your interest affects your ability to participate in a 

meeting, you must first determine what type of interest you have and, if 

necessary, go on to apply the tests as set out below. 

 

3.1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of 

your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests subject to paragraph 2.34: 

 

a. you must disclose the interest;  

b. not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter; and  

c. must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

Dispensation. 

  

 

 

287



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 18 of 23  

  

3.2. Other Registerable Interests  

  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the 

financial interest or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable 

Interests subject to paragraph 2.34: 

 

a. you must disclose the interest;  

b. may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 

allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part 

in any discussion or vote on the matter; and  

c. must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

Dispensation.  

 

3.3. Non-Registerable Interests  

  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to a 

financial interest or the well-being of yourself or of a friend, relative or 

close associate (and is not a Registerable Interest): 

 

a. you must disclose the interest; 

b. may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 

allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part 

in any discussion or vote on the matter; and  

c. must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

Dispensation.  

 

3.4 Where a matter arises at a meeting which does not directly relate to 

but affects: 

 

a. a financial interest or the well-being of yourself or of a friend, 

relative or close associate; or  

b. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included in those you 

need to disclose under Other Registerable Interests;  

 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can 

remain in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test in 

paragraphs 3.5 and 3.6 should be applied.  

 

3.5 Where a matter under paragraph 3.4 affects the financial interest or 

well-being or body:  

 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests or 

wellbeing of the majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by 

the decision; and  

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 

believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest;  

288



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 19 of 23  

  

you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 

allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 

discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless 

you have been granted a Dispensation.  

3.6 Where a matter under paragraph 3.4 does not affect the financial 

interest or well-being or body: 

 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests or 

wellbeing of the majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by 

the decision; and/or  

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 

not believe that it would affect your view of the wider public 

interest;  

you may remain in the room, speak if you wish to and take part in 

any discussion or vote on the matter, provided you have disclosed 

your interest under paragraph 3.4. 

   

289



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 20 of 23  

  

290



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 21 of 23  

  

291



Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 22 of 23  

  

Appendix C  

The Committee on Standards in Public Life 

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on Local 

Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the 

recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.  

The recommendations cover:  

• Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law 

when the Code of Conduct applies  

• The introduction of sanctions  

• An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman  

• Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012  

• Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code  

• Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person  

• That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests should be abolished  

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice 

recommendations. These are:  

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in 

codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment, supplemented 

with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.  

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring 

members to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or malicious 

allegations by members.  

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and 

regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and 

neighbouring authorities.  

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both members and the 

public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises.  

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least 

once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.  

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test 

against which allegations are filtered.  

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 

Persons.  

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a 

formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to  

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss 

as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.  

292

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


Part 5A 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

                                                            Page 23 of 23  

  

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct 

following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible on 

its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the 

allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, and 

any sanction applied.  

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance on 

its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for handling 

complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.  

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish member 

towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in all 

but exceptional circumstances.  

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and 

management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils within 

the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training, corporate 

support and resources to undertake this work.  

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any 

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should 

include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the 

investigation.  

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which they 

own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their relationship 

with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by the Nolan 

principle of openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual reports in an 

accessible place.  

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or group 

whips to discuss standards issues.  

  

  

The LGA has committed to reviewing its Model Code on an annual basis to ensure it is 

still fit for purpose.  

 

293



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

   

 
 
 
 

Part 5A(1) 
 
 
 
 
 

Members’ Planning 
Code of Good Practice 

 
295



 

 
   December 2022 

 
 

Part 5A(1) – Members’ Planning Code of Good 
 Practice 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
 
 

1 Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct 
2 Development Proposals and Interests under the Members’ Code of Conduct 

3 Predetermination in the Planning Process 
4 Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors 
5 Lobbying  

6 Site Visits 
7 Pre-Meetings 
8 Public Speaking at Meetings 

9 Officers 
10 Decision Making 

11 Members Awareness 
  

 

296



 
 

 

   

 
Part 5A (1) - Members’ Planning Code of  

Good Practice 

 
Background 
 
This Planning Code of Good Practice reflects the requirements of the Localism Act 

2011 and the County Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct which is set out in the 
Constitution.  

 
This Code sets out how councillors can get involved in planning in a fair, impartial, 
and transparent way. 

 
Definitions of interests referred to below are given in the Members’ Code of Conduct, 

Part 5 of the Constitution. 

 
Introduction 
 
The aim of this Code of Good Practice is to ensure that in the planning process 

there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been biased, partial, or not 
well founded in any way. 

 
This Code of Good Practice applies to Members at all times when involving 
themselves in the planning process.  This includes both decision-making meetings of 

the Council when exercising the functions of the Planning Authority (usually at the 
Development Control and Regulatory Board for development management, referred 

to here as ‘the Board’, and at the Cabinet and County Council for development 
plans) and involvement on less formal occasions, such as at meetings with officers 
or the public and at consultative meetings.  It applies to planning applications, 

enforcement matters, and policy issues (such as the Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan). 

 
The key purpose of Planning is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development, not development at any cost.  Planning should ensure that the right 

development happens in the right place at the right time, benefitting communities 
and the economy. It plays a critical role in identifying what development is needed 

and where, what areas need to be protected or enhanced, and in assessing whether 
proposed development is suitable. It does this by regulating the development and 
use of land in the public interest. 

 
Your role as a Member of a Planning Authority is to make planning decisions 
openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons.  

 
If you have any doubts about the application of this Code to your own 

circumstances you should seek advice early from the Director of Law and 
Governance as the County Council’s Monitoring Officer or one of their staff, 
and preferably well before any meeting takes place. 
 

297



 

 
   December 2022 

1. Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct 
 

•  Do apply the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct first.  This must 

always be complied with. 
 

• Do then apply the rules in this Planning Code of Good Practice, which 

seek to explain and supplement the Members’ Code of Conduct for the 
purposes of your involvement in planning matters.  If you do not abide 

by this Code of Good Practice, you may put: 
 

- the Council at risk of proceedings on the legality or 

maladministration of the related decision; and 
 

- yourself at risk of being in breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct and, if the failure is also likely to be a breach of the 
interest provisions of the Localism Act 2011, a complaint being 

made to the police to consider criminal proceedings. 
 

2. Development Proposals and Interests under the Members’ 
Code of Conduct 

 
•  Do disclose the existence and nature of your interest at any relevant 

juncture, including informal meetings or discussions with officers and 
other Members.   

 

• Do disclose your interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as 

it becomes apparent.  It is good practice to declare your interest again 
at the start of the relevant item, particularly because members of the 

public may only be attending for that issue and will not have heard the 
declaration at the beginning.   

 

•  Do consider the type of interest you may have and act accordingly.   

 
 A.  Registerable Interests (those you have included in your register of 

interests in accordance with the Code of Conduct) 
 
 If the matter directly relates to one of your Registerable Interests you 

should declare the existence and the nature of the interest before the 
item is considered, and  

  

- don’t get involved in the processing of the application;  
 

- don’t participate, or give the appearance of trying to 
participate, in the making of any decision on the matter by the 
Planning Authority; 
 

- don’t try to represent local views, get another Member to do so 
instead; 

 

298



 
 

 

   

- do withdraw from any meeting prior to consideration of the 
matter. 

 
  If the matter does not directly relate to one of your Registerable 

Interests, then 
 

- do consider whether the matter may nonetheless affect your 

financial interest or wellbeing or that of a friend/relative/close 
associate;  

 
- do carefully consider the extent to which you or your friend/ 

relative/close associate, is affected and whether it might lead 

to, or could be perceived to lead to, bias on your part; 
 

- do be aware that you may attend a Board meeting to make 
representations, answer questions, or give evidence on the 
matter provided that public speaking rights also apply; 

 
- do ensure that if you decided to make representations on this 

basis you do not then take part in any discussion or voting on 
the matter and withdraw from the meeting after you have 
spoken.   

 
 B.  Non-Registerable Interests (those not in your register of interests 

but that may arise with a particular matter) 
 
 If the matter directly relates to or affects a financial interest or the 

wellbeing of yourself or of a friend/relative/close associate (and is not a 
Registerable Interest) then 

 
- do carefully consider the extent to which you or your friend/ 

relative/close associate, is affected and whether it might lead to, 

or could be perceived to lead to, bias on your part; 
 

- do be aware that you may attend a Board meeting to make 
representations, answer questions, or give evidence on the 
matter provided that public speaking rights also apply. 

  

•  Do ask yourself when considering the nature of your interest, whether  

Registerable or Non-Registerable - 
 

 “Is the financial interest or wellbeing of myself or my friend 
relative/close associate affect to a greater extent than the financial 
interest or wellbeing of the majority of inhabitants of the ward affected 

by the decision?”  
 

 “Would a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts believe 
that this would affect my view of the wider public interest?” 

 

299



 

 
   December 2022 

 If your answer to either of these questions is “yes” then you must 
disclose the interest, not take part in discussion or voting on the matter, 

and leave the meeting during its consideration. As explained above, 
you may still make representations at the Board meeting provided that 

public speaking rights apply. 
 

•  Don’t in any event ever seek or accept any preferential treatment, or 

place yourself in a position that could lead the public to think you are 
receiving preferential treatment because of your role as a Member.  

This would include discussing the matter with officers or Members 
when the public would not have the same opportunity to do so. 

 

• Do be aware that whilst you are not prevented from seeking to explain 
and justify a proposal in which you have an interest to an appropriate 

officer, you must always declare your interest and the Code places 
greater limitations on you in representing that proposal than would 

apply to a member of the public. 
 

3. Predetermination in the Planning Process 
 

 Predetermination is also referred to as ‘fettering discretion’. It is not the same 
as predisposition, as explained below. 

 
Predetermination occurs when you are deemed to have made your mind up 
and will not consider any subsequent information presented.  However, you 

can be predisposed, that is, have an initial view on the matter.  
 

As an elected Member you are entitled, and are often expected, to have 
expressed views on planning issues (predisposition).  Some Councillors may 
be elected in part because of their views on such matters. However, if you 

become involved in the decision making as a member of the Development 
Control and Regulatory Board then you must be clear that you are prepared to 

reconsider your position in the light of all the evidence and arguments.   
 

 As an elected Member involved in a planning matter:- 

 

• Don’t predetermine (fetter your discretion) by approaching the decision 

with a closed mind. 
 

• Do keep at the front of your mind that, particularly if you are 

predisposed as to how you might decide a particular application, you 
 

- must keep an open mind at the meeting; 
 

- must make it clear that you are still willing to listen to all of the 
evidence and material considerations presented, both the 
officers’ presentation of the facts and their advice, as well as the 

arguments from all sides, before deciding how to exercise your 
vote; 

 

300



 
 

 

   

- are not required to cast aside views on planning policy you held 
when seeking election or otherwise acting as a Member, in 

giving fair consideration to points raised; 
 

- are only entitled to take account material considerations and 
must disregard considerations that are irrelevant to the question 
and legal context at hand; and 

 
- are to come to a decision after giving what you feel is the right 

weight to those material considerations. 
 
If you have predetermined the application: 

 

• Don’t participate in the determination of the matter at the Board 

because if you did take part in the discussion or vote it would put the 
County Council at risk, because  

  

Firstly, it would probably constitute maladministration in the opinion of 
the Local Government Ombudsman.  

 
Secondly, the Council could be at risk of a legal challenge, including 
Judicial Review, on a number of possible grounds: 
 

- that there was a danger of bias on your part; or  
 

- you had predetermined the issue; or 
 

- there was a failure to take into account all of the factors enabling 
the proposal to be considered on its merits. 

 

• Don’t speak or vote on the proposal. 
 

• Do consider whether you should also withdraw from the meeting during 
the Board’s consideration of that application.  Although you are not 

required to, you may prefer to leave to avoid any complaint that your 
presence may have influenced the decision. 
 

• Do, if you decide to stay in the meeting, explain that you do not intend 
to speak and vote because you have or you could reasonably be 

perceived as having predetermined the matter, so that this may be 
recorded in the minutes. 
 

If you have not predetermined a matter but are predisposed as to how you 
might decide an application, 

 

• Do consider yourself able, for example, to:  
 

- make public statements on an issue, and 
 

- campaign on a particular issue;  
 

301



 

 
   December 2022 

provided you make it clear when you do this that you do not have a 
closed mind and are amenable to changing your mind in the light of all 

the information, advice and evidence which will be presented to you at 
the time of making a decision. 

 
 

County Council Proposals 

 

• Do be aware that if you have been involved in the preparation, submission or 

advocacy of a planning proposal on behalf of the County Council (i.e. where it 
is the landowner, developer or applicant) you should avoid participating in the 
decision-making process as you could be considered to be biased or have 

predetermined the matter. 
 

Local Members whose electoral division is directly affected by the application 
 

• Do consider whether you should take the opportunity to exercise your 

separate speaking rights as a Local Member (subject to the consent of the 
Chairman of the Board under Meeting Procedure Rule 33(2)) where you have 

represented your views or those of local electors to such an extent that you 
have, or are likely to be seen as having, predetermined the application.  

Where you do: 
 

- advise the proper officer and the Chairman that you wish to speak in 
this capacity before commencement of the meeting; 

 

- after you have spoken, remove yourself from the member seating area 
for the duration of that item, or you may prefer to leave the room 

entirely as suggested above so as to avoid any complaint that your 
presence may have influenced the decision; and 

 

- ensure that your actions are recorded. 
 

Members of another body involved in an application 

 

• Do be aware that, although the provisions in the Members’ Code of Conduct 
are applied in such a manner as to recognise that the Code should not 

obstruct a member’s service on:  
 

- another local or public authority; or  
 

- a body to which you have been appointed or nominated by the Council 
as its representative; 

 
you must decide in relation to any planning proposal, whether you have been 

involved to such an extent in the preparation, submission or advocacy of a 
planning proposal on behalf of such a body as to make your participation in 
the decision-making process inappropriate.  If you have then you should 

always disclose this Other Registerable Interest and withdraw from the 
meeting.  

302



 
 

 

   

Participation in the discussions of consultee bodies by Members of the 
decision-making body 

 

• Do consider yourself able to take part in the debate on a proposal when acting 

as part of a consultee body (i.e. where you are also a member of the district 
council as well as being a County Member), provided that:  
 

- the proposal does not substantially affect the wellbeing or financial 
standing of the consultee body; 

 

- you make it clear during the discussion at the consultee body that: 
 

(i) you will reserve judgement and the independence to make up 

your own mind on each separate proposal when it comes before 
the decision-making body (e.g. the Board) and you hear all of the 

relevant information; 
 

(ii) you will not in any way commit yourself as to how you or others 

may vote when the proposal comes before the Board for 
consideration; and 

 

(iii) you disclose the personal interest regarding your membership of 
the consultee body or role when the Board comes to consider 
the proposal. 

 

4. Contact with Applicants, Developers and Members of the 
Public 

 
• Do exercise caution if approached about a planning application by an 

applicant, developer or member of the public and refer them to Council 
Officers for planning, procedural or technical advice. 
 

• Don’t agree to any meeting with applicants, developers or groups of 

objectors/supporters where it can be avoided.  Where you feel that a 
formal meeting would be useful in clarifying the issues, it is advisable that 

you do not seek to arrange that meeting yourself as this may be seen as 
your promoting one point of view or the other.  Instead, you may request 
the Chief Executive (Head of Planning) to organise it.  Officers will then 

ensure that those present at the meeting are advised from the start that 
the discussions will not bind the Authority to any particular course of 

action, that the meeting is properly recorded on the application file, and 
that the record of the meeting is disclosed when the application is 
considered by the Board. 

 

•  Do make it clear that you will only be in a position to make a final decision 
on the application after having heard all the relevant evidence and 
arguments at the Board. 
 

• Do remember to: 
 

- follow the rules on lobbying (below); 
 

303



 

 
   December 2022 

- consider whether it would be prudent in the circumstances to 
make notes when contacted and whenever an officer is not 

present; and 
 

- report to the Chief Executive (Head of Planning) any significant 
contact with the applicant or other parties, explaining the nature 
and purpose of the contacts and your involvement in them, and 

ensure that this is recorded on the planning file. 
 

Presentations by Applicants/Developers 
 

• Do feel able to attend public exhibitions or information events held by 

applicants/developers, but remember - 
 

- to ask questions only for the purposes of clarifying your understanding 
of the proposals; 

 

- that the presentation is not part of the formal process of debate and 
determination of any subsequent planning application; this will be 

carried out by the Board; 
 

- that a presentation can be a form of lobbying and you must not state 

how you or other members might vote. 
 

• Don’t attend private presentations from applicants/developers without 

requesting an officer to be present. 
 

5. Lobbying  
 

Special attention is needed with regard to lobbying in the planning decision-making 

process.  Lobbying in respect of other aspects of members’ work is commonplace 
and it is an accepted part of the democratic process.  However, if such lobbying of 
members of the Development Control and Regulatory Board oversteps the mark 

(see examples below) it can lead to the impartiality and integrity of members being 
called into question and decisions taken being referred to the Local Government 
Ombudsman and/or being subject to legal challenge.   

 
This can be especially difficult for the Local Member who is also a member of the 

Board.  Therefore, care is required when lobbying of and by a member occurs during 
consideration of a planning application. 
 

A. Lobbying of Members 
 

• Do remember that your overriding duty is to the whole community in 

Leicestershire, not just the people in your electoral division.  You need to 
make decisions impartially and ensure that you do not favour, or appear to 
favour, any person, company, group or locality. 

 

• Don’t declare the way you intend to vote.  

 

304



 
 

 

   

• Do feel able to express an opinion on the merits prior to your formal 
consideration of the matter at the Board but only if you are very clear that you 

will only make your mind up at the meeting after hearing the officers’ 
presentation and evidence and arguments on both sides. 

 

• Do explain to those attempting to lobby you that, whilst you can listen to what 

is said, you may be open to accusations of predetermination if you express a 
firm point of view or an intention to vote one way or another, and you would 
not then be able to participate in the Board’s decision-making.  

 

• Do pass on any representations you receive and copy or pass on any 

lobbying correspondence you receive to the Chief Executive (Head of 
Planning) at the earliest opportunity. 

 

• Do refer any offers made to you of planning gain or to restrict the 
development through a proposed Section 106 planning obligation or otherwise 

to the Chief Executive (Head of Planning). 
 

• Don’t accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a 

planning proposal.  If a degree of hospitality is entirely unavoidable, ensure it 
is of a minimum and its acceptance is registered in accordance with the 

Members’ Code of Conduct.  
 

• Do indicate that you will pass on that person's views to the Chief Executive 
and, if necessary, to the Board when it considers the matter, but that you 
cannot commit yourself to vote in any particular way.  If you intend to speak at 

the Board in this way make it clear at the start of the meeting that this is what 
you are doing so that this can be recorded. 

 

• Do remember that, subject to the advice on interests in Part 2 above you may: 
 

- Listen/receive viewpoints from residents or other interested parties; 
 

- Make comments to residents, interested parties, other members or 

appropriate officers, provided they do not consist of or amount to 
predetermining the issue and you make it clear that you are keeping an 

open mind; 
 

- Seek information through appropriate channels; or 
 

- Be a vehicle for the expression of opinion or speak at the meeting as a 
Local Member, provided that, if you are also a member of the Board, 

you explain your actions at the start of the meeting/item and make it 
clear that, having expressed the opinion or local view, you will make up 
your own mind having heard all the facts and listened to the debate. 

 

B. Lobbying by Members 
 

• Don’t lobby fellow members excessively regarding your concerns or views nor 

attempt to persuade them that they should decide how to vote in advance of a 
meeting of the Board.  In this context:  
 

305



 

 
   December 2022 

Lobbying is asking fellow members to hear or share one’s thoughts and 
concerns on an issue. 
 

Excessive lobbying is applying such pressure on a fellow member that it 
amounts to an attempt to obtain a commitment as to how they will vote, 
whether spoken or unspoken.  Pressure of this sort is an attempt to 

predetermine the outcome of the issue (making the decision potentially 
unlawful) and may also amount to the Member using their position improperly 

to confer an advantage or disadvantage (breaching paragraph 2.19 of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct). 

 

If you approach a fellow Member regarding a planning application (or indeed any 

other issue): 
 

• Do be mindful that they may feel under undue pressure more readily in the 

following situations: 
 

- a senior member lobbying a less senior colleague; 
 

- a number of members lobbying an individual; 
 

- persistent lobbying of a member. 
 

• Do always be clear that your lobbying is to solicit interest only and you are not 

seeking a voting commitment. 
 

• Do cease to lobby a member if it appears there is a risk that they will feel 

subject to pressure as to how he/she votes. 

 

• Don’t discuss how to vote on a planning proposal at a political group meeting 
or lobby other members to do so.  The Local Government Ombudsman has 

made it clear that the use of political whips to determine planning applications 
could amount to maladministration. 

 
Membership of Lobby Groups 
 

• Don’t lead or act as spokesperson of an organisation or group whose primary 

purpose is to lobby or promote or oppose a planning application.   
 

• Do feel able to join general interest groups which reflect your areas of interest 
and which concentrate on issues beyond particular planning applications, e.g. 

The Victorian Society, The Ramblers, CPRE, or a local civic society.  
However, if you are a member of such an organisation and this is relevant to a 
particular application, you should make sure that you declare that interest and 

consider whether it might lead to, or could be perceived to lead to bias on 
your part. 

 

Undue or Excessive Lobbying 

 

• Do inform the Director of Law and Governance if you feel you have been 

exposed to undue or excessive lobbying or approaches (including 
inappropriate offers of gifts or hospitality).  The Director will ensure that the 

306



 
 

 

   

appropriate action is taken. 
 

6. Site Visits 
 
•  Do attend site visits organised by the County Council. 

 

•  Do ensure that any information which you gained from the site visit is reported 

back to the Board, so that all members and officers involved in the decision-
making have the same information. 

 

•  Do ensure that you treat the site visit only as an opportunity to seek 

information and to observe the site. 
 

•  Do ask the officers at the site visit questions or seek clarification from them on 

factual matters which are relevant to the site inspection. 
 

• Do have regard to the Council’s Site Visit Protocol, in particular noting that all 
discussion during visits should be conducted through the Chairman and 

limited to the drawing of attention to facts/features associated with the site. 
 

• Don’t get involved in discussion with the applicant/developer or any members 

of the public who may be present during the visit.  If you are approached 
advise them that representations should be made in writing, and direct them 

to or inform the County Council officer accompanying you. 
 

•  Don’t express firm opinions or views or declare the way you intend to vote. 

 

•  Don’t enter a site which is subject to a planning proposal other than as part of 

an official site visit, even in response to an invitation, as this may give the 

impression of bias unless: 
 

 - you feel it is essential for you to visit the site other than through attending 
the official site visit; 

 

 - you have first spoken to the Chief Executive (Head of Planning) about 
your intention to do so and why (which will be recorded on the planning 

file); and 
 

 - you can ensure you will comply with these good practice rules on site 

visits. 
 

7. Pre-Meetings 
 
Briefing meetings for the Chairman and Spokesmen of the Board are held to 
facilitate the smooth running of the Board meetings.  Discussion will be limited to 

procedural issues such as the organisation of site visits, arrangements for members 
of the public to exercise their speaking rights at the meeting, and to ensure that all 
the relevant paperwork and information is available for the meeting.   

 

307



 

 
   December 2022 

•  Do use pre-meetings to resolve procedural issues to facilitate the smooth 

running of the formal meeting. 
 

•  Don’t discuss the determination of applications at either Board briefing 

meetings or political group meetings. 
 

•  Don’t ever use the political whip on a planning matter.  This would leave the 

decision open to challenge and could give rise to a finding of 

maladministration by the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 

8. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 
The County Council has a procedure to allow members of the public to make 
representations at meetings of the Development Control and Regulatory Board.  As 

an elected Member - 
 

• Do, if contacted by the public before the meeting, explain that whilst you may 
express a view you must be seen to be keeping an open mind on the matter, 
and that you will determine the application on its merits, having regard to 

material considerations.  
 

• Don’t allow applicants or members of the public to communicate with you at 
all during the Board’s proceedings as this may give the appearance of bias. 

 

• Do ensure that you comply with the Council’s procedures in respect of public 
speaking. 

 

9. County Council Officers 
 
•  Don’t put pressure on officers to put forward a particular recommendation as 

this may be seen as prejudicing their professional integrity and impartiality.  

This does not prevent you from asking questions or submitting views to the 
Chief Executive (Head of Planning) which may be incorporated into any Board 
report. 

 

•  Do recognise that officers are part of a management structure and you should 

only discuss a development proposal, outside of any arranged meeting, with a 
Head of Service or those officers who are authorised by their Head of Service 

to deal with the proposal at a member level. 
 

•  Do recognise and respect that officers involved in the processing and 

determination of planning matters must act in accordance with any 
appropriate officer and professional codes of conduct, primarily the Royal 

Town Planning Institute’s Code of Professional Conduct.  As a result, planning 
officers’ views, opinions and recommendations will be presented on the basis 

of their overriding obligation of professional independence, which may on 
occasion be at odds with the views, opinions, or decisions of elected 
Members. 

 

308



 
 

 

   

10. Decision Making 
 
•  Do come to Board meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that you are 

open-minded. 
 

•  Do make decisions in accordance with the relevant Development Plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

•  Do come to your decision only after due consideration of all of the information 

reasonably required upon which to base a decision.  If you feel there is 

insufficient time to digest new information or that there is simply insufficient 
information before you, request that further information.  If necessary, the 

Board may defer or refuse the application. 
 

•  Don’t vote or take part in the decision on a proposal unless you have been 

present to hear everything that has been said at that meeting, including the 

officers’ introduction to the matter. 
 

•  Do make sure that if you are proposing, seconding, or supporting a decision 

that you clearly identify and understand the planning reasons leading to this 

conclusion/decision.  Where a decision is being taken contrary to officer 
recommendations, reasons for this must be given prior to the vote and these 
must be recorded.  Be aware that the Council may have to justify the resulting 

decision by giving evidence in the event of any legal challenge. 
 

11. Member Awareness 
 

The planning system involves complex legal and technical issues which 
require the application of sound judgement in the assessment of planning 

proposals.  A failure to follow proper practice and procedures can lead to 
serious consequences for the County Council as the Planning Authority.   

 
The County Council has determined that all elected Members must attend a 
planning training session prior to being involved in the determination of 

planning decisions. You are strongly encouraged to participate in any further 
training on planning matters and this Code of Good Practice to assist you in 

carrying out your role properly and effectively.   

309



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 5B 
Officers’ Code of Conduct 

 

 

  July 2014 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Part 5 B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Officers’ 
Code of Conduct 

311



312



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 

Page 1 
 

Page 5B/1 
  July 2014 

Part 5B - Officers’ Code of Conduct 
 

 
 

EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT 

Part 1 General Provisions 

Purpose 

1.1 This Code of Conduct defines the responsibilities, standards and 
behaviour required of you as a Leicestershire County Council 
employee.  It reflects the fact that members of the public expect you, as 

a public servant, to demonstrate the highest levels of integrity and 
professionalism at all times.  This is necessary to enable the County 

Council to deliver services of high quality which are value for money 
and reflect the Councils organisational values.  

1.2 It is your responsibility to read this Code and to make sure your 

conduct meets its provisions at all times. 

1.3 Breaches of this Code will be investigated and may result in disciplinary 

action being taken which could lead to dismissal. You must engage in 
any investigations about actual or potential breaches of this Code. 

Scope 

1.4 This Code of Conduct applies to all County Council employees, 

apprentices and casual workers.  Volunteers, agency workers and 
others who work, whether paid or unpaid, for and on of behalf of 
Leicestershire County Council are expected to comply with this Code. 

1.5 You are required to comply with this Code when carrying out your 
duties as an employee or representative of Leicestershire County 

Council. 

1.6 This Code of Conduct is not an exhaustive account of all the 
expectations upon you and should be read in conjunction with the 

Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedure. 

1.7 This Code does not apply to employees, workers or others based in 

schools and colleges with delegated budgets.  

Part 2 Principles 
The Code of Conduct reflects the key principles of public life recommended by 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life (The Nolan Committee).  You must 
act in accordance with these principles, as set out below, and observe the 

following rules of behaviour:- 
 

 
 

313



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 
Page 2 

Page 5B/2 

  July 2014 
 

Principle 1 - Selflessness  
 

You should act solely in terms of the public interest. 
 

Principle 2 - Integrity  
 
You must avoid placing yourself under any obligation to people or 

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence you in their 
work.  You should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for yourself, your family, or your friends.  You 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 

Principle 3 - Objectivity  
 
You must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using 

the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 
 

Principle 4 - Accountability  
 
You are accountable to the public for your decisions and actions and 

must submit yourself to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 
 

Principle 5 - Openness  
 
You should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.  

Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are 
clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
Principle 6 - Honesty  
  

You should be truthful. 
 

Principle 7 - Leadership  
 
You should exhibit these principles in your own behaviour.  You should 

actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Part 3 Standards 
3.1 You are required to:- 

3.1.1 Always act in the interests of Leicestershire County Council; 

3.1.2 Behave at work in line with this Code of Conduct and the 
Council’s Organisational Values; 

3.1.3 Attend work in accordance with your contractual requirements, 
carry out all of the requirements of your job and any reasonable 

instructions given by your manager or supervisor effectively and 
to the standard that is needed;  

314



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 

Page 3 
 

Page 5B/3 
  July 2014 

3.1.4 Conduct yourself, in your official or private capacity, in a way 
which could not reasonably be regarded as bringing the Council 

into disrepute or engage in any conduct that is harmful to the 
Council or its interests. 

3.1.5 Be aware that actions in your off-duty hours can impact on your 

employment with the Council as it may result in disciplinary 
action being taken against you.  Examples include, but are not 

limited to, involvement in racist incidents, criminal actions and 
acts of violence.  

3.1.6 Whilst at work and/or on official Council business, dress 

appropriately for the role you are undertaking and wear your 
official Leicestershire County Council identity card;  

3.2 Health and Safety 

3.2.1 You have a responsibility to present yourself fit for work and be 
capable of carrying out your duties fully in a competent and safe 

manner.  In addition you have a duty to take care of your own 
health and safety and that of others who may be affected by 
your actions and to co-operate with the Council and co-workers 

to help everyone meet their legal requirements; 

3.2.2 If you have a specific query or concerns about health and safety 

in your workplace you should in the first instance talk to your line 
manager. 

Part 4 Adherence to Council Constitution, 
Policies, Procedures, Operating 
Guidelines and Service Standards 

4.1 You have an individual responsibility to work within Leicestershire 

County Council’s Constitution, service requirements, policies, 
procedures, operational guidelines and standards, legislation and other 
professional standards which may apply to your role from time to time 

and to be aware of and keep up to date with those requirements and 
standards.  Adherence to these ensures that: 

• The Council meets its statutory requirements; 

• Service standards are maintained; 

• Proper monitoring and auditing processes can be applied. 

4.2 If you do not follow these (whether intentionally or inadvertently) it will 
be regarded as a disciplinary matter.  Whilst managers will assist you, 

you have a personal responsibility to make sure that you are familiar 
with your responsibilities under the Council's Constitution and other 

policies, procedures and guidelines, in particular:- 

• HR Policies; 

• Equalities Policies; 

• Financial Procedure Rules; 

315



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 
Page 4 

Page 5B/4 

  July 2014 
 

• Contract Procedure Rules; 

• Departmental operational policies, procedures and codes. 

4.3 When using facilities and equipment, provided as part of your work, 
belonging to the Council you must; 

• Take care of County Council property or equipment, keeping it 
secure and reporting any breakages or breaches in security; 

• Use equipment and facilities for authorised purposes only. 
 

4.4 You must act in accordance with the Council’s Smoke Free policy.  

Part 5 Public and Social Media 
5.1 Unless you are acting as a spokesperson for the Council as part of 

your duties, or you are authorised to act as a spokesperson about a 
particular situation, or are acting as spokesperson for one of the 

Council's recognised trade unions in pursuit of legitimate industrial 
relations activities, you must not:- 

• Speak, write or give interviews about the business of the 

Council to the media; 

• Make a public statement which concerns the business of the 

Council. 
 

To do so may result in reputational damage to the Council. 

5.2 You should be aware of the risks you could potentially face when 
sharing information about your working and personal life through Social 

Media and the potential for disciplinary action being taken against you.. 

Part 6 Relationships 
6.1 The County Council expects that you:- 

6.1.1 Treat all co-workers (whether paid or unpaid) equally, fairly and 

with dignity and respect regardless of their circumstances or 
personal characteristics; 

6.1.2 Are supportive, co-operative and maintain good working 

relationships; 

6.1.3 Assist the Council achieve its aim of making the work 

environment free of harassment and/or bullying, discrimination 
or other unacceptable behaviours. 

6.1.4 Always remember your responsibilities to the community the 

County Council serves and make sure you are polite, efficient 
and provide impartial service delivery to all groups and 

individuals within that community, regardless of their 
circumstances or personal characteristics and as defined by the 
policies of the Council. 

316



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 

Page 5 
 

Page 5B/5 
  July 2014 

6.1.5 Develop effective co-operative and professional working 
relationships with organisations (including in a voluntary capacity 

with the local community), agencies, contractors, suppliers, and 
service partners, without offering or inferring any advantage to 
any external suppliers or contractors; 

6.2 Elected Members 

6.2.1 Mutual confidence and trust between employees and elected 

members is essential to the effective operation of the County 
Council.  Any close personal relationships which develop 
between you and an elected member should be declared in the 

same way as a relationship with another employee. 

More information is contained within the Protocol on Member Officer 

Relations, in Part 5C of this Constitution. 

Part 7 Personal, Business, Financial or Other 
Interests 

7.1 For the most part, your off-duty hours are your personal concern; 
however you should not subordinate your employment relationship with 

the Council to your private interest or put yourself in a position where 
there is a conflict of interests. 

7.2 The County Council and the public must be confident that decisions of 
whatever nature you make are made for good and proper reasons and 
are not influenced by your interests or the interests of your family, 

relatives or friends. 

7.3 You are required to declare and register any potential or actual 

personal, financial, business, other employment or interest which may 
impact on your work, conflict with the impartial performance of your 
duties, put you under suspicion of improper behaviour or that would 

cause damage to the Council’s reputation or services. 

7.4 Appointment and other employment matters 

7.4.1 Applicants for any County Council post are asked to declare any 
relationship with a member or employee of the Council.  In order 
to avoid any possible accusation of bias, you should not be 

involved in an appointment where you are related to an 
applicant, or have a close personal relationship outside work 

with them; 

7.4.2 In the same way, you must not be involved in decisions about 
discipline, promotion or pay for any employee you have a close 

personal relationship with. 

7.5 Relationships which develop during the course of Employment 

7.5.1 You are responsible for declaring, in writing to your line 
manager, any personal relationships that develop with another 

317



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 
Page 6 

Page 5B/6 

  July 2014 
 

Council employee, which may conflict with the impartial 
performance of your duties. 

Part 8 Bribery, Fraud and Corruption 
8.1 Bribery 

8.1.1 Bribery is defined as “an inducement or reward offered, 
promised or provided to gain personal, commercial, regulatory or 

contractual advantage”. 

8.1.2 Under the Bribery Act 2010, both individuals and organisations 
are liable for conviction in court, imprisonment and/or fines if 

found guilty of an offence. 

8.1.3 It is useful for all employees to remember that it is unacceptable 

to: 

• Give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality 
with the expectation or hope that a business advantage will 

be received, or to reward a business advantage already 
given; 

• Give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality to 
a government official, agent or representative to ‘facilitate’ a 
routine procedure; 

• Accept payment from a third party that you know or suspect 
is offered with the expectation that it will obtain a business 

advantage for them; 

• Accept a gift or hospitality from a third party if you know or 

suspect that it is offered or provided with an expectation that 
a business advantage will be provided by us in return; 

• Take any action against or threaten a person who has 

refused to commit a bribery offence or who raises any 
concerns. 

8.1.4 The responsibility to control the risk of bribery occurring should 
reside at all levels.  If you have a concern regarding a suspected 
instance of bribery please speak up.   

8.2 Fraud and Corruption 

8.2.1 Fraud is defined as “deliberate deception intended to provide a 

direct or indirect personal gain”. 

8.2.2 Corruption is defined as the “deliberate use of one’s position for 
direct or indirect illegitimate personal gain”. 

8.2.3 The Council’s general belief and expectation is that all those 
associated with it will act with honesty and integrity.  In 

particular, officers will lead by example and be accountable for 
their actions. 

8.2.4 As an employee of the County Council you are expected to: 

• Take the risk of fraud seriously; 

318



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 

Page 7 
 

Page 5B/7 
  July 2014 

• Secure all passwords, information, documents, money and 
equipment in your control which can be stolen or used to 

perpetrate fraud; 

• Make yourself aware of corporate and departmental 
documented procedures, regulations or other instructions 

and ensure, where possible, that they are adhered to; 

• Strive to achieve value for money in your use of the Council’s 

financial resources;  

• Only incur costs to the Council in accordance with your 

authorised limits;  

• Declare any conflicts of interest that arise; 

• Only accept gifts and hospitality in accordance with the 

County Council’s Policy; 

• Bring any concern you have on the adequacy of control 

measures to the attention of your line manager; 

8.2.5 Concerns raised will be treated in accordance with the Council’s 

Whistleblowing policy. 

Part 9 Protecting the Council's Business 
Interests 

9.1 The Council retains the intellectual property rights for work created in 

the course of your normal duties e.g. research, reports, designs, 
drawings, software developments or similar work. No property of the 
Council should be removed from Council premises or passed on by you 

or another person acting on your behalf to a third party, without the 
express consent of the Council. 

9.2 Similarly, you are not permitted to use any work which you or others 
have created, whilst in the employment of County Council, for personal 
or financial gain without the express consent of the Council. 

Part 10 Whistleblowing 
10.1 The County Council is committed to achieving high standards of 

integrity and accountability and expects the same commitment from 
those working for the Council.  Experience shows that employees are 

often the first to realise that there may be something seriously wrong 
within the Council or often have worries or suspicions and could, by 
reporting their concerns at an early stage, help put things right and stop 

potential wrongdoing.  

10.2 The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy provides a framework for you to 

raise concerns which you believe are in the public interest and may 
relate to illegal, improper or unethical conduct.  You are encouraged to 
bring to the attention of management, knowledge of any such activity.  

You should be able to do so without fear of victimisation. 

319



Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 
Page 8 

Page 5B/8 

  July 2014 
 

Part 11 Disclosure of Information 
11.1 You have a contractual responsibility to maintain confidentiality and to 

comply with the Council’s guidance on Data Protection and Information 
Security and Acceptable Use Policy. 

11.2 Confidential information includes, but is not limited to, any information 
regarding staff, service users, financial information, information 

regarding business plans or other commercially sensitive information 
and any information or matter which relates to the affairs and/or 
services of the County Council that should not be in the public domain 

and information about County Council Service Users and Customers.    

11.3  You must:  

11.3.1 Not disclose information (oral, written or electronic) given to you 
in confidence by anyone, or information acquired which you 
believe is of a confidential nature, without the consent of a 

person authorised to give it, or unless you are needed to do so 
by law, or until it becomes public in the course of the Council’s 
business; 

11.3.2 Not prevent another person from gaining access to information 
to which that person is entitled by law; 

11.3.3 Not use any information received during your employment for 
personal gain or benefit, or pass it on to others who might use it 
in a way other than might reasonably be expected in the normal 

course of their duties; 

11.3.4 Where applicable, be aware of the guidance on when you make 

confidential information available to Elected Members. Part 4B – 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

11.3.5 Respect political confidences as provided for in the protocol on 

Member/Officer Relations, Part 5C of this Constitution. 

11.4 If you are unsure if an individual has the right to receive the information 

they have asked for, you must seek advice from your line manager. 

Part 12 Political Neutrality 
12.1 Employees serve the whole County Council as a single, statutory 

corporate body and not simply the political administration in power.  It 
follows, therefore, that you must provide support to all members of the 

Council, regardless of the political party they represent.  This is 
particularly important in relation to their local or representational role. 

This is explained in more detail in the Protocol on Member/Officer 
Relations, Part 5C of this Constitution. 

12.2 Politically Restricted Posts 

12.2.1 Some employees hold posts that have been designated as 
politically restricted.  If you hold this type of post you are 

prevented from taking an active political role either in or outside 

320

http://www.leics.gov.uk/index/your_council/local_democracy/aboutthecountycouncil/decisionmakingsummary/constitution/5c_member_officer_relations.htm
http://www.leics.gov.uk/index/your_council/local_democracy/aboutthecountycouncil/decisionmakingsummary/constitution/5c_member_officer_relations.htm


Part 5B 
Officers' Code of Conduct 

Page 9 
 

Page 5B/9 
  July 2014 

work.  You must not stand as a candidate, or hold, elected office 
(other than to a Parish Council), canvass at elections, speak, or 

write publicly demonstrating support for a political party. 

12.2.2 The restrictions which apply to Political Assistants are slightly 
different.  

 

321



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

 

 
 

December 2023   

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Part 5 C 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Protocol on 
Member / Officer 

Relations 

323



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 2 
 

Page 2 of 10 
 

Part 5C - Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  
 

Purpose 

 
1. The purpose of this protocol is to define the respective roles of 

members and officers and to provide guidance on what the relationship 
between those roles should be. 

 
2. The protocol also reflects the principles underlying the respective 

Codes of Conduct which apply to members and officers. The shared 

object of these Codes is to promote high standards of behaviour. 

 
Principles 
 

3. The fundamental principles underpinning this protocol are: 

 
(a) The County Council is a democratically elected local authority 

delivering a range of services to the people of Leicestershire. 
 

(b) The County Council is a single entity, a statutory corporate body. 

This relates to both the officer structure and the different areas 
of activity (Cabinet, Regulatory and Overview and Scrutiny) that 

members can be involved in.  
 

(c) In everything they do, elected members and officers of the 

County Council are obliged to act within the law and in 
compliance with relevant standards and codes of conduct. 

 
(d) All elected members of the County Council are ultimately 

accountable to the people of Leicestershire through the ballot 

box for their actions as County Councillors. 
 

(e) The Political Administration of the day, whether single or joint, is 
ultimately politically accountable for the effectiveness and 
delivery of its policies and plans which have been approved by 

the County Council and will, therefore, have an interest in 
ensuring that services are delivered by the officers in 

accordance with those approved policies and plans.  
 

(f) The officers serve the whole County Council as a single 

statutory corporate body. 
 

(g) The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring Officer, 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) and Scrutiny Officer 
are all statutory roles with responsibilities as set out in the 

Articles of this Constitution. 
 

 

324



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 3 
 

Page 3 of 10 
 

(h) The officers will provide adequate support to all elected 
members in their local or representational role. 

 
(i) Dealings between elected members and officers should be 

based on mutual trust and respect. 
 

Role of Members and Officers 
 

4. Members and officers are both servants of the public and indispensable 
to one another, although their responsibilities are distinct. Members are 

responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their term of 
office lasts. Officers are responsible to the Council as a whole, and 
they are accountable to the Chief Executive. Their role is to give advice 

to members (individually and collectively) and to carry out the Council’s 
work as determined by the Cabinet and full Council under the direction 

of the Chief Executive and the Council’s Corporate Management Team. 
 

5. Members should not get involved in the day to day operational 

management of services, although this does not preclude Members 
from raising constituency related operational issues. Equally, officers 

should not get involved in politics. 
 

6. Members will take decisions in their role as members of the Cabinet 

and other decision-making bodies detailed in the Constitution, including 
the full Council.  They will do this in the light of appropriate professional 
advice from officers, which will ensure that all decisions comply with the 

law and relevant standards or codes of conduct.  Officers have the right 
to have their advice recorded, so that elected members are fully aware 

of the implications of their decisions. 
 

7. The advice given by officers will aim to serve the interests of the 

County Council as a whole.  It should be fearless, factual, honest, 
objective and politically neutral.  Officers must be alert to issues which 

are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically sensitive. Officers must 
be aware of the implications for the council and its members, and for 
the community as a whole. 

 

Relationships between Members and Officers 
 

8. The relationship between members and officers should be one of 
mutual trust and respect.  Members and officers should behave 
courteously to each other and neither party should seek to take 

advantage of their position.  Close personal familiarity between 
individual members and officers can harm professional relationships 

and prove embarrassing to other members and officers. Situations 
should be avoided that could give rise to the suspicion or appearance 
of any improper conduct, or the perception that a member and an 

officer treat one another differently from others due to the nature of a 
personal relationship between them. Officers are required to declare 

325



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 4 
 

Page 4 of 10 
 

any close personal relationships with members in the same way as 
they would declare a relationship with another employee. 

 
9. Members should not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability 

of officers either individually or collectively at meetings held in public or 
in the press. Officers have no means of responding to such criticism in 
public. If Members feel that they have not been treated with proper 

respect, and courtesy or have any concern about the conduct or 
capability of an officer and are unable to resolve it through direct 

discussion with the officer they should raise the matter with the relevant 
Director concerned or with the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 
 

10. Members will not publish any material which is derogatory of officers 
generally, or specific individuals, whether directly or indirectly through 

their agents or political groups. 
 

11. Members should respect the confidence of officers and, when 

information is shared with them, should not share it more widely, 
especially with the press, parish councils or members of the public, 

without seeking the consent of the relevant Head of Service or 
Assistant Director beforehand.  More details of how to engage with the 
media are set out in the Media Relations Protocol. 

 

Information and the political perspective 

 
12. For the proper functioning of the County Council as a whole, officers 

will normally be permitted to share information freely between 
themselves, irrespective of whether the officer’s role is connected with 

the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny or the Regulatory aspects of the 
County Council.  Where the information has been supplied/received 
subject to a request for party political confidentiality an officer will be 

permitted to share that information with other officers if they believe 
that to be necessary -  for example for the purpose of verifying the 

legality, financial probity or procedural regularity of any proposed 
course of action disclosed by that information.  The request for party 
political confidentiality will be confirmed to, and honoured by, any 

officers with whom the information is shared. 
 

13. Appropriate and regular liaison between elected members and officers 
connected with the Executive and Overview and Scrutiny aspects of 
the County Council should avoid the relationship between Scrutiny and 

the Executive becoming adversarial and polarised.  This liaison, 
combined with the politically balanced nature of Overview and Scrutiny, 

should reduce the number of occasions on which it is necessary for 
information to be supplied by elected members to officers on a party 
political confidential basis at the Executive/Overview and Scrutiny level. 

 
14. On request and where appropriate, officers will provide a briefing on a 

policy matter or individual topic to a particular political group, provided 

326



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 5 
 

Page 5 of 10 
 

that the same offer is made to the other political groups.  There will be 
times when officers consider it more appropriate to brief all members at 

the same; this will be discussed with the political group making the 
request. 

 
15. Where information is supplied to officers on a party political confidential 

basis, the officers will respect that confidentiality unless the officers 

believe that the proposed course of action appears to be in conflict with 
the law, or any relevant standards or codes of conduct, or would 

amount to an abuse of the processes of the County Council. 
 

16. Where party political confidentiality would be maintained in accordance 

with the preceding paragraph, the officers may, nonetheless, seek to 
persuade the elected members requesting the confidentiality to agree 

to that information being shared with the other political groups on the 
grounds that it would assist the more effective functioning of the County 
Council; however, in the absence of any such agreement to waive the 

confidentiality, the officers would continue to respect it. 
 

17. Where there is a change in Political Administration, the officers will act 
in relation to the new Administration and Opposition party or parties in 
the same way as they did for the old; and will continue to respect any 

continuing party political confidentiality. 
 

Relationship between the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny 

 

18. Given the nature and purpose of the County Council and the respective 
roles of elected members and officers, it is accepted that the officers, 

while remaining politically neutral, will inevitably give advice on a wider 
range of issues and on a more regular basis to the Cabinet.  For their 
part, Cabinet members will continue to respect the political neutrality of 

the officers and accept that officers are obliged to respond positively to 
any requests from Overview and Scrutiny for appropriate information 

and advice relevant to the issue being considered by Overview and 
Scrutiny.  When a committee requests it, the Executive will provide an 
appropriate Lead Member to attend an overview and scrutiny meeting 

to explain an Executive’s decision and the reasons for it. 
 

Decisions under delegated powers 

 
19. No executive powers will, as a matter of policy, be delegated to 

individual members, either as the Leader or as a member of the 

Cabinet.  Although neither the Leader nor individual members of the 
Cabinet will have any personal delegated executive powers, they may, 

nevertheless, develop, a personal special interest in specific areas of 
County Council activity.  The term “Lead Member”, rather than 
“Portfolio Holder”, is used to describe members with any such special 

interest, to avoid creating any misleading impression that the member 

327



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 6 
 

Page 6 of 10 
 

concerned does have personal delegated powers.  The Leader may 
decide that there should be more than one Lead Member for any 

particular area of special interest.   
 

20. The role of a Lead Member will include: 
 

(a) Providing a leadership role in their particular area, 

demonstrating familiarity and understanding of their brief. 
(b) providing a point of reference for a chief officer who wishes to 

sound out the elected member perspective before taking an 
executive decision under powers delegated to that chief officer. 

(c) Providing a better-informed elected member perspective and 

opinion on any relevant proposals before (or likely to come 
before) the Cabinet. 

(d) Appearing, as appropriate, before any relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee on behalf of the Executive. 

(e) Making position statements or responding to questions on the 

relevant area of activity, on behalf of the Executive, at any 
meeting of the County Council. 

(f) Speaking to the media to publicise and explain relevant 
decisions made at and policy proposals emerging from meetings 
of the Cabinet.  

 
The role of the Lead Member for Children’s Services is a statutory role 

and as such holds political accountability for all local authority 
children’s services, including education and social care. 

 

21. Where a chief officer decides (rather than volunteers) to consult a Lead 
Member before exercising his or her delegated powers, both will 

understand, and accept, that the final decision (and the responsibility 
which goes with it) remains with the chief officer; and that the process 
of reference to a Lead Member is not intended to operate as a 

delegation of power to the Lead Member.  
 

22. The same principles apply where authority to take a decision has been 
specifically delegated to a chief officer “after consultation with” one or 
more elected members, whether Lead Member or local member or 

both.  Although the process of consultation is required by the specific 
delegation of authority, this does not change the fact that the process is 

still one of consultation with, not specific approval by, the member(s) 
concerned.  If the consultation process was handled as if it was one of 
specific approval, then that could reasonably be regarded as 

tantamount to de facto personal delegation to the member concerned.    
 

23. Since consultation alone is involved, a chief officer can, theoretically, 
decide to proceed with his or her proposed course of action even in the 
face of some degree of objection from the member(s) consulted.  

However, a wiser course of action may be for the chief officer to decline 
to exercise the delegated authority and refer the decision back to the 

body which conferred the authority on the chief officer. 

328



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 7 
 

Page 7 of 10 
 

 
24. In implementing any process of consultation, if the view of the Lead 

Member is not in conformity with the professional view of the chief 
officer and the difference of view is material and cannot be reconciled, 

then the chief officer should consider: 
 

(a) seeking advice from the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or 

Chief Finance Officer as appropriate; and 
(b) referring the issue to a meeting of the Cabinet or the body which 

conferred the delegated power -  
 
to protect the interests of the Lead Member, the chief officer and, 

ultimately, the County Council.  
 

25. Chief officers should be careful about the methods they use to record, 
for internal purposes, that the process of consultation has taken place 
and its result.  There should be mutual trust and understanding 

between chief officers and Lead Members - a degree of trust which 
should be sufficient to render inappropriate a formalised process 

whereby a chief officer expects Lead Members to sign written 
confirmation that they have read and understood the relevant material 
supplied to them and that they agree its content.  

 
 

Keeping Members informed of matters affecting their electoral 

division 
 

26. To enable members to carry out their representative and divisional role 
effectively, they should be fully informed as early as possible about 

matters affecting their division, especially where it can be anticipated 
that members will become involved, for example in the case of the 
likelihood of complaints.  Residents expect their County Council 

representative(s) to be aware of all the activities which they may 
believe are in some way the responsibility of the County Council.  This 

arrangement does not extend to individual service-related complaints. 
 

27. Members have an important role to play in representing the County 

Council in their electoral division by responding to the concerns of their 
constituents. 

 
28.  Members must be invited to any event that has been organised in their 

electoral division, which is relevant to their role as a County Councillor, 

for example the opening of a new facility from which County Council 
services are being delivered.  If the facility or the service provides 

services to adjoining electoral divisions the additional members should 
also be invited. 
 

29. Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider an 
issue, all the members representing the electoral division(s) affected 

should be invited to attend the meeting as a matter of course. 

329



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 8 
 

Page 8 of 10 
 

 
30. If a member intends to arrange a public meeting on a matter 

concerning some aspect of the Council’s work, they should inform the 
relevant officer(s). 

 
31. Similarly, whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative 

exercise, the relevant member(s) should be notified immediately prior 

to the outset of the exercise. 
 

32. Where a report to the Cabinet, Scrutiny or Regulatory Body includes a 
sensitive issue affecting one or more electoral divisions, report authors 
must draw this to the attention of the relevant member(s) concerned, 

whether or not they are a member of that body.  This does not apply to 
reports considered by informal panels or working parties. 

 
33. Members may attend as observers at meetings of the Cabinet, 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Regulatory Bodies (Standing 

Order 34), including those parts of the meetings from which the public 
has been excluded. Subject to the consent of the Chairman a member 

so attending may speak (but not vote) on any matter.  Representations 
may also be made by members in writing, particularly if they are not 
able to attend the meeting. 

 
34. Where Members have notified that they have a particular interest in a 

matter to be considered by the Cabinet or some other body, but they 
are not the local member, officers are still expected to provide them 
with the relevant information.  Care must be taken on matters on which 

a member has an interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct.  
Members have a common law right to inspect documents and attend 

meetings if they can demonstrate a “need to know” for the purposes of 
their duties as a Councillor. (if in doubt seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer). 

 
35. Further circumstances where it would be appropriate to notify individual 

members include, for example: 
 

• An issue arising from the exercise of a Chief Officer delegated 

power relating to their division; 

• An approach being made to a Chief Officer by the press for 

comments on a particular matter relating to their division; 

• A partnership body, which includes the County Council; 

proposing to take action on a matter relating to their division 

• A Freedom of Information request covering a controversial issue 
relating to their division; 

• Where officers have received significant complaints from 
residents in their division, likely to lead to adverse media 

coverage (excluding individual service-related complaints); 

• A potentially controversial operational matter that will have a 

significant impact on the community in their division such as 

330



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 9 
 

Page 9 of 10 
 

major road works, changes in opening hours, closure of a facility 
etc.; 

• Where a major incident has taken place. 
In most cases notification via a short e-mail or simple phone call is all 

that is required. 
 

36. There may be times when, in addition to the local member(s), it would 

be appropriate for the officer concerned to notify other members, for 
example the Leader, Deputy Leader or Cabinet Lead Member. 

 

Guidance to Elected Members on providing advice and support to 

Officers 

 
 Constituent Issues 

 
37. A member may be asked for advice and support by an officer who is 

one of their constituents. Officers are entitled to seek such assistance 
in the same way as any other member of the public. However, 
members should be aware of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

in Part 4 of this constitution and be careful not to prejudice the County 
Council's position in relation to disciplinary procedures or employment 

matters in respect of an officer. A member approached for help in such 
circumstances should first seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Employment Issues 
 

38. A member should generally treat officers as they would a member of 
the public in relation to the personal receipt of council services and deal 
with the issue accordingly. 

 
39. Although employees are not encouraged to do so, elected members 

may occasionally find themselves being approached by employees on 

matters relating to their personal circumstances as a member of the 
Council’s staff. 

 
40. This puts the elected member in some difficulty because they will 

potentially have a conflict of interest.  On the one hand the member 

may well want to offer assistance to the employee, particularly if they 
reside in their electoral division.  On the other hand, as a member of 

the County Council, all elected members have responsibilities as “the 
employer”. 

 

41. It is advised in such circumstances that the member concerned should 
limit their role to the following:- 

 

• listening to the nature of the issue; 

• offering advice about where the employee can get assistance and 
support e.g. trade union, HR staff, manager, website; 

331



Part 5C 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations  

Page 10 
 

Page 10 of 10 
 

• pointing to the various mechanisms which the Authority has in place 
for resolving issues and disputes with groups of employees and 

individuals. (These are explained below); 

• satisfying themselves that the Council’s procedures (including the 

Whistleblowing Procedure where appropriate) are being followed 
correctly in that case and receiving details of the outcome. If there is 

concern that this may not be the case the member should seek 
advice from a relevant officer (i.e. Monitoring Officer, Head of 
Democratic Services, Head of Law and Deputy Monitoring Officer, 

Head of Member Service or Head of People Services). 
 

42. Beyond the above, it would not be wise for an elected member to 
pursue any particular case on behalf of the employee.  To do so could 
prejudice any procedures which are already underway and would not 

be in the Council’s or public’s interests. 
 

43. There are a number of policies and procedures available for employees 
to raise individual issues in relation to their employment, in line with the 
Employee Code of Conduct which forms Part 5B of this Constitution. 

 
44. The Whistleblowing Procedure is available to raise issues of bad 

practice, possible fraud or corruption or other matters which seem to be 
against the interests of the public, the Council or its staff. 

 

 
[end of Part 5C] 

 
 
 

 

332



 

   

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Part 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Members' Allowances Scheme 
 
 

333



334



Part 6 
Members’ Allowance Scheme 

Page 1 
 

 Page 1/11 

  

 

Part 6 – Members’ Allowances Scheme 
(effective 1 April 2024) 

 

The Leicestershire County Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by the 
Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 hereby 

makes the following scheme: 
 
1. This scheme may be cited as the Leicestershire County Council 

Members’ Allowances Scheme and shall have effect from 1 April 2024, 
until the scheme is amended or a new scheme is adopted. 

 
2. In this scheme, 
 

 “the Regulations” means the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003. 

 
 “member” means a member of the Leicestershire County Council who 

is a councillor; 

 
 “co-opted member” means a co-opted member of the Children and 

Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
 
 “year” means the 12 months ending with 31 March. 

Basic Allowance 

 
3. Subject to paragraph 9, for each year a basic allowance of £12,081(1st 

April 2023 rate) shall be paid to each member. 

Special Responsibility Allowances 

 
4. (1) For each year a special responsibility allowance shall be paid to 

those members who hold the special responsibilities in relation 
to the County Council that are specified in Schedule 1 to this 
scheme. 

 
 (2) Subject to paragraph 9, the amount of each such allowance 

shall be the amount specified against that special responsibility 
in Schedule 1. 

 

 (3) Where the Deputy Leader is required to take the place of the 
Leader during unavoidable absence of more than two weeks, an 

“Acting Up” allowance shall be payable, increasing the 
allowance of the Deputy to that of the Leader for the period 
concerned. 

 

335



Part 6 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 

Page 2 

Page 2/11 
  

 

Indexation 

 
5.  The Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances be increased on 

annual basis from 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2028 equivalent to the 
percentage increase that those officers on Grade 15, spinal column 

point 43, receive as part of the annual employee pay award. The 
increase will be implemented as soon as practicable after the pay 
award has been agreed and where applicable back dated to 1st April of 

that year. 

Renunciation 

 
6. A member may, by notice in writing given to the Chief Executive elect 

to forgo any part of his/her entitlement to an allowance under this 
scheme. 

Membership of more than one Authority 

 
7. Where a member of the Authority is also a member of another 

authority, as defined in the Regulations, that member shall ensure that 

he/she does not receive allowances from more than one authority in 
respect of the same duties. 

Part-Year Entitlements 

 
8. (1) In accordance with the requirements of the Regulations, part-

year payments shall be calculated as set out in this paragraph. 

 
 (2) If an amendment to this scheme changes the amount to which a 

member is entitled by way of a basic allowance or a special 

responsibility allowance, then in relation to each of the periods: 
 

  (a) beginning with the year and ending with the day before 
that on which the first amendment in that year takes 
effect; or 

 
  (b) beginning with the day on which an amendment takes 

effect and ending with the day before that on which the 
next amendment takes effect, or (if none) with the year, 

 

  the entitlement to such an allowance shall be to the payment of 
such part of the amount of the allowance under this scheme as it 

has effect during the relevant period as bears to the whole the 
same proportion as the number of the days in the period bears 
to the number of days in the year. 

 
 (3) Where the term of office of a member begins or ends otherwise 

than at the beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that 
member to a basic allowance shall be to the payment to such 

336



Part 6 
Members’ Allowance Scheme 

Page 3 
 

 Page 3/11 

  

part of the basic allowance as bears to the whole the same 
proportion as the number of days during which the member’s 

term of office subsists bears to the number of days in that year. 
 

 (4) Where this scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 
(2), and the term of office of a member does not subsist 
throughout the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)(a), the 

entitlement of any such member to a basic allowance shall be to 
the payment of such part of the basic allowance referable to 

each such period (ascertained in accordance with that sub-
paragraph) as bears to the whole the same proportion as the 
number of days during which the term of office as a member 

subsists bears to the number of days in that period. 
 

 (5) Where a member has during part of, but not throughout, a year 
such special responsibilities as entitle him or her to a special 
responsibility allowance, that member’s entitlement shall be to 

payment of such part of that allowance as bears to the whole the 
same proportion as the number of days during which the 

member has such special responsibilities bears to the number of 
days in that year. 

 

 (6) Where this scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 
(2), and a member has during part, but does not have 

throughout the whole, of any period mentioned in sub-paragraph 
(2)(a) of that paragraph any such special responsibilities as 
entitle the member to a special responsibility allowance, that 

member’s entitlement shall be to payment of such part of the 
allowance referable to each such period (ascertained in 

accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the 
same proportion as the number of days in that period during 
which the member has such special responsibilities bears to the 

number of days in that period. 
 

9. (1) Payments shall be made in instalments of one-twelfth of the 
amount specified in this scheme on the last working day of each 
month; 

 
 (2) Where a payment of one-twelfth of the amount specified in this 

scheme in respect of a basic allowance or a special 
responsibility allowance would result in the member receiving 
more than the amount to which, by virtue of paragraph 7, he or 

she is entitled, the payment shall be restricted to such amount 
as will ensure that no more is paid than the amount to which he 

or she is entitled. 
 
 

 
 

 

337



Part 6 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 

Page 4 

Page 4/11 
  

 

 
 

 
 

Dependants ‘Carers’ Allowance 
 
10. A Dependants ‘Carers’ Allowance will be available on the basis set out 

in Regulation 7 of The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 subject to the following conditions:- 

 
(1) The maximum hourly rate reimbursed for the independent care 

of a child under the age of 14 shall be equal to the minimum 

wage; 
 

(2) The maximum hourly rate reimbursed for the professional care 
of a dependent relative shall be equal to the Council’s own 
hourly rate for a Home Care Assistant; 

 
(3) Members must certify that the costs have been actually and 

necessarily incurred and the allowance shall be paid as a 
reimbursement of incurred expenditure against receipts; 

 

(4) The allowance shall not be payable to a member of the 
claimant’s own household. 

 

Travel and Subsistence 

 
11. The responsibilities and duties for which travel and subsistence 

allowances shall be payable and other matters relating to the regulation 
of the Scheme shall be as specified in Schedule 2 to this Scheme. 

Mileage Rates 

 

12. Where a member uses a private vehicle the rates payable shall at the 
level of the Approved Mileage Allowance Payments (AMAPs) laid down 

by the Inland Revenue as a tax free “approved amount” and shall be 
amended in line with any changes made to these amounts as and 
when they occur. 

 
 At the time of writing these amounts are as follows:- 

 
Car or van 45p per mile for the first 10,000 miles 

25p per mile after that 

Motor cycle 24p per mile (all miles) 
Cycle 20p per mile (all miles) 

  
An additional 5p per mile to be paid when one or more passengers 
travel to an approved duty in the same vehicle. 

 

338



Part 6 
Members’ Allowance Scheme 

Page 5 
 

 Page 5/11 

  

 
 

 
 

Subsistence 

 
13. The following rates of subsistence allowance shall apply:- 
 

Rate A - County Hall 
 

Rates based upon purchase of a meal at County Hall: 
 

Breakfast £4.85 

Lunch  £7.80 
 

Rate B – Other than County Hall 
 

Breakfast £8.20 

Lunch £11.30 
Tea £5.10 

Dinner £19.50 
 

14. The Qualifying duty period (inclusive of travelling time) for all 

subsistence allowances relating to meals shall be as follows:- 
Breakfast 3 hours before 11.00 a.m. 
Lunch 3 hours including 12 noon to 2.00 p.m. 

Tea 3 hours including 3.00 p.m. to 6.00 p.m.  
Dinner 3 hours ending after 7.00 p.m.  

 
15. The following rates shall apply for overnight absence (Room only): 
 

 Provincial Rate – not to exceed £110 
 London Rate – not to exceed £170. 

Co-optees’ Allowance 

 
16. No such allowances are currently payable. 
 

Claims 

 
17. Claims for carers’, travel and subsistence allowances shall be made by 

the member concerned within 2 months of the date of the duty to which 
it relates.  Requests for payment of previously unclaimed allowances will 
not normally be backdated beyond two months entitlement from the date 

of the claim. 

339



Part 6 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 

Page 6 

Page 6/11 
  

 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 
 

EFFECTIVE FROM 1 APRIL 2023 (Increase for 2024 pending) 
 

 

  £ 
 

 Leader of the Council 40,937 
 Deputy Leader of the Council 24,570 
 Members of the Cabinet 21,859 

 Cabinet Support Members 8,285 
 Chairman of Scrutiny Commission 11,299 

 Scrutiny Commissioners 8,190 
 Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 5,082 
 Deputy Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 2,261 

 Spokesmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 2,261 
 Chairman of Development Control and 

 Regulatory Board 4,503 
 Deputy Chairman of Development Control and 
 Regulatory Board 2,261 

 Chairman of Corporate Governance Committee 2,919 
 Opposition Group Leaders  773 

  Per Group Member 
 Group Whips 67 
  Per Group Member 

   
  

 
 

340



Part 6 
Members’ Allowance Scheme 

Page 7 
 

 Page 7/11 

  

 SCHEDULE 2 
 

TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE – APPROVED DUTIES AND OTHER 

CONDITIONS 

 

The duties listed below qualify for travel and subsistence allowances. 
 
(A) GENERAL COUNTY COUNCIL DUTIES 

 
(a) Attendance at meetings of the County Council and relevant bodies 

appointed by or on behalf of the Council. 
  
(b) Working Parties or Panels of members properly convened by the 

Chief Executive in consequence of a decision of the relevant body 
of the Council. 

 

(c) Formal briefing meetings or conferences of members convened by 
the Chief Executive or conferences of members properly convened 

in relation to the proceedings of meetings or functions of a relevant 
body of the Council in accordance with arrangements approved by 
that body.  (Separate provisions exist for conferences organised by 

other bodies.) 
 

(d) Meetings for the appointments of Chief Officers. 
 
(e) Inspections and tours of County Council and other establishments 

and venues, approved in advance by or on behalf of the relevant 
body of the Council. 

 
(f) Official deputations to or meetings with government departments, 

statutory authorities or other local authorities. 

 
(g) Joint meetings with other local authorities or consortia of 

authorities. 
 
(h) Attendance by Members appointed for that purpose, at a meeting 

properly convened on behalf of a public authority or government 
department to discuss issues relating to the work of the County 

Council. 
 

(i) Attendance by invitation at a Parish Council or Parish Meeting to 

participate in the discussion of a County Council function (this 
provision to apply to travel allowance but not subsistence). 

 
(j) Meetings between group whips or their nominees to make 

recommendations on appointments. 

 
 

 

341



Part 6 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 

Page 8 

Page 8/11 
  

 

(k) Attendance by members at meetings of County Council bodies, or 
site visits when requested specifically by the body concerned or in 

response to a notice sent under the local issues alert procedure for 
the purpose of speaking on the item concerned. 

 
(l) Learning and development events organised by or on behalf of the 

Chief Executive. 

 
(m) Official and courtesy visits when: 

 
(i) approved by or on behalf of the relevant body; or 
 

(ii) made by the Chairman of the County Council (or the Vice-
Chairman when deputising for him) in his capacity as 

Chairman of the County Council for purposes directly 
connected with the functions of the Council. 

 

(n) General information visits or tours having been previously 
approved by or on behalf of the relevant body. 

 
(o) The following, as tasks approved by the County Council for the 

purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge of the functions of 

the County Council, or any of its relevant bodies. 
 

(i) Attendance by members at County Hall or other 
establishments within the County on such occasions as they 
consider necessary in connection with the discharge of the 

Council’s functions up to a limit of 15 occasions in each 
Council year.  These are known as “duty days”.  (Please note 

this provision is an authorisation to carry out an approved 
duty of member’s own choice on 15 occasions of whatever 
duration and not 15 duty days which could be interpreted for 

instance as 30 half days.) 
 

(ii) Attendance by each Group Leader and any member of the 
Cabinet of the Council or Cabinet Support Member at County 
Hall or other County Council establishments for any purpose 

which he/she considers to be necessary in connection with 
the discharge of the County Council’s functions. 

 
(iii) Attendance by individual members before the Ombudsman 

when requested by him. 

 
(iv) Full meetings of Political Groups held at County Hall and 

specifically related to the business of the County Council on 
not more than 15 occasions in the period commencing with 
the day of the Annual Meeting of the Council in any year and 

terminating on the day preceding the Annual Meeting in the 
following year.   

 

342



Part 6 
Members’ Allowance Scheme 

Page 9 
 

 Page 9/11 

  

(B) CONFERENCES 

 
Overnight accommodation and conference fees are normally booked by 

or on behalf of the Chief Executive and paid for by the Authority direct.   
Travel and subsistence allowances are payable for conferences 
organised by other bodies.  Attendance must be approved beforehand 

by or on behalf of the relevant body and the rates for conference 
travelling and subsistence are the same as for other duties. 

 
(C) OTHER BODIES 
 

Attendances by individual members at meetings of outside bodies to 
which the County Council makes appointments or nominations qualify 

for travel and subsistence allowances.  The approval relates to meetings 
of the bodies concerned, its standing committees and subcommittees 
but not to other activities of the body except in the case of the Local 

Government Association where the approval extends to all its activities 
including service on other bodies on the appointment or nomination of 

the Association.   
 
Where travel arrangements are made by the County Council on a 

member’s behalf and the member is able to claim travel/subsistence 
from the body concerned, the member shall ensure that the County 
Council is reimbursed in full.  Wherever possible the member should 

arrange for the County Council to be reimbursed directly by that body. 
 

USE OF OFFICIAL CAR 
 
The County Council has the ability to provide an official car and driver to 

certain members on occasions, particularly the Chairman and Vice Chairman.  
This is on a strictly regulated basis and on the following conditions:- 

 
(a) The duties must relate to the discharge of the County Council’s 

functions or as an appointed representative of the County Council.  

Under no circumstances can they be used for private or party 

political purposes; 

(b) The activities of the Chairman will take precedence over any others; 

(c) All such transport will be managed by the Civic Affairs Team within 

the Chief Executive’s Department. 

 

 

 

 

343



Part 6 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 

Page 10 

Page 10/11 
  

 

TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE RATES 
 

In all cases expenditure must have been actually and necessarily incurred. 
 

Travel 
 
Travelling expenses are limited to the actual journey from home or a 

members’ regular place of work except in exceptional circumstances 
approved by the Constitution Committee or Chief Executive on the 

Committee’s behalf (for definition of exceptional circumstances see note 
below).  
 

 Long journeys such as travelling back from holiday to attend a meeting do not 
qualify other than the amount equivalent to the local journey.  If a member's 

home is outside the County the distance and time used for any claim is from 
the point where the journey to County Hall crosses the County boundary.  If a 
member's usual business address is outside the County the full journey may 

be claimed on the basis that a person's work venue is not always within an 
individual’s control. 

 

(i) Air  

Air fare may be paid if the rate compares reasonably with the cost of 
alternative means of travel having regard to the likely savings in time, 
subject to the agreement of the Chief Executive. 

 
Applications must be raised with the Chief Executive as soon as possible 

prior to the date the duty is to be performed. 
 

(ii) Mileage Rates 

  Where a member uses his own private car or one belonging to a member 

of his family or otherwise provided for his use the rate claimed shall be 
laid down in the Council’s Scheme of Allowances. 

 

Where a member uses a lease car the rate claimed shall not exceed the 
relevant rates specified for the Council’s officers. 

 
(iii) Rail  

 

The rate of travel by rail shall be by reference to the second class fare.  

Tickets may be obtained from the Members’ Secretariat.  

(iv) Taxis 
 

The rate for travel by taxi cab shall not exceed, 

 

(a) In cases of urgency or where no public transport is reasonably 
available, the amount of the actual fare. 

 

344



Part 6 
Members’ Allowance Scheme 

Page 11 
 

 Page 11/11 

  

(b) In any other case, the amount of the fare for travel by appropriate 
public transport. 

 
(v) Other Expenses 

 
 Actual expenditure incurred on buses, tolls, ferries or parking fees. 

 

Definition of Exceptional Circumstances 
 

The Constitution Committee, or the Chief Executive on the Committee’s 
behalf, will normally only be prepared to consider granting exceptions to the 
general policy of the County Council in relation to the payment of travelling 

allowances for long journeys where the following circumstances apply:- 
 

Nature of Duty 
 
1. Attendance at a meeting to consider a “sensitive” issue which will have a 

substantial impact on the member’s particular electoral division whether 
or not the member serves on the body concerned; or 

 
2. Attendance at a meeting of the County Council where non-attendance, 

taken together with that of other members, might upset the elected party 

balance to such an extent that the decision is likely to be affected; or 
 

3. In other cases where it would not be appropriate or reasonable to expect 
a substitute to act on the member’s behalf; and 

 

 Exceptional Circumstances 
 

4. Illness or bereavement in respect of a close family member; or 
 
5. Unplanned and/or unavoidable absence due to unusual work 

commitments. 
 

General 
 
Applications must be raised with the Chief Executive as soon as possible prior 

to the date on which the duty is to be performed. 
 

The making of any payments retrospectively will not normally be considered. 
 
Subsistence 

 
The amount of subsistence claimed relates to the period of time a member is 

engaged on an approved duty.  
 
Rates and qualification periods are specified in the Council’s Scheme of 

Allowances. 
 

[end of Members’ Allowances Scheme] 

345



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 7 
Management Structure 

  

September 2023 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Part 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Management Structure 
 

347



348



Part 7 
Management Structure 

Page 1 
 

Page 1/1 
  September 2023 

Part 7 - Officer Management Structure 
 

Department Senior Posts 

Chief Executive’s 
Department 

 

Chief Executive 

Director of Law and Governance  
Assistant Chief Executive  

Head of Law  
Head of Regulatory Services 
Head of Planning and Historic and Natural 

Environment 
Head of Democratic Services 

Head of Member Services 
 

Public Health Department 

 

Director of Public Health 

Assistant Director (Commissioning) 
Assistant Director (Delivery) 
 

Corporate Resources 

Department 

 

Director of Corporate Resources 
Assistant Director (Finance, Strategic Property 
and Commissioning) 

Assistant Director (IT, Communications & Digital, 
Commercial & Customer Services) 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
 

Children and Families  
Department 

 

Director of Children and Family Services 

Assistant Director (Targeted Early Help and 
Children’s Social Care) 
Assistant Director (Education SEND and 

Commissioning) 
Strategic Lead Transformation and Change 
 

Adults and Communities 

Department 

 

Director of Adults and Communities 
Assistant Director (Strategic Commissioning) 

Assistant Director (Integration, Access and 
Prevention)  
Assistant Director (Operational Commissioning)          
 

Environment and Transport 
Department 

 

Director of Environment and Transport 
Assistant Director (Development and Growth)  

Assistant Director (Environment and Waste) 
Assistant Director (Highways and Transport 

Operations) 
 

 
 

[end of Part 7] 
 
 

349



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 8 
Register of members of the Executive 

 

 

 
May 2021 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Register of Members 
of 

the Executive 

 

 

351



352



Part 8 
Register of Members of the Executive 

Page 1 
 

Page 1/2 
  May 2021 

Part 8 - Register of Members of the 
Executive 

 
Members of the Executive: 

Name and address Electoral Division 
Mr N J Rushton, * 
Hood House, 
19 Lower Church Street, 
Ashby de la Zouch, 
Leicestershire, LE65 1AB 

Valley 

Mrs D Taylor + # 
6 Geary Close 
Anstey 
Leicestershire 
LE7 7LW 

Bradgate 

Mrs C M Radford ■ 
3 Moscow Lane 
Shepshed 
LE12 9EX 

Shepshed 

Mr P Bedford 
15 Lockeymead Drive 
Desford 
Leicestershire 
LE9 9JW 

Markfield, Desford & Thornton 

Mr L Breckon, 
5 Triumph Road,  
Glenfield, 
Leicester, 
LE3 8FR 

Glenfields, Kirby Muxloe & Leicester 
Forests 

Mr O O’Shea 
19 Heathbrook Drive 
Ratby 
Leicester 
LE6 0XB 

Groby & Ratby 

Mr B L Pain, 
30 Davies Close, 
Market Harborough, 
Leicestershire,  LE16 7ND 

Bruntingthorpe 

Mrs P Posnett 
11 Somerset Close 
Melton Mowbray 
Leicestershire 
LE13 0JS 

Melton East 

Mrs L Richardson 
21 The Pastures  
Narborough 
Leicester, LE19 3DS 

Enderby and Lubbesthorpe 
 

 

353



Part 8 
Register of Members of the Executive 
Page 2 

Page 2/2 

  May 2021 
 

 

Members of committees of the Executive 

 

Name and address Electoral Division 

 

 
[there are no committees of the Executive] 

 
 

 

* Chairman 
+  Vice-chairman 

     #   Lead Member for the Children and Young People’s Service 

      ■   Lead Member for Adult Social Care 
 

 
 

 [end of Part 8] 

354



Part 9 
Record of Specific Delegations to Heads of Departments 

and Proper Officer Provisions 
 

 
December 2012 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Part 9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Record of Specific Delegations to 
Heads of Departments 

and Proper Officer Provisions 

355



356



Part 9 
Record of Specific Delegations to Heads of Departments 

and Proper Officer Provisions 
Page 1 

 

Page 1/1 
  December 2021 

 

Part 9 - Record of Specific Delegations to Heads 
of Departments and Proper Officer Provisions 

 

 
1.  The General Scheme of Delegation to Heads of Departments and other 

Authorities in Section D of Part 3 is supplemented by a series of 

decisions by the County Council, the Executive and boards and 
committees in the Regulatory area.  These decisions confer additional 

delegated powers on heads of departments for specific purposes. 
 
2. The Chief Executive maintains the register of these decisions which is 

open to public inspection at County Hall and is updated by the Chief 
Executive in accordance with the power to do so given by Article 15.02 in 
Part 2. 

 
 

 
[end of Part 9] 

357



This page is intentionally left blank



Petitions Scheme for Leicestershire County Council 
 
1. Leicestershire County Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions 

are one way in which people can let us know their concerns.  Anyone who lives, 

works or studies in the local authority area and/or is a recipient of County 
Council services and is associated with the petition, including under 18’s, can 

sign or organise a petition. 
 
2. All petitions sent or presented to the Council will be acknowledged.  We will 

treat something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition, or if it seems to 
us that it is intended to be a petition. 

 
3. Paper petitions can be sent to: 
 

Head of Democratic Services 
Room 200B, Chief Executive’s Department 

County Hall, Glenfield 
Leicestershire, LE3 8RA 
 

Or, a petition can be created, signed and submitted online as an ‘e-petition’ by 
following this weblink: 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgePetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1 . 
 
(Note: Detailed guidance on the process for submitting, signing and processing 

an e-petition (which does not form part of the Petitions Scheme) is attached as 
an appendix to this Scheme. 

 

4. If you chose to use an alternative petition system other than the Council’s own 
system e.g. Change.org, you will either need to print a copy of the petition 

statement and corresponding signatures and send it to us by post to the above 
address, or email a pdf copy to democracy@leics.gov.uk.  
 

5. Further information on the information contained within the Petitions Schemes is 
available from Democratic Services, (telephone 0116 305 2583) or by emailing 

democracy@leics.gov.uk.  
 

Other ways of making your views known 
 
6. Petitions are not the only, or necessarily the quickest way to resolve an issue or 

make your views known. You could also: 
 

a) Contact the Council’s Customer Service Centre raising a concern about a 
service provided by the Council (see 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us/opening-

times-and-contact-information for more information); or  
 

b) Raise the matter with your local County Councillor and ask him/her to take 
up the matter on your behalf (more details are at 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-

works/councillors-and-conduct/find-your-county-councillor).  

359

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgePetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us/opening-times-and-contact-information
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us/opening-times-and-contact-information
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/councillors-and-conduct/find-your-county-councillor
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/councillors-and-conduct/find-your-county-councillor


 

What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 
 
7. Petitions submitted (whether by post or online) to the Council must: 

 

• have a clear and concise statement setting out the subject of the petition and 

the action the County Council is being asked to take in response (i.e. either do 
something, or stop doing something); 

 

• contain the name and address (residential, work, or study (as applicable)) of 
any person supporting the petition.  E-petitions should also include 

signatories’ email addresses; 
 

• include the address and contact details for a ‘lead petitioner’, with whom the 

County Council can communicate on behalf of all the signatories. These 
details will not be placed on the website; 

 

• have a minimum of 100 signatures; 

 

• be received by the Chief Executive’s Department eight clear days before the 
relevant meeting at which it is to be presented, if it is to be considered at a 

meeting. 
 

Exceptions to the Petitions Scheme 
 
8. The following will not be accepted as petitions within the scope of the scheme: 

 

• Submissions which are vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate; 

 

• Submissions relating to matters which would usually be dealt with 

through the corporate complaints process; 
 

• Submissions that are substantially similar to a petition considered by the 

County Council within the last six months; 
 

• Issues raised by staff related to their employment; 
 

• Petitions that are handled through alternative means or where other 
procedures apply, such as those referring to: 

i. Planning Applications; 

ii. Parking Policies; 
iii. Decisions for where there is an existing right of appeal; 

iv. Statutory petitions (for example requesting a referendum on 
having an elected mayor). 
 

9. In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may need to deal 
with your petition differently – if this is the case we will explain the reasons and 

discuss the revised timescale which will apply.  If a petition does not follow the 

360



guidelines set out above, the Council may decide not to do anything further with 
it.  In that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 

 

What will the Council do when it receives my petition? 
 
10. An acknowledgement will be sent to the lead petitioner within 10 working days 

of receiving the petition.  It will confirm whether the petition has been accepted 

or the reasons for not accepting it, let them know what we plan to do with the 
petition and when they can expect to hear from us again.   

 
11. If your petition is about something over which the Council has no direct control 

(for example the local railway or hospital) we will consider making 

representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body.  The Council 
works with many local partners and where possible will work with these partners 

to respond to your petition.  If we are not able to do this for any reason (for 
example, if what the petition calls for conflicts with Council policy), then we will 
set out the reasons for this to you.  You can find more information on the 

services for which the Council is responsible here 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/  

 
12. If your petition is about something that a different council is responsible for we 

will consider the best method for responding to it.  This might be to simply 

forward the petition to the other council but could involve other steps.  We will 
always notify you of the action we have taken. 

 

How will the Council respond to petitions? 
 

13. If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm that 
we have taken the action requested and the petition will be closed.  If this is not 

possible our response to a petition will depend on what it asks for and how 
many people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 

 

Response from the Service Director 
 

14. The Service Director, following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Lead 
Member and Local Member, will respond to the Lead Petitioner in the 
circumstances outlined below: 

 

• If the petition has less than 100 signatures, a written response will be 

provided within 56 days (2 months) following acknowledgement of the 
petition.  As petitions of this size do not qualify under this Scheme, the 

matter will then be deemed to be dealt with. 
 

• If the petition has more than 100 signatures and relates to an issue in a 

single electoral division, where possible a written response will be 
provided within 28 working days following acknowledgement of the 

petition.  If it is not possible to respond in that timeframe, the lead 
petitioner will be notified of the reasons for this.  The response will be 
copied to the Chairman and Spokesmen of the relevant Commission, 

Committee or Board. If the lead petitioner and/or one or more of the 

361

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/


relevant elected members feel that the petition has not been dealt with 
properly they can ask for the matter to be referred to the relevant 

Commission, Committee or Board for consideration. 
 

Referral to the relevant Committee or Board.  
 
15. Petitions with more than 1000 signatures and affecting two or more electoral 

divisions can be considered by the relevant Commission, Committee or Board.  
The Lead Petitioner can, however, choose to have the petition dealt with by the 

Service Director, following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member and 
Local Member, where appropriate, should they prefer. 
 

16. Petitions relating to an issue that affects a single electoral division will not be 
considered at a meeting unless they have 10,000 or more signatures, in which 

case the relevant Commission, Committee or Board will be asked for its views 
prior to the matter being considered by the full Council (see paragraph 21 
below). 

 
17. If the lead petitioner chooses for the matter to be referred to the relevant 

Commission, Committee or Board, it will be considered at the next available 
meeting (where that meeting is more than 10 working days from the date the 
petition is received).  Alternatively, if the matter of the petition is already on the 

work programme the Lead Petitioner will be invited to the meeting to submit 
representations about their petition under the agenda item it relates to. 

 
18. When presenting a petition at a meeting, the Lead Petitioner, or their local 

County Councillor (if preferred) will be asked to read the wording of the petition 

and state the number of signatories.  The Chairman of the meeting can invite 
the Lead Petitioner to explain the background to the issue where he/she 

believes it would be helpful to do so.  Please note that you will not be able to 
join in the subsequent debate at the meeting.  

 

19. The meeting will discuss the matter raised in the petition.  If the meeting is more 
than 28 days following receipt of the petition, the Service Director will present a 

report responding to the petition.  Otherwise, Members can request a report 
outlining the response to be submitted to the next meeting.  Once the 
Commission, Committee or Board has all the necessary information, it will come 

to a view as to how the petition should be addressed. 
 

20. A maximum of two petitions can be submitted to the Commission, Committee or 
Board at any one time. 
 

Referral to full Council 
 

21. If a petition has been signed by at least 10,000 persons living, working or 
studying in the Authority area, or if a County Council body decides it is 
appropriate, the petition will be debated by the full Council.  This means that the 

issue raised in the petition will be discussed at a meeting which all councillors 
can attend.  The Council will consider the petition at its next meeting, although 

362



on some occasions this may not be possible and consideration will then take 
place at the following meeting.  

  
22. Councillors will discuss the petition and the Council will decide how to respond 

to it at this meeting.  They may decide to take the action the petition requests, 
not to take the action requested for reasons put forward in the debate, or to 
commission further investigation into the matter, for example, by a relevant 

scrutiny committee.  Where the issue is one on which the Cabinet is required to 
make the final decision, the Council will decide whether to make 

recommendations to inform that decision.  The Cabinet itself may propose a 
response to the Council when the petition is considered.  The lead petitioner 
will receive written confirmation of the Council’s decision.  This confirmation will 

also be published on our website. 
 

What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 
 

23. If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the lead petitioner 

has the right to request that the Council review the steps taken in response to 
the petition. The lead petitioner will be required to provide an explanation of the 

reasons why the petition has been dealt with is not considered to be adequate. 
The Council will consider the request and respond accordingly within 10 working 
days.  Any request for an review should be submitted to Democratic Services by 

emailing democracy@leics.gov.uk.  
 

 
 

[end of Part 10] 

363

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk


Guidance for E-Petitions 
 

[Note: the following Guidance for E-Petitions was formally approved by the County 
Council when adopting the Petitions Scheme for Leicestershire County Council for 

the first time.  Future amendments to these instructions will be made by the Chief 
Executive in accordance with the agreement made by the Constitution Committee on 
10 September 2010.  Although, unlike the Constitution itself, this Guidance does not 

require formal approval of the County Council, it is nevertheless included here for the 
sake of completeness and will be updated as necessary, to reflect any amendments 

made.]  
 
Who can submit an e-petition? 

 
If you live, work or study in Leicestershire and/or receive a service provided by the 

County Council you can organise an e-petition and the County Council will consider 
the matter. 
 

What issues can my e-petition relate to? 
 

A petition should involve a call for action and be relevant to some question over 
which the Council has authority, or which otherwise affects the County.  
 

Who can sign an e-petition? 
 

Anyone who lives, works or studies in Leicestershire and/or receives a County 
Council service can sign an e-petition. You will need to be a registered user of the 
County Council’s online Political Management System and provide your name, 

residential/work/study address, and valid email address for verification purposes.  
 

How do I start an e-petition? 
 
When starting an e-petition, access the County Council’s e-petitions homepage 

(http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgePetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1) and select the 
‘Submit a new e-petition’ option. 

 
You will then be prompted to do one of the following: 
 

• register as a new user by submitting your contact details and creating a user 
name and password. In order that we can ascertain you are a ‘real user’ you 

will be required to enter a validation code of letters/numbers at the bottom of 
the registration form and, having submitted your details, be requested to 
validate your account via a link sent to your registered email address; 

 

• if you are an existing user, simply type in your user name and password. 

 
Then enter a title and the system will automatically check against existing e-
petitions to allow you to see if a similar one has been received recently. You will 

then need to fill in the online form.  
 

 

364



PLEASE NOTE:  If you chose to use an alternative petition system other than the 
Council’s own system e.g. Change.org, you will either need to print a copy of the 

petition statement and corresponding signatures and send it to us by post, or email a 
pdf copy to democracy@leics.gov.uk. 

 
What information should my e-petition contain? 
 

Your e-petition will need to include the following: 
 

• Subject matter; 

• A statement setting out what action you would like the Council to take; 

• A short name, to generate a direct weblink to the e-petition – e.g. by typing 
‘road’ this would generate politics.leics.gov.uk/road as a weblink.  

 

Your petition will then be submitted to the Democratic Services Section of the Chief 
Executive’s Department.  A member of staff will then contact you prior to the petition 

being signed off and going live on the system.  Your local County Councillor and the 
Director of the relevant Department concerned will be notified of the details of the 
petition. 

 
What happens to an e-petition that has been submitted? 

 
An officer from the Democratic Services Section will contact the lead petitioner to 
discuss when you wish your e-petition to go live on the website and the appropriate 

time for when you wish to stop collecting signatures.  Following the end date for 
signatories the e-petition will be dealt with in accordance with the County Council’s 

Petition Scheme. 
 
Can I still submit a paper petition? 

 
Yes, paper petitions can still be submitted via your local County Councillor or directly 

to the Chief Executive (see contact details below). 
 
Petitioners can gather names both on paper and via the online form, although repeat 

names will be removed.  Where a dual exercise occurs, both forms of petition should 
be run for the same period of time and must be submitted together.  Please inform 

Democratic Services if you intend to do this. 
 
How do I sign an active e-petition? 

 
Anyone wishing to sign an e-petition has to click on a link on one of the Active Petitions via the 

homepage (http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgePetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1). 
 
Unless you are already a user and can log on to the system with your existing user 

name and password you will be prompted to register as a new user with your contact 
details (and, so we can ascertain you are a ‘real user’, enter a validation code of 

letters/numbers at the bottom of the registration form).  As a new user you will then be 
requested to validate your account via a link sent to your registered email address 
before being able to sign the petition.  You will only be allowed one signatory per email 

address to ensure that the process is not abused.  Where people share the same 

365

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/mgePetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1


email address, the second or further signatories are invited to indicate in writing 
(contact details below) that they support the petition. 

 
Data Protection 

 
The details you give us are needed to validate your support for the e-petition and is 
the same information you would be required to give for a paper petition, but these 

details will not be published on the Council’s website.  The Council will not contact 
you unless you are the lead petitioner, or it needs to clarify matters regarding the 

specific petition you have submitted/signed.  Your details will not be passed on to 
any third party. 
 

Contact Details 
 

To discuss submitting an e-petition or for further general information and advice, you 
can contact the Democratic Services Section via: 
 

• email: democracy@leics.gov.uk; 
or 

• telephone: 0116 305 6036 
or 

• write to: 
 
Head of Democratic Services 

Room 200B, Chief Executive’s Department 
County Hall, Glenfield 

Leicestershire, 
LE3 8RA 

 

NOTE 
 

1. The Council reserves the right to refuse to accept any e-petition that is 
frivolous, vexatious, discriminatory or otherwise inappropriate.  However, the 
Democratic Services Section will, where possible, suggest to the lead 

petitioner an amended form of words that is considered acceptable. 
 

2.  The Council accepts no liability for the content of petitions on the Council’s 
webpages.  The views expressed should not be considered as those of the 
Council. 

 
 

[end of Guidance for E-Petitions] 
 
 

366

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk


Part 11 
Index 

 

September 2016 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Part 11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Index 

367



368



Part 11 
Index 

Page 1 
 

Page 15/1 
  September 2016 

 

Part 11 - Index 
 

Leicestershire County Council 

LGA 2000 Constitution - Consolidated Index 
including Standard Financial Instructions (SFI) 

 

Access to agenda and reports - Part 4B: R5 
Access to Executive documents: 

by overview and scrutiny committees - Part 4B: R23 
additional rights for elected members - Part 4B: R24 

Access to information:  

area committees - Part 2: A10.04 
generally - Part 4B 
joint arrangements - Part 2: A11.03 

Access to minutes and decisions - Part 4B: R7 
Access to reports, exclusion - Part 4B: R11 

Accountability and Performance - Part 4F: R13 
Adjournment of debate - Part 4A: SO24 
Adoption Panel - Part 3: Section E 

Agenda and reports, access to - Part 4B: R5 
Agenda, Executive - Part 4D: R7 

Allowances:  
basic - Part 6: P. 3 
claims - Part 6: P. 18 

co-optees’ allowance - Part 6: P. 15  
dependent carers’ allowance - Part 6: P. 9 

members’ - Part 2: A2.05 
members’, scheme - Part 6  
membership of more than one Authority - Part 6: P. 6 

mileage rates - Part 6: P. 11 
part-year entitlements - Part 6: Ps. 7, 8 

pensions - Part 6: Ps. 16, 17  
renunciation - Part 6: P 5 
special responsibility allowances - Part 6: P. 4; Schedule 1 

subsistence - Part 6: Ps. 12-14 
travel and subsistence - Part 6: P. 10; Schedule 2 

Amendment and implementation of approved budgets and plans - Part 4F: 
R12 
Amendments to motions - Part 4A: SO14, SO15 

Appointing, Dismissing and Disciplining Employees - Part 4H: R2 
Appointment Committee (Chief Officers) - Part 3: Section E 

Appointment of Employees - Part 4F: R18 
Appointments: 

 and recruitment – Part 4H: R7 

at Annual Meeting of County Council - Part 4A: SO27 
by County Council - Part 4A: SO26 

of Chief Officers - Part 4H: R6 
procedure - Part 4H: R5 

369



Part 11 
Index 
Page 2 

Page 15/2 

  September 2016 
 

Appropriate Spokesman - Part 4A: SO18 
Approval of Premises Panel (Civil Marriages) - Part 3: Section E 

Area Committees: 
generally - Part 2: A10 

access to information - Part 2: A10.04 
and Forums - Part 2: Table B, Schedule 3 
Executive members on -  Part 2: A10.05 

Area forums - Part 2: A10 
Articles, not to be suspended - Part 2: A16.01 

Assets: 
inventories or - Part 4F: R26 
securities - SFI:I19 

Assistants for Political Groups, appointment of - Part 4H: R8 
Attendance at meetings of Executive - Part 4B: R22 
Attendances, record of - Part 4A: SO31 

Audit, internal - Part 4F: R15 
Award of Contract: 

Acceptance of Tenders or Quotations - Part 4G: R23 
Form of Contract - Part 4G: R25 
Notification of Award - Part 4G: R24 

Orders for work, goods and services - Part 4G: R26 
 

 
Background papers - Part 4B: R8 
Banking arrangements - SFI:16 

Basic Allowance - Part 6: P. 3 
Boards: 

  chairmen, appointment of - Part 4A: SO32(3) 
proceedings - Part 4A: SO33, SO34 

Budget: 

approval process -  Part 4C: R3 
call-in of Executive decisions outside - Part 4C: R9 

council decision and Leader’s objection – Part 4C:R4 
decisions outside - Part 4C: R5 
decisions outside, urgent - Part 4C: R6 

implementation - Part 4F: R12 
generally - Part 2: A4.01(b) 

preparation - Part 4F: R11 
Business, next - Part 4A: SO23 
 

 
Cabinet, means an Executive meeting - Part 1: P5 

Cabinet Support Members - Part 2: A7.09 
Call-in: 

Key Decision - Part 4E: R14 

Key Decision, urgency - Part 4E: R15 
Executive decision outside Policy Framework or Budget - Part 4C: R9 

Summary - Part 1: P21 
Capital contracts - SFI: 7 

370



Part 11 
Index 

Page 3 
 

Page 15/3 
  September 2016 

Capital expenditure: 
accountability and performance - Part 4F: R9 

in excess of approved amount - SFI:1 
Capital programme: 

implementation - Part 4F: R8 

preparation - Part 4F: R7 
Capital, substitution - SFI:2 

Chairman of the meeting – Part 4A: SO2 
Chairman of the County Council - Part 2: A5.01 
Chairman of Scrutiny Commission- Part 2: A6.05; Part 4A: SO32 

Chairmanship of the Executive, the Commission, bodies and committees - 
Part 4A: SO31 

Charges, review of - SFI:15 
Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, as - Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 
Chief Finance Officer: 

generally -  Part 2: A12.04; Part 4C: R9 
designation - Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 

Chief officers: 

generally - Part 2: Table C, Schedule 3 
appointment of - Part 4H: R6 

financial responsibilities - Part 4F: R3 
recruitment - Part 4H: R4 

Children’s Community Homes and Service Teams Monitoring Panel - Part 3: 

Section E 
Citizens:  

petitions from, at certain meetings - Part 4A: SO36 
questions by, at certain meetings - Part 4A: SO35 
responsibilities - Part 2: A3.02 

rights - Part 2: A3.01 
right to attend meetings - Part 4B: R3 

rights, summary - Part 1: P25 
Claims, allowances - Part 6: P. 18 
Closure, County Council meeting, at - Part 4A: SO25 

Code of Conduct, Members - Part 5A 
Commission, Scrutiny, chairman, appointment of - Part 4A: SO32(2) 

Committees: 
area - Part 2: A10 
chairmen, appointment of - Part 4A: SO32(3) 

overview and scrutiny - Part 2: A6 
proceedings - Part 4A: SO33, SO34 

Regulatory - Part 2: A8.01 
Common Seal - Part 2: A14.05 
Community Equipment Services, delegation - Part 3: Section B: Page 13 

Complaints Panel (School Curriculum and Religious Education) - Part 3: 
Section E: Page 20 

Composition of Member Panel (appointment or dismissal of certain officers) - 
Part 4H: R4 
Conduct Matters - Part 3: Section B: Page 7 

Conduct of Members - Part 4A: SO18 

371



Part 11 
Index 
Page 4 

Page 15/4 

  September 2016 
 

Confidential information, exclusion - Part 4B: R10(1) 
Conflicts of interest - Part 4D: R4, Part 4G: R9 

Constitution Committee - Part 3: Section B: Page 8 
Constitution: 

adoption -  Part 1: P1 
changes - Part 2: A15.02 
covers - Part 1: P2 

interpretation - Part 2: A1.04; Part 2: A16.02 
powers of the County Council Part 2: A1.01 

publication - Part 2: A16.03 
purpose - Part 2: A1.03 
review - Part 2: A15.01 

suspension - Part 2: A16.01 
Consultation, Executive - Part 4D: R6 
Contract Amendments: 

Contract Extensions - Part 4G: R31 
Contract Variations - Part 4G: R30 

Early Termination of Contracts - Part 4G: R 33 
Novation of Existing Contracts - Part 4G: R32 

Contract, Award of: 

Acceptance of Tenders or Quotations - Part 4G: R23 
Form of Contract - Part 4G: R25 

Notification of Contract Award - Part 4G: R24 
Orders for Work, Goods and Services - Part 4G: R26 

Contracting out - Part 2: A11.05 

Contract Procedure Rules: 
Annual Reporting - Part 4G: R7 

Application of - Part 4G: R4 
Application of rules to ESPO - Part 4G : R34 
Compliance - Part 4G: R1 

Document Retention - Part 4G : R35 
Exceptions - Part 4G: R5 

Interpretation - Part 4G : R4 ; Schedule 1 
Contracts: 

generally - Part 2: A14.02, SFI: I7 

Supervision of by Third Parties - Part 4G: R36 
Co-opted members on overview and scrutiny committees - Part 4E: R4 

Co-optees’ Allowance - Part 6: P15 
Copies, supply of agenda and reports - Part 4B: R6 
Corporate Governance Committee – Part 2: A9; Part 3: Section B: Page 6 

Corruption/Conflict of Interest, prevention of - Part 4G: R9 
Councillors, personal and/or pecuniary interests - Part 4A: SO30 

County Council:  
chairman of - Part 2: A5.01 
Common Seal - Part 2: A14.05 

Constitution - Part 2: A1 
decision, Leader’s objection - Part 4C: R4 

decision-making -  Part 2: A13.04 
full, functions of - Part 2: A4.02 

372



Part 11 
Index 

Page 5 
 

Page 15/5 
  September 2016 

meeting, chairman of - Part 4A: SO2 
meetings - Part 2: A4.03; Part 4A: SO1 

members of - Part 2: A2.01 
minutes - Part 4A: SO6 
order of business - Part 4A: SO4 

order of business, variation of - Part 4A: SO5 
position statements - Part 4A: SO8 

questions, elected members, by - Part 4A: SO7 
quorum - Part 4A: SO3 
responsibility for functions - Part 2: A4.01 

Scheme of Delegations and Executive Functions - Part 4D: R3 
staff - Part 1: P23, P24 

summary - Part 1: P4 
County Councillors:  

allowances - Part 2: A2.05 

conduct of - Part 2: A2.04 
election of - Part 2: A2.02 
questions by - Part 4A: SO7 

roles and functions of - Part 2: A2.03 
Criminal Justice Substance Misuse Treatment Provision, delegation - Part 3: 

Section B: Page 13 
 
 

Debate, adjournment of - Part 4A: SO24 
Decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework – Part 4C: R5 

 urgent – Part 4C: R6 
Decision-making, principles - Part 2: A13.02 
Decisions, Executive - Part 1: P11, P12 

Delegation: 
County council scheme of, and Executive Functions – Part 4D: R3 

executive, none to individual elected members - Part 2: A7.08 
of Executive functions - Part 4D: R2 
Scheme of - Part 3: Section D; Part 4D: R3 

specific - Part 9  
To and from other local authorities - Part 3: Section C 

To officers - Part 3: Section C: Page 14 
Dependent Carers’ Allowance - Part 6: P9 
Deprivation of Liberty Assessments, delegation - Part 3: Section B: Page 12 

Deputy Chairmanship - Part 4A: SO32 
Deputy Leader: 

generally - Part 1: P8; Part 2: A7.04 
appointment of - Part 2: A7.04 
Position Statement - Part 4A: SO8 

Designated Scrutiny Officer:  
 generally – Part 2: A12.04A 

 designation – Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 
Development Control and Regulatory Board - Part 3: Section B 
Development of Policy Framework - Part 4C: R2 

Director of Corporate Resources:responsibilities - Part 4F: R2 

373



Part 11 
Index 
Page 6 

Page 15/6 

  September 2016 
 

Director of Finance as Chief Financial Officer - Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 
Director of Law and Governance: 

legal proceedings - Part 2: A14.03 
Monitoring Officer, as - Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 

Disciplinary Action against certain employees - Part 4H: R11 
Disciplinary Action, Members’ role in - Part 4H: R10 
Dismissals, procedures regarding - Part 4H: R9 

Dismissing, Disciplining and Appointing Employees, responsibility for - Part 
4H: R2 

Disputes and Litigation - SFI: I18A 
Disputes Panel - Part 3: Section E 
Disturbances, at meetings - Part 4A: SO29 

Documents: 
authentication of - Part 2: A14.04 
rights to, overview and scrutiny - Part 4E: R11 

 
East Midlands Shared Services - Part 3: Section B: Page 12 

Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation - Part 3: Section C: Page 11 
Education representatives on overview and scrutiny committees - Part 4E: R5 
Elected Member Guidance on Employment Issues - Part 5C, Page 5 

Elected Members, giving account - Part 4E: R12 
Employees, appointment of - Part 4F: R18 

Employment Committee - Part 3: Section B: Page 9 
Employment Panel - Part 3: Section E: Page 20 
Employment Rules – see Officer Employment Procedure Rules - Part 4H 

E-Petitions – Part 10 Ps 25-29 
E-Petitions, guidance for – Part 10: Appendix 

ESPO - Part 3: Section C: Page 11 
ESPO, application of Contract Procedure Rules - Part 4G: R34 
Exclusion from meetings - Part 4B: R10 

Exclusion of access to reports - Part 4B: R11 
Executive: 

agenda - Part 4D: R7 
application of access to information rules - Part 4B: R12 
Arrangements, description of - Part 2: Schedule 1 

attendance at meetings of - Part 4B: R22 
cabinet support members Part 2: A7.09 

call-in of decisions outside Budget or Policy Framework - Part 4C: R9 
call-in of Key Decisions - Part 4E: R14 
Chairmanship - Part 4A: SO32 

changes to service provision - Part 4F: R5 
conflicts of interest - Part 4D: R4 

consultation - Part 4D: R6 
decision-making -  Part 2: A13.05 
decisions by individual members - Part 4B: R23 

decisions, framework - Part 4C: R1 
decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework - Part 4C: R5 

decisions, summary - Part 1: P11 
Deputy Leader - Part 2: A7.04 

374



Part 11 
Index 

Page 7 
 

Page 15/7 
  September 2016 

Designation of Deputy Leader and Lead Members – Part 2: A7.04 
documents, access by overview and scrutiny committees - Part 4B: R24 

documents, additional rights of access by elected members - Part 4B: R25 
Executive members – Part 2: A7.05 
Forward Plan - Part 4B: R14-17 

form and composition - Part 2: A7.02 
functions, delegation of - Part 4D: R2-3 

functions, delegation to individual members - Part 3: Section C 
functions, discharge of - Part 4D: R1 
functions, responsibility for - Part 3: Section C 

Lead Members - Part 2: A7.04 
Leader - Part 2: A7.03; Part 4A: SO32 

means Leader and Cabinet - Part 1: P5 
meeting, questions from elected members - Part 4A: SO7(3) 
meetings - Part 4D: R5 

meetings relating to matters which are not Key Decisions - Part 4B: R20 
members of - Part 8  
no delegation to individual members -  Part 2: A7.08 

notice of private meeting - Part 4B: R21 
proceedings - Part 2: A7.06; Part 4A: SO33, SO34 

record of decisions - Part 4B: R18 
reports from overview and scrutiny committees - Part 4E: R10 
required to submit a report to the County Council - Part 4B: R17 

responsibility for functions - Part 2: A7.07 
role of - Part 2: A7.01 

Standard Financial Instructions made by - Part 4F: R1 
subcommittees, delegation to - Part 3: Section C 
urgent decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework - Part 4C: R6 

Exempt information:  
definition - Part 4B: R10(4), Schedule; Part 4B: Schedule 

exclusion - Part 4B: R10(2) 
Expenditure levels, changes in - Part 4F: R6 
Explanation, Personal, County Council at - Part 4A: SO22 

External funding and grants - SFI:I3 
 

Finance, contracts and legal matters – Part 2: A14  
Financial irregularities - Part 4F: R17 
Financial management - Part 2: A14.01 

Financial planning and annual budgets - Part 4F: R11 
Financial Procedure Rules, application of - Part 4F: R1 

Financial Thresholds and Delegation - Part 4G: R6 
Forums, area - Part 2: A10 
Forward Plan: 

confidential and exempt items – Part 4B: R16 
generally - Part 4B: R14 

general exception - Part 4B: R15 
special urgency - Part 4B: R17 

Fostering Panel - Part 3: Section E 

Framework Agreements: 

375



Part 11 
Index 
Page 8 

Page 15/8 

  September 2016 
 

generally - Part 4G: R28 
Dynamic Purchasing Systems - Part 4G: R29 

Framework for Executive decisions - Part 4C: R1 
Framework, Policy, development -  Part 4C: R2 

Functions: 
executive, discharge of - Part 4D: R1 
executive, responsibility for -  Part 2: A7.07 

local choice, responsibility for - Part 3: Section A 
non-executive, responsibility for - Part 2: A4.04 

Funds, unofficial - SFI:I20 
 
General Disturbances – Part 4A: SO29 

Grant claims - SFI: I13 
Grants and External Funding - SFI: I3 
Guardianship Review Panel - Part 3: Section E 

 
 

Head of Paid Service: 
designation - Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 
functions -  Part 2: A12.02 

recruitment -  Part 4H: R3 
Heads of Departments: 

general scheme of delegation - Part 3: Section D 
record of specific delegations - Part 9 

Health and Wellbeing Board- Part 2: A7A.01 

 composition - Part 2: A7A.02 
 role and function – Part 2:A7A.02 

Health Scrutiny - Part 2: A6.08 
Health Scrutiny, joint - Part 2: A6.09 
 

 
ICT - Part 4F: R24 

Implementation and amendment of approved budgets and plans - Part 4F: 
R12 
Imprest accounts - SFI: I10 

Income records - SFI: I13 
Information and communication technology - Part 4F: R24 

Insurance - Part 4F: R31; SFI: I18 
Interests - Part 5A: part 3 
Interests of elected members, pecuniary - Part 4A: SO30 

Internal Audit - Part 4F: R15 
Internal control and check - Part 4F: R16 

Interpretation of Standing Orders - Part 4A: SO38 
Inventories - Part 4F: R26; SFI: I12 
Investment Subcommittee - Part 3: Section B 

Invoices, payment of - SFI: I9 
In-year changes to Policy Framework - Part 4C: R8 

 
 

376



Part 11 
Index 

Page 9 
 

Page 15/9 
  September 2016 

Joint arrangements: 
access to information -  Part 2: A11.03 

contracting out - Part 2: A11.05 
delegation -   Part 2: A11.04 
generally - Part 2: A11; Part 3: Section C 

wellbeing, to promote - Part 2: A11.01 
 

 
Key Decision: 

call-in - Part 4E: R14 

call-in, urgency - Part 4E: R15 
Executive required to report to County Council - Part 4B: R18 

generally - Part 2: A13.03 
procedure - Part 4B: R13 
working definition - Part 4D: R8 

 
 
Lead Members - Part 2: A7.04 

Leader: 
appointment of - Part 4A: SO32(1) 

conflicts of interest - Part 4D: R4 
Council, of the - Part 1: P6 
Deputy - Part 1: P8; Part 2: A7.04 

executive functions, amending Scheme of Delegation - Part 4D: R3 
executive, of the - Part 1, P7 

generally -  Part 2: A7.03 
objection to Council decision - Part 4C: R4 
Position Statement - Part 4A: SO8 

Legal proceedings -  Part 2: A14.03 
Length of Speeches, County Council meeting - Part 4A: SO18 

Litigation and Disputes Resolution - SFI: I18A 
Local Choice functions, responsibility for - Part 3: Section A 
Local Pension Committee - Part 3: Section B 

 
 

Management Structure - Part 7  
Manufacture and Storage of Explosives Panel - Part 3: Section E 
Meetings of the County Council – Part 4A: SO1 

Meetings of the Executive, the Commission, boards and committees, calling of 
– Part 4A: SO32 

Member be not further heard -  Part 4A: SO18(8) 
Member Conduct Panel - Part 3: Section E 
Member Guidance on Employment Issues - Part 5C 

Member/Officer relations, Protocol on - Part 5C  
Member Reference Panel on Quality and Safeguarding in Registered Care 

Homes – Part 3: Section E 
Members, conduct of - Part 4A: SO18 
Members of the County Council - Part 2: A2.01 

Members of the Executive - Part 8 

377



Part 11 
Index 
Page 10 

Page 15/10 

  September 2016 
 

Members of the Executive, decisions by - Part 4B: R23 
Members, non-executive - Part 1: P9 

Members’ allowances scheme - Part 6  
Members’ Code of Conduct - Part 5A  

Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice – Part 5A(1) 
Members’ role in disciplinary action - Part 4H: R10 
Membership of more than one Authority (allowances) - Part 6: P6 

Minutes: 
access to - Part 4B: R7 

County Council, of - Part 4A: SO6 
Mileage rates - Part 6: P11 
Misconduct at County Council, elected member, by - Part 4A: SO18(8) 

Monitoring Officer: 
designation -  Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 
functions -  Part 2: A12.03 

 
Motion: 

affecting officers - Part 4A: SO17 
amendments to - Part 4A: SO14, SO15, SO16 
generally - Part 4A: SO16 

moved during debate - Part 4A: SO12 
moved without notice - Part 4A: SO11 

Notice of - Part 4A: SO10 
 Recissions - Part 4A: SO13  

Withdrawal of motion or amendment – Part 4A: SO15 

 
Next Business - Part 4A: SO23 

Nominated sub-contractors and suppliers - Part 4G: R37 
Non-executive members - Part 1: P9 
Notice of meetings - Part 4B: R4 

Notice of Motion, for County Council meeting - Part 4A: SO10 
 

 
Officers: 

appointments procedure - Part 4H: R5 

chief - Part 2: Table C, Schedule 3 
Close personal relationships - Part 5B: Appendix 4 

Code of Conduct - Part 5B  
conduct -  Part 2: A12.06 
delegation to - Part 3: Section C 

dismissal - Part 4H: R9 
employment - Part 2: A12.07 

functions of the Chief Finance Officer – Part 2: A12.04 
functions of the designated scrutiny officer – Part 2: A12.04A 
functions of the Head of Paid Service – Part 2: A12.02 

functions of the Monitoring Officer – Part 2: A12.03  
general scheme of delegation to - Part 3: Section D 

giving account - Part 4E: R12 
management structure -  Part 2: A12.01; Part 7 

378



Part 11 
Index 

Page 11 
 

Page 15/11 
  September 2016 

motions affecting - Part 4A: SO17 
Protocol on relations with members - Part 5C 

recruitment - Part 4H: R7  
register of gifts and hospitality - Part 5B: Appendix 2 
register of interests - Part 5B: Appendix 1 

responsibility for appointing, dismissing or disciplining - Part 4H: R2 
summary - Part 1: P23 

Whistleblowing procedure - Part 5B: Appendix 3 
On Street Parking, delegation - Part 3: Section B 
Order of business, County Council - Part 4A: SO4 

Order, point of - Part 4A: SO22 
Orders for work, goods and services - SFI: I8; Part 4G: R26 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees: 
access to Executive documents - Part 4B: R24 
call-in of Executive decision outside Policy Framework or Budget - Part 4C: R9 

chairmanship - Part 4E: R6 
co-opted members - Part 4E: R4 
Education representatives - Part 4E: R5 

generally - Part 2: Table A, Schedule 3; Part 4E: R1 
matters in more than one remit - Part 4E: R18 

membership - Part 4E: R3 
numbers and arrangements for - Part 4E: R1 
policy development – Part 2: A6.04; Part 4E: R8 

proceedings -  Part 4A: SO33, SO34 
proceedings at - Part 4E: R17 

requiring Executive to submit a report to the Council - Part 4B: R18 
work programme - Part 4E: R7 

Overview and scrutiny:  

access to documents - Part 4B: R24 
attendance by others - Part 4E: R13 

call-in of Key Decision - Part 4E: R14 
call in procedure – Part 2: A6.07 
decision-making - Part 2: A13.06 

general role - Part 2: A6.03 
health service functions Part 2: A6.08 

health services - Part 1: P16, P18 
joint committee – Part 2: A6.09 
officers/members giving account - Part 4E: R12 

party whip - Part 4E: R16 
proceedings -  Part 2: A6.02 

reports from - Part 4E: R9, R10 
review panels - Part 1: P21 
rights to documents - Part 4E: R11 

specific functions - Part 2: A6.04 
summary - Part 1: P16 

terms of reference - Part 2: A6.01 
 
 

 

379



Part 11 
Index 
Page 12 

Page 15/12 

  September 2016 
 

Panels: 
generally - Part 3: Section E 

non-members excluded - Part 4A: SO34(2) 
Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London Adjudications Joint 

Committee (PATROL) - Part 3: Section C 
Part-year entitlement (allowances) - Part 6: P7, P8 
Party Whip, overview and scrutiny - Part 4E: R16 

Payment of Invoices and claims - SFI: I9 
Pecuniary interests - Part 4A: SO30 

Pension fund investments - Part 4F: R28 
Pensions - SFI: I17; Part 6: P16, P17 
Personal Explanation, County Council at - Part 4A: SO22 

Personnel Rules - Part 4F: R20 
Petitions: 

at meetings - Part 10: P23, P24 

e-petitions - Part 10: Ps 25-29 
from members of the public - Part 4A: SO35 

full Council debate - Part 10: P20, P21 
guidelines - Part 10: P7, P8 
officer attendance (at meeting presented) - Part 10: P17, P18 

not properly dealt with - Part 10: Ps 30-32 
receipt of - Part 10: P9, P10 

response to - Part 10: P13-15 
standard - Part 10: P16 
statutory consultation - Part 10: P22 

Petitions Scheme for Leicestershire County Council - Part 10 
Planning Code of Conduct – Part 5A(1): 

Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors – P 4 
Decision Making – P 11 
Development Proposals and Interests under the Members’ Code of 

Conduct – P 2 
Fettering Discretion in the Planning Process – P 3 

Lobbying by Councillors – P 6 
Lobbying of Councillors – P 5 
Members’ Awareness – P 12 

Officers – P 10 
Pre-Meetings – P 8 

Public Speaking at Meetings – P 9 
Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct – P 1 
Site Visits – P 7 

Planning, Members’ Code of Good Practice – Part 5A(1) 
Point of Order - Part 4A: SO22 

Point of Personal Explanation or Information for the Meeting – Part 4A: SO22 
(B) 
Police and Crime Panel - Part 3: Section B 

Policy development, overview and scrutiny committees – Part 1: P10; Part 4E: 
R8, R9 

Policy Framework: 
call-in of Executive decisions outside - Part 4C: R9 

380



Part 11 
Index 

Page 13 
 

Page 15/13 
  September 2016 

council decision and Leader’s objection – Part 4C: R4 
decisions outside -  Part 4C: R5 

decisions outside, urgent - Part 4C: R6 
development - Part 4C: R2 
generally - Part 2: A4.01 

in-year changes - Part 4C: R8 
Plans forming - Part 2: Schedule 2 

Political Assistants, appointment of - Part 4H: R8 
Position Statements, at County Council - Part 4A: SO8 
Prevention of corruption/conflict of interest - Part 4G: R7 

Principal Speaker - Part 4A: SO18 
Private meeting of Executive, notice - Part 4B: R21 

Private property - SFI: I21 
Proceedings of the Executive, the Commission, boards and committees - Part 
4A: SO33 

Procurement cards - SFI: I10 
Procurement Exercise: 

award methodology and evaluation criteria - Part 4G: R13 

contract opportunity publication - Part 4G: R14 
pre-estimate - Part 4G: R10 

process - Part 4G: R11, Part 4G: R15-22 
selection and award evaluation criteria - Part 4G: R12 

Procurement principles, general requirements - Part 4G: R9 

Professional fees - SFI: I7 
Property: 

acquisition, disposal and review -  Part 4F: R22 
management - Part 4F: R23 
private - SFI: I21 

records and deeds -  Part 4F: R21 
Protocol on Member/Officer relations - Part 5C  

Public’s rights to access, summary of - Part 4B: R9 
Purchasing and income collection - Part 4F: R25 
 

 
Questions: 

  by elected members at meetings - Part 4A: SO7 
by elected members, but not at Executive meetings - Part 4A: SO7(3) 

  by members of the public - Part 4A: SO34 

Quorum, County Council - Part 4A: SO3 
 

 
Record of decisions, Executive - Part 4B: R19 
Recruitment and appointment - Part 4H: R7 

Redeployment or redundancy - Part 4F: R19 
Register of Members of the Executive - Part 8 

Regulatory arm: 
generally - Part 1: P10; Part 2: A8.01 
decision-making - Part 2: A13.07 

Regulatory functions, responsibility for - Part 3: Section B 

381



Part 11 
Index 
Page 14 

Page 15/14 

  September 2016 
 

Reply, right of - Part 4A: SO21 
Renunciation (of allowances) - Part 6: P5 

Reports: 
  and agenda, access to - Part 4B: R5 

exclusion of access to - Part 4B: R11 
to County Council, dealing with - Part 4A: SO9 

Representations Panel (Independent Providers of Adult Social Care) - Part 3: 

Section E 
Rescissions - Part 4A: SO13 

Revenue: 
carry forward of over or underspendings - SFI: I6 
supplementary estimates - SFI: I5 

virement - SFI: I4 
Review of charges - SFI: I15 
Reviews of service - Part 4F: R14 

Right of Reply - Part 4A: SO21 
Right to attend meetings - Part 4B: R3 

Rights of citizens - Part 1: P24-27 
Rights to documents, overview and scrutiny - Part 4E: R11 
Risks and liabilities - Part 4F: R30 

Risks, insurance - SFI: I18 
Rules, suspension - Part 2: A16.01 

 
 
 

Salaries, wages and pensions - SFI: I17 
Scheme of Delegation - Part 4D: R3 

Schools and Fair Funding Regulations - SFI: I22 
Scrutiny Commission:  

Chairman - Part 2: A6.05; Part 4A: SO32 

general - Part 4E: R2 
membership - Part 2: A6.06 

Scrutiny, reports to Executive arising from - Part 4E: R10 
Seconder’s speech - Part 4A: SO19 
Secure Accommodation Review Panel - Part 3: Section E 

Security of assets - SFI: I19 
Service provision, changes to - Part 4F: R5 

Speak again, when elected member may - Part 4A: SO20 
Special Responsibility Allowances – Part 6: P4; Schedule 1 
Specific delegations - Part 9  

Speeches, length of, County Council meeting, at - Part 4A: SO18 
Standard Financial Instructions, made by Executive - Part 4F: R1 

Standards of Conduct Matters - Part 3: Section B 
Standing Lists - Part 4G: R27 
Standing Orders: 

interpretation of - Part 4A: SO39 
means the Meeting Procedure Rules -  Part 2: A13.04 

suspension of - Part 4A: SO38 
variation of - Part 4A: SO37 

382



Part 11 
Index 

Page 15 
 

Page 15/15 
  September 2016 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer - Part 2: Table D, Schedule 3 
Stocks and stores - Part 4F: R27 

Stocktaking - SFI: I11 
Subsidiary accounts - Part 4F: R4 
Subsistence (allowances) - Part 6: P12-14 

Summary of public’s rights to access - Part 4B: R9 
Supervision of contracts by third parties - Part 4G: R36 

Supply of copies of agenda and reports - Part 4B: R6 
Suspension: 

of Standing Orders - Part 4A: SO37 

of the Constitution - Part 2: A16.01 
 

 
Tedious repetition at County Council - Part 4A: SO18(8) 
Tenders: 

acceptance of - Part 4G: R23 
discussions and post tender negotiations - Part 4G: R22 
errors or discrepancies - Part 4G: R21 

invitation to - Part 4G: R18 
irregular - Part 4G: R19 

negotiated procedure and competitive dialogue procedure - Part 4G: 
R17 
open tendering - Part 4G: R15 

receipt and opening - Part 4G: R20 
restricted tendering - Part 4G: R16 

Travel and subsistence allowances - Part 6: P10; Schedule 2 
Travellers, delegation - Part 3: Section B 
Treasury management - Part 4F: R29 

Tribunals, acting as - Part 2: A13.08 
 

 
Unofficial funds - SFI: I20 
Urgent decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework - Part 4C: R6 

 
 

Variation of County Council order of business - Part 4A: SO5 
Variation of Standing Orders - Part 4A: SO36 
Virement - Part 4C: R7; SFI: I4 

Voting - Part 4A: SO28 
 

 
Wages - SFI: I17 
Wellbeing, joint arrangements - Part 2: A11.01 

Whip, party, overview and scrutiny - Part 4E: R16 
Whistleblowing Procedure - Part 5B: Appendix 3 

Working definition, Key Decision - Part 4D: R8 
Write-offs - SFI: I14 

383



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Part 1 Summary and Explanation
	2 Part 2 Articles
	3 Part 3 Responsibility for Functions
	4 Part 4A Meeting Procedure Rules
	5 Part 4B Access to Information Procedure Rules
	6 Part 4C Budget and Policy Framework
	7 Part 4D Executive Procedure Rules
	8 Part 4E Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
	9 Part 4F Financial Procedure Rules
	10 Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules
	11 Part 4G Contract Procedure Rules
	12 Part 4H Officer Employment Procedure Rules
	13 Part 5A Members' Code of Conduct
	14 Part 5A1 Members' Planning Code
	15 Part 5B Officers' Code of Conduct
	16 Part 5C Protocol on Member / Officer Relations
	17 Part 6 Members' Allowance Scheme
	18 Part 7 Management Structure
	19 Part 8 Register of the Executive
	20 Part 9 Delegations
	21 Part 10 Petitions Scheme
	22 Part 11 Index

